
 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Regular Meeting 

Wednesday, June 22, 2022 
4:30 p.m. - 6:30 p.m. 

MS Teams Online 

1 / 1 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order  ............................................................................................................... Amy Jeon 4:30 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Approval of Minutes, May 18, 2022 

4. Chair's Report .............................................................................................................................  4:35 

5. New Business  .............................................................................................................................   

5.1. HCAP First Annual Follow-Up Report  ................................. Lorraine Guild, Sharmen Lee  4:40 

5.2. BSN Second Annual Follow-Up Report ......................... Courtney Verhage, Sharmen Lee 4:50 

5.3. Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report ............. Fergal Callaghan, Jeff Dyck,  

Michael Coombes, Brett Favaro .........................................................................................  5:00 

5.4. Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report .......... Rebecca Yoshizawa, Billeh Nickerson, 

Greg Millard .........................................................................................................................  5:40 

5.5. Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report .......Jocelyn Lymburner, Wade Deisman, 

Greg Millard .........................................................................................................................  5:50 

5.6. Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan ............... Ken Stark, Wade Deisman, Greg Millard 6:00 

6. Items for Discussion....................................................................................................................  6:20 

7. Manager’s Report for OPA ...................................................................................... Lori McElroy 6:25 

8. Adjournment ...............................................................................................................................  6:30 

 

 

 

 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING 

Wednesday, May 18, 2022 
3:00 p.m. – 5:00 p.m. 

MS Teams Online 

1 / 3 

 

Voting Member Quorum 8 members  

Aimee Begalka 
Allison Richardson 
Courtney Verhage 
David Burns 
Fergal Callaghan (Vice-Chair) 
Julia Denker 
Lindsay Norris 
 

Marti Alger 
Nishan Perera 
Shelley Boyd 
Tomasz Gradowski 
Xavier Ardez 

 

Non-voting 
Amy Jeon (Chair) 
Steve Cardwell 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli 
 

Regrets  Senate Office Guests  

Melissa Swanink 
Stephen Yezerinac  
Lori McElroy 
Leeann Waddington 
Diane Purvey 
 

Ruby Gupta 
 

Andhra Goundrey 
Heather Clark 
Colin 
Greg Millard 
Wade Deisman 

1. Territorial Acknowledgement and Call to Order 

Amy Jeon, the Chair, opened the meeting with a Territorial Acknowledgement and called the 
meeting to order at 3:00 p.m. The Chair informed the committee about the new Indigenous 
collection and the display of the red dress in the KPU Surrey library and encouraged the members 
to visit. 

2. Approval of Agenda 

David Burns moved the agenda be confirmed as presented. 

The motion carried. 

3. Approval of Minutes April 13, 2022 

Tomasz Gradowski moved the minutes be accepted as circulated. 

The motion carried. 

4. Chair’s Report 



 

2 / 3 

The Chair informed the committee about the approval of Mandate and Membership revision at 
last month Senate and two new vacancies from Faculty of Arts and Melville School of Business. 
The members were asked to encourage interested faculty members to serve on the committee, 
especially from the respective Faculties. The June SSCPR meeting start time was changed to 4:30 
pm to accommodate the convocation schedules. 

 

5. New Business 

 Sustainable Agriculture External Review Report 

The Chair summarized the SSCPR reviewers’ comments and stated that the report was 
comprehensive and was recommended for approval as is.  

Julia Denker moved that the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Sustainable Agriculture External Review Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 

 New BSN Second Annual Follow Up Report 

The Chair summarized the SSCPR reviewers’ comments and highlighted that the reviewers have 
commended tremendous and notable progress that has been made in the last two years despite 
the pandemic and unfilled Curriculum Chair position. Courtney Verhage was invited to provide 
background and to answer questions.  

Courtney Verhage shared the ongoing conversations regarding the vacant Curriculum Chair 
position. The committee recommended to revise the report to include specific dates and details 
for tracking purposes. The proponent agreed to make the changes as recommended by the 
committee. 

Marti Alger moved that the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the New 
BSN Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached. 

David Burns moved to postpone the motion until the next meeting. 

The motion is postponed. 

 Fashion and Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

The Chair summarized the SSCPR reviewers’ comments and stated that the report was thoughtful 
and detailed in developing a comprehensive plan. Heather Clark and Andhra Goundrey were 
invited to provide background and to answer questions.  

The suggestions regarding the internal challenges, costuming, building industry partnerships, and 
language clarifications were all addressed in the revision, including the minor edits. It was noted 
that consideration may be given to contingency planning in order to achieve all of the goals. 

Action item:  

Pg 13. Revise and clarify “work to better streamline projects and deliverables.” 



 

3 / 3 

Fergal Callaghan moved that the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Fashion and Technology Program Quality Assurance Plan as attached. 

The motion carried. 

 Philosophy First Annual Follow-Up Report 

The Chair summarized the SSCPR reviewers’ comments and informed that the report was clear 
and concise, but some items may appear to be out of the scope of the program review. The 
suggested actions involved marketing support, missing goals and strategies, course offerings and 
curricular development, updating date of completion. Colin Ruloff and Wade Deisman were 
invited to provide background and to answer questions. 

The committee inquired about pre-requisites for the proposed Philosophy of Science course and 
indicated that better access for students would be appreciated.  

Colin Ruloff stated that “in progress” in the submitted report reflects that some initial steps have 
been taken.  

Action item: 

Revise the term ‘program advisory team’ throughout the report. 

Tomasz Gradowski moved that the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept 
the Philosophy First Annual Follow-Up Report with the suggested revision as removal of 
Program Advisory team. 

The motion carried. 

 

David Burns moved THAT another Annual Follow-Up Report be provided to the committee. 

The motion carried. 

6. Items for Discussion 

 
7. Manager’s Report 

The committee received the written report.   

8. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 4:01 p.m. 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.1 

Meeting Date: June 22, 2022 
Presenter: Lorraine Guild, Sharmen Lee 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   

  
  

Attachments Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted June 2, 2022 

 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 1  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: February 24, 2021 

Date of External Review Site Visit : December 9 & 10, 2020 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: June 23, 2021 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: June 1, 2022 

First Progress Report  
 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: April 2021 

STRATEGY 1: Increase admissions and enrollments to the HCAP. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 2 and Goal 4 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Explore offering some HCAP courses at satellite campus(es) for a 
face-to-face delivery of program. 

HCAP Chair /HCAP 
Faculty and Elena 

Franco 
Divisional Business 

Manager, Faculty of 
Health 

 
 

March 2022 
May 2025 

March 25, 2022, the faculty in the HCAP passed the following motion: 
“The Health Care Assistant Program (HCAP) faculty to engage with the 
Facilities Department with the support of the FOH Dean’s office to explore 
the move of the HCAP in part, theory classes only, to the Surrey Campus – as 
per MAEST request, for current and future HCAP intakes. This move requires 
dedicated classroom room space and faculty office space. If space not 
available in Surrey Campus, the HCAP faculty would consider space in the 
Cloverdale campus.” 
  
“HCAP faculty, Elena Franco will work with the HCAP Program Chair to 
develop a feasibility assessment that will address the operational 
requirements of this initiative; outlining how the program would be 
delivered; identifying any impacts to other programs/departments; 
accreditation requirements/approval, etc.  Elena Franco will provide 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

assistance with assessing the operational and capital expenditures/impacts 
associated with start-up, implementation and, on an ongoing basis, and will 
be the primary liaison with other KPU departments such as Facilities, 
Finance, etc. Once the initial draft is completed, the feasibility assessment 
will be forwarded to the HCAP faculty for consultation/feedback/revision. 
From there, the revised feasibility assessment will be presented to the Dean 
and the Chairs for consultation and feedback; FOH APP/Budget to identifying 
potential implications for the initiative and budgetary decisions, and to 
provide their recommendation(s) to Faculty Council; and to Faculty Council 
who will review the initiative and make recommendation(s) to the Dean. The 
Dean will bring forward recommendations to the Provost, University Space 
Planning Committee, MAEST and other individuals/committees/departments 
required to approve/sign off/etc. etc.” (Dean Sharmen Lee, Email 
Correspondence April 8, 2022) 

Offering HCA Program as online/blended, full-time, or part-time. HCAP Faculty Sep 2020 Apr 2022 

This has been completed.  Since September 2020 HCAP faculty have 
developed curriculum, sequencing, and scheduling for online/blended, full-
time, and part-time studies.  
The HCA Program has been delivered in all formats since September 2020. 
This online blended model has been approved by the BC Care Aide Registry. 

Offer Dual Credit Program. 

HCAP Chair/HCAP 
Faculty and Elena 

Franco 
Divisional Business 

Manager, Faculty of 
Health 

 
January 

2022 

 
April 2022 

 

FOH DBM has began looking again at the HCAP dual credit program with the 
school districts. 
 
The HCAP Faculty goal was that this initiative would be completed following 
the commencement of the current government sponsored Pathways Career 
Access Program currently being provided.   
 
April 2022: Update, in discussion with Dean Lee, FOH – HCAP no longer has 
funding for this initiative. The school district has been informed 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 3  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Continue with 3 seats reserved in the BSN and BPN program for 
KPU HCAP graduates with the new admission requirements in the 
respective programs. 

HCAP Chair Apr 2020 Sep 2021 
 
Completed.  Update: 3 BSN seats filled by HCAP graduates in the January 
2022 intake. 

Continue teaching strategies that address multiple learning 
styles, contain motivational and inspiring learning activities, and 
have a fair and collaborative evaluation process. 

HCAP Faculty Sep 2020 Sep 2022 

This has been completed with the development of our new blended 
curriculum and Moodle upgrades, learning activities and assessments.  This 
occurred with the support of the Teaching and Learning Commons and the 
Level Up Program.  HCAP has also worked closely with Accessibility Services 
to ensure a fair and collaborative evaluation process for our students. 

Continue offering the acute care clinical practicum and the 
observation experience with people living with Dementia in 
addition to looking at placements at Care Life, Langley Memorial 
and PAH’ Patient Assessment and Transition to Home (PATH) 
Units. 

HCAP Faculty Jan 2022 Jan 2024 

1. The acute care placement is temporarily on hold while we 
complete the HCA Pathways Program. The Pathways 
students have one year job commitments after completion 
of the program and therefore would not be able to return 
to this placement for immediate employment.  

2. The observational experience in HCAP 1220 for people 
living with dementia will commence again in Fall 2022.  

3. Faculty have begun talks with Care Life Fleetwood and are 
aiming to have a HCAP 1250 Final Practicum placement on 
the PATH unit Spring or Summer 2023. Depending on its 
success and student feedback we will then pursue 
placements at Langley’s PATH Unit. 

Provide students more opportunities to develop problem solving 
and critical thinking skills. Through simulation and increased 
critical thinking forums and assignments. 

HCAP Faculty Sep 2020  
April 2022 

This has been completed with the development of our new blended 
curriculum and Moodle upgrades, learning activities and assessments.  With 
Labs being back on campus we are now using the High-Fidelity Simulations 
for Lab practice, feedback, and self evaluations. 

Offer advanced certificates(Medication Administration & Mental 
Health Certificate). 

HCAP Faculty, T&L 
and Professional 
Studies, Deans 

Office 

Apr 2022 April 2025 

This is ongoing. Dean Lee has sent forward a request to the Provost for the 
development of an assisting with medication certificate (Micro credential 
badge) for HCAP in relation to KPU surplus monies being reallocated to 
2022/23 fiscal year. As funding was not approved, HCAP faculty will look at 
other opportunities to develop this micro-credential  



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 4  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Improving and updating lab equipment. 
Dean’s office, HCAP 

Faculty &  
Lab Educators 

Apr 2021 Apr 2023 

Students have been provided Lab Kits for semester one and two.  These kits 
provide students with lab equipment to practice skills at home and in the 
lab.  We have also put in funding requests for a new standing lift, tilt 
commodes, tilt wheelchairs and an enema/suppository simulator.  

Online skill video access to Elsevier HCAP Faculty & 
Dean’s office, T&L Mar 2020  

Sept 2023 

Completed.  This was offered through our online lab semesters. It was 
optional and at a cost to students.  Less than half the students purchased so 
it was not continued.  Supplemental creative commons and YouTube videos 
were posted on Moodle. The HCAP team are in the process of exploring ways 
to make new videos that are reflective of the HCAP program pillars and best 
practice methods. 

Incorporating more simulated learning activities. HCAP Faculty,  
Lab Educators Sep 2021 

 
April 2023 

 

Completed in HCAP 1130 and HCAP 1230 Lab.  CPR scenario and skill 
consolidation scenario added to the High-fidelity SIM Lab and multiple 
simulated critical thinking scenarios added to lower fidelity labs. The HCAP 
Chair is working with SSL to integrate more HCA focused scenarios that are 
catered to our students and the patient population they will likely work with. 

HCAP to LPN laddering options. 

Dean’s office, HCAP 
Faculty & Ministry 

of Advanced 
Education, Skills & 

Training 

Sep 2021  
Jan 2023 

This was put forward by the Deans Office to MAEST. It was recommended by 
the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills & Training that an LPN to RN 
bridging program would be more beneficial to KPU and Healthcare at this 
time. Though no laddering for HCAs, seats will remain reserved for our 
students pending they meet admission criteria as in BSN and BPN. 

 

  



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 5  

STRATEGY 2: HCAP faculty to develop “specific” Health Authority contacts and supports for faculty and students in clinical practice to support student success and collaborate shared resources. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by  
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Increase IPAC memberships to educators, RCC’s, LPN’s, HCA 
mentors and KPU HCAP Alumni & Current students and possibly 
GNABC representation. HCAP Chair 

and Faculty Sep 2021 Sep 2023 

Ongoing. This has been difficult with recent staff turnover at our 
placement’s sites and the complexities of Covid and physical resources in 
health care. HCAP Faculty are regularly having discussions with staff and 
alumni in the clinical areas to recruit.  Meeting have changed to online to 
facilitate membership as well.  

Develop a stronger connection with Alumni by having a yearly HCAP 
appreciation day celebration with current students and alumni. HCAP Chair, 

Faculty and 
Program Adm. 

Oct 2021 Oct 2022 

Due to Covid we haven’t had an in-person event since the Fall of 2019. This 
is planned for the Fall of 2022 on HCA Appreciation Day in which Alumni will 
be invited.  This will however be dependant on the current Public Health 
Orders for gathering.  

Consistently placing instructors on the same units to provide 
stability of the program. 

HCAP Chair & 
Dean’s office Sep 2020  

April 2022 
Completed. 

 

STRATEGY 3: The HCAP faculty will continue to deliver current and relevant curriculum through regular Appreciative Inquiry to ensure our graduates meet and exceed entry-level competencies for 
health care assistants and have a strong healthcare foundation they can continue to build upon.  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

End of Semester faculty workdays to discuss program delivery, 
program evaluations, individual course feedback forms completed 
by students, relevance of content and to make changes to 
program/courses if applicable. 

HCAP Chair and 
Faculty Sep 2019 Ongoing 

Completed at the end of each semester.  First face to face EOS meeting held 
May 3, 2022 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 6  

Introducing new resources by Indigenous authors/voices. 

HCAP Chair Sep 2021  
Sept 2023 

This is ongoing as Faculty are continually revising course content to be more 
inclusive. Jennifer Anaquod, Educational Consultant, Indigenization from T&L 
was invited to our January 2022 meeting and provided us with a plethora of 
resources that Faculty would like to review and include into their learning 
activities and language.  The Health Care Assistant Program Supplement to 
the Provincial Curriculum Guide - Third Edition November 2021 was also 
released and has included many indigenous resources for Faculty to review 
and implement as well. 

 

STRATEGY 4: New Faculty member hiring, training, mentoring and succession planning.  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review new faculty qualifications to ensure they align with HCAP 
requirements (faculty with gerontology experience). 

HCAP Faculty, 
Dean’s office & 

Search Committee 
Apr 2021  

Jan 2022 

Completed. HCAPs AC13 Minimum Qualifications Table states:  Recent 
related work experience in Gerontology preferred.   
This was passed by FOH Faculty Council Jan 2022 

Develop process for mentoring & succession planning 
(recruitment/retainment plan) HCAP faculty to teach each course 
within the curriculum at least twice to become familiar with 
content. 

HCAP Chair,  
HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

Apr 2021 Sep 2021 

Completed. Through Covid regular faculty have taught all courses across the 
program and contract faculty have been given repeat workloads and NR2’s 
so they teach the same course at least twice for familiarity and excellence.  
Faculty have been mentoring new faculty by adding the new faculty to active 
Moodle courses to allow them to follow along with course content at their 
convenience and ask questions throughout the semester.  

Each semester, ensure Moodle sites are updated in their entirety 
with new additions as necessary & ready for next semester apart 
from date changes. 

HCAP Chair,  
HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

Apr 2021  
April 2022 

This has been completed.  Semester based folders have been developed in 
SharePoint and each instructor is expected to back up and upload the most 
current Moodle Site at the end of each semester.   

Develop a mentoring schedule for each semester. HCAP Chair,  
HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

Apr 2021  
Sept 2025 

 We currently have a Faculty Mentor position with our Pathways cohort 
funding.  When we return to our traditional cohort, we will re visit this 
process. 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 7  

Develop HCAP specific orientation checklist with active links for 
new hires. 

HCAP Chair,  
HCAP Faculty, 

HCAP Mentor & 
Program Admin. 

Apr 2021 Sep 2021 

Completed. Posted on the HCAP SharePoint site. 

Student experience, including student survey data, be maintained 
at future department meetings. HCAP Chair,  

HCAP Faculty Sep 2021 Sep 2022 

Completed. Stored in SharePoint and reviewed regularly by Chair and at 
HCAP end of semester meetings. Semester based course feedback data is 
also reviewed and analysed at the end of each semester by the HCAP team 
and changes implemented as applicable.  This data is also stored n 
SharePoint. 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

1 
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Health Care Assistant Program 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
Reviewer #1: Overall, the report gives simple answers and gives clear and concise information. All the goals 
and objectives have been done or are in the process of being complete. The processes given are of sound 
practice and achievability. The report conveys everything is going in the right direction. In all, the report 
should be approved.   
 
Reviewer #2: Excellent progress has been made on the actions detailed in this report. There are however 
several very long term goals that may or may not come to fruition, beyond exploring the possibilities. I would 
recommend putting a shorter timeline on the exploration goals and leave the longer term execution out of 
this report to minimize the number of times the program needs to return and provide updates.  
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer 1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer 2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
Explore offering some HCAP courses at satellite campus(es) 
for a face-to-face delivery of program. 

Break this into smaller, achievable steps with tighter 
timelines 

Continue offering the acute care clinical practicum and the 
observation experience with people living with Dementia in 
addition to looking at placements at Care Life, Langley 
Memorial and PAH’ Patient Assessment and Transition to 
Home (PATH) Units. 

This seems operational perhaps it is not needed here? 

Offer advanced certificates (Medication Administration & 
Mental Health Certificate). 

New programming seems to be outside the action plan for 
the existing program 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

 

 

 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 1  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: February 24, 2021 

Date of External Review Site Visit : December 9 & 10, 2020 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: June 23, 2021 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: June 1, 2022 

First Progress Report  
 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: April 2021 

STRATEGY 1: Increase admissions and enrollments to the HCAP. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 2 and Goal 4 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Explore offering some HCAP courses at satellite campus(es) for a 
face-to-face delivery of program. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

HCAP Chair /HCAP 
Faculty and Elena 

Franco 
Divisional Business 

Manager, Faculty of 
Health 

 
 
 
 

March 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

May 2023 
 
 
 
 
 

March 25, 2022, the faculty in the HCAP passed the following motion: 
“The Health Care Assistant Program (HCAP) faculty to engage with the 
Facilities Department with the support of the FOH Dean’s office to explore 
the move of the HCAP in part, theory classes only, to the Surrey Campus – as 
per MAEST request, for current and future HCAP intakes. This move requires 
dedicated classroom room space and faculty office space. If space not 
available in Surrey Campus, the HCAP faculty would consider space in the 
Cloverdale campus.” 
  
“HCAP faculty, Elena Franco will work with the HCAP Program Chair to 
develop a feasibility assessment that will address the operational 
requirements of this initiative; outlining how the program would be 
delivered; identifying any impacts to other programs/departments; 
accreditation requirements/approval, etc.  Elena Franco will provide 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Update  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

August 2022 
 
 

September 
2022 

 
September 

2022 
 

May 2023 
 
 

assistance with assessing the operational and capital expenditures/impacts 
associated with start-up, implementation and, on an ongoing basis, and will 
be the primary liaison with other KPU departments such as Facilities, 
Finance, etc. Once the initial draft is completed, the feasibility assessment 
will be forwarded to the HCAP faculty for consultation/feedback/revision. 
From there, the revised feasibility assessment will be presented to the Dean 
and the Chairs for consultation and feedback; FOH APP/Budget to identifying 
potential implications for the initiative and budgetary decisions, and to 
provide their recommendation(s) to Faculty Council; and to Faculty Council 
who will review the initiative and make recommendation(s) to the Dean. The 
Dean will bring forward recommendations to the Provost, University Space 
Planning Committee, MAEST and other individuals/committees/departments 
required to approve/sign off/etc. etc.” (Dean Sharmen Lee, Email 
Correspondence April 8, 2022) 
 
HCAP Chair to circulate email from Elena that outlines a feasibility report to 
transition the theory courses to the Surrey campus. 
 
Review feasibility report (completed by DBM in liaison with University Space) 
with HCAP team and DBM 
 
Approval to be determined by end of Summer 2022 
 
 
If all program, instructor and student needs are met, will transition theory-
only courses to KPU Surrey 

Offering HCA Program as online/blended, full-time, or part-time. HCAP Faculty Sep 2020 Apr 2022 
This has been completed.  Since September 2020 HCAP faculty have 
developed curriculum, sequencing, and scheduling for online/blended, full-
time, and part-time studies.  



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 3  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

The HCA Program has been delivered in all formats since September 2020. 
This online blended model has been approved by the BC Care Aide Registry. 

Offer Dual Credit Program. 

HCAP Chair/HCAP 
Faculty and Elena 

Franco 
Divisional Business 

Manager, Faculty of 
Health 

 
January 

2022 

 
April 2022 

 

FOH DBM has began looking again at the HCAP dual credit program with the 
school districts. 
 
The HCAP Faculty goal was that this initiative would be completed following 
the commencement of the current government sponsored Pathways Career 
Access Program currently being provided.   
 
April 2022: Update, in discussion with Dean Lee, FOH – HCAP no longer has 
funding for this initiative. The school district has been informed 

Continue with 3 seats reserved in the BSN and BPN program for 
KPU HCAP graduates with the new admission requirements in the 
respective programs. 

HCAP Chair Apr 2020 Sep 2021 
 
Completed.  Update: 3 BSN seats filled by HCAP graduates in the January 
2022 intake. 

Continue teaching strategies that address multiple learning 
styles, contain motivational and inspiring learning activities, and 
have a fair and collaborative evaluation process. 

HCAP Faculty Sep 2020 Sep 2022 

This has been completed with the development of our new blended 
curriculum and Moodle upgrades, learning activities and assessments.  This 
occurred with the support of the Teaching and Learning Commons and the 
Level Up Program.  HCAP has also worked closely with Accessibility Services 
to ensure a fair and collaborative evaluation process for our students. 

Continue offering the acute care clinical practicum and the 
observation experience with people living with Dementia in 
addition to looking at placements at Care Life, Langley Memorial 
and PAH’ Patient Assessment and Transition to Home (PATH) 
Units. 

HCAP Faculty Jan 2022 Jan 2024 

1. The acute care placement is temporarily on hold while we 
complete the HCA Pathways Program. The Pathways 
students have one year job commitments after completion 
of the program and therefore would not be able to return 
to this placement for immediate employment.  

2. The observational experience in HCAP 1220 for people 
living with dementia will commence again in  Spring or 
Summer 2023.  

3. Faculty have begun talks with Care Life Fleetwood and are 
aiming to have a HCAP 1250 Final Practicum placement on 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 4  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

the PATH unit Spring or Summer 2023. Depending on its 
success and student feedback we will then pursue 
placements at Langley’s PATH Unit. 

Provide students more opportunities to develop problem solving 
and critical thinking skills. Through simulation and increased 
critical thinking forums and assignments. 

HCAP Faculty Sep 2020  
April 2022 

This has been completed with the development of our new blended 
curriculum and Moodle upgrades, learning activities and assessments.  With 
Labs being back on campus we are now using the High-Fidelity Simulations 
for Lab practice, feedback, and self evaluations. 

Offer advanced certificates(Medication Administration & Mental 
Health Certificate). 

HCAP Faculty, T&L 
and Professional 
Studies, Deans 

Office 

Apr 2022 April 2025 

This is ongoing. Dean Lee has sent forward a request to the Provost for the 
development of an assisting with medication certificate (Micro credential 
badge) for HCAP in relation to KPU surplus monies being reallocated to 
2022/23 fiscal year. As funding was not approved, HCAP faculty will look at 
other opportunities to develop this micro-credential  

Improving and updating lab equipment. 
Dean’s office, HCAP 

Faculty &  
Lab Educators 

Apr 2021 Apr 2023 

Students have been provided Lab Kits for semester one and two.  These kits 
provide students with lab equipment to practice skills at home and in the 
lab.  We have also put in funding requests for a new standing lift, tilt 
commodes, tilt wheelchairs and an enema/suppository simulator.  

Online skill video access to Elsevier HCAP Faculty & 
Dean’s office, T&L Mar 2020  

Sept 2023 

Completed.  This was offered through our online lab semesters. It was 
optional and at a cost to students.  Less than half the students purchased so 
it was not continued.  Supplemental creative commons and YouTube videos 
were posted on Moodle. The HCAP team are in the process of exploring ways 
to make new videos that are reflective of the HCAP program pillars and best 
practice methods. 

Incorporating more simulated learning activities. HCAP Faculty,  
Lab Educators Sep 2021 

 
April 2023 

 

Completed in HCAP 1130 and HCAP 1230 Lab.  CPR scenario and skill 
consolidation scenario added to the High-fidelity SIM Lab and multiple 
simulated critical thinking scenarios added to lower fidelity labs. The HCAP 
Chair is working with SSL to integrate more HCA focused scenarios that are 
catered to our students and the patient population they will likely work with. 

HCAP to LPN laddering options. 
Dean’s office, HCAP 
Faculty & Ministry 

of Advanced 
Sep 2021  

Jan 2023 

This was put forward by the Deans Office to MAEST. It was recommended by 
the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills & Training that an LPN to RN 
bridging program would be more beneficial to KPU and Healthcare at this 

Lorraine Guild
We feel this is integral to the KPU HCA programs clinical/practicum market uniqueness and should remain in the Follow Up Review.  At KPU we are striving to meet the constant change in industry needs with our aging population and provide the best learning opportunities for our students.  This directly involves clinical faculty assessments and expertise.

Lorraine Guild
It is not technically new programming as we are meeting the current/needs and demands of the geographic region. Through heavy explanation with local health authorities, we have explained that medication administration is structured within HCAP 1250 Lab Curriculum and students meet these competencies. As a program we have developed a letter to employees that outlines exactly what the students complete in 1250, however as a safety blanket, some local employers are still requesting the HCAs have a medication certificate micro credential. Until a resolution is achieved with the PSI and FH, we will look into bridging this gap to meet student and employer needs.



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 5  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Education, Skills & 
Training 

time. Though no laddering for HCAs, seats will remain reserved for our 
students pending they meet admission criteria as in BSN and BPN. 

 

  



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 6  

STRATEGY 2: HCAP faculty to develop “specific” Health Authority contacts and supports for faculty and students in clinical practice to support student success and collaborate shared resources. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by  
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Increase IPAC memberships to educators, RCC’s, LPN’s, HCA 
mentors and KPU HCAP Alumni & Current students and possibly 
GNABC representation. HCAP Chair 

and Faculty Sep 2021 Sep 2023 

Ongoing. This has been difficult with recent staff turnover at our 
placement’s sites and the complexities of Covid and physical resources in 
health care. HCAP Faculty are regularly having discussions with staff and 
alumni in the clinical areas to recruit.  Meeting have changed to online to 
facilitate membership as well.  

Develop a stronger connection with Alumni by having a yearly HCAP 
appreciation day celebration with current students and alumni. HCAP Chair, 

Faculty and 
Program Adm. 

Oct 2021 Oct 2022 

Due to Covid we haven’t had an in-person event since the Fall of 2019. This 
is planned for the Fall of 2022 on HCA Appreciation Day in which Alumni will 
be invited.  This will however be dependant on the current Public Health 
Orders for gathering.  

Consistently placing instructors on the same units to provide 
stability of the program. 

HCAP Chair & 
Dean’s office Sep 2020  

April 2022 
Completed. 

 

STRATEGY 3: The HCAP faculty will continue to deliver current and relevant curriculum through regular Appreciative Inquiry to ensure our graduates meet and exceed entry-level competencies for 
health care assistants and have a strong healthcare foundation they can continue to build upon.  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

End of Semester faculty workdays to discuss program delivery, 
program evaluations, individual course feedback forms completed 
by students, relevance of content and to make changes to 
program/courses if applicable. 

HCAP Chair and 
Faculty Sep 2019 Ongoing 

Completed at the end of each semester.  First face to face EOS meeting held 
May 3, 2022 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 7  

Introducing new resources by Indigenous authors/voices. 

HCAP Chair Sep 2021  
Sept 2023 

This is ongoing as Faculty are continually revising course content to be more 
inclusive. Jennifer Anaquod, Educational Consultant, Indigenization from T&L 
was invited to our January 2022 meeting and provided us with a plethora of 
resources that Faculty would like to review and include into their learning 
activities and language.  The Health Care Assistant Program Supplement to 
the Provincial Curriculum Guide - Third Edition November 2021 was also 
released and has included many indigenous resources for Faculty to review 
and implement as well. 

 

STRATEGY 4: New Faculty member hiring, training, mentoring and succession planning.  

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 5 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review new faculty qualifications to ensure they align with HCAP 
requirements (faculty with gerontology experience). 

HCAP Faculty, 
Dean’s office & 

Search Committee 
Apr 2021  

Jan 2022 

Completed. HCAPs AC13 Minimum Qualifications Table states:  Recent 
related work experience in Gerontology preferred.   
This was passed by FOH Faculty Council Jan 2022 

Develop process for mentoring & succession planning 
(recruitment/retainment plan) HCAP faculty to teach each course 
within the curriculum at least twice to become familiar with 
content. 

HCAP Chair,  
HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

Apr 2021 Sep 2021 

Completed. Through Covid regular faculty have taught all courses across the 
program and contract faculty have been given repeat workloads and NR2’s 
so they teach the same course at least twice for familiarity and excellence.  
Faculty have been mentoring new faculty by adding the new faculty to active 
Moodle courses to allow them to follow along with course content at their 
convenience and ask questions throughout the semester.  

Each semester, ensure Moodle sites are updated in their entirety 
with new additions as necessary & ready for next semester apart 
from date changes. 

HCAP Chair,  
HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

Apr 2021  
April 2022 

This has been completed.  Semester based folders have been developed in 
SharePoint and each instructor is expected to back up and upload the most 
current Moodle Site at the end of each semester.   

Develop a mentoring schedule for each semester. HCAP Chair,  
HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

Apr 2021  
Sept 2025 

 We currently have a Faculty Mentor position with our Pathways cohort 
funding.  When we return to our traditional cohort, we will re visit this 
process. 



Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report                                         Page 8  

Develop HCAP specific orientation checklist with active links for 
new hires. 

HCAP Chair,  
HCAP Faculty, 

HCAP Mentor & 
Program Admin. 

Apr 2021 Sep 2021 

Completed. Posted on the HCAP SharePoint site. 

Student experience, including student survey data, be maintained 
at future department meetings. HCAP Chair,  

HCAP Faculty Sep 2021 Sep 2022 

Completed. Stored in SharePoint and reviewed regularly by Chair and at 
HCAP end of semester meetings. Semester based course feedback data is 
also reviewed and analysed at the end of each semester by the HCAP team 
and changes implemented as applicable.  This data is also stored n 
SharePoint. 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.2 

Meeting Date: June 22, 2022 
Presenter: Courtney Verhage, Sharmen Lee 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item New BSN Second Annual Follow-Up Report_Revised 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the New 
BSN Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   

  
  

Attachments New BSN Second Annual Follow-Up Report_Revised 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted June 2, 2022 

 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 1 

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: February 28, 2018 
Date of External Review Site Visit: March 26, 2018 
Date of Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: February 19, 2020 
Date of First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: February 24, 2021 
Date of Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted to SSCPR: April 27, 2022 

 
 

Second Annual Progress Report 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: JANUARY 2019 
 
 
 

Note to Reviewers (whomwho are anticipated to be different from those who began this process with us)BSN):  
 

This review process began in 2017. Initial reports in this series, and the quality assurance strategies and goals that precipitated, were based on 
data collected from students in a prior iteration of the program with an eye to the future delivery of theour updated program, here-in referred 
to as “New BSN.” This year, the New BSN Program turns 5 years old. In this time, there have been significant changes. Notably, one year after 
the implementation of the program the two faculty members who spearheaded this change, BSN Program Chair of a decade and Curriculum 
Chair, both retired. Funded releases for Program Chair, Curriculum Chair, and Program Evaluations have all been either significantly reduced or 
eliminated. The writer of this report is the 3rd to hold the role of Program Chair since the new program rolled out, after the seat sat vacant for 
some time. The Curriculum Chair role position has been sporadically filled and funded. Despite these challenges, BSN has made significant 
progress on outstanding items remaining from the First Annual Follow-Up, all of which are listed in the table below. 

 
STRATEGY 1: Continue working with FoH Chair of Admissions & Progressions (A&P), Dean's Office and Vice Chair of Senate to change BSN's Admission criteria 

to further decrease attrition and increase    student/graduate success. 

 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Theme A: Admissions and Progressions Goal: The BSN Program aims to graduate 95-100% of all 

students admitted into New BSN's two 32-seat cohorts per year (i.e. graduate 60 to 64 successful alumni per year) 

 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led     by Start on 

(M/YY) 

Complete  By 

(M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Explore the possibilities to develop in conjunction with 
local           school districts non-cohort-based dual 
credit/entry level courses for Health Foundations (HF). 

 
Health 

Foundations 
Program Chair 

 
Ongoing 

 
No longer 
Applicable  

  
5/21  

 

 
No Longer Applicable as Health Foundations (HF) has 
been discontinued.  
 
It was last reported, February 2021, that the BSN 
program was updating admission requirements to 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 2 

address attrition and progression. May 2021, it was 
approved by Senate Standing Committee on 
Curriculum that students will no longer complete HF 
and declare into BSN. Starting September 2022, 
future students apply to the program with pre-
requisite courses and complete CASPer screening (a 
computer-based assessment of non-cognitive skills 
and interpersonal traits). No pre-requisite courses 
housed in Faculty of Health (FoH). BSN is currently 
focused on ensuring the quality of the program and 
meeting the accreditation standards set by nursing 
regulatory body, the British Columbia College of 
Nurses and Midwives.  
 
Note: Of the new pre-requisite courses, HSCI 1115 is 
a dual-credit course, but is housed in another 
department.  HEAL 1100, 1150, and 1180 are no 
longer taught in FoH, but are accepted as credits for 
admission.  
 
See: Appendix A for a list of pre-requisites.  
 

 
Continue to hold "BSN Information Sessions" for 
potential candidates emphasizing realities of nursing 
as a career choice, including sharing BCCNM Requisite 
Skills and Abilities (RSAs) and characteristics of 
potential nurses. 

 
FoH Chair of 

Admissions and 
Progressions 

 
Ongoing 

 
 

 
Completed 

Each Semester;  
 

Additional 
specific actions 

completed 
 4 /22 

 

 
BSN Info Sessions have been held for many years; 
preceding “New BSN.” The pandemic initially put 
these on pause, however they were resumed 
virtually.  
 
Info sessions are held in collaboration with the Future 
Students Office every 4-8 weeks. KPU student nurses 
are invited to attend BSN info sessions and Open 
Houses. BSN faculty and students also set up tables 
at various KPU events, where they can share their 

lived experience.  
 
Additionally, in January 2022, FoHwe engaged the 
marketing department to bring awareness to the new 
admissions requirements beginning September 2022.  
One part of that strategy includes directing students 
to the FoH page where the BCCNM RSAs document is 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 3 

listed for review.  April 2022, the program chair, 
chair of admissions and progressions and the 
recruitment team met and agreed to include current 
students at BSN info sessions. Students are now 
regularly invited to share their lived experiences and 
answer future students’ questions. This is now part of 
all planned BSN info sessions. 
 
Rounding out the multi-prong approach to recruitment 
and admissions is the use of CASPer to assess 
students and capture those with qualities amenable 
to nursing. This was implemented in September 2021.  
 

 

STRATEGY 2: Design the process to assess and resolve any potential concerns identified in the Revised BSN Program evaluation that could affect the 

quality and integrity of the New BSN program.  

 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Theme B: Maintain the quality and integrity of the new BSN Program Goal 1: BSN aims to 

maintain the quality/integrity of the New BSN program to meet the requirements of the BCCNM, as evidenced by formative evaluations at the end of 

each semester, summative  evaluations at the end of program completion and one-year follow-up and feedback from workplace/discipline/sector. 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led     by Start on 

(M/YY) 
Complete  By 

(M/YY) 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Standardize a specific program schedule for 
KPU Library service personnel to engage 
directly with BSN students in their program. 

 
BSN Curriculum 

Committee 
Chair  

 
 
 

  

 
As soon as the     
Chair is hired 

 
 
 
 

 

 
Completed 

5/22 
 

 
 
 

 
BSN students are now coming to the program as second 
or upper year university students with exposure to and 
experience with the library resources. 
 
BSN Course Presentations are standardized with 
content directed by the Dean’s office. Students are 

directed to Library resources through their course 
presentations, through their instructors and for 
assignments across the program, and on their student 
hub. BSN has a dedicated Librarian that provides 
faculty and student support.  
 
Anchors for direct engagement with library personnel 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 4 

existed in HEAL 1180 (Year 1), HEAL 3180 (Year 3) 
and on the student hub, which students regularly 
reference and engage in each semester. With new 
admissions requirements beginning September 2022, 
and to address the end of HEAL 1180, it has been 
planned (May 2022) to have engagement with library 
personnel integrated into orientation in Semester 1 
each September and January, September 2022 
onwards.  
 

 
Standardize library resource information in all 
course  presentations with BSN Faculty. 

 
BSN Chair, 
Curr Chair  

 
11/19 

 

 
Completed 

5/22 

 
See above.  

 
To address faculty's need for support to learn 
to effectively use  available technology: 
 

(a) Moodle Introductory Course 
mandatory for all  new Faculty as a 
part of their orientation 

 

 
BSN Chair, 

Dean’s Office 

 
1/20 

 
Completed 

1/22 
 

 

The Teaching and Learning Commons has vastly improved 
the variety, quantity, and quality of technological support 
for faculty since February 2020. The last two years of 
online teaching and learning has also facilitated faculty’s 
comfort level with a variety of  technologyof technology 
and virtual learning tools. 

 

The FoH is already a technologically advanced 
department, utilizing a variety of unique learning tools 
such as virtual SIMS, virtual nursing skills learning tools, in-
person lo and hi fidelity simulations, and a variety of 
learning applications like Pebble Pad, Big Blue Button, etc. 
FoH also employs Lab Educators and Coordinators, and in 
the recent past SIMs Simulation Coordinators to support 
faculty with related technologies. 

 

The Dean’s office further supports this goal during 
onboarding and professional development reviews. 
Including directing faculty to the “Foundations in Teaching 

Excellence Program,” which covers learning technologies. 
Confirmed in January 2022. 

 

The Program Chair arranges for new faculty to review 
Moodle during their BSN orientation. New faculty are also 
provided with resources and        links for further support from 
Teaching and Learning Commons and IT. New faculty are 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 5 

also paired with a peer mentor who is familiar with the 
functions of Moodle as used for their specific course and 
can be a touch point for new faculty.  As noted in the 
2021 Annual follow up, this was completed December 
2020 and continues presently.  

 

Additionally, to ensure skill maintenance and development, 
BSN identified an ongoing focus on technological 

competencies in its 2023-2028 Program Plan submitted to 
FoH Academic Planning, Priorities and Budget Committee 
in May 2022. 

 

 
Advocate for the Dean'’s office to maintain 
the ongoing release    position for BSN 
Curriculum Chair 

 
Dean'’s 
Office 

 
Ongoing 

 
Completed 

5/22 

 

Update:  

 

The BSN program continues to advocate for a release 

position to support the extraordinary work of curriculum. 

Formal requests specifying the extraordinary work and 

deliverables were submitted to the FoH Dean’s Office or as 

otherwise directed by the Dean’s office in Spring 2021 (as 

per the annual report); Summer 2021 (June), Fall 2021 

(November), Spring 2022 (April). This is in addition to 

numerous informal discussions and requests outlining the 

needs across the same timeline made by various faculty 

members, program chairs, and committee chairs.   

 

The Dean’s office remains committed to ensuring the success 

of curriculum. Since October 2021, the Program Chair and 

the Dean’s office have been working together to identify 

ways to support the undertaking of this work. Actions have 

included providing a release in Spring 2022 to support 

some of the extraordinary work, working with colleagues 

from within FoH and KPU to move some items forward, and 

BSN faculty working on some items. May 2022, BSN faculty 

and the Dean’s office worked jointly on another release 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 6 

request which outlines extraordinary work and deliverables, 

to begin in September, 2022. This item is awaiting 

approval.   

 

This remains a priority and an ongoing discussion between 

the program and the FoH Dean’s office. 

 

The Dean’s office did not provide an update on this item 

when requested. 

 

 
BSN Evaluation Committee will explore 
potential cause and  effect with respect to 
potentially inflated grades in degrees    that 
prepares students for professional 
designations. 

 
BSN 

Evaluation 
Chair 

 
05/20 

 
Completed 

4/22 
 

 
The Covid-19 Pandemic resulted in an energy intensive 
pivot, with many committee members dedicating excess 
time to the demands of teaching in healthcare during a 
pandemic.  
 
This issue was revived in April 2022, with discussions with 
BSN faculty at a BSN faculty meeting. The committee has 
a strategy to ensure faculty are aware of the problem 
and seeks to understand the causes and to take remedial 
action where possible.  Faculty are currently working on 
their rubrics to assess for areas of improvement.   
 

 

STRATEGY 3: Ensure student's marks reflect their true abilities. 

 
GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Theme B: Maintain the quality and integrity of the new BSN Program. Goal 1: BSN aims to maintain 
the quality/integrity of the New BSN program to meet the requirements of the BCCNM, as evidenced by summative evaluations at the end of each semester, 
summative       evaluations at the end of program completion and one-year follow-up and feedback from workplace/discipline/sector. 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led     by Start on 

(M/YY) 
Complete  By 

(M/YY) 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Evaluate the effectiveness of writing rubrics 
through the end of semester meetings. 

 
BSN Curriculum 

Chair, BSN 
Program Chair 

 

 
12/17 

 
Completed 

4/22 
 

 
The Evaluation Committee’s renewed focus on inflated 
grades/role of rubrics in grading, faculty will be re-
assessing rubrics as well. The Program Chair is looking at 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 7 

examples in other FoH programs where rubrics are program 
wide and used across courses. 

 
Review writing assignments in Health 
Foundations courses  to evaluate effectiveness 
and explore options for improved nursing-
related skill development. 

 
Health 
Foundations 
Chair 

 
01/19 

 
No longer 
Applicable 

5/21 

 

HF has been discontinued. 

 

Pre-requisite courses are not housed within Faculty of 

Health. ENG 1100 – Introduction to University Writing 

remains a pre-requisite course.  

 

 

STRATEGY 4: Develop and implement a formative and summative evaluation process and tools to evaluate the concept based new BSN program. 
 
GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Theme C (b): Recommendations on Formative/Summative Program Evaluation for new BSN. Goal 1:  
Plan and complete formative and summative evaluations of the new BSN concept-based program. 
 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led     by Start on 

(M/YY) 
Complete  By 

(M/YY) 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Plan and implement a comprehensive 
evaluation plan (both   formative and summative) 
that addresses both curricular changes and 
program outcomes. 

 
BSN Evaluation 

Committee Chair 

 
09/18 

 
Completed 

06/21 

 
The Evaluation Committee is following the summative 
and formative evaluation process that it adapted for 
New BSN. The committee developed a detailed 
description of the roles and responsibilities of 
committee members.  Each member is responsible for 
one section of the evaluation. This evaluation plan 
received accolades in BSN’s previous accreditation 
process and was highly regarded. BSN maintained 
this high standard for evaluation as noted in our most 
recent accreditation report. 
 

See Appendix BB for excerpts from the committee’s 
evaluation plan, including the committee member’s 
roles, the types of data collected, and the way it is 
reported. Full report available upon request. 
 

  
BSN 

 
09/20 

 
Completed 

 

A data collection template was developed, and data 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 8 

Monitor inclusion of NCLEX-like questions in 
quizzes and exams  each semester. 

Evaluation 
Committee 

and 
Curriculum 
Committee 

5/21 
 

collected. The Evaluation Committee Chair reports that 

faculty have integrated NCLEX-type questions into 

their courses. NCLEX results are now shared with 

faculty as soon as they are received and discussed in 

full at the following faculty meeting.  The next 

generation NCLEX will focus on clinical reasoning, 

which BSN adopted as central to the New BSN 

program and is integrated across semesters. 

 

 
Tools and methods have been created 
appropriate for a concept-based curriculum to 
collect data at regular intervals   from students, 
faculty, and health care employers. 

 
BSN 

Evaluation 
Committee 

 
09/17 

 
Completed 

6/21 
 

 
Course Reviews (online), Performance Appraisal 
Forms for clinical practice, and Program Completion 
Surveys (online) were previously completed and are 
in use.   
 
The Evaluation   Committee has since created the one-
year follow-up survey and has distributed them to 
our first graduates. During the Covid-19 pandemic, 
the return rate was low.  A new tool for collecting 
data through our one-year employer follow-up is 
being piloted.  

 
Additionally, a revised tool and method of collecting 
data has been implemented for Student Course 
Evaluations. Previously a singular survey completed 
on BSN Homebase on Moodle, new Student Course 
Evaluation surveys are now separate surveys for 
Theory, Clinical and Laboratory courses hosted on 
the course Moodle page. This better captures 
whether concepts are carried across learning 
modalities within the program. 

 

 
Discuss with Faculty about the feasibility of 
developing a clinical   feedback form to 
distribute at the end of each clinical rotation to 
unit staff. 

 
BSN 

Evaluation 
Committee 

 
02/20 

 
Completed 

12/20 

 

As per the 2021 annual follow up this item was 

discussed at a BSN faculty meeting and the process 

had been initiated in 2020. However, due to the 

increased workload faced by unit staff since the 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 9 

beginning of the Covid-19 Pandemic and the critical 

shortages of nurses, implementation of this item is slow 

moving.  

 

To address this, the following actions are in place: the 

program chair meets with various regional clinical 

educators/managers and attends IPAC meetings 

where feedback from the clinical setting is relayed 

back to the Program Chair for action. Additionally, 

starting February 2022, a section on an already in 

place clinical feedback tool used by BSN faculty to 

relay information to the chair was adapted to include 

any feedback from the clinical site as relayed to the 

clinical instructor or from the instructors’ experience on 

the unit. 

 

 
Faculty to discuss the options for ensuring that 
the lab skills course taught in Health 
Foundations will be revisited in terms of core 
skills during BSN lab courses. 

 
 

Lab 
Coordinator 

 
 

4/20 

 
No Longer 
Applicable 

5/21  

 

 

HF has been discontinued.  

 

The Lab Coordinator and Lab faculty had previously 

assessed skills across lab courses in 2020. This work 

was revisited and cross referenced with the requisite 

new graduate nurse competencies in 2021 for the 

January 2022 implementation, and now with the 

ending of HF, the Lab Coordinator and BSN faculty 

who teach lab course have mapped out how lab skills 

will be covered across the program (Spring 2022). 

Couse content revamp currently underway to cover this 

change (Summer 2022) to be ready for it’s first 

delivery in September 2022.  

 

STRATEGY 5: In following the Revised BSN QA Plan A, the New BSN program faculty members will continue to collaborate within the program, FoH, and other 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 10 

KPU departments in order to support their  students. 

 
GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: As indicated in Plan A, continue to aim to have all students report that they felt supported throughout 
the program by BSN, FoH, and other KPU departments. Theme D: Collaborating with other KPU Departments and FoH Programs. Goal 1: Initiate collaboration or 

continue to collaborate with the BSN faculty, FoH Lab Coordinator, and other KPU departments to support student learning and expand curriculum content.t. 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led     by Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete  By 
(M/YY) 

Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Initiate discussions both within FoH and 
across KPU (e.g. with Sociology) to explore 
indigenization of curriculum, including 
consultations with Indigenous learners. 

 

BSN 

Curriculum  
Chair 

 
 

 
09/19 

 
Completed 

12/21 
 

 

 
BSN had previously adapted all courses across the 
program to meet our regulatory body’s accreditation 
standards. BCCNM, the regulatory body, requires the 
program practices and teaches indigenous cultural 
safety, humility, and anti-racism.  We report on this 
work in Summer 2022.  Faculty are supported with 
extensive PD through BCCNM who released a full PD 
plan released in January 2022 and shared and 
promoted by the BSN Program Chair. By December 
2021, the report writer was able to verify faculty 
have integrated many learning activities, case studies, 
and practice experiences, developed unique to FoH 
and KPU partnerships with the Kwantlen First Nations, 
and participate in KPU wide activities. This is an 
ongoing priority. 
  

 

Collaborate with the Librarian responsible for 

BSN regarding available resources. Discuss use 

of open source textbooks at    faculty meetings. 

 

BSN 

Curriculum 

Chair 

 
09/17 

 
No Longer 
Applicable. 

 

 

Open source texts are supplemental for students but 

cannot replace nursing textbooks.  

Open source texts and resources were trialed in Lab 

courses (2018 -2019), but the content did not meet 

our students’ learning needs. BSN, like other nursing 

programs, tries to utilize resources that students will 

be using in practice, such as drug and skills guides, 

since this will be what is expected of them in practice. 

  

 

Standardize peer feedback form for peer 

 
FoH Lab 

 
09/17 

 
Completed  

 

This item had been on hold due to the impact of 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 11 

evaluation of psychomotor skills to focus more 

on reflective practice vs         action-procedural 

practice. 

Coordinator 
& 

BSN 

Curriculum 

Chair 

5/22 COVID-19 on face-to-face lab sessions. Lab faculty 

and instructors are now working on developing and 

standardizing content for labs in time for September 

2022 in response to the new admissions requirements.  

 

 

Increase students' awareness of access to high-

fidelity simulations by posting semester schedule 

of open lab simulation on the online BSN 

Homebase site. 

 

 
FoH Lab 

Coordinator 

 
09/17 

 
Completed 

Each Semester. 
 

Additional 
work on this 

item 
completed 
April/22  

 
This item is in partially completed. Open lab 

schedules with low to medium fidelity set ups are 
posted for students semesterly on their student hub 
and communicated via email.  While high fidelity 
SIMs are available, there is an identified need for 
more human resources to run SIMS on a regular basis. 
Work on utilizing labs more efficiently and 
identifying opportunities for improvement and the 
resources required is underway with the Lab 
Coordinator, Program Chairs, and the Dean’s office in 
response to increased nursing seats in Faculty of 
Health. This work began April, 2022 and will be 
implemented by January 2023 as FoH expands.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 12 
 

Appendix: A 

 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 13 

 
Appendix BB: Excerpts from the Evaluation Committee’s Program Review Plan

 
 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 14 

 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 15 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 16 

 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 17 

 



 

New BSN Second Annual Follow – Up Report 
 

 

 18 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 

 

1 
 

  
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  BSN 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: The dates and additional details added to this report make it easier to track and follow progress 
and completion of the steps and goals. I’m glad to see that the Curriculum Chair position remains a priority 
and that a release request jointly developed by the faculty and the Dean’s Office has been submitted.  
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Reviewer 1 & 2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
  
  
  
  

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

  
  
  
  

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 5.3 

Meeting Date: June 22, 2022 
Presenter: Fergal Callaghan, Kianoosh Tahani, Jeff Dyck 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   

  
  

Attachments 
Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 

Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report Appendices 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted June 2, 2022 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Physics for Modern Technology 
Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

 
Report Submission Date: May 30th, 2022 

 
Program Review Team Members: 

Fergal Callaghan 
Mike Coombes 
Michael Poon 
Takashi Sato 

Kianoosh Tahani 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report  

Table of Contents 
List of Acronyms .................................................................................................................................. 1 

Memo from Dean/Associate Dean ....................................................................................................... 3 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 5 

1.1.Overview of the Program(s) ............................................................................................................. 5 

1.2. Program Department ...................................................................................................................... 9 

1.3. Program Purpose ........................................................................................................................... 10 

1.4. Issues for Program Review ............................................................................................................ 11 

2. Curriculum Review ....................................................................................................................... 15 

2.1. Pathways for Graduates ................................................................................................................ 15 

2.2. Program Learning Outcomes ......................................................................................................... 20 

2.3. Essential Skill Development ........................................................................................................... 21 

2.4. Curriculum Assessment ................................................................................................................. 22 

3. Program Relevance and Demand ................................................................................................. 24 

3.1. Relevance ...................................................................................................................................... 24 

3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency .............................................................................................. 29 

3.3. Student Demand ............................................................................................................................ 32 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ......................................................................................... 40 

4.1.Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum ........................................................................... 40 

4.2. Student Success ............................................................................................................................. 43 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities ................................................................................................ 46 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 51 

6.1. Overview ........................................................................................................................................ 51 

6.2. Curriculum Review ........................................................................................................................ 51 

6.3. Program Relevance & Student Demand ........................................................................................ 52 

6.4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery .......................................................................................... 55 

6.5. Resources, Services, and Facilities ................................................................................................. 55 

7. Appendices .................................................................................................................................. 57 

 
 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 1 

List of Acronyms 
 

AAPT: American Association of Physics Teachers 

APEGBC: Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia 

BCAPT: British Columbia Association of Physics Teachers 

BCIT: British Columbia Institute of Technology 

BEng: Bachelor of Engineering 

BSc: Bachelor of Science 

CAP: Canadian Association of Physicists 

CASCA: Canadian Astronomical Society 

CCD: Charge-Coupled Device 

CLO: Course Learning Outcome 

CMOS: Complementary Metal-Oxide Semiconductor 

EPT: Environmental Protection Technology 

FSH: Faculty of Science and Horticulture 

FTE: Full-time Equivalent 

GPA: Grade Point Average 

ISA: International Society of Automation 

JPEC: Junior Physics and Engineering Challenge 

KPU: Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

KSC: Kwantlen Science Challenge 

LIDAR: Light Detection and Ranging 

MSc: Master of Science 

OEM: Original Equipment Manufacturer 

OER: Open Educational Resource 

PAC: Program Advisory Committee 

PCB: Printed Circuit Board 

PhD: Doctor of Philosophy 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 2 

PLO: Program Learning Outcome 

PMT: Physics for Modern Technology 

P.Phys.:  Professional Physicist  

RF: Radio Frequency 

SEM: Scanning Electron Microscope 

SFU: Simon Fraser University 

TRU: Thompson Rivers University 

UBC: University of British Columbia 

UNBC: University of Northern British Columbia 

VCC: Vancouver Community College 

  



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 3 

Memo from Dean/Associate Dean 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 4 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 5 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) 

Program Under Review 

The Bachelor of Science, Major in Physics for Modern Technology (PMT) is an undergraduate program 
offered by the Department of Physics, Astronomy and Engineering at Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
(KPU). Most industrial achievements are based on science, and although physicists play an important role 
in technology development, there is a dearth of programs in North America designed to prepare physics 
graduates for work in industry. The major goal of the PMT program is that graduates will find employment 
in local high-tech industry upon graduation. It is specifically designed to address the long-standing issue 
with many traditional science degrees in which graduates are not prepared to apply their knowledge and 
skills in the workplace after graduation. PMT is the first physics degree in Canada with this explicit goal.  

In 2010, the Department initiated the idea of a program to specifically tackle this issue. This was followed 
by a visit to similar successful applied physics programs offered in Ireland at Galway-Mayo Institute of 
Technology, Cork Institute of Technology, & Waterford Institute of Technology in 2011. At the same time, 
consultation with local high-tech companies revealed the demand for an applied physics program. In 2012, 
KPU approved the PMT program, followed by approval from the of BC Ministry of Advanced Education in 
2013. 

The PMT program underwent a “soft launch” in 2014 when a selection of new courses were offered for 
the first time. The Program Advisory Committee (PAC) was established within the same year. In 2015, the 
PMT program fully launched, which resulted in the first students graduating in 2018. PMT graduates have 
proven to be successful in securing technical, scientific, and management roles in the local tech sector. 

Admission Requirements 

Admission to the PMT program is classified as open-intake – there is no set limit to the number of students 
admitted.  For students intending to pursue the PMT program directly from high-school or without any 
post-secondary experience, admission into the program is a two-step process.  First, these students must 
be admitted to the Faculty of Science & Horticulture (FSH), which requires meeting KPU’s undergraduate 
English proficiency requirement.  These students are classified as undeclared-FSH students with a Physics 
intention.  In order to complete the required first-year courses in the PMT program, students must meet 
the following prerequisites:  

• Math 12 (C+) 
• Physics 12 (P)  
• Chemistry 12 (C+) 
• English 12 (B) 

Students missing any of the above prerequisites can upgrade at KPU.  

The second step to enter the PMT program is program declaration.  At the time of declaration, the student 
must satisfy all of the following requirements: 

• In good academic standing with the University 
• Completion of a minimum of 24 credits of undergraduate coursework, including the following: 
• 3 credits of ENGL at the 1100 level or higher 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 6 

• PHYS 1102 or PHYS 1220, with a minimum grade of “C” 
• MATH 1220 or MATH 1230, with a minimum grade of “C” 

All KPU students intending to graduate with a bachelor’s degree from the Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture degree must declare their major by the time they complete 60 credits of undergraduate 
coursework.  

 
Other Pathways into the Program:   

Students with post-secondary experience at KPU or any other post-secondary institution can declare 
directly into the PMT program if all the declaration requirements are met.  In particular, students who 
have successfully completed KPU’s Certificate in Engineering meet the PMT declaration requirements and 
may transfer directly into the second year of the PMT program.  Note, Engineering Certificate graduates 
would still need to complete BIOL 1110 as a graduation requirement.  Students transferring from other 
KPU programs or post-secondary institutions will be required to complete PHYS 1600 Introduction to 
Modern Technology as a prerequisite for some second-year PMT courses. 

Credential & Curricular Requirements 

Currently, students must meet the following minimum requirements to graduate with a Bachelor of 
Science from the Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

• 120 credits from courses at the 1100 level or higher.  
• 45 credits from a minimum of 15 courses at the 3000 level or higher, including 9 credits at the 

4000 level. 
• 18 credits of breadth electives (see Electives below) including: 

• at least 12 credits from courses that are offered outside the Faculty of Science & 
Horticulture; and 

• up to 6 credits from fields of science not prescribed in the Major requirements; and 
• 3 credits from a course at the 3000 level or higher. 

• Cumulative GPA of 2.0 or higher 
• At least 50% of all courses for the BSc, and at least 66% of upper-level courses for the BSc, must 

be completed at KPU (See the Laddering and Transferability for more details).  

The specific course requirements for the Physics for Modern Technology Major are given in the table 
below. 

 
Year 1 Credits 
BIOL 1110 Introductory Biology I 4 
CHEM 1110 The Structure of Matter 4 
CHEM 1210 Chemical Energetics and Dynamics 4 
ENGL 1100 Introduction to University Writing 3 
PHYS 1600 Introduction to Modern Technology 3 
MATH 1120 
or MATH 1130 

Differential Calculus (recommended) 
or Calculus for Life Sciences I 

3 

MATH 1220 
or MATH 1230 

Integral Calculus 
or Calculus for Life Sciences II 

3 

Select one of the following: 4 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 7 

PHYS 1101 Physics for Life Sciences I   
PHYS 1120 Physics for Physical and Applied Sciences I 

(recommended) 
  

Select one of the following: 4 
PHYS 1102 Physics for Life Sciences II   
PHYS 1220 Physics for Physical and Applied Sciences II 

(recommended) 
  

One Breadth Elective 3 
  Credits 35 
   
Year 2 
MATH 2721 Complex Numbers and Linear Algebra 3 
MATH 2821 Multivariate and Vector Calculus 3 
PHYS 2010 Modern Physics 3 
PHYS 2030 Classical Mechanics 3 
PHYS 2040 Thermal Physics 3 
PHYS 2100 Experimental Physics 3 
PHYS 2420 Intermediate Electricity and Magnetism 3 
PHYS 2600 Electronics 3 
PHYS 2610 Sensors and Actuators 3 
One Breadth Elective 3 
  Credits 30 
   
Year 3 
CHEM 2315 Analytical Chemistry 4 
PHYS 3610 Introduction to Control 3 
PHYS 3620 Process Control 3 
PHYS 3700 Signal and Image Processing 3 
PHYS 3710 Applied Optics & Optoelectronics 3 
PHYS 3900 Project in Physics & Technology 3 
PHYS 3950 Work Experience - Part I 3 
PHYS 3951 Work Experience - Part II 3 
PHYS 4900 Special Topics 3 
One Business Elective 3 
 
Year 3 includes work experience. Several courses in the Spring semester are taken in 
compressed mode, January to March, in order to make a longer period available for 
work placement. 

  

  Credits 31 
   
Year 4 
CHEM 4610 Instrumental Analysis 4 
PHYS 4010 Quantum Mechanics 3 
PHYS 4199 Senior Project I 3 
PHYS 4299 Senior Project II 3 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 8 

PHYS 4600 Programming for Instrumentation 3 
PHYS 4700 Solid State Physics: Theory and Practice 3 
Three Breadth Electives 9 
One Business Elective 3 
  Credits 31 
  Total Credits 127 

 
 
Electives 
As part of the major program, students are required to complete 21 credits of electives, including 6 credits 
of Business Electives. These electives must satisfy the General Requirements for 18 credits of breadth as 
stated above. 
 
Breadth Electives 
Breadth electives must be selected from subject areas outside of Physics. No more than six of these credits 
may be from the Faculty of Science & Horticulture. 
 
Business Electives 
At least six credits (two courses) must be selected in consultation with Physics faculty to meet Business 
Elective requirements. Courses must be selected from: 

• Accounting (ACCT) – any course other than ACCT 1130 
• Business & Quantitative Methods (BUQU) – any course other than BUQU 1130 or BUQU 1230 
• Business (BUSI) – any course other than BUSI 1204 or BUSI 1209 
• Economics (ECON) – any course 
• Marketing (MRKT) – any course 

Upon successful completion of the PMT program, students are eligible to receive a Bachelor of Science. 
Transcripts will indicate a Major in Physics for Modern Technology. 
 

Transferability 

As mentioned above, the program aims to attract students who have completed (fully or partially) their 
first year at another post-secondary institution. KPU is a member of the BC Council on Admission and 
Transfer (BCCAT) which manages articulation agreements between post-secondary institutions across BC.  
As such, most of the PMT program’s first-year courses have existing course articulation agreements with 
many post-secondary institutions across BC (see Figure 1).  The only first-year course that does not 
articulate is PHYS 1600 Introduction to Modern Technology, which was specifically designed for the PMT 
program.  Students from other institutions are also able to transfer a limited number of second year 
Physics and Math courses for credit toward the PMT degree.  The relatively small number of institutions 
with transferrable second year courses is because many smaller institutions do not offer second year 
Physics courses, and many of the second-year courses were uniquely designed for the PMT program.   



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 9 

 
Figure 1: Transferability of first- and second-year PMT courses from other BC institutions. Darkened blocks 
indicates an existing articulation agreement.   
 

Preparation for graduate school 

Although preparing students for graduate studies is not the primary goal of the program, it is desirable to 
make sure that laddering into graduate school is an option for our graduates. To facilitate this option, an 
understanding was reached with the graduate chair of the SFU physics department on how PMT graduates 
could become eligible for entry to SFU’s graduate program. To enter the SFU graduate Physics program, 
PMT graduates are first conditionally accepted and then required to complete three additional fourth-
year theoretical physics courses at SFU prior to full acceptance. So far two of our graduates have pursued 
that route. UBC have also been contacted about admission of our graduates to their graduate program. 
They encourage applications from PMT graduates. 
 

1.2. Program Department  
 
The Department of Physics, Astronomy and Engineering has operations on three campuses; Richmond, 
Surrey, and Langley, with 17 full-time faculty, lab instructors and staff.  
 
The Department offers courses to support the Engineering First-Year, Environmental Protection 
Technology (EPT), PMT and other bachelors' programs in other science disciplines, as well as breadth 
courses for non-science students. At the Richmond and Surrey campuses, we offer a comprehensive 
selection of first year and preparatory physics courses. To support the Engineering First-Year program, a 
number of Applied Science courses (APSC 1124, 1151 and 1299) are offered on both the Richmond and 
Surrey campuses, in addition to a specialized Engineering Mechanics course, PHYS 1141/1170.The 
Department also runs introductory Astronomy courses for non-science majors, which have been 
particularly popular with Arts students. The Department has recently started offering an astrophysics 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 10 

course for science students. At the Langley campus, the Physics department runs two courses annually, 
Energy, Environment, Physics (PHYS 1400), and Environmental Physics Lab (PHYS 1401), for students in the 
Environmental Protection Technology program. The first year of the PMT program is run at both the 
Richmond and Surrey campuses. All second, third- and fourth-year Physics courses are delivered at the 
Richmond campus only. 
 
There are nine full time faculty, five full time lab instructors and two full time technicians. The faculty and 
lab instructor contingents are augmented by part time personnel as needed. Roughly half of the 
Department is based in Richmond and half in Surrey, however, the lab instructors and faculty are routinely 
called upon to teach on both campuses based on expertise or timetabling logistics. In addition, there is a 
full-time instrumentation specialist on the Richmond campus to support the needs of the PMT program. 

 

1.3. Program Purpose  

The purpose of the program is to provide an applied and hands-on education that prepares students for 
careers in the tech sector. 

Changes Since Program Launch 

Since program launch, some revisions have been made and are outlined below. 

Changes that required Senate approval: 
Issue to be addressed Resulting program change(s) 
The senior project was originally completed in 
one semester. However, discussions within our 
department and with our Program Advisory 
Committee led us to the conclusion that a two-
semester project would be more beneficial for 
our students as it gives them more time to plan 
their project, would allow them to work on a 
more substantial project, and would increase the 
likelihood of achieving the desired outcomes. 
 

The senior project was lengthened from one 
semester to two semesters in duration. PHYS 
4199 (semester 1) largely involves project 
proposal, planning, and management, while PHYS 
4299 (semester 2) involves the actual project 
work. 
 

PHYS 4010 was originally intended to cover both 
quantum mechanics and solid state physics. 
However, it became apparent that it would be 
very difficult to fit both topics into one course. 
We realized that it makes more sense to give 
students a firmer foundation in quantum 
mechanics and to offer a separate course in solid 
state physics. 
 

PHYS 4010 is now dedicated to quantum 
mechanics and PHYS 4700 was changed from 
“Spectroscopic Instrumentation” to “Solid State 
Physics: Theory and Practice”. 
 

The list of recommended business electives on 
the PMT calendar page contained some courses 
that had been discontinued. 
 

Discontinued courses were removed from the 
list. 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 11 

Issue to be addressed Resulting program change(s) 
After the initial offerings of some of the second 
year courses it was realized that some course 
names and prerequisites should be changed to 
better reflect their content and requirements as 
well as to provide more flexibility to students. 

MATH 2721 is no longer a co-requisite of PHYS 
2010. 
 
PHYS 2600 and PHYS 2610 are no longer co-
requisites. 
 
Name of PHYS 2600 changed from “Electronics 
with Microcontrollers” to “Electronics”. 
 

Other Changes: 
Issue to be addressed 
 

Resulting program change(s) 

Students must work full-time for at least 14 
weeks in a relevant department-approved 
position in order to satisfy the mandatory work 
experience requirement. This is intended to take 
place at the end of a student’s third year in the 
program. In order to accommodate work terms 
longer 14 weeks, the three 3rd-year Spring 
semester courses are accelerated. Originally the 
accelerated courses finished at the end of 
February, so that students could have up to six 
months (March to August) for their work term. 
However, feedback from faculty and students 
indicated that the semester was too demanding 
in this format. 
 

The accelerated courses now run until mid-
March, which decreases the time-pressure, while 
still allowing for longer work terms of up to five 
months.  
 
PHYS 3710 (Applied Optics & Optoelectronics) 
was moved from the Spring to the Fall semester 
as it was deemed to be too demanding to run in 
accelerated mode. It was replaced in the Spring 
semester with PHYS 4900 (Special Topics).  

 
 

Lower enrollment in 3rd and 4th year courses. We have been running the third- and fourth-year 
courses in alternate years. This has ensured 
healthier enrolment in those courses, with third- 
and fourth-year students taking them together.  

External Accreditation 

There is no external accreditation for physics degrees in Canada. This issue was discussed several years 
ago by physics department chairs from across Canada at the annual Canadian Association of Physicists 
Congress. As far as the authors of this review are aware, the conversation has not progressed any further, 
but it is something we will keep track of and ensure our involvement in. 

Although there is no external accreditation of physics degrees in Canada, the Canadian Association of 
Physicists does have a Professional Physicist (P.Phys.) designation that our graduates can apply for after 
three years of physics-related work experience.  

1.4. Issues for Program Review 

As Physics for Modern Technology is a relatively new program, this is its first program review. However, 
since the launch of the program, there have been various issues identified by students, faculty, and the 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 12 

program advisory committee (PAC) that one hopes the program review will shed further light on. It is 
hoped that the following four goals and related issues will be addressed by this program review.   

 
1. Determine whether or not the program is meeting its primary purpose of preparing students for 

employment in the technology sector. 

The following are specific employment-related issues/questions that have been identified: 
• Career progression: Are students progressing in their careers? Are there things related to the 

program that are holding our graduates back from advancing in their careers? What kinds of 
upgrades to their education have they been seeking to further advance their careers? 

• Work Experience: Feedback from the PAC has generally been that longer (eight months) work 
terms are preferred by many companies (though four-month positions are very common). In 
addition, about 50% of students who have completed their work terms have indicated that 
longer and/or more work terms would be beneficial (at least as an option, if not mandatory). 
From time to time, there is also discussion on whether or not a co-op model should be used, 
instead of coordinating everything from within the Department, which is the current practice.  

• Communication Skills: One career-related topic that is often discussed among faculty and at 
PAC meetings is the development of students’ communication skills. The importance of 
communication skills is also mentioned often by students in their work experience reports. 
Although this has been incorporated throughout the program, faculty experience has been 
that our students need even more opportunity to develop these skills. To that end, the spring 
2021 offering of our Special Topics course (PHYS 4900, which students take in their 3rd or 4th 
year) was on the topic of communication. However, by its nature, the topic of that course 
changes from year to year. This program review can help determine whether and/or how 
students’ communication skills should be increased in the program. 

 
2. Determine how best to adjust the program curriculum to serve the PMT students’ needs.  

Students, faculty, and the PAC have expressed a desire for additional topics to be added to the 
PMT program. However, any additional topics will require the removal of others. The hope is that 
this program review will provide quantitative data to support the addition/removal of content 
from the PMT program. The following are specific curricular issues that we would like to 
investigate: 
• Computer Programming: Since computer programming is an essential skill for most academic 

and industrial physicists and technologists, it has always been clear that it must be a skill that 
students develop during the PMT program. So far, feedback from faculty, students, and the 
PAC has been that more explicit emphasis on programming is needed, with the likely 
development of at least one new dedicated programming course focused on programming 
fundamentals and best practice for scientists and engineers. It is also hoped to incorporate a 
data science course into the program, and its requirements would help inform the content of 
any additional programming courses that develop. Although departmental discussions on this 
topic have already begun and are ongoing, this program review will help identify the best way 
forward. 

• Mathematics: MATH 2721 and MATH 2821 were designed specifically for the PMT program 
in consultation with the math department. When developing the program, the alternative 
option was for our students to take at least four existing math courses (in addition to MATH 
1120 and 1220). The decision to instead develop and offer MATH 2721 and 2821 was made 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 13 

so that students’ math education would be focused on what they need for their 2nd, 3rd, and 
4th year physics courses. Recent feedback from the math department has been that it is 
difficult to cover the content of MATH 2721 in one semester. This program review will be used 
to determine if changes need to be made to the math content of the program. 

• Chemistry: Based on consultations that occurred while designing the program, it was decided 
to include a total of four chemistry courses in the program. It is important to ascertain 
whether or not these courses are valued by our graduates and by current members of our 
PAC (i.e. whether the content is useful in the types of jobs PMT graduates have been 
securing). 

• Breadth: Currently the PMT program requires students to complete 6 elective/breadth 
courses (18 credits). Two of those courses must be business courses and were included in the 
program on the basis of feedback from local industry – it was deemed important for graduates 
to have some business knowledge when entering the workforce. The 18-credit requirement 
comes from KPU’s BSc framework (see Appendix A). It is understood that the BSc framework 
is due to be revised by the Faculty of Science and Horticulture, partly in light of the new policy 
AC14 (KPU Credential Framework). The program review will help determine if we can or 
should change the breadth requirement of the program. Such investigations could in turn help 
inform the revision of the BSc framework. 

 
3. Identify ways to promote the program and increase enrolment.  

Most of the second, third and fourth year PMT courses have a maximum class size of 20. This is 
because most of these courses take place in a lab, and lab capacity is more limited than a regular 
classroom. However, since the PMT program launch, class sizes have been significantly smaller 
than the maximum. This program review will examine data on class sizes, how they have changed 
over the years, and how they vary across years one to four. This data will hopefully help identify 
ways to attract more students. 
• Promotion: Faculty have recently been discussing the need for increased promotion of the 

program. Earlier, the Department engaged quite regularly in promotional activities, but the 
level of activity has fallen off. Also, at that time, questions about the kinds of careers that 
graduates of the program could pursue could only be answered hypothetically. Now that PMT 
graduates have been securing positions in the technology sector, more concrete material can 
be included to promote the program and attract students. The Department hopes to identify 
ways to achieve this goal, internally and in liaison with other groups at KPU (e.g. Dean’s office, 
Future Students Office, Marketing). 

• Transferability: As discussed above, there are gaps in the ease with which students can 
transfer into the PMT program. An investigation of ways to increase and facilitate 
transferability from local institutions (and perhaps into our third year) may help to increase 
enrolment. 
 

4. Identify ways to allow students to pursue other post-degree educational opportunities (i.e. 
graduate studies).  

As previously mentioned, preparing students for graduate studies is not a primary goal of the 
program. However, there are several current students who are interested in pursuing graduate 
studies.  It is hoped that this program review will give a better handle on the extent of that interest 
among our student body. This review should also help decide whether and how to further 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 14 

facilitate such opportunities (e.g. through modification of the program and/or the creation of 
more agreements with other universities). 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 15 

2. Curriculum Review 

2.1. Pathways for Graduates 

Pathways to Employment 
 
What kind of occupations are your graduates prepared to pursue? 
 
When designing the program, the expectation was that it would provide a broad education in physics and 
technology that would allow graduates to pursue scientific and technical roles in the technology sector 
(in areas such as green energy technology, robotics, industrial process control, and electronics). It was 
also envisaged that graduates would be prepared to pursue teacher training as well as more business-
oriented roles such as technical sales. Now that PMT students have secured work experience positions 
during the program and full-time jobs after graduation, there are concrete examples of where the 
program can lead. (See also the Career Pathways Map in Appendix B.) 
 
For their work experience, which takes place at the end of third year, students have secured positions in 
areas such as robotics, green energy technology, manufacturing engineering, biomedical engineering, 
software development, physics research, particle accelerator technology, satellite image analysis, optics, 
agricultural technology, and electronics. Students’ roles in those areas have included: assembling, testing, 
and calibrating products (hardware and software); computer programming; building and testing 
electronic circuits and optical setups; performing experiments; analyzing data; refining manufacturing 
procedures. Some students have also gained experience in the area of sales and marketing. After 
graduating, several students have been offered positions at the company where they did their work 
experience.  
 
PMT graduates are working in the following areas: scientific camera development; software; scientific 
research; particle accelerator technology; biomedical engineering; mining technology; electric power 
supply and management. Job titles of the PMT graduates include: Product Manager; Software Developer; 
Junior Data Scientist; Hardware Systems Technician; Service Engineer; Biomedical Engineering 
Technologist; Assembler; Engineering Technologist; Electromechanical Technician.  
 
 
How are you preparing your graduates for jobs in this field, future changes in this field, and the job 
market in general?  
 
Preparation for jobs in the technology sector has been the focus of the PMT program from the beginning. 
The first step in designing the degree was consultation with local companies to determine the type of 
content that would be useful. This consultation is ongoing through the PAC. Feedback on the usefulness 
of program content is also received from students when they complete their work experience and from 
graduates who are employed in the sector. 
 
Specific hands-on technical skills and topics relevant to the technology sector that are taught in the 
program include electronics, programming, experimental design, process control, sensors & actuators, 
applied optics, signal & image processing, and analytical chemistry. As noted in the previous chapter, 
programming is an area that could be improved.  Also, there may be a desire to re-examine the range and 
scope of chemistry needed for the program. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 16 

 
In addition to technical skills, development of students’ soft skills is also very important in preparing them 
for the workforce. To that end, written and oral communication skills are developed in many courses 
through activities such as report writing, presentations, and teamwork. Recognizing the need for these to 
be further developed, this year’s offering of our Special Topics was on the topic of communication.  The 
results of this program review will be used to help determine the extent to which communication skills 
should be incorporated in the program on an ongoing basis. 
 
When designing the program, feedback from employers was that technology graduates are generally 
lacking in business skills, which are important for many jobs in industry. To help address that, the program 
contains two business courses. The mandatory work experience at the end of students’ third year also 
helps to prepare them for their future careers. As stated in our Full Program Proposal, the benefits of work 
experience include “(i) students seeing the relevance of their studies to the workplace, (ii) students gaining 
valuable experience of the “real world” of employment, and (iii) students making 
contacts that will serve them well when they look for employment after graduation.” 
 
The PMT program helps prepare students for future changes in the field in a number of ways. Although 
technology may change quite rapidly on the surface, the science underlying modern technology changes 
much more slowly. Courses such as Classical Mechanics, Thermal Physics, Electricity & Magnetism, 
Quantum Mechanics, and Solid State Physics, ensure that PMT graduates have a sound grasp of the 
fundamental science underlying much of modern technology and are therefore equipped to understand 
and learn about new technologies as they emerge. The PMT program encourages independent learning 
and thought, which is also important when dealing with changes in the field. For example, in Experimental 
Physics in second year, students must design and perform their own experiments, as well as learn about 
topics that are not necessarily directly covered in their lecture courses. This ability is developed further in 
the 3rd and 4th year projects, in which students carry out extended one-semester and two-semester 
projects. This requires independent research of the project topic and also often requires students to learn 
new skills. Such abilities are critical for any employee who needs to keep up with changes in their field of 
employment. 
 
 
Are there professional competencies that your graduates require for entry to the profession?  

PMT graduates do not require specific professional competencies as set out by an accreditation agency in 
order to secure the types of position described above.  

There is no external accreditation of physics degrees in Canada. As noted previously, the Canadian 
Association of Physicists does have a Professional Physicist (P.Phys.) designation that our graduates can 
apply for after three years of physics-related work experience. Although this designation is not required 
for physicists to work in industry, it is possible that it will help PMT graduates advance in their careers if 
it becomes more widely recognized. 
 
 
Are your graduates ready to take on entry level positions only, or are you preparing them in the medium 
or long-term for leadership roles? 
 
So far, PMT graduates have secured entry-level positions. However, some have advanced to higher levels 
a couple of years after graduating. In addition, some graduates are planning to pursue further education 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 17 

(e.g. MBA) to accelerate the advancement of their careers. The alumni survey will give more detailed 
information on the PMT graduates’ career paths. 
 
It is hoped that the students’ experience in the PMT program will help them as they progress in their 
careers to more senior roles. In addition to the scientific and technical knowledge that would be important 
in a senior role in the technology sector, one also hopes that the graduates’ problem-solving ability and 
communication skills will help them as they progress. The alumni survey that will be administered later in 
the program review process may help identify ways to further help in that regard. 
 
 
In a competitive employment market, what kinds of experiential education are employers looking for? 
 
The primary experiential learning component of the PMT program is the work experience that students 
complete at the end of their third year. Although such experience is sought by employers, some members 
of our PAC have indicated that longer work terms (e.g. 8 months) are more desirable as it gives more time 
for the student to do meaningful work after the initial training period. Currently the PMT program is 
structured so that students can do work experience of up to five months’ duration. This program review 
will help inform whether/how to reform the work experience component of the program.  
 
Feedback from the PAC suggests that employers value the experiential learning that the 3rd and 4th year 
student projects provide. In addition to the specific scientific and/or technical aspects of the projects, PAC 
members have expressed the importance of development of project management skills, which is now a 
focus of the first semester of the 4th year project. PAC members also value student projects that are done 
in collaboration with companies. Some students have been involved in such projects, both as part of their 
3rd and 4th year projects and as extracurricular activities. 
 
 
Will your students be well prepared to keep up with the changing knowledge base of their field? 
 
As discussed above, the PMT program helps in various ways to prepare students to navigate changes in 
their field of employment. Hopefully this program review will provide further understanding of this aspect 
of the students’ preparation for the workforce. 
  

Pathways to Further Study 
 
Is your program intended to be, in most cases, the terminal program in a student’s educational 
experience, or do you typically expect them to take another program of study? 
 
Since its primary goal is for graduates to find employment in the technology sector, the PMT program is 
designed so that it can be the terminal program in a student’s educational experience. However, as 
discussed below, options for further study are available to students after they graduate. See also the 
Career Pathways Map in Appendix B. 
 
 
Does, or should, your program ladder into another credential at KPU or elsewhere? To what extent are 
your courses transferable to other programs at KPU or elsewhere? 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 18 

The program is not designed to directly ladder into other programs. As shown in Figure 1 (chapter 1), our 
first-year courses are highly transferrable to other BC institutions. Also, as discussed below and in the 
previous chapter, transferring to graduate programs at other institutions is possible. 
 
BSc degrees at KPU have a significant amount of overlap in their first year. Students who decide to switch 
programs after (or during) their first year will therefore have already completed a sizable fraction of the 
first-year courses. 
 
The first year of our program contains five of the Engineering Certificate’s courses, so transfer between 
the two programs is possible. 
 
 
Does, or should, your program provide prerequisite courses that allow students to apply, on graduation, 
for a professional program (such as teacher education)? 
 
As written in the Full Program Proposal: “We believe graduates of our program will be exceptionally well 
prepared for entry into teacher preparation programs for secondary school science teaching. The program 
provides a combination of theoretical understanding at a level that appropriately exceeds that required 
in high schools and practical skills that supports the teacher’s work. After the appropriate teacher-training, 
the more obvious areas of expertise include physics, math, electronics and information & communications 
technology.”  
 
None of the PMT graduates so far has pursued this route. However, one should connect with local teacher 
preparation programs to confirm that PMT graduates are eligible for admission. 
 
Some of the PMT alumni who are currently employed are planning to register in (or have started) MBA  
programs. Their analytical and communication skills, along with the business content of the PMT program, 
will help them in pursuing this route. 
 
 
Is a graduate of your program well prepared for study at the next level? Is, for instance, a baccalaureate 
graduate prepared for graduate school should they choose to pursue it? 
 
Although preparing students for graduate studies is not the primary goal of the program, it is desirable to 
make sure that laddering into graduate school is an option for our graduates. To that end, several years 
ago the Physics Department reached an understanding with the graduate chair of the SFU physics 
department on how PMT graduates could become eligible for entry to SFU’s graduate program. It involves 
completion of three additional fourth year theoretical physics courses at SFU. So far, two PMT graduates 
have pursued that route. The Department has also reached out to UBC, and they have indicated that they 
encourage applications from PMT students.  
 
Laddering directly into graduate programs outside Canada is possible. One of the recent graduates was 
accepted into the MSc in Fusion Energy at the University of York in the UK (though chose to accept a job 
at a BC tech company instead of pursuing the MSc).  
 
The experience of faculty at similar European BSc programs is that their graduates fare very well in 
graduate school. For example, a graduate of a highly applied and hands-on physics degree is well-prepared 
for research in laboratory-based experimental physics. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 19 

Pathways to an Enriched Civic and Personal Life 
 
How well does your program curriculum develop skills an educated citizen should have? 
 
By the end of the program, students will have a high level of numeracy and a deep knowledge of physics. 
They will have honed their skills in course work, scholarly research in their projects, and in their work 
experience. These skills are transferrable and will allow our graduates to evaluate complex issues by 
looking deep into the data and drawing their own conclusions. The program puts emphasis on 
communication so they will have the ability to present their findings and opinions in a clear, coherent 
manner in writing and in public. During the program, students develop the ability to read and understand 
complex texts and documents, which will serve them well in keeping up to date with, and understanding, 
many of the major issues facing our society. PMT students will be able to engage in the discussion of 
complex issues, not just follow them. 
 
As the program name Physics for Modern Technology suggests, PMT students will have acquired a deep 
appreciation of the new technologies that pervade daily life and will be equipped to put those 
technologies to work in new and creative ways for their own benefit and the benefit of society. It will also 
allow the students to better understand the potential and the limitations of new technologies. 
 
Finally, the program makes it clear that there is always more to know. Research and project courses give 
the students the skills to control their own learning and not to rely on their instructors. 
  
Does your program help students to make more informed decisions in their personal and civic lives?  
 
As mentioned above, numeracy, a sophisticated knowledge of physics and technology, the practice of 
scholarly research, examining data and drawing conclusions, synthesizing research findings, and being 
able to present and discuss those findings are skills that can be used in many areas of their personal and 
civic lives. If the students wish to make informed decisions, they will have the problem-solving skills to do 
so in many areas. 
 
Does your program equip students with new, or deepened literacies – be they digital, oral, written, etc.? 
 
PMT students acquire and use a wide range of mathematical, scientific, and technical knowledge. 
Numeracy, an often-overlooked literacy, is at the heart of the physical sciences. Combined with a deep 
knowledge of physics, numerical data, equations, and charts become a way to read and represent the 
world around us.  
 
Since the program emphasizes communication skills, the students will have had experience translating 
complex ideas and technical knowledge into more accessible language. To be truly literate, one must be 
able to discuss topics on many different levels. 

 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 20 

2.2. Program Learning Outcomes 

Since the PMT program did not have an explicit list of program learning outcomes (PLOs) prior to this 
review, one of the major tasks of our curriculum review was to develop them.   

A list of graduate attributes for the program was first created, and then assigned a proficiency level to 
each attribute according to Bloom’s Taxonomy. 

 

 
Graduate Attribute Proficiency Level at Graduation 

Physics Knowledge Analyze and Evaluate 
Math Knowledge Analyze and Evaluate 
Chemistry Knowledge Apply 
Biology Knowledge Understand 
Communication skills Analyze 
Business  Understand and Apply 
Lab techniques and practical skills Evaluate 
Experimental design skills Evaluate and Create 
Analysis and modelling skills Evaluate 
Computer/software programming skills Evaluate and Create 
Cooperation and teamwork attitudes Apply 
Limits of knowledge & independent learning  
Integration of concepts Evaluate and Create 

 
[Note: even though the process of integrating concepts may create new works, one does not expect the 
student’s ability to integrate concepts to be at the same “create” or “evaluate” level as might be 
expected for a Master’s or PhD thesis.] 
 
This process led to the following PLOs: 
 
A student who successfully completes this program will have reliably demonstrated the ability to:  

1. analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and concepts; 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 21 

2. analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned fundamentals and 
applied Mathematics knowledge and techniques; 

3. apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical and practical problems; 

4. understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of Biology as they relate to physics and 
technology; 

5. apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas; 

6. appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology development; 
7. choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing components), and operate 

laboratory equipment to perform experiments and collect data; 
8. design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of experimental research; 
9. formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, analyzing, and 

evaluating data; 
10. use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, visualize and analyze 

data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical systems; 
11. work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors; 
12. recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills independently; 
13. develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, mathematics, technology, 

business, experience, practical skills, and communication skills. 

 

2.3. Essential Skill Development 

Both KPU and the Ministry of Advanced Education and Skills Training have lists of essential skills that KPU’s 
programs are expected to meet. Combining these requirements leads to thirteen essential skills that 
students in our program should have the opportunity to learn and demonstrate: 

  
Creative Thinking and Problem Solving Skills; 
Oral Skills; 
Interpersonal Skills; 
Teamwork and Leadership Skills; 
Personal management and Entrepreneurial Skills; 
Writing Skills; 
Reading and Information Skills; 
Visual Literacy; 
Mathematical Skills; 
Technological Skills; 
Intercultural Skills; 
Citizenship and Global Perspective; 
Independent Learning. 

 
A number of essentials skills are inherent to an undergraduate physics degree. From reading and 
understanding physics lab manuals, reading graphs, writing lab reports and using algebra and calculus to 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 22 

solve kinematics and dynamics problems in first-year studies, to performing literature searches, analyzing 
data, writing term papers and solving advanced physics problems using differential equations, complex 
numbers and vector calculus in fourth year studies, reading, writing, visual literacy, creative thinking, 
problem solving and mathematical skills are developed throughout a physics degree program. 
 
The PMT program at KPU is more than a standard physics degree and was specifically developed to 
emphasize practical applications of theory and hands-on experience. The use of technology is prevalent 
throughout the PMT program, with the introduction of microprocessors in their first year PMT course, 
and electronics, sensors and actuators, process control, applied optics and practical solid state physics 
course in the upper years, PMT students are provided many opportunities to develop their technological 
skills. Much of the hands-on experience comes from the labs where students work in teams to prepare 
equipment and perform experiments. Team learning in the labs is a common theme in the PMT program, 
with lab-based courses in each year of study to give students the ability to advance their teamwork, 
leadership and interpersonal skills. The capstone courses of the PMT program are the third- and fourth-
year project courses. These one- and two-semester long projects require students to imagine creative 
solutions to unique problems. Working independently towards the application of the solutions, students 
are required to identify gaps in their knowledge base and learn independently to address those gaps. 
 
The PMT program was also designed to facilitate employment after graduation. Public speaking is usually 
a weakness for most people, so to help develop good oral skills in PMT graduates, oral presentation skills 
are explicitly listed in the learning outcomes in three PMT program courses, in the first, third and fourth 
years of study. PMT students are also required to take business electives to aid in the development of 
their entrepreneurial skills and global perspectives. Probably one of the best mechanisms to facilitate 
employment after graduation is the requirement that each PMT student complete a work experience 
term. In addition to gaining experience in a relevant industry, PMT students also gain personal 
management, intercultural, citizenship and a global perspective while interacting with the world outside 
of academia. 
 
Nearly all of the essential skills are explicitly addressed in the design of the PMT program and/or the 
learning outcomes and learning activities of the required courses. However, the KPU essential skill, 
“Intercultural Skills” has not been formally addressed. Even though the diversity of KPU’s student 
population and instructional staff provides PMT students the opportunity to meet and interact with 
people of different cultures, it is felt that more can be done to ensure that the PMT students have an 
intercultural awareness, particularly with respect to Indigenous peoples. 

 

2.4. Curriculum Assessment 
 
The full curriculum map, in which we have listed course learning outcomes (CLOs) for each course and 
identified which PLOs they align with, is presented in Appendix C. 
 
As mentioned above, the program PLOs were developed for this review based on the content and desired 
outcomes of the program (an explicit list of PLOs did not exist prior to this program review). The curriculum 
mapping exercise has shown that the PLOs are appropriate and are well-covered by the program as a 
whole. The map demonstrates that the level at which the PLOs are addressed progresses appropriately 
from an introductory (I) level in 1000-level courses to developing (D) at intermediate levels and mostly 
advanced (A) at the upper level. Since the prerequisites and corequisites for program courses were 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 23 

designed to allow students to progress smoothly from one level to the next, there were no concerns about 
their overall appropriateness. 
 
Gap Analysis 
 
Some apparent gaps in how the CLOs map to the PLOs are discussed and explained below. 
 
PHYS 2420 
Two of the course learning outcomes are not addressed at all in the curriculum map. This is because the 
course was developed and taught well before the PMT program was launched and the content on AC 
circuits and semiconductor devices is now covered in PHYS 2600 instead. This points to the need to revise 
the PHYS 2420 course outline. 
 
PHYS 4900 
This is a Special Topics course, with the topic varying from offering to offering. Due to this variation, a 
specific mapping of CLOs to PLOs cannot be achieved. We may need to revise the CLOs for this course so 
that they can cover a wider range of possible topics.  
 
Business 
The two business courses that students must take to complete the program were not included in the 
curriculum mapping exercise because there are many courses that can be taken to satisfy this 
requirement. Despite this, PLO #6 (“…appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and 
technology development”) is still represented in the curriculum map (CLOs from PHYS 3900, 3950, 3951, 
4199, 4299, and 4600 are connected to this PLO).   
 
Recommendation: 
Update the PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 course outlines to better align them with current practice. 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 24 

3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1. Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?  
 
The primary goal of KPU’s PMT program is to prepare students for a career in the high-tech sector. While 
some students may have other plans after graduation, such as graduate school or a different degree, this 
review will focus on the primary goal of the PMT program, specifically, on its relevance to the major 
stakeholders of the program – students and industry. 
 
Based on the student and alumni survey responses [Appendices E and G], both students and alumni felt 
that the PMT program was relevant to their career goals. Current students, who were at various stages in 
the program, all responded positively to the general question on program relevancy – 100% either 
somewhat or strongly agreed that the program was relevant to their career goals.  Alumni, who had all 
completed the program, were afforded an opportunity to provide a more detailed assessment of the PMT 
program.  For nine out of the thirteen program learning outcomes (PLOs) listed in chapter 2, 75% or more 
of the alumni responses were positive (either somewhat or very relevant).  For three of the PLOs, related 
to chemistry, communications and business, the alumni responses were still mostly positive, but only 62% 
of the alumni found these learning outcomes to be relevant. Only one PLO, related to biology, yielded a 
majority of negative responses to its relevancy.  In terms of the PMT curriculum, a very high fraction of 
both current students and alumni, 92% and 100%, respectively, were either somewhat or very satisfied 
with the PMT curriculum.  Regarding the strengths of the PMT curriculum, two main themes emerged 
from the open-ended responses.  Over half of the respondents specified “hands-on” learning and training 
as a strength of the program, with specific mentions of the labs and projects. The other strength of the 
PMT curriculum, as noted by nearly half of the respondents, was the variety of topics and courses included 
in the PMT program. Students and alumni were also asked for suggestions to improve the PMT curriculum.  
While a number of suggestions were related to class scheduling rather than curriculum, the ideas of 
including more computer programming and statistical topics was noted by multiple respondents. 
Astronomy and astrophysics were also suggested. 
 
The other major stakeholder of the PMT program – industry – also deemed the program to be relevant to 
their sector [Appendix H]. The replies from industry regarding the importance of the PLOs closely mirrored 
the alumni responses. In fact, for the same nine PLOs rated most favourably by the alumni, 75% of the 
industry respondents also deemed these PLOs to be very important or essential.  The only difference in 
the responses between alumni and industry was with regards to the communication PLO. Eighty-eight 
percent of the industry respondents considered communications to be very relevant, compared to 62% 
of alumni. With regards to the PMT curriculum, many of the skills, training and knowledge identified by 
industry are already part of the PMT program. Skills such as programming, soldering, electronics, motor 
control, business practice, presentations/communications, hands-on experiences and working in a team 
environment are part of the PMT course and program learning outcomes. In order to maintain relevancy 
in the future, the industry survey also asked respondents to identify emerging trends in their sector.  
Technology related to addressing climate change (renewable energy, sustainability, carbon capture), and 
automation (artificial intelligence, machine learning, quantum computing) were identified as important 
themes in the coming years. While elements of these themes can be found in some of the course learning 
outcomes, it may be worthwhile to update the course outlines to explicitly address these topics. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 25 

 
Faculty responses [Appendix F] were in strong agreement (100%) that the PMT program prepares students 
for a career in the high-tech sector and that the PMT program is relevant to the needs of the sector. The 
detailed responses from faculty regarding relevancy of the PLOs and curriculum closely mirrored the views 
of both alumni and industry. Faculty commonly communicate with students and industry, so it is not 
surprising that the responses from faculty reflect these conversations. In common with students and 
alumni, several faculty also expressed the need for the computing content of the program to be 
strengthened (Q7 faculty survey). One faculty member also suggests restructuring the mathematics 
content of the program.  Similar issues with computer programming and mathematics were also identified 
by the program review team in chapter 1 prior to the launch of the surveys.  
Current students, alumni, industry and faculty all agree that most of the PLOs of the PMT program are 
relevant.  Alumni, industry and faculty viewed the biology related PLO to be significantly less relevant than 
the other PLO’s, with less than 50% of the respondents supporting the relevancy of biology.   
 
Recommendations: 
As noted above, survey responses suggest that a review of the program’s curriculum is warranted in order 
to increase its relevance. These include both changes to existing content of the program as well as 
suggestions for new topics to include. Several of the areas of potential curricular change (computer 
programming, biology, and mathematics) that were identified in the surveys were also identified by 
faculty in chapter 1 prior to the administering of the surveys. We have the following recommendations: 
 

• Assess whether or not the biology content of the program needs to be changed. Although there 
have been good reasons for including biology in the program (such as ensuring alignment with 
KPU’s BSc Framework, providing breadth of education, and preparing students for potential 
careers in the biotechnology sector), the survey results suggest that the biology requirement and 
its relevance to the program should be reviewed.  

• Investigate ways in which the computing content of the program can be strengthened. The need 
for this is a common theme among survey respondents and has also been identified by faculty 
prior to this program review (with some work on looking into the issue already begun).  

• The faculty survey points to the need to review the content and structure of the mathematics 
component of the program. The need for this was also identified by faculty prior to the surveys. 

• Investigate the suitability of the new topics that were identified by survey respondents for 
inclusion in the program. These include: clean technology; artificial intelligence and machine 
learning; data science; RF (radio frequency) technology; statistics; statistical physics; 
astronomy/astrophysics. 

 
The PAC should be consulted on any revisions before implementation. In addition to the topics identified 
here, the PAC should also be surveyed regularly on potential topics to ensure the program stays relevant. 

 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector needed to remain current? 
 
Professional academic bodies 
Faculty in the department are active members of the Canadian Association of Physicists (CAP), the BC 
Association of Physics Teachers (BCAPT), the American Association of Teachers (AAPT), and the Canadian 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 26 

Astronomical Society (CASCA). Activities include attending and presenting at conferences and serving on 
committees. As well as individual memberships, we also have departmental membership of CAP. 
Faculty also hold leadership positions such as President of the BC Association of Physics Teachers and 
section rep for BC in the American Association of Physics Teachers. Until recently, was also the 
Secretary/Treasurer of CAP’s Division of Physics Education. These connections ensure that faculty remain 
current in latest trends and best practices in their field(s), especially when it comes to teaching.  
 
Professional industry associations  

• For several years, at the instigation of the physics department, the Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture has been a member of the BC Tech Association. This has proved to be beneficial for 
making connections with local tech companies. Our students have also been able to attend 
networking events organised by BC Tech. All of this has helped to build our profile with, and 
maintain connections with, local industry. However, membership and connection with the 
association have lapsed in the past year and need to be renewed. 

• When launching the PMT program, we joined the International Society of Automation, which had 
a BC section at the time. This facilitated connections with local automation professionals and 
companies through attending trade fairs, field trips, and social/networking events. The BC section 
has been inactive for several years but is being reactivated and we are re-establishing our 
connection with them. Along with the mechatronics program (Faculty of Trades and Technology), 
we are looking into the possibility of setting up an ISA KPU student section. 

 
Program advisory committee (PAC)  
The PAC was established in 2014. Meetings have been held approximately every 18 months since then. 
Committee members hail from a variety of local teach companies and organizations. They are a very 
engaged group who have helped the program stay current with latest industry trends and provided advice 
on program content. The PAC has, on average, met approximately once every 18 months. It would be 
good to meet more frequently. 
 
On-campus events 
Some examples of other on-campus events that help to maintain strong connections with the local tech 
sector: 
 

• Student project presentations and work experience presentations, which several of the program’s 
industry contacts have attended.  

• For several years before the pandemic, the physics department hosted a lecture as part of the 
annual Canadian Association of Physicists Lecture tour, and several industry contacts and PAC 
members have attended.  

• Several years ago, representatives from local companies were invited to meet one-on-one with 
3rd and 4th year PMT students. The evening had a speed-dating format, and its goal was to give 
students experience of networking and hopefully secure a work experience position for the 
summer. This event worked well, and we should consider doing it again, perhaps on an annual 
basis. 

• Before the pandemic the physics department organized and ran two large annual competitions 
for high school students: the Kwantlen Science Challenge (KSC) in November and the Junior 
Physics and Engineering Challenge (JPEC) in April. Members of the BC Association of Professional 
Engineers and Geoscientists (APEGBC) are typically invited to help run the event. Returning to 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 27 

running these events post-pandemic will be as an opportunity to strengthen the PMT program’s 
connection with local industry. 

 
Connections with alumni  
Connection with alumni is maintained in various ways. Last year, an alumnus spoke about the program at 
an information session organised by the Future Students Office. Last Fall, an alumnus contacted the 
program about a potential collaborative project with company. This has developed into a capstone project 
that a fourth-year PMT student is currently working on. Alumni attended the 3rd and 4th year student 
project presentations in April of this year. Alumni sometimes notify us of employment opportunities for 
our students. Such notifications have led to both work experience positions for students and jobs for new 
graduates.  
 
The alumni survey results show that most alumni are happy with the connections they have with the 
program: 63% of respondents agreed with the statement “I am provided with opportunities to stay 
connected to the Physics for Modern Technology program” (Question 35). Alumni survey respondents 
also had some good suggestions for building better connections with them, including: a LinkedIn profile 
for the program; alumni events; and competitions involving both current students and alumni. These 
suggestions are certainly worth looking into. 
  
 
Potential employers 
63% of alumni survey respondents agreed with the statement “The program provided me with 
opportunities to develop connections with industry/potential employers” (Question 35). There is certainly 
room for improvement on that figure. The avenues described above for maintaining the program’s 
connection with industry tend to be intermittent and are not consistently or systematically pursued. 
Program faculty should consider making an annual calendar of events and activities so that such 
opportunities can be provided more consistently from year to year. 
 
The co-ordinator of the PMT work experience courses (PHYS 3950 and 3951) regularly seeks out new 
potential employers to connect with. 
 
 
Discipline/Sector Survey Responses 
Respondents to the discipline/sector survey also provided us with useful feedback on the effectiveness of 
the program’s connections with industry, including some useful suggestions. 80% of respondents were 
either very or somewhat satisfied with opportunities to stay connected with the program. 60% said we 
are very responsive, and 40% somewhat responsive, to external advice. These results suggest that our 
efforts to maintain connection and dialogue with industry are largely effective and should be maintained. 
In addition, 93% of respondents were either very or somewhat interested in participating in projects that 
connect students to the industry. Although there is currently one one student project being done in 
collaboration with a local company, and there have been a number of others previously, this result 
suggests that it should be possible to increase the number of industry-connected student projects. 
 
Discipline/sector survey respondents also had some ideas for how the program could maintain and 
strengthen connections with the sector, including inviting scientists and engineers from industry to give 
talks and arranging field trips for our students to local companies (See Q17 and 21). While we have done 
some of this in the past, they should become a more regular and more frequent part of our program.  
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 28 

Recommendations: 
 
The above analysis of survey responses and the program’s track record of engaging with industry and 
alumni shows that improvements can be made in this area. We have several related recommendations: 
 

• Renew links with local professional associations such as the BC Tech Association and the BC 
section of the ISA. This will allow faculty and students to engage in the networking events that are 
organized by these associations, which will in turn raise the profile of the program and lead to 
more opportunities (for student work experience, for collaborative projects, and for jobs post-
graduation). 

• Organize more events, both on- and off-campus. Suggestions from alumni and discipline/sector 
survey respondents include field trips, invited talks, and alumni/student competitions. We also 
recommend revisiting the idea of a student-industry networking evening on campus, which was 
held once several years ago and which could potentially become an annual event. In addition to 
ensuring ongoing engagement with industry and alumni (which would in turn lead to more 
opportunities for our students), such extracurricular events would increase the visibility of the 
program on campus, thus providing an opportunity to attract and retain more of our many first-
year students. 

• Develop an annual calendar of events. This would include both internal and external events of the 
kind described above. It would help to keep us accountable and would help ensure that events 
stay ‘on our radar’ from year to year. 

• Develop a LinkedIn profile for the program to allow us to engage more with industry online. This 
was suggested in the alumni survey and would be part of a broader effort to have a more 
substantial and consistent presence on social media in general. This is also related to promotion 
of the program and will be elaborated on further in that section (see below).  

 

Does the program include appropriate Indigenous content? 
 
When the PMT program was developed and launched, indigenization was not a prominent educational 
endeavour, but we recognize that it is now a big goal for KPU and the wider Canadian educational 
community. Although indigenization has not been an explicit goal for the program, the physics 
department does engage in some related activities: 
 

• A broad range of teaching modes are used, some of which are recognised as ways in which 
educators can help indigenize and the delivery of curriculum.1 For example, many classes involve 
students working on activities together in small groups. In fact, many faculty have moved away 
from traditional lectures altogether and engage instead in a “flipped classroom” format in which 
lecture material is delivered through videos and reading assignments, with class time being used 
for deeper and more collaborative activities such as problem solving in small groups and group 
discussion. Some faculty also require our students to engage in reflective writing, which is a 

                                                            
1 Shauneen Pete, 100 Ways: Indigenizing & Decolonizing Academic Programs, Aboriginal Policy Studies, Vol. 6 No. 1 
(2016). https://doi.org/10.5663/aps.v6i1.27455 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 29 

writing activity in which students express and reflect on their own understanding of assigned 
reading.2  

• One physics faculty member runs a physics workshop at the regular Open Doors, Open Minds 
event, in which Indigenous high school students are invited to KPU to “meet current students and 
faculty members, listen to engaging keynote speakers, attend mock classes, and learn about KPU's 
Indigenous Services for Students”. This event is also an opportunity to promote our program to 
the local Indigenous community. 

 
Recommendation:  
Faculty should discuss and develop a clear understanding of what indigenization means for the program. 

 

3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency 

What is the collective expertise available to deliver the program? 
 
FTEs  
 
There are 9.6 FTE (Full-time equivalent) of faculty in the department, nine of whom are fulltime. There is 
one 50% regular instructor and sessional instructors as needed. There are two types of instructional 
support staff in the Physics Department. The first are our three full-time technical support people (one 
Instrumentation Specialist and two Technicians). These positions maintain physics laboratory equipment 
and do not have direct teaching responsibility. The second type is composed of lab instructors responsible 
for teaching preparatory and first-year laboratory portions of our courses. There are 5.6 FTEs of lab 
instructors. Five are fulltime and sessionals are hired as needed.  
  
  
Areas of Expertise  
  
Faculty are physicists by training, several with additional engineering background. Most of the faculty 
have an instrumentation or experimental background which is vital considering the goal of PMT is to turn 
out industrial physicists with a wide range of practical and applied skills. Two faculty have backgrounds in 
Astronomy. This reflects the number of Astronomy courses we offer.  
  
The broad areas of expertise in the department are optics, condensed matter physics, and astronomy.  
  
More specific areas of expertise are: scanning probe microscopy, sensors and sensor development, 
experimental particle astrophysics, star formation astrophysics, digital signal processing, dynamics and 
control of non-linear and complex systems, data science, machine learning, data analysis¸ 
superconductivity, semiconductor physics, polymers, environmental physics, laser technology, 
microfabrication, applications of physics in cell biology, fusion energy, and solid oxide fuel cells. As well 
there is considerable expertise in astronomy education, online physics labs, and physics education and 
outreach.  
                                                            
2 Kalman, Calvin S., Lattery, Mark and Sobhanzadeh, Mandana, Impact of Reflective Writing and Labatorials on 
Student Understanding of Force and Motion in Introductory Physics. Creative Education, 9 (4). pp. 575-596 (2018). 
http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ce.2018.94041 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 30 

 
Faculty Qualifications  
  
All but one faculty member has a PhD. Since the development of the PMT degree, only PhDs have been 
hired. Two faculty members have an Engineer-in-Training (EIT) status. This is helpful with successful 
transfer of our Applied Science courses and students to Engineering programs.  
  
  
Expertise of Instructional Staff  
  
Among the department’s technical support people are two B.Eng. and one MSc. They have expertise in 
digital electronics and optics.   
  
Among the department’s lab instructors, there is one PhD and one MSc with the remainder being BSc 
holders. Areas of expertise include computer programming and the production and editing of instructional 
video.  
  
 
Recent Professional Development  
  
Much of the PD by physics faculty is spent acquiring deeper skills to aid in student research projects such 
as taking educational leave to learn about fabrication of molecularly imprinted polymers and performing 
scanning probe microscopy studies of organic photovoltaic materials and taking an online course in Power 
Electronics.  A large part of scheduled PD is self-directed, side of the desk work such as learning javascript 
to create physics simulations and learning video editing techniques to prepare instructional or 
introductory videos for labs.   
  
Scholarly presentations have largely grown out of the innovations that the faculty do as part of their 
teaching including the development of the PMT degree and creating remotely operated labs. Faculty have 
also made presentations to high school teachers on aspects of teaching physics and to retired learners 
with a general desire to learn more about physics.  
  
Teaching load is high at KPU but several faculty members have published research in the last five years in 
Astronomy and Physics Education. One faculty member has also been a reviewer of several papers.  
  
Several members are involved on the organizational side of the Canadian Association of Physicists (CAP), 
the Canadian Astronomical Society (CASCA), and the BC chapter of the American Association of Physics 
Teachers (BCAPT).    
  

Collectively, does the department have the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 
The KPU Physics for Modern Technology degree was modeled on similar degrees in Ireland and with the 
assistance of the Galway-Mayo Institute of Technology, the Cork Institute of Technology, and the 
Waterford Institute of Technology.  In creating the degree, it was acknowledged that faculty at the time 
did not have the expertise to offer all the third- and fourth-year courses for the degree. Fortunately, 
establishing the degree necessitated the hire of two new full-time faculty. These faculty members were 
hired for their expertise is the required areas. When hired, the new faculty developed most of the required 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 31 

new course outlines. Combined with the pre-existing expertise in the Department, the breadth and depth 
of specialist knowledge has been more than enough to graduate students from the program with the skills 
and attitudes that have made our students successful in obtaining employment (see Alumni Survey) and 
meeting the needs of employers (see Discipline/Sector Survey).   
  
It is worth noting that the breadth of expertise and knowledge in the Department is greater than the 
curriculum requirements of the PMT program’s courses. This extra expertise can on occasion be used in 
the student project courses (PHYS 3900, 4199, 4299) to enrich the learning outcomes for our students.    
  
Two retirements in the Department following the inauguration of the PMT degree have allowed us to hire 
new full-time faculty. Prior to the hiring of these faculty, an internal discussion was made of our long-term 
needs. The department must balance the need for expertise in non-PMT courses such as Astronomy with 
the need to deepen or broaden expertise in areas applicable to the PMT degree. Fortunately, physicists 
with a background in Astronomy normally have expertise in Optics that is needed in many of our PMT 
courses. Beyond Optics, we have also been able to add expertise in Data Science and Machine Learning 
that we wish to incorporate into our degree.   
  
In the next five years, two more retirements can be expected. The department will of course need to 
ensure that replacement hires fill any gaps that the retirements may leave in departmental areas of 
expertise. Such retirements also provide an opportunity to add new areas of expertise to the PMT 
program.  
  
One problem for a small department such as ours is that the expertise to teach a particular course may 
only reside with a single faculty member. An unexpected lengthy illness or retirement, or an educational 
leave, could cause major problems. Some basic planning for such an occurrence is needed.    
  
Professional development and scholarly activity such as research is a problematic area at KPU. High 
teaching loads, limited PD funds, and lack of space for research laboratories limit what faculty may 
accomplish. As a result, degree programs in the Faculty of Science and Horticulture emphasize student-
led research. Limited funding for student research courses is available. Some research projects may be 
done in collaboration with companies for whom our students have worked. Such collaboration, as a 
bonus, deepens our connections with industry. Developing and overseeing student project work is one 
way faculty can remain current in the field. Much of the professional development done by our faculty 
has been directly related to the need to oversee student project work or to enhance educational 
outcomes.  
  
As the PMT program grows and becomes better known, donations in kind from industry are occurring. 
PMT recently acquired a Scanning Electron Microscope this way. Direct purchase of such a device would 
have been much too expensive for our budget. As a result, faculty can acquire new skills and offer a 
broader range of research projects to our students.  
  
Acquiring new equipment, particularly of the size of the SEM, causes its own problems. Space is limited 
on Richmond Campus. In arguing for new space, administration looks at the number of students who 
would use that space. Boosting our enrolment would strengthen our position.  
   
 
 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 32 

Recommendations:  
  
• Prior to a new hire, the department should have a discussion on gaps the retirement will create. In 

addition, the department should have regular discussions with the Program Advisory Committee 
about topics in physics that are growing in importance to Industry and conversely topics that are 
declining. These discussions should drive hiring criteria.  

 
• Alternate instructors for second-, third-, and fourth-year courses should be designated. Current 

instructors should be asked to develop a package of teaching materials such as a detailed course 
outline, teaching notes, sample examinations, sample projects, and the like. Course instructors and 
their alternates should meet to discuss the course and the materials. If possible, hiring lists for the 
courses should be kept for hiring on short notice.  

 
• Research is crucial to the success of students in the PMT program. The Physics Department should 

continue to have representation on Faculty and Senate committees considering the future of scholarly 
activity at KPU.  

 

3.3. Student Demand 

Who takes the program? 

Exhibits 2 and 3 of the Administrative Data Report (Appendix D) are reproduced below. We also used the 
KPU Strategic Enrollment Data tool to extract data for PMT-declared students as those are students we 
can definitively identify as being in the program (see Exhibit 2b below). 
 
Female students 
Female students typically make up around 15% to 20% of the program’s population. Although this is 
considerably lower than the 50% to 60% in the Faculty of Science and Horticulture, it is similar to the 
proportion of female physics students at American institutions. As shown on page 19 of the American 
Institute of Physics’ “Roster of Physics Departments with Enrollment and Degree Data, 2020”, the number 
of female physics bachelor’s degree graduates has been steadily increasing in the US over the last couple 
of decades and had reached over 20% by the year 20203.  
   
Under-representation of women in physics is a well-known issue4 and many causes and solutions have 
been proposed5. We should familiarize ourselves with global current thinking and practices in addressing 
this issue. One possible step that could be undertaken is to consult our female students and alumni about 
their experiences to see if they could shed light on barriers to female students entering our program. For 
example, it is possible that the large gender imbalance among PMT faculty and the subsequent dearth of 
                                                            
3 Starr Nicholson and Patrick J Mulvey, Roster of Physics Departments with Enrollment and Degree Data, 2020, 
American Institute of Physics (2020).  
https://www.aip.org/statistics/reports/roster-physics-departments-enrollment-and-degree-data-2020 
4 Jess Wade, Why we need to keep talking about equality in physics, Physics World, August 2019. 
https://physicsworld.com/a/why-we-need-to-keep-talking-about-equality-in-physics/ 
5 Valerie Jamieson, Women in physics: Why there’s a problem and how we can solve it, New Scientist, 7 November 
2018. https://www.newscientist.com/article/mg24032031-900-women-in-physics-why-theres-a-problem-and-
how-we-can-solve-it/ 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 33 

female faculty role models might discourage some female students from pursuing the program. To that 
end, we recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the 
department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to try to identify strategies for redressing the 
imbalance. Potential sources of help in this area include groups like the Canadian Association of Physicists’ 
Division for Gender Equity in Physics, which advocates on this issue. 
 
Age of students 
Although the age profile of intended and declared PMT students is similar to that of FSH (70-80% aged 22 
or younger), exhibit 2b shows that students aged 23 or older typically make up more than 50% of our 
declared total. This could be due to a variety of factors (time to decide on program, students working etc.) 
and is not considered to be a problem. Having slightly older students in class can benefit the whole class 
due to the positive influence that their maturity can have on younger students in terms of motivation, 
study habits etc. 
 
International students 
Since 2018/19, the proportion of international students in the program has been significantly lower than 
in FSH as a whole.  Since our program is applied and job-focused, it should be attractive to international 
students who want to pursue a career in Canada. A reasonable goal for PMT would be to reach the FSH 
average of approximately 35%.  

Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by 
Academic Year 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Student Headcount 118 138 114 102 81 
% Female 18% 19% 13% 17% 16% 
% 22 years or younger 76% 83% 77% 72% 72% 
% International 22% 24% 18% 18% 17% 

 
Exhibit 2b: Demographic Profile of Declared Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by 
Academic Year 
- from KPU Strategic Enrolment Management Data (files: 2016-17 and 2020-21) 
FTE Head counts 

Academic Year 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Total PMT Students 16 9 11 14 13 19 21 

Home 
Domestic 13 7 9 14 13 17 19 
International 3 2 2 0 0 2 2 

Gender 
Male 14 7 9 12 11 16 17 
Female 2 2 2 2 2 3 4 

Study 
Full-time1 15 8 9 14 11 17 19 
Part-time 1 1 2 0 2 2 2 

Age 

<19 53 0 1 0 0 0 0 
19-22 6 4 5 5 5 10 9 
23-29 4 4 4 7 7 8 11 
> 29 1 1 1 2 1 12 12 

 
1  Full-time defined as at least 9-credits in a semester or at least one term. 
2  This student was 40+ and considered full-time. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 34 

3 This may be the number of physics-intended, rather than PMT-declared students. Students can only 
declare into the program after completing a minimum of 24-credits, including ENGL1100, MATH1220 
and PHYS1220 – typically requires completing at least one undergraduate year. 

Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Science and Horticulture Students by Academic 
Year 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Student Headcount 2,591 3,256 2,795 2,672 2,405 
% Female 53% 58% 55% 56% 58% 
% 22 years or younger 73% 78% 76% 75% 74% 
% International 18% 38% 36% 35% 34% 

 
 
Students’ reasons for taking the program 
Out of thirteen respondents to question 4 of the student survey (“What was your main reason for enrolling 
in the Physics for Modern Technology program?”), eight said they enrolled in the program for career 
reasons (to prepare for a specific career or to improve job prospects/earning potential). Two enrolled to 
prepare to transfer and two to prepare for graduate studies. These responses are not surprising given that 
the program was primarily designed and is promoted as one that prepares students for a career in the 
tech sector.  

 

Is demand for the program sustainable? 
 
PMT enrollments and comparisons with FSH as a whole 
 
As can be seen in Exhibit 7 of the administrative data report, enrollment trends across all PHYS courses 
taught by the department (i.e. including the many students who are in our preparatory and first year 
courses but not in the PMT program) are similar to those across FSH as a whole, with an average fill-rate 
for PHYS only about two students less than for FSH. 
 
The size of the PMT program itself (as distinct from courses taken by PMT and non-PMT students) can be 
estimated from the number of declared students (Exhibit 5). Although our relatively new program is still 
small, it is growing, with a 91% increase in declared students from 2016/17 (11 declared students) to 
2020/21 (21 declared students). Growth in enrollments in physics programs is also seen at other BC post-
secondary institutions (see Exhibit 6), although we only have data up to 2018/19. Our aim is to have this 
upward trend continue and we believe that a realistic medium-term goal is to have enough students to 
run 3rd and 4th year courses concurrently (at least 10 students in our 3rd and 4th year courses, including an 
increased proportion of international students). 
 
[Note on terminology: to be consistent with the nomenclature in the administrative data report, in some 
sections of this report we refer to first-year as L1, second-year as L2 etc. Also, we sometimes use the term 
“upper-level” to indicate 3rd and 4th year (i.e. L3 and L4).] 
 
While the number of declared students has been increasing, the size of the pool from which declared 
students are drawn (i.e., the number of intended or undeclared students) has been decreasing, with a 
43% drop from 2016/17 to 2020/21 (Exhibit 5). The department has identified this as an issue that needs 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 35 

to be addressed and is beginning to make more vigorous efforts to promote the program to 
intended/undeclared first-year students. The need for this is also seen in the L1-to-L2 retention rate, 
which is low compared to FSH (Exhibit 8.1 and 8.2). [However, we note that there are two-year programs 
in FSH that would inflate the L2 FSH numbers relative to ours.] Note that the ratio of declared to intended 
or undeclared has been increasing, which is a positive sign. 
 
As has been mentioned, the program's upper-level courses have been running in alternate years, with all 
3rd and 4th year students together generally taking L3 courses one year and L4 courses the following year. 
Since there are some exceptions to this, with some L3 courses being offered in an L4 year and vice versa6, 
when comparing our upper-level enrollments with those of FSH (for example) it makes more sense to 
compare PMT L3+L4 totals with FSH L3+L4 totals for any given year. Also, in order to make a direct 
comparison between upper-level PMT enrollments with those of FSH as a whole, we can use data from 
Exhibit 8 in the administrative data report to calculate enrollment per class (as opposed to just looking at 
total enrollment): 
 

2020/21  PMT FSH 
L3+L4 total enrollment 76 887 
L3+L4 classes 9 90 
Enrollment per class 8.4 9.9 

 
Note that for 2020/21 the combined L3 and L4 enrollments per class for PMT are similar to those for FSH 
(8.4 vs 9.9). This shows that the practice of alternating our L3 and L4 offerings brings PMT’s upper-level 
enrollments roughly into line with the FSH average. As noted, we hope to at least double our upper-level 
enrollment in the coming years so that we can offer all L3 and L4 courses every year instead of alternating 
them. 
 
Another way to assess the health of our upper-level enrollment in comparison to FSH as a whole is to look 
at the total L3+L4 enrollments as a percentage of L1 enrollments: 
 

2020/21  PMT FSH 
L1 total enrollment 548 6494 
L3+L4 total enrollment 76 887 
(L3+L4) as percentage of L1 13.9% 13.7% 

 
As can be seen from the above table, retention of L1 students through to upper levels (L3 and L4) in PMT 
is very similar to FSH as a whole. Despite this, a retention rate of approximately 14% is low and, as 
discussed, is something the program needs to address. 
 
 
Financial considerations 
We identify two ways in which financial considerations can have a positive impact on the sustainability of 
the program: 

                                                            
6 For example: PHYS 3950 and 3951 (Work Experience) run every year; PHYS 4900 (Special Topics) is generally 
offered with L3 courses; students can do their 3rd year project (PHYS 3900) when L4 courses are being offered; and 
students can do their 4th year project (PHYS 4199, 4299) when L3 courses are being offered.  
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 36 

• Tuition revenue: Since international students pay approximately $2,000 in tuition fees for a 3-
credit course, the data in Exhibit 9 shows that an addition of just 3 international students per class 
(on average), would bring PMT’s average revenue per class into line with that of FSH. 

• Low non-tuition costs for students: In recent years PMT faculty have been making efforts to keep 
additional costs low for students. Keeping costs for students low can help improve the 
sustainability of the program by attracting more students. Examples of these efforts include:  

o Use of OER (Open Educational Resource) materials instead of requiring students to 
purchase textbooks. 

o Use of the library resources (e.g. accessing high quality textbooks online for free via the 
library website). 

o Free lab manuals. Several years ago the department moved away from requiring students 
to purchase lab manuals. Students can now access them at no cost via course websites. 

o Lending students take-home kits. While this has been a practice for several years in some 
PMT courses (for example PHYS 2600 – Electronics), it was expanded greatly during the 
pandemic to ensure students were still able to perform hands-on activities, which are 
such an important aspect of science education.  

These initiatives allow some PMT courses to be designated as ZTC (Zero Textbook Cost). ZTC is a 
KPU initiative which “helps remove barriers to access post-secondary education, adapting our 
programs to create a more equitable place for all students to learn.” 
 

Industry demand 
 
Another aspect of demand for the program is industry’s need for its graduates. All sixteen respondents to 
question 14 of the discipline/sector survey said that there is demand in their sector for graduates of 
programs like PMT, with 81% saying there is “some” demand and 19% saying there is “a lot of” demand. 
Additionally, 69% percent of respondents said demand is likely to increase over the next 5 to 10 years, 
while 31% said demand will likely stay the same (question 15 of discipline/sector survey). These responses 
bode well for the job prospects of future PMT graduates. 
 
The demand for graduates of the program can also be seen in the success they are having in securing jobs. 
Six out of eight alumni survey respondents say they are currently employed in a field related to what they 
studied at KPU (with the survey suggesting that the other two have pursued graduate school). Of those 
six, five are in a full-time position and one is in a contract position. As seen from responses to questions 
28 and 29, alumni are working in a wide variety of roles in the tech sector, with job titles of Manufacturing 
Technician, Software Developer, Cyclotron Operator/Engineering Technologist, Data Scientist, and 
Hardware Systems Technician. In addition to survey respondents, we are aware of other alumni who are 
working as Manufacturing Technician, and others in the roles of Electromechanical Technician and 
Technical Support. One of our alumni, who started off in the role of Product Manager after graduation, 
has been promoted to the position of OEM Business Development Manager. 
 
Comparison with enrollments at other BC institutions 
 
The number of declared PMT students in 2020/21 is similar to the 2018/19 data we have for smaller 
physics degree programs in BC (Exhibit 6). In that year, there were 20 declared physics students at 
Thompson Rivers University and 29 at UNBC. The number of PMT graduates is also similar to those 
institutions (see Exhibits 18 and 18.1). 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 37 

 
Recommendations: 
 

• We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the 
department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to try to identify strategies for redressing the 
imbalance. 

• To help achieve this goal of reaching the FSH average of 35% international students, we should 
learn more about how KPU recruits international students and find out if it is possible for KPU’s 
international recruiters and agents to promote our program more abroad. 

• Since the low retention rate is a Faculty-wide issue, we recommend that chairs and Faculty Council 
discuss this and initiate a Faculty-wide response. Our department’s Faculty Council 
representatives can communicate the need for this to Faculty Council, and our department chair 
can bring this up with the other department chairs and program coordinators in the Faculty. (We 
note that, at the time of writing, these communications have just begun.)   

 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 
 
Instructional capacity 
 
We currently have instructional capacity to meet demand for the program. However, meeting the goal of 
running all upper-level courses concurrently will require an additional faculty member to be hired. This 
and related issues are explored more fully in section 3.2 above. 
 
Physical (space) capacity 
 
First-year PMT labs are taught on both the Richmond and Surrey campuses. The program’s 2nd, 3rd, and 
4th year labs are largely taught in room 3310 on the Richmond campus, which can also accommodate up 
to 20 students. For the last few years, the program has also had access to project and workshop space 
that has allowed students to engage in active hands-on project and fabrication activities that are very 
important for their employability. The recent loss of the project space and adjacent workshop will prove 
challenging for the program. Replacement fabrication and project space will be required in order to 
maintain student satisfaction with the program’s facilities and the quality of their education, as well as to 
accommodate the planned increased number of students. We refer the reader to Chapter 5 (Resources, 
Services, and Facilities), where these issues are explored more fully. 

 

Does the program have effective outreach to ensure demand? 
 
Overall, faculty are keen to increase and improve promotion of the program. In response to question 3 of 
the faculty survey, only 27% agreed that the program is being adequately promoted, with 47% 
disagreeing. As one respondent to the faculty survey stated: “The program is not being promoted the way 
it should. There is a huge capacity here and I don't think the importance of the program is well advertised. 
Students would gain skills that are directly applicable to industrial needs. This alone should attract 
students not only within Canada but also across the globe” (Q7 faculty survey). A similar comment was 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 38 

made in response to question 8 of the student survey: “advertise it more so people would know about it. 
I found it by chance and didnt know beforehand that it existed.”  
 
Promotion has two facets: (1) attracting students and (2) promoting to industry to raise the program’s 
profile and help facilitate opportunities for our students and graduates. 
 
 
Attracting students 
 
As shown in Exhibit 5.1 of the administrative data report, and by our earlier analysis of retention rates, 
there is a large untapped potential for increasing the number of students in the program through better 
retention of current KPU students. The department has therefore identified a need to promote the 
program more to existing KPU students and has begun discussing how to do this (for example through 
more explicit promotion of the program to students in our first-year courses). As discussed above, we also 
recommend a Faculty-wide response to tackle this.  
 
Of course, it will also be important to continue promoting the program to high school students. The need 
for this is borne out by the fact that in response to question 3 in the student survey, only 23% say they 
heard about the program via a KPU visit to their high school or via teachers/counsellors. Pre-pandemic, 
promotion to high school students involved in-person events such as open houses, high school visits, 
promotion to high school counsellors, attendance at science fairs, as well as large annual competitions 
that the department organized for high school students such as the Kwantlen Science Challenge and the 
Junior Physics and Engineering Challenge. Although we have participated in several virtual events during 
the pandemic, we are looking forward to returning to more in-person promotional events. The Future 
Students Office at KPU have been very helpful in involving us in their promotions to high schools and we 
should ensure that we continue to engage with them as more in-person events take place.  
 
Only 8% of student survey respondents said that they heard about the program through social media (Q3 
student survey). This tells us that an increased presence on social media will also be an important part of 
our promotional efforts. This has begun with the recent designation of a faculty member as our social 
media liaison/facilitator and has resulted in an increased frequency of posts to our facebook page. To help 
coordinate all of this, we had a recent meeting with our Faculty’s Communications and Events Specialist 
and will be working with them over the summer (2022) and beyond.  
 
We have also identified international recruitment as a priority. As mentioned above: “A reasonable goal 
for PMT would be to reach the FSH average of approximately 35%.” To help achieve this, we should learn 
more about how KPU recruits international students and find out if it is possible for KPU’s international 
recruiters and agents to promote our program more abroad. 
 
In the past, PMT faculty have promoted to local colleges that do not have their own physics degree and 
whose students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond the first- or second-year level. This has 
involved visits to Langara, Douglas, and VCC. We need to start doing that again. 
 
 
Promotion to industry 
 
Industry promotion happens through the various events and organizations that were mentioned earlier 
in this chapter. This is discussed in section 3.1 above. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 39 

 
 
Recommendations: 
 
As shown, there is great potential to increase enrollments through retention of existing KPU students. 
There is also a need to engage more with high school students. In light of the space issues identified above, 
and explored thoroughly in chapter 5, we note that it will be important to have a plan for accommodating 
the increase in student numbers. In addition to the importance of the Faculty-wide response identified 
above, we have additional recommendations for how the department can engage in promoting the PMT 
program: 
 

• Develop a coordinated action plan for promoting our program to students in our first-year classes. 
• Engage more with high school students through school visits, involvement in science fairs, and 

events hosted by us on campus. Seek the support of our Dean’s office (e.g. our Faculty’s 
Communications and Events Specialist) and the Future Students Office in these endeavours.  

• Develop an annual calendar of events (similar to what was recommended above for our 
interactions with industry).  

• Expand our presence on social media, particularly with a view to targeting potential students. 
• Renew promotional activities at local colleges that do not have physics degrees, and whose 

students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond the first- or second-year level. 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 40 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

As can be seen in the curriculum map that was discussed in chapter 2, most of the program’s PLOs are 
met in multiple courses. This is especially true of the PLOs involving physics knowledge, math knowledge, 
communication skills, and integration skills. Also very well represented are the PLOs involving laboratory 
skills, data analysis, computing, teamwork, and awareness of limits of knowledge.  

PLOs involving biology and chemistry are less well represented on the map. This is to be expected as they 
are not core topics in the program. The business PLO also does not feature strongly on the map. This is 
largely due to the fact that we have not included the two business electives on the map because there are 
many courses that can be taken to satisfy this requirement. 

The results from the student survey largely corroborate the above analysis of the curriculum map. Only 
53% of students said that the program helps them develop the business learning outcome to a large or 
moderate extent. The figure for biology was very similar, at 54%. However, the result for chemistry was 
significantly larger, with 77% of students saying that the program helps them develop the chemistry 
learning outcome to a large or moderate extent. For all other PLOs, more than 80% of students say the 
program is helping to develop them to a large or moderate extent. 

 

Are appropriate experiential learning opportunities provided to help student acquire the learning 
outcomes? 

Responses to question 6 of the faculty survey highlight projects and hands-on work as strengths of the 
program. We consider a lot of the program’s content to fall into the category of experiential learning. As 
has been previously discussed, the program emphasizes hands-on learning, with more lab-based and 
fewer theoretical courses than a standard physics degree. The extended 3rd and 4th year student projects 
are also highly experiential, as is the work experience component of the program. Areas in which students 
gain work experience have previously been discussed. To give the reader a flavour of the kinds of project 
that upper-level PMT students undertake, this is the list of projects that were presented by 3rd and 4th 
year students at the end of the spring 2022 semester: 

• LIDAR navigation for a semi-autonomous weeding robot 

• Using machine-learning algorithms to classify star forming regions 

• Phase-locked loop for quartz tuning fork sensors 

• A sun-tracking solar panel 

• Soft-actuator pick and place robot 

• External-cavity carbon-dioxide laser 

• Predicting micro-satellite constellation locations for astrophotography 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 41 

• Comparison of CMOS and CCD cameras for Raman spectroscopy 

As can be seen, students pursue hands-on experiential projects in a wide range of fields including 
astronomy, sensor technology, clean energy technology, machine learning, robotics, and optics (among 
others). 

Communication skills are another important aspect of experiential learning and those are emphasized 
throughout the program in the form of oral presentations, poster presentations, report writing, teamwork 
etc. Survey responses give us confidence that the program is meeting the experiential learning needs of 
its students: 

92% of students and 88% of alumni agree that the program provides sufficient opportunities to reinforce 
learning through practical application (Q12 student survey and Q14 alumni survey).  

A majority of alumni said that work experience (76%) and projects (100%) contributed to their learning to 
a moderate or large extent (Q15 alumni survey). 

An important aspect of experiential learning in the program is the quality of the space, technology, and 
facilities that allow that learning to take place. Students expressed very high levels of satisfaction with the 
specialized technology and facilities in the program (Q20 student survey). Although faculty’s assessment 
of this was also mostly positive (Q22 faculty survey), it was not as enthusiastic as the student response – 
this will be discussed further in chapter 5 on Resources, Services, and Facilities.  

 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

Responses to question 11 of the student survey show that students feel that the program is helping them 
develop most of the essential skills, apart from leadership skills (31%) and intercultural skills (38%). 
Although intercultural skills are not something the program focuses on explicitly, students are exposed to 
people (fellow students and faculty) of diverse backgrounds and from other programs (e.g. School of 
Design, Sustainable Agriculture). These experiences will serve them well when they go on to work in 
industry, where physicists work with people with a variety of backgrounds and expertise. This is supported 
by the alumni survey, where 76% of respondents report that the program helped them develop 
intercultural skills. Leadership is also not something the program focuses on, however students do gain 
some project management experience in their fourth-year projects (PHYS 4199/4299), which is an 
important aspect of leadership. We note that 63% of alumni say that the program helped them develop 
leadership skills. The difference in the student and alumni responses suggests that by the time they have 
finished the program, students have gained awareness of how much they have learned in these areas. 

 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 

The program has been designed with progression in mind, with prerequisites and content chosen to help 
students transition smoothly from one level to the next. This aspect of the program’s design is borne out 
in the survey results.  

75% of faculty are satisfied with students’ preparation for 2000-level courses (Q10 faculty survey) and 
83% are satisfied with students’ preparation for 3000-level and 4000-level courses (Q12 faculty survey). 
Overall, 92% of faculty agree that the prerequisites prepare students for more advanced courses (Q15 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 42 

faculty survey). 92% of students agree that the prerequisites prepare them for more advanced courses 
(Q13 student survey), and 83% of alumni agree that the prerequisites prepared them for more advanced 
courses. 

Exhibit 17 in the administrative data report also suggests that students are well prepared for subsequent 
courses. As can be seen in the data for the 2020/21 academic year, mean grades increase significantly as 
students progress from L1 to L4. In addition, the DFW and repeat rates decrease as students progress 
from L1 to L4. 

 

Does instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

The program encompasses many learning and teaching modes. Classes and labs generally involve a lot of 
student-student and student-instructor interaction and involve activities and modes such as problem 
solving, group work, lecturing, student presentations, coding, and experiments, to name a few. As such, 
the program is designed for hands-on, practical, active learners and is less suited to passive learners. 

Third- and fourth-year projects are somewhat self-paced and allow students to be more self-directed 
(especially the fourth-year projects, and with appropriate levels of supervision of course).  

Survey results suggest that the program is meeting the needs of our learners: 

92% of student respondents agreed that their instructors accommodate their learning needs (Q14 student 
survey) and 92% of students say they are satisfied with the instruction they have received in the program 
(Q15 student survey). 92% of faculty agree that “multiple learning modalities are accommodated” in the 
program (Q16 faculty survey) and 90% are satisfied with the quality of instruction across the program 
(Q17 faculty survey). In addition, 100% of alumni respondents say they are satisfied with the instruction 
they received in the program (Q17 alumni survey). Instructors’ attention to the needs of each learner is 
also demonstrated in one student’s response to question 16: “Instructors show care to teach each 
individual student.” 

 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 
 
Instructors’ use of a wide variety of assessment methods ensures that there are multiple ways in which 
students can demonstrate their achievement of the learning outcomes. The types of work and activity 
that are assessed include written exams, practical hands-on exams, written assignments, oral 
presentations, poster presentations, formal written reports, reflective writing, laboratory record 
keeping, and computer programming (coding). 
 
The survey results show a high level of satisfaction with the program’s range of assessment methods 
(Q18 student survey, Q20 alumni survey, Q20 faculty survey). 100% of students and alumni and 91% of 
faculty agree that the range of assessments let students demonstrate what they have learned. Between 
88% and 100% of students, alumni, and faculty agree that information from instructors on evaluation 
methods is clear and that assessment methods are consistent throughout the program. 100% of 
students and 88% of alumni agree that instructors provide useful feedback. In addition, 92% of faculty 
agree that assessment methods align with program learning outcomes. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 43 

 

Summary and Recommendation 
 
Feedback from students and alumni noted above indicates that the current design and delivery of the 
curriculum and assessment methods in the program are meeting students’ needs. We will not remain 
complacent though. We will investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a means for 
students to reflect on their progress. 
 
Recommendation: Investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a means for students 
to reflect on their progress. 
 

4.2. Student Success  

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 

A satisfactory grade is considered to be a “C” or above. Exhibits 12 and 13 in the administrative data report 
represent the cumulative grade distribution of PMT and FSH students, respectively, from 2016/17 to 
2020/21. On average, over the last 5 years, 68.6% of PMT students achieved grade C or higher. This result 
is very similar to the average of 69.8% for FSH students over the same period. In addition, the overall 
mean grade and repeat rate of PMT students (Exhibits 14 & 15) are very similar to the FSH average. The 
increase in overall PMT DFW rate in 20/21 (Exhibit 16), as well as the slight increase in repeat rate in that 
year (relative to FSH), may be explained by the pandemic and the move to online learning, which may 
have affected physics students more than others in FSH.  

While Exhibits 12 to 16 indicate the overall performance of students across all levels of the program, the 
performance of students in each level (for the 2021/21 academic year) can be gauged via Exhibit 17. Even 
though Physics is considered to be a difficult subject, Exhibit 17 shows a great improvement of the mean 
GPA of the students from level 1 to level 4. On its own, this increase in GPA suggests that students are 
progressing very well from one level to the next. However, the DFW rates at levels 1 and 2 (i.e. first- and 
second-year) are significantly higher than the FSH average. We could examine pre-pandemic data to try 
to discern if this is a consistent feature from year-to-year or if it is a result of the change of teaching modes 
necessitated by the pandemic. We note that the move from in-person to online learning likely had a 
significant impact on our students due to the hands-on nature of the program. 

 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 

The most basic measure of progress through the program is time to completion. Using the data in Exhibit 
20 of the administrative data report, it can be seen that the average completion time over the last four 
years (2017/18 to 2020/21) has been 5.7 years. This is comparable to the average of 5.4 years for FSH 
bachelor’s degrees over the same period (Exhibit 21). 

Although PMT students’ completion times are not cause for concern, some survey responses suggest that 
students feel their progress through the program could be faster (Q13 student survey). For example, 54% 
of students disagree with the statement “I am able to take the prerequisite courses when I need them” 
and 46% disagree with the statement “The range of courses offered each term is adequate.” Although 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 44 

75% of alumni agreed that the range of courses offered each term was adequate (Q16 alumni survey), 
several respondents also said that limited availability of courses was a factor in them taking longer than 
four years to complete the program (Q6 alumni survey). 

Alternation of 3rd and 4th year course offerings, as well as the fact that the program’s 2nd year courses are 
only offered once per year, are likely the reasons for low satisfaction with availability of courses. The 
ability to offer courses more frequently (especially the ability to offer all 3rd and 4th year courses 
concurrently) will require us to attract more students to the program. As has been discussed, the 
department is dedicated to growing the program within the next few years, which will allow a broader 
range of courses to be taught each semester. 

Since 2018, when the first student graduated from the program, there have been an average of three 
graduations per year (Exhibit 18), which is comparable to the graduation rate from physics degree 
programs at other BC institutions such as UNBC and TRU (Exhibit 18.1). This year, at least six PMT students 
are expected to graduate, which will be a record year. However, as mentioned, the department is 
dedicated to further increasing the number of PMT graduates in the coming years. 

 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

PMT is designed not to only address industrial needs but also to provide sufficient knowledge for students 
to continue their education if they desire. This is well reflected in the alumni survey since 75% of 
respondents are working in industry and 25% decided to continue their educations at other institutes such 
as SFU, UBC, & BCIT (see Q.21-24 Alumni Survey). Both of the graduates who pursued further education 
agree that the PMT program prepared them well for further education. 

Although the program is designed to prepare students to work in industry, when designing and launching 
the program we could not predict how successful the program would be in that regard. However, we are 
proud to see that six out of eight alumni survey respondents say they are currently employed in a field 
related to what they studied at KPU (the other two having pursued further education). Of those six, five 
are in permanent positions and one is in a contract position. As seen from responses to questions 28 and 
29, alumni are working in a wide variety of roles in the tech sector, with job titles of Manufacturing 
Technician, Software Developer, Cyclotron Operator/Engineering Technologist, Data Scientist, and 
Hardware Systems Technician. In addition to survey respondents, we are aware of other alumni who are 
working as Manufacturing Technician, and others in the roles of Electromechanical Technician and 
Technical Support. One of our alumni, who started off in the role of Product Manager after graduation, 
has been promoted to the position of OEM Business Development Manager. 

While, in total, 100% of alumni to some extent agree that the program prepared them for industry, 57% 
of them strongly agree with it. This strength of the program is further underscored in the responses to 
question 34, where 100% of our graduates say they would be “confident hiring someone … who graduated 
from this program”. 

 
Summary and Recommendation 
 
The feedback above strongly indicates that the current program is meeting its primary objective of 
training physicists for industry. We will continue to stay in contact with our graduates and the PAC to 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 45 

ensure that we continue to meet this objective. The above analysis also provides us with evidence that 
can be used as a marketing tool to increase enrolment.  
 
Recommendation: Incorporate more examples of student success into the promotion of the program. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 46 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

In general, students report positively on the library services that they use (Q19 student survey). For 
example, students widely use and are happy with the library’s provision of audio-visual and computer 
equipment, books, ebooks, and online journals, which are probably the most important services to 
students from faculty’s point of view. The lower usage of some items (e.g. DVDs and print journals) can 
probably be attributed to obsolescence and the wide availability of online resources.  Faculty responses 
showed lower levels of library usage (Q19 faculty survey). However, for those who do use the services, 
the responses were generally favourable.  

Recommendation: 

As a department, we should discuss and identify library resources that we might want to use. This could 
involve a more detailed survey of faculty to find out how library resources are currently used in our 2nd, 
3rd, and 4th year courses. This will help us determine if we could be making better use of library resources. 

 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Since the program is very applied and hands-on and aims to prepare students to work in the tech sector, 
a lot of specialized software and equipment is needed to deliver the curriculum. The importance of 
equipment and software is also underscored in the alumni survey, in which 100% of respondents said the 
PLO involving operation of laboratory equipment was relevant to their career goals and 88% said the PLO 
involving use and development of software was relevant to their career goals (Q7 alumni survey). Some 
of the program’s equipment and software is broadly used in many courses and some is specific to a certain 
course or courses.  

Equipment that is broadly used throughout the program includes standard laboratory instruments such 
as oscilloscopes, function generators, power supplies, and multimeters. For a list of more specialized 
equipment that students use, see the table in Appendix I. We also have a library of classroom 
demonstrations that instructors use to illustrate concepts in the classroom, particularly for first- and 
second-year courses. 

The program also has a range of specialized equipment that is used by students for their third- and fourth-
year student projects (depending on the nature of each individual project). This includes, for example, 3D 
printers, equipment for fabricating microfluidic devices, a spin coater, and a PCB (printed circuit board) 
printer. Last year the program was also very fortunate to acquire a scanning electron microscope (SEM) 
by donation from local company Ballard Power Systems, which has so far been used for student projects, 
class demonstrations, and also by faculty from other departments. At the same time as acquiring the SEM, 
a sputter coater was also purchased, which is needed to coat samples with a conducting (e.g. gold) film 
so that they can be imaged with the SEM. 

Survey responses are favourable, with 100% of students expressing satisfaction with lab equipment and 
90% of faculty saying that the lab equipment meets the program’s needs extremely well or very well (Q20 
student survey, Q22 faculty survey). In addition, 100% of students and 100% of alumni said that the 
program is helping them (or did help them) develop the ability to “Choose, assemble (soldering, 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 47 

connecting, powering, and interfacing components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform 
experiments and collect data” to a large or moderate extent (Q10 student survey, Q12 alumni survey). 

Satisfaction with software among students and alumni is also high. 92% of students are satisfied with the 
program’s software (Q20 student survey). In addition, 84% of students and 100% of alumni said that the 
program is helping them (or did help them) develop the ability to “Use, adapt, and develop software to:  
interface with equipment; collect, visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems” to a large or moderate extent (Q10 student survey, Q12 alumni survey). Faculty 
satisfaction with software is not quite as high, with 60% saying that it meets the needs of the program 
extremely well or very well (Q22 faculty survey). The department should investigate this further to find 
out how we can improve in this area and if there is additional software we could be making use of. 

 

Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Description of special facility requirements 

First-year PMT labs are taught on both the Richmond and Surrey campuses. This includes labs for PHYS 
1101/1120, and PHYS 1102/1220, which are taken by students in many programs in addition to PMT, and 
for PHYS 1600, which is taken by PMT students (but is also open to other students). For these courses, the 
department has two laboratory rooms on each campus, with each room accommodating up to 20 
students. (The same rooms also accommodate some second-year PMT courses as well as labs for the 
engineering program, preparatory physics courses, and the department's astronomy courses.)  

The program’s 2nd, 3rd, and 4th year labs are largely taught in room 3310 on the Richmond campus, which 
can also accommodate up to 20 students. 

Although many of the 3rd and 4th year student projects are housed in room 3310, for the last few years we 
have had access to project and workshop space that has allowed students to engage in active hands-on 
project and fabrication activities that are very important for their employability. This was a space where 
students could leave their projects set up and work on them outside of (as well as during) scheduled 
project hours (leaving projects set up in room 3310 is problematic as the room is used for many other 
courses). This space also housed important project equipment such as 3D printers, a PCB printer, 
microfluidics equipment, chemical storage (fridge and cabinet), and a spin coater (among others), as well 
as specific student projects that make heavy use of that equipment and that are difficult to accommodate 
in 3310. Adjacent to the project space is a fabrication workshop, which has allowed the program to meet 
its metalwork and woodworking needs.  

Other specialized space includes room 3260, which houses the recently acquired scanning electron 
microscope (SEM) and sputter coater. This room also houses a scanning tunneling microscope (used by 
PHYS 4700 students) and a white light interferometric profilometer, which has been built and used in a 
number of upper-level student projects. The room has also served as a space for other student projects 
that require very low light levels. It also houses several telescopes, which are used in the department’s 
introductory astronomy courses.  

The department’s fabrication facilities and space are also used to support many departmental activities 
beyond the PMT program, including labs for the hundreds of non-PMT preparatory and first year physics 
students, as well as outreach activities (for example 3D printing parts for demonstrations). Other 
departments also use our fabrication and workshop facilities for maintenance of their equipment, and 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 48 

they also use our advanced equipment for scholarly activity (e.g. the Institute for Sustainable Food 
Systems has made use of our SEM)). These represent cost savings for the university as external repair and 
direct purchases are expensive. 

Some student projects (for example, fabrication of microfluidic devices and investigation of polymers) 
require use of a fume hood for working with chemicals. Although the department does not have a fume 
hood, the departments of chemistry and sustainable agriculture have been very generous in allowing us 
to use their facilities. 

Some student activities also make use of the wider campus. For example, PHYS 2100 students have 
mapped the vibrational characteristics of the campus and have also made use of the height of the third 
floor to perform air drag experiments. In addition, PHYS 4700 students use a section of a common area 
on the third floor to perform their Earth’s Field Nuclear Magnetic Resonance experiments, as it is an area 
where the local magnetic field is relatively homogeneous (a requirement of the experiment). 

An important and growing aspect of our first-year labs is the CloudLab. This allows students to perform 
labs remotely – they use a computer to log in from anywhere and control equipment that is located on 
our campus. As well as KPU’s first-year physics students, the CloudLab has also been used by students at 
Langara College and the University of Regina. The experiments, once complete, are housed in several 
display cases on the Richmond campus. Development space is also needed. Recently, teh department was 
notified that the CloudLab development lab is being reassigned to the new Centre for Entertainment Arts. 
As of this writing, we are awaiting a replacement room to be assigned to CloudLab. 

 

Survey responses 

(Note that the surveys were performed before we learned that we would lose access to the project and 
workshop space and the CloudLab development space.) 

Students express strong satisfaction with the program’s facilities: 93% are satisfied with lab space; 85% 
are satisfied with 3rd/4th year project space; and 85% are satisfied with fabrication/workshop facilities 
(Q20 student survey). Faculty are less positive: 72% say that lab space meets the program’s needs 
extremely or very well; 50% say the 3rd/4th year project space meets the program’s needs extremely or 
very well (though 20% have not used); 50% say the fabrication/workshop facilities meet the program’s 
needs extremely or very well (though 30% have not used) -- Q22 faculty survey. 

  

Summary and Recommendation 

The recent loss of the project space and adjacent workshop will prove challenging for us. Replacement 
fabrication and project space will be required to maintain student satisfaction with the program’s facilities 
(see discussion of survey results below) and the quality of their education, as well as to accommodate the 
planned increased number of students. Suitable replacement space for the CloudLab development work 
will also be required. 

Recommendation: Work with and seek the support of the relevant authorities at KPU to ensure the 
program has sufficient space to maintain quality and accommodate the planned increase in student 
numbers. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 49 

Does the program have the other support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Both faculty and students were asked about their satisfaction with the bookstore, advising services, career 
services, and accessibility services (Q23 faculty survey, Q21 student survey). In addition, faculty were 
asked to rate KPU’s support for international students. 

Bookstore 

Both faculty and students report high levels of satisfaction with the availability of required texts at the 
KPU bookstore. 70% of faculty said the bookstore meets the program’s needs extremely well or very well, 
with 20% reporting “have not used / don’t know”. Similarly, 69% of students are satisfied with the 
availability of required texts at the bookstore, with 8% reporting “have not used”. The numbers of “have 
not used” responses may seem quite high, however this may reflect the fact that many faculty choose to 
use open educational resources (OER) for some of their courses. 

Advising 

Of student respondents who have used advising services, satisfaction levels are high. However, it is 
perhaps surprising that 23% have not used the service. Students are advised to meet with an advisor for 
declaration and to ensure they plan their courses appropriately. Perhaps the 23% who have not used the 
service are students who have not yet declared. In any case, it is important for students to meet with 
advisors early on to help ensure smooth progress through the program.  

Faculty also expressed some dissatisfaction with advising. Of those who did not choose “have not used / 
don’t know”, only half say that advising services meet the needs of the program extremely well or very 
well.  

Recommendation: Faculty should clarify among ourselves what our expectations are around advising and 
communicate with advisors about how the service can better meet the needs of the program. 

Career Services 

Most students (62% of respondents) have not directly used this service, but those who have are generally 
satisfied. It is likely that most students do not feel the need to contact Career Services as they get a lot of 
support in that regard from faculty in the program (for example, in searching for and applying for work 
experience positions). We note that the KPU Career Development Centre has been very helpful in 
providing workshops to PMT students on writing cover letters and resumes and preparing for interviews. 

Accessibility Services 

There was a mixed response from faculty and students to the question about accessibility services. A 
majority of students, and 30% of faculty, have not used the services. It is difficult to gauge the cause of 
this lack of use since the range of accessibility services provided at KPU is broad. 

Support for International Students 

80% of faculty responded “have not used / don’t know” to the question of how well KPU’s support for 
international students is meeting the needs of the program. This is not surprising, given that only a small 
fraction of PMT students are international, and faculty do not monitor the immigration status of students. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 50 

Recommendation: As part of the effort to increase enrollments, and in anticipation of an associated 
increase in international enrollments, faculty should familiarize ourselves with the services that KPU 
provides for international students. 

 

 

 

 

 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 51 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

6.1. Overview 
 
The curriculum review and self-study that informed this report have been great opportunities for 
examining the Physics for Modern Technology program in-depth. In some areas we are heartened to see 
that the program is doing well (for example instructional delivery and student success), in other areas 
the results are generally positive but with identified avenues for change (for example curriculum), and in 
other areas where improvement is clearly needed (for example student recruitment and retention) we 
are happy to have identified ways in which we can improve. In this chapter we briefly summarize the 
outcomes of each area of exploration and list the recommendations that were proposed in the 
preceding chapters of this report. 
 

6.2. Curriculum Review 

The program’s learning outcomes (PLOs) were developed for this review based on the content and desired 
outcomes of the program (we did not have an explicit list of PLOs prior to this program review). The 
subsequent curriculum mapping exercise, in which the alignment of course learning outcomes (CLOs) with 
the PLOs was assessed, has given us confidence that the PLOs are appropriate and are well-covered by 
the program as a whole. However, we did notice a lack of consistency from course-to-course in the way 
CLOs are written, both in terms of the number of PLOs (sometimes many, sometimes few) and the level 
of detail they contain (sometimes very detailed, sometimes lacking detail). When revising course outlines 
in future, and when writing new ones, faculty should try to ensure more consistency from course to 
course. Now that we have gone through this exercise, it will be possible to ensure that future new and 
revised course outlines will align well with the PLOs, which should also result in better consistency. Aside 
from those important general observations and conclusions, the examination of the CLOs and the 
curriculum mapping exercise did result in a concrete recommendation to better align the course learning 
outcomes of PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 with current teaching practice in the department. 

In addition to the curriculum mapping exercise, our analysis of survey responses when examining the 
relevance of the program’s curriculum in chapter 3 also resulted in some curriculum-related 
recommendations. These include investigations of potential changes to existing content of the program 
as well as suggestions for new topics to include. Several of the areas of potential curricular change 
(computer programming, biology, and mathematics) that were identified in the surveys were also 
identified by faculty in chapter 1 prior to the administering of the surveys. 

We note that the PAC should be consulted on any revisions before implementation. In addition to the 
topics identified here, the PAC should also be surveyed regularly on potential topics to ensure the program 
stays relevant. We also note that, depending on what kinds of outcomes emerge from the recommended 
assessments and investigations listed below, it may be necessary to revisit the program’s breadth 
requirement in order to create room for new topics (or for expansion of existing topics) in the program. 

Overall, the curriculum mapping exercise and the examination of the program’s relevance have led to the 
following recommendations:  

• Update the PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 course outlines to better align them with current practice.  



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 52 

• Assess whether or not the biology content of the program needs to be changed. Although there 
have been good reasons for including biology in the program (such as ensuring alignment with 
KPU’s BSc Framework, providing breadth of education, and preparing students for potential 
careers in the biotechnology sector), the survey results suggest that the biology requirement and 
its relevance to the program should be reviewed. 

• Investigate ways in which the computing content of the program can be strengthened. The need 
for this is a common theme among survey respondents and has also been identified by faculty 
prior to this program review (with some work on looking into the issue already begun).  

• The faculty survey points to the need to review the content and structure of the mathematics 
component of the program. The need for this was also identified by faculty prior to the surveys. 

• Investigate the suitability of the new topics that were identified by survey respondents for 
inclusion in the program. These include: clean technology; artificial intelligence and machine 
learning; data science; RF (radio frequency) technology; statistics; statistical physics; 
astronomy/astrophysics. 

 

6.3. Program Relevance & Student Demand 

(As noted above, our analysis of the relevance of the programs curriculum resulted in several 
recommendations which have been listed in the curriculum review section above.) 

Discipline/sector connections 

Because the PMT program was designed to prepare students to work in the tech sector, faculty have tried 
to create and maintain close and multiple connections with local tech companies since the program’s 
inception. Having said that, our analysis of survey responses and the program’s track record of engaging 
with industry and alumni shows that improvements can be made in this area, and we have the following 
recommendations: 

• Renew links with local professional associations such as the BC Tech Association and the BC 
section of the ISA. This will allow faculty and students to engage in the networking events that are 
organized by these associations, which will in turn raise the profile of the program and lead to 
more opportunities (for student work experience, for collaborative projects, and for jobs post-
graduation). 

• Organize more events, both on- and off-campus. Suggestions from alumni and discipline/sector 
survey respondents include field trips, invited talks, and alumni/student competitions. We also 
recommend revisiting the idea of a student-industry networking evening on campus, which was 
held once several years ago and which could potentially become an annual event. In addition to 
ensuring ongoing engagement with industry and alumni (which would in turn lead to more 
opportunities for our students), such extracurricular events would increase the visibility of the 
program on campus, thus providing an opportunity to attract and retain more of our many first-
year students. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 53 

• Develop an annual calendar of events. This would include both internal and external events of the 
kind described above. It would help to keep us accountable and would help ensure that events 
stay ‘on our radar’ from year to year. 

• Develop a LinkedIn profile for the program to allow us to engage more with industry online. This 
was suggested in the alumni survey and would be part of a broader effort to have a more 
substantial and consistent presence on social media in general. This is also related to promotion 
of the program (see below). 

 

Indigenization 

When the PMT program was developed and launched, indigenization was not a prominent educational 
endeavour, but we recognize that it is now a big goal for KPU and the wider Canadian educational 
community. Although some of the department’s teaching practices align with recognized ways in which 
programs can decolonize and indigenize, and the department also engages in outreach with the local 
Indigenous community, we recognize that more can be done to educate ourselves in this area, and we 
have the following recommendation: 

• We recommend that faculty discuss and develop a clear understanding of what indigenization 
means for our program. 

 

Faculty Qualifications and Currency 

Our analysis of faculty qualifications and currency demonstrates that faculty and staff are well qualified 
and well prepared to deliver the curriculum. There is a wide range of expertise in the department that 
allows a broad range of courses to be taught as well as the supervision of more specialized upper-level 
student projects. Professional development activities also ensure that faculty and staff are able to remain 
current in their areas of expertise and in the scholarship of teaching. However, we identify contingency 
planning (for example for retirements and/or unexpected absences) as an important area in which we can 
improve. We also identify the importance of research and the need to stay involved in KPU's exploration 
of the role of scholarly activity in the institution. The following are our recommendations in this area:  

• Prior to a new hire, the department should have a discussion on gaps any retirements will create. 
In addition, the department should have regular discussions with the Program Advisory 
Committee about topics in physics that are growing in importance to Industry and conversely 
topics that are declining. These discussions should drive hiring criteria.  

• Alternate instructors for second-, third-, and fourth-year courses should be designated. Current 
instructors should be asked to develop a package of teaching materials such as a detailed course 
outline, teaching notes, sample examinations, sample projects, and the like. Course instructors 
and their alternates should meet to discuss the course and the materials. If possible, hiring lists 
for the courses should be kept for hiring on short notice.  

• Research is crucial to the success of students in the PMT program. The Physics Department should 
continue to have representation on Faculty and Senate committees considering the future of 
scholarly activity at KPU. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 54 

 

Diversity, retention, and promotion 

Our analysis of the make-up of our student body reveals that female students and international students 
are under-represented in the program. We recommend that the department looks at the 
underrepresentation of women through a broader gender diversity lens that includes examination of 
diversity among faculty and staff as well as students. For international students, we believe that the 
applied nature of our program should appeal to international students who are seeking to pursue a career 
in Canada. We also note that attracting more international students would have a large positive impact 
on the revenue generated by the program.  

Our analysis of the data also shows that retention of students is low (both in PMT and in FSH in general) 
and that there is great potential to increase enrollments through retention of existing KPU students. There 
is also a need to engage more with high school students. In light of the space issues identified (particularly 
in chapter 5), we note that it will be important to have a plan for accommodating the increase in student 
numbers. 

Overall, our analysis of both the data in the administrative data report and the surveys has led us to the 
following recommendations for dealing with the issues of diversity, retention, and promotion: 

• We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the 
department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to try to identify strategies for redressing the 
imbalance. 

• To help achieve this goal of reaching the FSH average of 35% international students, we should 
learn more about how KPU recruits international students and find out if it is possible for KPU’s 
international recruiters and agents to promote our program more abroad. 

• Since the low retention rate is a Faculty-wide issue, we recommend that chairs and Faculty Council 
discuss this and initiate a Faculty-wide response. Our department’s Faculty Council 
representatives can communicate the need for this to Faculty Council, and our department chair 
can bring this up with the other department chairs and program coordinators. (We note that, at 
the time of writing, these communications have just begun.)   

• Develop a coordinated action plan for promoting our program to students in our first-year classes. 

• Engage more with high school students through school visits, involvement in science fairs, and 
events hosted by us on campus. Seek the support of our Dean’s office (e.g. our Faculty’s 
Communications and Events Specialist) and the Future Students Office in these endeavours.  

• Develop an annual calendar of events (similar to what was recommended above for our 
interactions with industry).  

• Expand our presence on social media, particularly with a view to targeting potential students. 

• Renew promotional activities at local colleges that do not have physics degrees, and whose 
students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond the first- or second-year level. 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 55 

6.4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

We are very heartened that our analysis of the surveys indicates that the current design and delivery of 
the curriculum and assessment methods in the program are meeting PMT students’ needs. We will not 
remain complacent though. We will investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a 
means for students to reflect on their progress. 

In terms of student success, the survey feedback strongly indicates that the current program is meeting 
its primary objective of training physicists for industry. The program will continue to stay in contact with 
its graduates and the PAC to ensure that this objective continues to be met. The success of the program’s 
students has led us to another promotion-related recommendation. When the program launched we 
could only give hypothetical examples of what kinds of jobs and careers graduates might be able to 
pursue. Now that the success of PMT students has given us concrete examples, those examples should be 
used to attract more students to the program.  

The following are the recommendations that arose from our analysis of instructional delivery and student 
success: 

• Investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a means for students to reflect on 
their progress. 

• Incorporate more examples of student success into the promotion of the program. 

 

6.5. Resources, Services, and Facilities 

The major issue identified in chapter 5 is the loss of fabrication and project space, which was particularly 
important for 3rd and 4th year students. Surveys, which were carried out before the loss of the space, 
indicate a high level of student satisfaction with lab space, project space, and fabrication/workshop 
facilities. In order to maintain student satisfaction with the program’s facilities as well as the high quality 
of their hands-on education, replacement fabrication and project space will be required. This will also be 
needed to accommodate the planned increased number of students. Suitable replacement space for the 
CloudLab development work will also be needed.  

In this chapter, we also analyzed satisfaction with the services provided by KPU and how well they meet 
the needs of the program. The following issues were identified: 

Surveys show that students and faculty who use the library are generally satisfied. However, levels of 
usage are quite low, particularly among faculty.  

Knowledge and/or usage of advising services is also quite low, especially among faculty. Among those who 
have used or know about the services, student satisfaction is high and faculty satisfaction quite low. 

In addition, survey results show that the vast majority of faculty are unfamiliar with the services provided 
by KPU to support international students. 

Our analysis of resources, services, and facilities leads us to make the following recommendations: 

• Work with and seek the support of the relevant authorities at KPU to ensure the program has 
sufficient space to maintain quality and accommodate the planned increase in student numbers. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 56 

• As a department, we should discuss and identify library resources that we might want to use. This 
could involve a more detailed survey of faculty to find out how library resources are currently 
used in our 2nd, 3rd, and 4th year courses. This will help us determine if we could be making better 
use of library resources. 

• Faculty should clarify among ourselves what our expectations are around advising and 
communicate with advisors about how the service can better meet the needs of the program. 

• As part of the effort to increase enrollments, and in anticipation of an associated increase in 
international enrollments, faculty should familiarize ourselves with the services that KPU provides 
for international students.   

 

 

 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 57 

7. Appendices  

Appendices are provided in separate document. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Physics for Modern Technology Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

 
 

APPENDICES 
 

Table of Contents: 
 

Appendix A: BSc Framework Page 2 
Appendix B: Career Pathways Map Page 6 
Appendix C: Curriculum Map Page 7 
Appendix D: Administrative Data Report Page 21 
Appendix E: Student Survey Report Page 36 
Appendix F: Faculty Survey Report Page 52 
Appendix G: Alumni Survey Report Page 69 
Appendix H: Discipline/Sector Survey Report Page 89 
Appendix I: List of Specialized Equipment Page 101 

 



Appendix A 

BSc Framework 

2



General Framework for a Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) 
at Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

This version of the B.Sc. framework passed the Science Curriculum Committee, the Science and Horticulture 
Faculty Council, and SSCC on 1 June 2010, 14 June 2010, and 5 January 2011, respectively. 

The B.Sc. degree program is designed to provide students with a solid foundation in basic science, as well as the 
opportunity to specialize in their area of interest at the upper levels.  It includes a component of liberal education 
to ensure that students are able to access a variety of future educational and employment opportunities, to 
participate actively in collegial discussion and to contribute constructively to the body of scientific knowledge.  

The program is also designed to provide students with the following: 

1) An integrated educational experience that develops critical awareness of issues of cultural and global well
being particularly as they relate to the scientific knowledge base.

2) An integrated educational experience that develops problem solving and analytic skills to be used in the
workplace or in further study after graduation, and also to be used in making decisions as an informed citizen.

3) An integrated educational experience that enhances skills in written and spoken English, and enables
effective communication and constructive contributions to the scientific knowledge base.

Framework 

All students seeking to graduate with a Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) degree from Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
must complete all of the following requirements:  

 A minimum of 120 credits and a minimum of 40 courses total at the post-secondary level.1 (Note that in this
document the word “course” refers to a course of at least 3 credits.)  At least 45 of these credits (15
courses) must be at the 3000 or 4000 level.

 A minimum 6 credits writing requirement, including at least 3 credits from ENGL 1100 or any other
designated by Senate as meeting writing-intensive guidelines.

 A minimum 3 courses (9 credits) in MATH2, and a minimum of 4 credits in each of BIOL, CHEM, and
PHYS.3,4

 3 credits of statistics5 (which could be included in the 3 MATH courses).

 A minimum 66 science6 credits (including at least 5 courses with a lab component4), with at least 30 credits
of the 66 science credits at the 3000 and 4000 level.  This must include at least 9 credits (minimum 3
courses) at the 4000 level.

 A minimum 18 credits breadth requirement7, including at least 1 course at the upper level.

 A minimum of a passing grade (D or better) in all courses counting towards the B.Sc., with a cumulative
GPA of 2.0 or higher.

 To meet residency expectations, at least 50% of all courses for the B.Sc.,8 and at least 66% of upper level
courses for the B.Sc., will be completed at Kwantlen Polytechnic University.

3



General Framework for a Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) 
at Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

APPENDIX 1 

1 Courses numbered 1099 or lower (such as CHEQ 1094 or MATQ 1093) cannot be counted towards a 
Bachelor of Science degree. 

2 At least 3 credits in MATH must be from MATH 1120, MATH 1130, or MATH 1140 (with a C+ or better). 

3 ASTR 1100, ASTR 1105, ASTR 3110, ASTR 3111, ENVI 3112, ENVI 2405, MATH 1115, MATH 1116, MATH 
1117, MATH 1190, and PHYS 1112 cannot be counted as science credits towards a Bachelor of Science, but 
may be used as elective credits. CHEM 1101 cannot be used either as science or elective credits. BIOL 1112, 
CHEM 1105, MATH 1112, and PHYS 1100 cannot be counted as science or elective credits unless included in 
the degree requirements. 

4 As Mathematics is not a laboratory-based science, students pursuing a major in Math are only required to 
take 3 courses with a lab component from at least 2 disciplines of biology, chemistry, and physics. 

5 Specific mathematics requirements are generally prescribed in the course content for any Bachelor of 
Science degree.  Calculus 1 may be one of MATH 1120, MATH 1130, or MATH 1140 (with a C+ or better) and 
Calculus 2 may be one of MATH 1220, MATH 1230, or MATH 1240 (with a B- or better). Courses with 
considerable content overlap may only be counted once: (MATH 1120 or 1130 or 1140), (MATH 1220 or 1230), 
(MATH 2335 or 2341), for example.  The statistics courses must be coded “MATH” (i.e. MATH 2315 or 2335), 
unless they are offered at the 3000 or 4000 level, in which case a minimum of 6 MATH credits would be required. 
Students entering the degree who have already successfully completed an equivalent level of statistics to the 
one(s) prescribed in the degree may apply for course substitution.  

6 Specific biology, chemistry, mathematics and physics requirements are generally prescribed for any Bachelor 
of Science degree in these areas. Courses outside these fields may also qualify as science courses provided they 
are deemed to contain or demand sufficient quantitative reasoning (numerical, geometric, statistical, probabilistic), 
formal reasoning (mathematical or logically deductive) or scientific reasoning (involving the scientific method in 
general, and/or the methodology or content of a specific scientific discipline) as a base principle in their primary 
subject matter. These are usually prescribed in the specific degree requirements. Courses with considerable 
content overlap may only be counted once:  For example, BIOL 1112 or BIOL 1210, ENVI 1106 or CHEM 1110, 
ENVI 1206 or CHEM 1154 or CHEM 1210, CHEM 3310 or CHEM 2311, PHYS 1101 or PHYS 1120, PHYS 1102 
or PHYS 1220.  

7 At least 12 breadth credits must come from fields or courses not regarded as science courses as per the 
above defining criteria (see note #6) for science or mathematics. EDUC 4100 may be used as a breadth 
requirement.  Up to 6 credits of breadth may come from fields of science not prescribed in the specific 
requirements for that Bachelor of Science degree - these may include ASTR 1100, ASTR 1105, ASTR 3110, and 
ASTR 3111 from Note 3 above.  PHYS 1112 may also count towards the breadth requirement, but cannot count 
towards the physics requirement for the degree. 

8 On an individual basis, students may apply to the appropriate program chair for an exemption to these 
expectations; however, Kwantlen policy B.14, Credit for Prior Learning, requires that no more than 75% of credits 
for graduation can be obtained through transfer credit and/or prior learning assessment.  

4



General Framework for Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) at Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University 

 
APPENDIX 2 

 
Requirements for B.Sc. Major and B.Sc. Minor Degrees 

 
 

In addition to satisfying the requirements of the General Framework, students wishing to graduate with a B.Sc. 
degree must also satisfy the requirements of one of the following options: 
 
B.Sc. Major 
Students wishing to complete a B.Sc. Major program must satisfy the specific requirements of that program as 
outlined in the institution’s academic calendar. 
 
B.Sc. Major and Minor 
Students wishing to complete a B.Sc. Minor degree must complete at least 15 credits at the 3000 and/or 4000 
levels in the subject area of the Minor.  Please note that individual departments and programs may stipulate 
further, or more specific, requirements in addition to these minimum requirements. 
 
If a student satisfies the requirements of both a B.Sc. Major program and a B.Sc. Minor, then they may graduate 
with both designations.  Note that the Major and Minor must be in different subject areas (for example, a student 
cannot graduate with both a Major and Minor in biology). 
 
B.Sc. Double Minor 
Students wishing to complete a B.Sc. Minor degree must complete at least 15 credits at the 3000 and/or 4000 
levels in the subject area of the Minor.  Please note that individual departments and programs may stipulate 
further, or more specific, requirements in addition to these minimum requirements. 
 
In order to graduate with a B.Sc. Double Minor, students must satisfy the requirements for B.Sc. Minor degrees in 
two different subject areas and must also complete at least one 4000 level directed studies, research, or work 
placement course. 
 
Other 
Students wishing to graduate with an option other than those listed above (for example, Double Major) must seek 
approval from all of the programs and departments involved. 
 

5



Appendix B: Career Pathways Map 
 

Graduates of the program may choose to go directly into employment, or to first pursue further study:  

 

Employment  Further Study 

Areas of Work 
Example Entry-Level 

Positions 
 Program Possible Outcomes 

Original Equipment 
Manufacturer (OEM) 

Data Science 

Software 

Particle Accelerator 
Development 

Mining Technology 

Robotics 

Green Energy 
Technology 

Government Lab 

 

Technical Advisor 

Product Specialist 

Service Engineer 

Junior Data Scientist 

Software Developer 

Hardware Systems 
Technician 

Engineering 
Technologist / Cyclotron 
Operator 

Electromechanical 
Technician 

Assembler 

 

 

 

MSc / PhD (entry may 
require completion of 
upgrading courses at 
receiving institution) 

 

 

Advanced technical role 
in high technology 
sector 

Research and 
development in high 
technology sector 

Postdoctoral researcher 

College or University 
professor 

 

 

Teacher training 

 

 

High school science / 
math teacher 

 

 

MBA (normally 
undertaken after a 
period of postgraduate 
employment) 

 

Management role in 
high technology sector 

 

 

6



 

 

 

Appendix C 

 

Curriculum Map 

7



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

For each CLO, the PLO(s) it satisfies are indicated, and at which 
level. The three levels are:

Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate 
learning at an increasing level of proficiency of the program 
level outcome as well expanding complexity.
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate 
learning related to the program level outcome with an 
increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication 
or integrate the use of content or skills in multiple levels of 
complexity. 

PHYS 1101 I I I I I I I I I
Explain the concepts of vectors and their use in mechanics 
problems I I

I
I I

Apply Newton's laws of motion to point particles as well as 
extended objects I I

I
I I

Apply the concepts of work and energy to mechanics problems I I
I

I I
Apply the conservation laws to systems of particles I I I I I
Explain the basic concepts in simple harmonic motion, waves, 
sound, fluids and heat I I

I
I I

Use computers in the laboratory for the collection and analysis 
of data and in the presentation of results I I I I I I I I

PHYS 1102 I I I I I I I I I
Explain the concepts of currents, charges and electric fields in 
electrostatic and circuit problems I I I

I I
Explain the concepts involving moving charges in magnetic 
fields I I I

I I
Solve simple problems in finding magnetic fields produced by 
moving charges I I I

I I
Explain electromagnetic induction I I I I I
Solve both geometric and physical optics problems I I I I I
Explain some of the basic concepts of nuclear physics and 
radioactivity I I I

I I
Use computers in the laboratory for the collection and analysis 
of data and in the presentation of results I I

I
I I I I I

Discuss applications of course topics to the life sciences I I I I I
PHYS 1120 I I I I I I I I

Explain the concepts of vectors and their use in mechanics 
problems I I I I
Apply Newton's laws of motion to point particles as well as 
extended objects I I I I

Apply the concepts of Work and Energy to mechanics problems I I I I
Apply the conservation laws to systems of particles I I I I
Explain the basic concepts of oscillatory motion, waves, and 
sound I I I I

Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry‐level of complexity.

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

8



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Use computers in the laboratory for the collection and analysis 
of data and in the presentation of results I I I I I I I I

PHYS 1220 I I I I I I I I I
Explain the concepts of currents, charges and electric fields I I I I
Explain the concepts involving moving charges in magnetic 
fields I I I I

Solve simple problems in finding magnetic fields produced by 
moving charges I I I I

Explain electromagnetic induction I I I I
Solve both geometric and physical optics problems I I I I I
Explain some of the basic concepts of modern physics I I I I
Use computers in the laboratory for the collection and analysis 
of data and in the presentation of results I I I I I I I I

PHYS 1600 I I I I I I
 Write computer programs in the C programming language
Construct simple circuits on a breadboard, based on a 
microcontroller and Input/Output (IO) devices such as push‐
button switches and Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs)

I I I I I

Write simple programs in C to enable a microcontroller to 
receive and analyze input data I I I I I

Use measured data to control output I I I I I
Use and maintain a proper notebook
Function effectively in a group environment
Produce written and oral presentations on group project(s) I I I

PHYS 2010 D D I D D D
State the assumptions made by Einstein which led to the 
Special Theory of Relativity     D D D

State important implications of the theory of special relativity    D D D

Perform Lorentz transformation of space‐time coordinates 
under special relativity     D D D

Describe the invariants in special relativity and apply them in 
problem solving    D D D

Summarize the historical development of the theory of 
Quantum Mechanics    D D D D

Recognize the evidence for quantization in nature    D D
State the Schrödinger Equation, describe its significance, apply 
to simple problems     D D D D

Solve the Schrödinger Equation for a variety of simple potential 
functions    D D D

State the Uncertainty Principle and its applications   D D
Describe simple crystal structures   D I D
State the principles of band theory and apply to simple 
problems D D

Perform simple calculations involving the electronic properties 
of solids   D D D

9



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Understand the basic properties and operation of  D D D
PHYS 2030 D D I/D I I I/D

Solve dynamics problems involving time, space and velocity 
dependent forces using elementary calculus D D I/D I I

I or D
Show that a given equation of motion satisfies a given 
differential equation I I I/D I I

I or D
Solve the harmonic oscillator problem including the damped 
and forced cases D D I/D

I or D
Solve dynamics problems in standard three dimensional co‐
ordinate systems D D I/D

I or D
Solve dynamics problems in standard accelerated frames of 
reference, including rotating systems D D I/D

I or D
State the definitions of key fluid properties: density, flow rate, 
viscosity I I I

Apply fundamental fluid equations (continuity, mass/energy,...) 
to the solution of problems D D I/D

I or D
State and apply Euler's and Bernoulli's fluid laws  D D I/D I or D
Recognize the importance of dimensional analysis in the study 
of fluids and state several dimensionless ratios of interest such 
as Euler's number and Reynolds' number

D D I/D
I or D

PHYS 2040 D I I I I/D I D I
State the 4 laws of thermodynamics D I I I

Describe the operating principles of common thermometers D I D D D
Name standard themodynamic processes 
(isothermal,adiabatic, etc) D I I
Analyze common thermodynamic cycles for ideal gases in the 
pV plane D I I I I D
State several versions of the Second Law D I I I
 Describe several ‘real world’ heat engines D I I I
Define entropy macroscopically and statistically D I I I
Define thermodynamic potentials: Enthalpy, Free Energy D I I I
Describe Planck’s resolution of the ultraviolet catastrophe D I I I I

Perform calculations using the Stefan Boltzmann radiation law D I I I D
Apply thermodynamic principles to modern energy 
technologies such as solar panels and heat pumps D I I

PHYS 2100 D D D D I/D D D D D D
Describe the characteristics of, and demonstrate the operation 
of, common laboratory equipment such as oscilloscopes and 
function generators

D D D D I & D D D D D

Apply physical principles in designing, and choosing 
instrumentation for, physics experimentsUse electronic 
instrumentation as well as computers to acquire experimental 
data in physics experiments

D D D D I & D D D D D D

Organize and interpret experimental data in physics 
experiments D D D D I & D D D D D

10



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Use theoretical methods and computer software to analyze 
experimental data in physics experiments D D D D I & D D D D D D

Write a formal laboratory report on physics experiments D D D D I & D D D D D
PHYS 2420 D D D I D

Calculate electric field and electric potential for various charge 
distributions, incorporating the effects of dielectrics D D D

I D
Calculate magnetic fields for various current distributions, with 
or without the presence of matter D D D

I D
Calculate induced emfs D D D I D
Solve DC and AC circuit problems with standard circuit 
elements, using phasor and complex number representation 
where appropriate
Analyse the operation of the BJT in small‐signal amplifiers

PHYS 2600 D D D D I D D I D

Analyse and calculate voltage, current and power in AC and DC 
circuits containing resistors, capacitors, and inductors using 
phasor diagrams and complex variable mathematics

D D D D

Analyse circuits containing diodes and operational amplifiers D D D I D D

Use a microcontroller unit to measure voltages and currents in 
AC and DC circuits D D D D D D

Troubleshoot circuits that are not performing as expected D D D I D I D
Work with common laboratory tools such as function 
generators, oscilloscopes, and power supplies D D D I D D

Record data using a computer spreadsheet (e.g.MS Excel) D D
Write and present reports D D D D I D
Program in C D D D

PHYS 2610 D D I D D D D D
Choose an appropriate sensor and/or actuator for a particular 
measurement D D I D

D
Test and calibrate sensors and actuators D D D D D D D
Convert sensor output to physical quantities, e.g. convert a 
thermistor voltage to temperature in degrees Celsius D D D D

D

Interface a microcontroller unit (MCU) to a sensor and/or 
actuator and write a C program for the operation of the MCU

D
D

Interface a data acquisition module to a sensor and/or actuator 
and write a LabVIEW program for the operation of the module

D
D

Collect data using a computer spreadsheet (e.g. MS Excel) and 
use symbolic math programs (e.g. MAPLE) to aid in converting 
data

D D D D
D

PHYS 3610 D D I I/D I/D I/D I/D I/D D I/D
 Model physical systems in the  me and frequency domain D D I/D I/D I/D
Analyze the response of first and second order systems D D I/D I/D I/D

11



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Obtain the transfer function of linear systems D I/D I/D I/D
Model linear systems using block diagrams I/D I I/D I/D I/D I/D
Design on‐off controls systems with PLCs I I/D I/D I/D I/D I/D D I/D
Use software such as Matlab to model linear systems and to 
design classic control systems I/D I/D I/D I/D

I/D
Create basic programs in Ladder Logic to control industrial 
processes I/D I/D I/D I/D D I/D

Create logic circuits using pneumatic and hydraulic 
components and simulators I/D I/D I/D D

I/D
Read electrical, pneumatic and hydraulic schematics I/D I/D I/D I/D

PHYS 3620 I/D I/D I I/D D I/D I/D D D I/D
 Design feedback control systems using the root locus, 
frequency response and state space techniques I/D I I/D I/D I/D I/D

I/D
Use software such as Matlab to plot the root locus, Nyquist and 
Bode diagrams I/D I I/D I/D I/D I/D

I/D
Use software such as Matlab to simulate  feedback control 
systems using block diagrams I/D I I/D I/D I/D I/D

I/D
Build controllers using operational amplifiers I/D I/D I/D I/D D I/D
Work with laboratory equipment such as power supplies and 
oscilloscopes I/D D D

I/D
Read and interpret electrical schematics for motor controls I/D I/D I/D I/D
Control electric motors with a programable logic controller or a 
microcontroller I/D D D D D D

Read and interpret pipe diagrams I/D I/D I/D I/D
Work in a team to complete a project of several weeks' 
duration D D D D D D D D

PHYS 3700 A A A A A
Understand and explain the concepts and methods of signal 
and image processing   A A A A

A

Sample signals effectively and reconstruct signals from samples A A A A
A

Design and implement digital filters A A A A A

Use Fourier transform techniques for signal and image analysis A A A A
A

Critically assess the appropriateness, reliability, and limitations 
of various signal and image processing techniques for particular 
applications

A A A A
A

PHYS 3710 A A/D A A A D D D A
Design, construct and analyze optical systems for imaging, 
illumination, sensing/testing, communications and other 
applications.

A A A A A D D D A

Select, prepare and work with common optical components 
such as lenses, mirrors, filters, optical fibers.

D D A A A D D A A

Confidently use and understand common optical devices such 
as microscopes, telescopes, interferometric devices and 
spectrometers.

A A A A A D D D A

12



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Understand the operation and applications of a variety of light 
sources.

A D A A A D D D A

Understand the ray, wave and photon models of light and 
recognize their domains of applicability.

A A A A A D D D A

Work safely with lasers. D A A D
PHYS 3900 D D D D D D D D D D D

 Perform and present a literature review on the topic of the 
project D D D

D D D
Choose parameters to be measured and/or controlled, 
instruments/methods to be used, calibration procedures and 
appropriate techniques for analysis of measurement data and 
uncertainties

D D D D D D  

D
Apply knowledge and skills from their coursework to the 
project D D D D D D  

D D
Identify and address gaps in their knowledge and skills as 
relevant to the project D D D

D D
Use appropriate statistical methods and computer software for 
data analysis D D D D D D  

D
Work with less supervision than in laboratory activities in 
previous courses D D D D

D D
PHYS 3950 D D D I D D D D D D

Identify goals and objectives for their work term D D D D
Apply knowledge and skills from their studies to their work at 
the host organization D

D
Some 
students

D D D
D (many 
students)

D
D

Assess progress and adjust work practices and goals 
accordingly D D D D D

D D
Identify the relevance of their studies to the work being done 
by their host organization D D

Some 
students I

D D
D

Identify additional knowledge and skills being learned during 
the work term I I

D D

Appreciate the rigours and demands of the modern workplace I I

Understand workplace etiquette and norms I I
Identify and assess gaps in their knowledge and skills as 
relevant to the work being carried out D

Respond constructively to feedback from the host organization 
and from the Physics work experience committee

D D
D

Write a report that includes an assessment of progress in 
meeting the initial goals, a description of the work being 
carried out, and a plan for the second part of the work term

D D D D

D D
PHYS 3951 A D D D A D/A A D/A

Identify goals and objectives for the remainder of the work 
term A A

A D

13



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Identify the relevance of their studies to the work being done 
by their host organization A A D

D
A (many 
students)

A (many 
students)

A (many 
students) D

Identify additional knowledge and skills learned so far during 
the work experience D D D

Identify and assess gaps in their knowledge and skills as 
relevant to the work being carried out D

A
Formulate a plan for acquiring additional knowledge and skills 
during the remainder of the work term D A

A A

Respond constructively to feedback from the host organization 
and from the Physics work experience committee

D A

Appreciate the rigours and demands of the modern workplace D D

Understand workplace etiquette and norms D D
Write a final report that includes a self‐assessment and a 
description of the work that was performed A D A A

A A
Make a presentation on the placement to physics faculty and 
students A D A

A
PHYS 4010 A A A A A

 Calculate measurement probabili es for states with a finite 
number of outcomes  (e.g. spin = n/2 systems) A A A

Use bra‐ket formulation in calculations A A A
Normalize state vectors A A A
Determine if two operators are compatible A A A
Solve the characteristic equation for a state with n outcomes 
and determine the eigenvectors and eigenvalues A A A A

Explain how interference effects arise in quantum systems A A A
Sketch physically reasonable wavefunctions for 1D potential 
wells and barriers A A A A

Numerically determine energy levels of 1D potential wells A A A A
Numerically determine tunnelling probabilities  A A A
Describe applications of quantum mechanics to modern 
technology. A A A A

Qualitatively explain different interpretations of quantum 
mechanics.     I A

I
PHYS 4199 A A A D A A A A A A A

 Conduct a literature review within the scope of the senior 
physics project A A A

D A A
Develop a project proposal A A A A A A
Develop a project schedule with milestones A A A A
Organize materials and equipment required for the project A A A A A A A
Maintain effective communication with the project supervisor 
(and industry representative as applicable) A A A

D
A A

A
Present the full proposal in both written and oral formats A A D A A

PHYS 4299 A A A D A A A A A A A
Conduct the project proposal developed in PHYS 4199 A A A A A A A A

14



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Maintain a project notebook A A
Troubleshoot and solve problems that may arise during the 
course of the project A A A A

A A
Apply appropriate statistical methods and computer software 
for data analysis A A A A

A
Maintain effective communications with the project supervisor 
(and industry representative if applicable) A A A

D
A A

A
PHYS 4600 A A A D A A A A A

 Write effec ve programs in industrially relevant programming 
languages to interface with instrumentation A A A A A

Analyze and debug programs A A

Interface a variety of hardware devices with computer systems A A A A A

Conduct research to select and specify appropriate hardware 
and software for industrial applications A A A A A A

Explain the limitations and abilities of different prorgramming 
techniques A A

D
A A A

Work in development teams producing human‐readable well 
commented and documented code A A

D
A A

Describe the software development process in terms of 
prototyping, testing and profiling code  D

A A

Recognize and work with a variety of programming languages D
A A A

Apply industry standards for software and hardware interfaces A
A A

PHYS 4700 A A A A A A A D A
 Predict and recognise the features of diffrac on pa erns from 
various crystal structures A A A

Use band theory to explain the differences between insulators, 
semiconductors, and metals A A A A

Use spectroscopic techniques to probe the band structure of 
various materials
Explain, and perform calculations pertaining to the properties 
of semiconductors, metals, superconductors, and magnetic 
materials

A A A A

Describe important experimental techniques used by solid 
state physicists A A A A

Perform laboratory experiments to investigate 
various electrical, thermal, and magnetic properties of solids

A A A A A A A
D

A

Present and explain the results of their experiments in terms of 
solid state theory A A A A A

D
A

Describe important applications of semiconductors, 
superconductors, and magnetic materials in modern 
technology

A A A

PHYS 4900

15



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

 Describe the founda onal physics of the problem of interest

Describe the basics of the technology applicable to the topic
Identify the application of this topic in BC , Canada, North 
America, and around the world

Communicate the importance of the topic orally and in writing
BIOL 1110 I I I I I I I  I I I I I

Describe the current system of biological taxonomy and explain 
why it is changing I I

Describe the key features of major groups of organisms I
Explain how organisms have evolved by natural selection I
Describe and explain nutrient cycling and energy flow in 
ecosystems I I I I I I

I
Recognize and differentiate a range of interspecific interactions 
in communities I

Relate the structure of plant tissues to their functions I
Compare and contrast a range of morphological and 
physiological systems in selected organisms I I I I

Carry out basic laboratory procedures, including the use of 
compound and dissecting microscopes, preparation of material 
for observation with a microscope, and construction of 
biological drawings

I I I I I

Apply the scientific method to conduct and report on 
experimental investigations I I I I I I I

I
Cooperate with group members to complete tasks in a shared 
learning environment I I I

I
CHEM 1110 I I I I I I I I

Solve a variety of stoichiometric and gas law problems I I I I I I

Solve problems based on the Bohr model of the atom, other 1‐
electron atomic systems and the photoelectric effect

I I I I
I

Use quantum theory to discuss orbital shapes, energies and 
electron configurations of atoms and ions I I I I

I

Describe and explain trends in atomic and ionic radii, ionization 
energies, electron affinities, and electronegativities with 
reference to the Periodic Table of Elements

I I I I

I
Describe ionic and covalent bonding and explain trends in 
physical properties based on type of bonding I I I I

I
Use Lewis structures and resonance to describe bonding and 
Valence Shell Electron Pair Repulsion (VSEPR) Theory to predict 
shapes of covalent species

I I I I I
I

16



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Use Valence Bond Theory and Molecular Orbital Theory to 
rationalize shapes, stabilities and magnetic properties of 
covalent species

I I I I I
I

Describe the different intermolecular forces and explain effects 
of intermolecular forces on physical properties of covalent 
compounds

I I I I
I

Name a variety of organic compounds containing different 
functional groups I I I 

I
Describe and illustrate different types of isomerism possible in 
organic compounds I I I I 

I
Predict the products of simple reactions involving organic 
compounds I I I

I
Discuss the common types of radioactivity and their uses I I I I
Solve problems based on the rates of radioactive decay, 
binding energies of nuclei and energy associated with nuclear 
reactions

I I I
I

CHEM 1210 I I I I I I I
Solve problems in electrochemistry, chemical kinetics, 
thermodynamics, equilibria involving gases, acids and bases, 
ionic compounds, liquids and solids, solutions I I I I I I
Write reports based on observations and data obtained in the 
laboratory for each of the experiments performed I I I I I
Perform lab techniques learned throughout the semester by 
successfully performing experiments as well as a final practical 
lab exam I I I I

CHEM 2315 D D D D D I D
Solve problems related to course content D D I D
Analyze data and write reports based on experiments 
performed in the laboratory D D D D I D
Perform lab techniques learned throughout the semester D D D
Quantitatively analyze an unknown sample, using techniques 
learned in class D D D
Report results in a meaningful and useful format D D D I D
Use laboratory equipment and instrumentation in a safe and 
effective manner D D D

CHEM 4610 D D D D D D D

 Illustrate understanding of the chemical principles underlying 
instrumental analysis techniques discussed in class D
Design, carry out, record and analyze the results of 
instrumental analysis techniques A D D
Identify and solve chemical problems and explore new areas of 
research. D D
Use modern library search and retrieval methods to obtain 
information on a topic, chemical, instrumental analysis 
technique or related issue D D
Problem solve, think critically and reason analytically A D

17



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Know the proper procedures to safely and skillfully use the 
instruments in the laboratory, design experiments and properly 
record the results of their experiments D D D D D
Describe the fundamental principles behind and the 
advantages and limitations of each instrument used D D D D D
Study the scientific literature to complete their understanding 
of the background information and future implications of the 
results obtained by experimentation A D A

ENGL 1100 I I I I
 Read, annotate, and summarize a variety of academic and non‐
academic works I I
Understand audience, purpose, and occasion I I
Analyze and evaluate structure, logic, style, and evidence I I I
Explore and refine ideas through discussion and debate I I
Think and respond critically to a broad range of texts and 
cultural products I I
Engage in a writing process that includes brainstorming, 
outlining, drafting, and revising strategies to produce university‐
level writing I I I
Apply principles of unity, development, and coherence in 
writing I I
Produce clear, grammatical, and logical written work 
independently  I I

Write essays that assert and support clear thesis statements I I i
Research and assess secondary‐source material using university‐
level methods and resources I I
Integrate sources effectively into written work using quotation, 
paraphrase, and summary I I
Document source material and format essays using MLA and/or 
APA citation methods to uphold the principles of academic 
integrity I I
Recognize and correct errors in their own writing I I I

MATH 1120 I I I I

State and apply the concepts of differential calculus, including 
the limit, the derivative, both as the slope of a tangent line and 
as a rate of change, and the geometry of derivatives I (minimal) I I I (minimal) I
Compute, in simple cases, derivatives from the definition I I I
Demonstrate and apply the basic skills of calculus (finding 
limits, differentiation, graphing) for algebraic and elementary 
transcendental functions I I I (minimal) I
Apply these skills to solve applied problems I D I
Use a computer algebra system to solve problems related to 
differential calculus I I I I

MATH 1130 I I I I

18



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Understand and state the basic concepts of differential calculus I I I
Find limits of, differentiate, and graph algebraic and 
elementary transcendental functions I I I
Apply the above concepts and skills to the solution of applied 
problems, especially those of biological sciences I I I I

MATH 1220 I I I I I
Understand, state and apply the concepts of integral calculus, 
including integration, the fundamental theorem of calculus, 
approximation techniques, infinite series and simple 
differential equations I (minimal) I I I I I I
Evaluate, in simple cases, definite integrals using Riemann 
sums I I I

Solve applied problems requiring integration and infinite series I (minimal) I I I I I
Use a computer algebra system to solve problems related to 
integral calculus I I I I I

MATH 1230 I I I I
Evaluate both definite and indefinite integrals I I I

Solve applied problems requiring integration (area between 
curves, volume of rotation, probability density functions) I I I I I
Solve first order differential equations and analyze them 
qualitatively I I I I I I
Use calculus to model biological systems I I I I  I I

MATH 2721 I I D I D
 Use matrices to solve a variety of problems in physics and 
engineering I I D I D
Apply common matrix algebra algorithms such as inversion and 
diagonalization I D I D

Perform basic arithmetic and algebra with complex numbers I I D D
Use complex numbers in the solution of differential equations 
relevant to physics and engineering I D D I D

MATH 2821 I D D D
Find equations of lines and planes D D D
Recognize the equations of cylinders and quadratic surfaces; 
use level curves to visualize and sketch surfaces D D D
Evaluate and interpret partial derivatives D D D

Evaluate and interpret gradients and directional derivatives D D D
Evaluate and interpret double and triple integrals I/D D D D
Evaluate multiple integrals using polar, cylindrical, and 
spherical coordinates D D D
Calculate area, volume, mass, first and second moments, and 
center of mass I/D D D D

19



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Evaluate derivatives of vector‐valued functions of a single 
variable D D D
Evaluate line integrals of scalar and vector functions; work as a 
line integral I D D D
Evaluate operators (grad, div, curl, Laplacian) in all three major 
coordinate systems I D D D
Evaluate surface integrals of scalar‐ and vector‐valued 
functions I D D D
State the Divergence Theorem and apply to electricity and 
magnetism, and fluid flow I I I
Evaluate line and surface integrals using Green’s and Stokes’ 
theorems D D D
Apply the concepts of the course to topics such as electricity 
and magnetism, and fluid flow D D I/D D

20



 

 

 

Appendix D 

 

Administrative Data Report 

21



Administrative Data Report for B.Sc. Physics for Modern Technology 
 
The chapter headings refer to the chapters in the Self-Study to which the data pertain. 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Glossary ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Chapter 3. Program Relevance and Demand ................................................................................................ 3 

3.1 Relevance ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? ................ 3 

3.3 Student Demand ................................................................................................................................. 3 

Who takes the program? ....................................................................................................................... 3 

Is demand for the program sustainable? ................................................................................................ 4 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? ......................................................................... 8 

Chapter 4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ......................................................................................... 8 

4.1 Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum ................................................................................ 9 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills?........................... 9 

4.2 Student Success ................................................................................................................................ 10 

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? ............................................................................... 10 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? ................................................................. 13 

Are graduates of the program successful? ........................................................................................... 14 

 
 
 

 

 

22



Glossary 

Average Seats Offered: Maximum number of seats available in a department/Faculty divided by the count 
of classes offered by the department/Faculty.  

Average Seats Filled: Number of seats taken in a department/Faculty divided by the count of classes 
offered by the department/Faculty.  

BC Student Outcomes: Results of the three annual surveys of former post-secondary students in BC, one 
to two years after graduation, as a supplemental tool for assessing programs offered by KPU and 
comparing them to similar programs at other institutions. The three BC Student Outcomes surveys include 
the Diploma, Associate Degree, and Certificate Student Outcomes Survey (DAC), the Baccalaureate 
Graduates Survey (BGS), and the Trades Student Outcomes Survey (Trades). Note that while DAC covers 
all BC public post-secondary institutions, BGS does not report data from programs at research-intensive 
universities such as UBC and SFU.  

Cumulative Grade Distribution: The number of students who receive a particular letter grade (A+ through 
F) plus those who receive a higher grade, as a percentage of the total number of students with a grade or 
a W/WE or DEF (Deferred). Useful for estimating the proportion of passing students based on any specific 
grade requirement. 

DFW Rate: % of students who received a grade of D or F or withdrew from the course. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF (Deferred). 

Faculty Student Headcount: Count of all students enrolled in a Faculty, including undeclared students.  

Fill Rate: Number of seats filled divided by the number of seats offered.   

Grade Point Equivalent Mean: The average grade of students in the selected courses, based solely on the 
numerical grade point equivalent of a letter grade. A weighted average is used, such that larger classes 
have a larger influence on the computed mean. It is not an average of course-level grades weighted by 
course credits. 

Intended of Undeclared: Students who identified the program under review as their intended major on 
their application. Note that not all of these students declare into the program.   

Program Student Headcount: Count of declared and intended of undeclared students. Withdrawals are 
included. To avoid double counting students, the student headcount is a unique headcount for the year, 
not the sum of intended of undeclared and declared counts. 

Repeat Rate: Students who repeat a course, that is, have taken the course previously. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF. 

Unmet Demand: Number of waitlist seats held by students unable to enrol in the same course, and have 
not dropped that course, within the same term. A student waitlisted in multiple sections of the same 
course in the same term is counted as one waitlist seat. 

Seats Offered: Maximum number of seats available in a unit (section, course, department, faculty).  

Seats Filled: Number of seats taken in the unit (section, course, department, faculty) 

23



Chapter 3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1 Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?1  

What percentage of the program graduates are satisfied with the education they received? What 
percentage of the graduates rate the quality of instruction they received as “very good”, “good”, or 
“adequate”?  Do they find their program of study useful in their current position? 
Exhibit 1: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with 
Ministry Targets 

Measures 
Student Outcome Data for KPU 
Physics for Modern Technology 

Program 
 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents2 Less than 5  
Satisfaction3 

N/A N/A Quality4 
Usefulness5 

3.3 Student Demand 

Who takes the program?6 

Has the demographic profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program students changed over the last 
five years?  
Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by Academic Year 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Unique Student Headcount 118 138 114 102 81 
% Female 18% 19% 13% 17% 16% 
% 22 years or younger 76% 83% 77% 72% 72% 
% International 22% 24% 18% 18% 17% 

How does the demographic profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program students compare with 
that of students at the same level for the Faculty of Science and Horticulture as a whole over the same 
period? 
Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Science and Horticulture Students by Academic Year 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Unique Student Headcount 2,591 3,256 2,795 2,672 2,405 
% Female 53% 58% 55% 56% 58% 
% 22 years or younger 73% 78% 76% 75% 74% 
% International 18% 38% 36% 35% 34% 

1 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Student Outcomes Dashboard 2016-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
2 Results for groups of less than 5 graduates are not reported.  
3 Respondents who are "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with the education or training they received in their program of study. 
4 Respondents who rate the quality of instruction received from their program of study as "very good", "good" or "adequate". 
5 Respondents who describe their program of study as "very" or "somewhat" useful in their current occupation. 
6 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Enrolment Dashboard 2020-21, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

24



Is demand for the program sustainable? 

Various measures of student demand for the program courses are presented below. Consider what, 
collectively, these measures indicate about the demand for program courses. 

Has demand for Physics for Modern Technology courses been changing over the last five years? Is the 
overall class size, in terms of filled seats, sustainable? How does demand for Physics for Modern 
Technology courses compare with demand for Faculty of Science and Horticulture courses at the same 
level over the same period?  
Exhibit 4: Unique Student Headcount in Physics for Modern Technology Courses by Academic Year 
Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture Courses 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 %Change7 
Physics for Modern Technology 553 559 568 508 458 -17% 
Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture 3,563 3,876 4,104 3,646 3,421 -4% 

Has demand for the Physics for Modern Technology Program changed over the last five years? How does 
it compare with demand for Faculty of Science and Horticulture programs at the same level over the 
same period? 
Exhibit 5: Unique Student Headcount in Physics for Modern Technology Program by Academic Year 
Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture Programs 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 %Change 
Declared-Major 11 14 13 19 21 91% 
Intended of Undeclared 108 129 103 84 62 -43% 
Physics for Modern Technology 
Total Headcount 118 138 114 102 81 -31% 

Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture Total Headcount 2,591 3,256 2,795 2,672 2,405 -7% 

 
Exhibit 5.1: Outcomes of Physics Intended Students by Academic Year Intake Cohort 

  2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Cohort Headcount 73 60 31 34 13 
% who graduated in Physics 4% 3% 0% 0% 0% 
% graduated in something else 7% 13% 3% 3% 0% 
% who left KPU without graduating 66% 60% 74% 56% 0% 
% studying as undeclared 5% 5% 10% 29% 92% 
% studying Physics as declared 11% 5% 3% 6% 0% 
% studying in another program 7% 13% 10% 6% 8% 

Note: The Cohort Headcount refers to the number of new students who started as Physics Intended in the Faculty 
of Science and Horticulture in an academic year. In 2016/17 Academic Year, there were 108 Physics-Intended 
students (see Exhibit 5), of which 73 were new students.  
  

7 % Change refers to change between 2016/17 to 2020/21. 
25



How do KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program enrolment trends compare with overall enrolment 
trends in similar programs in BC?  

Exhibit 6: Number of Students Enrolled in similar Programs at BC Public Post-Secondary Institutions 8 
 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 
Total (excluding KPU) 9 565 630 678 706 744 
Bachelor’s Degree 482 538 587 620 664 
   Simon Fraser University 84 92 99 107 111 
   Thompson Rivers University 14 11 12 15 20 
   UBC Okanagan 86 102 82 78 92 
   UBC Vancouver 176 207 230 244 247 
   University of Northern British Columbia 13 16 23 22 29 
   University of Victoria 109 110 141 154 165 
Associate Degree – Langara College 83 92 91 86 80 
KPU Total  63 30 17 14 15 
Bachelor’s Degree 16 9 11 14 15 
Associate Degree 47 21 5 - - 

Has there been a change in average filled seats per class in Physics for Modern Technology courses? 
How do they compare with Faculty of Science and Horticulture courses at the same level? Is demand 
steady, declining, or increasing?  
Exhibit 7: Average Filled Seats per Class by Academic Year 

Physics for Modern Technology:  Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 
   

 

 

 
 

 
  

8 All data reported below was obtained from the STP Enrolment dashboard 2021. STP refers to the BC Student Transitions 
Project, which tracks students in the public post-secondary education system. Data are coded by Classification of Instructional 
Program (CIP). To identify Physics programs, CIP code 40.0801 Physics, General was used. The data on UFV’s Bachelor of 
Science in Physics were not available.  
9 Langara College, SFU, TRU, UBC-Okanagan, UBC-Vancouver, UNBC, and UVic.  

24.4 23.6 23.8 25.0

15.9 17.1 16.1 16.1

AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20 AY20/21

24.8 24.7 25.1 25.3

19.3 19.3 18.4 18.0

AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20 AY20/21

26



How does demand for upper level courses (3rd and 4th year) compare with demand for lower level 
courses, where applicable? How does demand for upper level versus lower level courses compare with 
demand for Faculty of Science and Horticulture upper level and lower level courses?  
Exhibit 8.1: Number of Course Enrolments by Level for Academic Year 2020/21 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 
Exhibit 8.2 Number of Course Enrolments by Level for Academic Year 2019/20 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 
Exhibit 8.3: Number of Courses by Level for Academic Year 2020/21 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 

 
 
 
 

548

41 59
17

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments
6,494

1,601

499 388

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

620

47 11 44

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

6,872

1,698

451 367

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000
6,000
7,000
8,000

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

59

6 7 2

1 2 3 4 5

Count of classes 468

140

47 43

1 2 3 4 5

Count of classes

27



 
 
Exhibit 8.4: Number of Courses by Level for Academic Year 2019/20 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

   

 
Exhibit 8.5: Number of Course Enrolments in Mathematics and Sustainable Agriculture by Level 
for Academic Year 2020/21 

Mathematics: Sustainable Agriculture: 

  
 
Exhibit 8.6: Number of Course Enrolments in Mathematics and Sustainable Agriculture by Level for 
Academic Year 2019/20 

Mathematics: Sustainable Agriculture: 

  

 
  

62

7 5 5

1 2 3 4 5

Count of classes 464

149

49 52

1 2 3 4 5

Count of classes

2,200

353
63 48

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

44

77

54

21

0

20

40

60

80

100

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

2,124

314
81 32

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

43

67

52

23

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

28



How does tuition compare with instructional costs for the average class in your program?  

A program’s importance isn’t gaged by the tuition revenue it brings in, as some programs will not be 
able to cover their costs, but all programs should be delivered efficiently. Part of assessing a program’s 
sustainability is considering if it can be made more efficient without compromising student safety or 
success. The biggest driver of efficiency is class size in terms of filled seats. International enrolments, 
where relevant, can improve a program’s sustainability.  

Exhibit 9: Cost Structure of Average Class for Physics for Modern Technology, Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture UG, and All KPU UG Courses for Academic Year 2020/21 

 Physics for Modern 
Technology 

SCI & HORT UG 
Courses All KPU UG Courses 

Cost of Instruction  $15,713   $15,713   $15,713  

Average # of Seats Filled 16.1 18.0 25.1 

Overall % filled by International 17% 34% 32% 

Tuition Revenue   $11,424   $17,580   $23,726  

Average Net Revenue  $(4,288)  $1,867   $8,013  

Total # of Classes  73   697   4,302  

Total Net Revenue  $(313,059)  $1,301,437   $34,471,213  
*Average Net Revenue = Cost of instruction - tuition revenue 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 

Are there waitlists that limit students’ ability to progress through the program in a timely manner? Are 
the waitlists for courses delivered by the program, or delivered by other departments? 

Exhibit 10: Unmet Demand at the Stable Enrolment Date  
 Unmet Demand Fill Rate 
2020/21 Academic Year 19 64% 
2019/20 Academic Year 33 68% 

There is no notable unmet demand for the program’s discipline-specific courses. Unmet demand by 
course is available in the Enrolment Tracking Report dashboard for each term.  

 

29

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/851e6c7f-4896-4f3a-8a34-49c7c5c8dcd9/reports/fd0dcdd3-04bc-4549-8b7c-fe3ed5322fd7/ReportSection40e9da610aab37cd78d0?ctid=66b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0


Chapter 4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1 Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 10 

Graduates are asked to indicate the extent to which the program helps them achieve the Ministry 
identified essential skills. Is the program achieving the Ministry’s targets in skills development?  
Exhibit 11: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Essential Skills Data 
Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 
Student Outcome Data for 

KPU Physics for Modern 
Technology Program 

 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents11 Less than 5  
Skill Development12 

N/A N/A 

Write Clearly and Concisely 
Speak Effectively 

Read and Comprehend Materials 
Work Effectively with Others 

Analyze and Think Critically 
Resolve Issues or Problems 

Learn on your Own 

 
  

10 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Student Outcomes dashboard 2016-20, which is available at: 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
11 Results for groups of less than 5 graduates are not reported.  
12 Program graduates’ assessment of their skill development at KPU. An overall average for all skills is provided, plus the results 
for each skill. 

30



4.2 Student Success 

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 13 

Are an adequate number of students in Physics for Modern Technology courses receiving a grade of C 
and above? How do they compare with the students in Faculty of Science and Horticulture courses at 
the same level? 

Exhibit 12: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Physics for Modern Technology Courses from AY 2016/17 
to AY 2020/21 

 

Exhibit 13: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Science and Horticulture Undergraduate 
Courses from AY 2016/17 to AY 2020/21 

 

 
  

13 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Grade Distribution dashboard 2020-21, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

9%

20
%

32
% 41

% 50
% 57

% 65
% 73

% 77
% 84

% 93
%

8%

16
% 26

% 35
% 43

% 50
% 57

% 67
% 70

% 78
%

90
%

7%

13
%

25
% 35

% 46
% 55

% 64
% 72

% 76
% 82

% 90
%

7%

18
% 27

% 36
% 46

% 55
% 61

% 69
%

70
% 76

% 83
%

9%

16
% 27

% 35
% 42

% 49
% 56

% 62
% 65

% 69
% 79

%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

10
% 19

% 30
% 38

% 46
% 54

% 61
% 69

% 73
% 79

%

91
%

10
% 19

% 29
% 37

% 46
% 54

% 62
% 68

% 73
% 79

%

91
%

10
% 19

%

30
% 39

% 48
% 56

% 63
% 70

% 74
% 80

%

91
%

12
% 22

%

33
% 42

% 51
% 59

% 65
% 71

% 75
% 79

% 87
%

14
% 24

%

36
% 45

% 52
% 60

% 66
% 71

% 75
% 79

% 87
%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

31



Do the overall grade trends for the program indicate an issue? How do they compare with the overall 
grades for Faculty of Science and Horticulture courses? 

Exhibit 14: Grade Data for Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic 
Year compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
Do the repeat rate trends in Physics for Modern Technology courses indicate an issue? How does it 
compare with the repeat rate trends of Faculty of Science and Horticulture undergraduate courses?  

Exhibit 15: Repeat Rates in Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic 
Year Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 

  

2.70 
2.49 2.64 2.76 2.66 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Mean Grade & Std Dev

2.59 2.60 2.63 
2.84 2.90 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Mean Grade & Std Dev

11% 11% 13% 13% 16%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Repeat Rate

12% 11% 12% 14% 13%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Repeat Rate

32



Does the DFW rate trends in Physics for Modern Technology courses indicate an issue? How does it 
compare with the DFW rate trends in Faculty of Science and Horticulture undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 16: DFW Rates in Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic 
Year Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  

Are there any issues with Physics for Modern Technology students’ performance at each level? How do 
they compare with Faculty of Science and Horticulture undergraduate courses?   

Exhibit 17: Student Performance Data for Physics for Modern Technology Courses for Academic Year 
2020/21 by Undergraduate Levels Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture  

Physics for Modern Technology:14 Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  

14 Note that variations in sample size can affect the Grade Point Equivalent Mean data. 

23%
30%

24% 26%
35%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

DFW Rate

27% 27% 26% 24% 25%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

DFW Rate

2.41 

3.14 

3.83 3.90 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4

Mean Grade & Std Dev

2.80 2.98 
3.44 3.47 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4

Mean Grade & Std Dev

18% 15%
3% 0%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

Repeat Rate

15% 10%
2% 5%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

Repeat Rate

33



Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 15 

Has there been a change in the number of Physics for Modern Technology Program graduates over 
time? How does it compare with Faculty of Science and Horticulture in general? 

Exhibit 18: Physics for Modern Technology Program Graduate Headcount16 by Credential and 
Academic Year  

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Total17   -     1   5   2   4  
Bachelor’s Degree   -  1   5   2   4  

Exhibit 19: Faculty of Science and Horticulture Graduate Headcount by Credential and Academic Year  
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Total   181   205   228   256   162  
Bachelor’s Degree 14 38 39 35 42 
Associate Degree 44 36 30 46 27 
Diploma 68 68 93 126 79 
Certificate 41 42 43 24 8 
Citation 26 31 39 38 14 

Exhibit18.1: Graduate Headcount of Physics Programs at other BC Public Post-Secondary Institutions 18 
Calendar Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Bachelor’s Degree        
   Simon Fraser University 10 10 16 11 11 14 11 
   Thompson Rivers University 4 4 4 4 5 3  
   UBC Okanagan 5 23 24 16 13 16 18 
   UBC Vancouver 28 41 34 41 56 49 52 

15 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Credentials dashboard AY 2020-21, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
16 Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up to total or 100% because a 
student can earn multiple credentials in different categories within the same academic year. 
17 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibits 18 and 19 are unique headcounts of 
students for the year, not the sum of the credential counts. 
18 Data was obtained from the BC Headset and CDW. CIP code 40.0801 Physics, General was used. CDW does not have the data 
on UFV’s Bachelor of Science in Physics Program.   

39% 34%

2% 0%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

DFW Rate

28% 24%
8% 6%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

DFW Rate

34



   University of Northern British 
Columbia   4  5  2 

   University of Victoria 17 10 9 14 15 21 23 
Associate Degree – Langara 
College 3 1 3 1 3 1 119 

 

Are Physics for Modern Technology students completing the program within a reasonable time? How 
does it compare with Faculty of Science and Horticulture in general? 

Exhibit 20: Median20 Years to Graduate:21 Physics for Modern Technology  
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Bachelor’s Degree - 5.9 5.2 5.6 6.3 

Exhibit 21: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Science and Horticulture  
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Bachelor’s Degree 2.8 4.9 4.9 5.9 5.9 
Associate Degree 3.5 3.2 3.0 3.2 3.2 
Diploma 2.9 2.5 2.4 2.2 2.9 
Certificate 0.9 1.1 0.9 1.3 1.9 
Citation 0.9 0.6 1.2 1.4 1.3 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

Are the graduates getting jobs in a related field? Are the graduates pursuing further education?  
Exhibit 22: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with 
Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Average Student Outcome 
Data for KPU Physics for 

Modern Technology Program 
(2018-20) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents22 Less than 5  
Unemployment Rate23 

N/A N/A 
Currently Employed24 
In a Related Job25 
Further Studies26 

 

19 The graduate data for Langara College for 2021 calendar year is incomplete.  
20 A computed "middle" number in a set of numbers when sorted by value, such that 50% of the values are higher and 50% are 
smaller than this number. The Median is preferred over the Mean when the distribution of numbers contains a few extreme 
values. Extreme values will distort the Mean in that direction, whereas the Median is not affected by extreme values. 
21 The data in Exhibits 20 and 21 present the median number of years students took to receive their first credential. 
22 Results for groups of less than 5 graduates are not reported. 
23 Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market). 
24 Respondents who were working at a job or business at the time of the survey, as a percentage of all respondents, regardless 
of whether they were in the labour force (see above). 
25 Respondents who are currently employed in occupations that they describe as "very" or "somewhat" related to their studies, 
as a percentage of all employed respondents. 
26 Respondents who have taken further studies after taking the program, including those currently studying. 

35



 

 

 

Appendix E 

 

Student Survey Report 

36



 

Physics for Modern Technology Program Review - Student Survey Results 
The student survey was sent to 34 Physics for Modern Technology students. A total of 13 students responded. The response 
rate is 38%.  

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Who takes the program? 

Your Program 

 
1 - Which of the following credentials are you working towards at KPU? Please select all 
that apply. 

#  
Answer 

 
Percentage 

 
Count 

1 Bachelor’s degree: Major in Physics for Modern Technology 100% 13 
2 Another credential, please specify 8% 1 
3 Don’t know 0% 0 
 Total  13 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of respondents. 
Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

 

1_2_TEXT - Another credential, please specify 

Minor in math 

 

2 - How many PHYS courses have you completed in Physics for Modern Technology 
program? 

# How many PHYS courses have you completed in Physics for Modern Technology 
program? 

 
Percentage 

 
Count 

1 0 to 2 courses 0% 0 
2 3 to 10 courses 15% 2 
3 11 to 20 courses 31% 4 
4 21 or more courses 54% 7 
 Total  13 

  

37



3 - How did you find out about KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Please 
select all that apply. 

 

# Answer % Count 

1 KPU Physics for Modern Technology website 77% 10 
2 KPU open house or events 31% 4 
3 KPU’s online Academic calendar 31% 4 
4 KPU instructors 15% 2 
5 Other KPU students 15% 2 
6 KPU Educational Advising 15% 2 
7 Visit by KPU representative to my high school 15% 2 
8 Social media 8% 1 
9 High school teachers/counsellors 8% 1 
10 Other, please specify: 8% 1 
11 BC Education Planner website 0% 0 
12 BC Transfer Guide website 0% 0 
13 Other contact with KPU representative(s) 0% 0 
 Total  13 

 
Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of respondents. 
Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

3_10_TEXT - Other, please specify: 

I sort of enrolled by accident by specifying just “physics” in my application 

 
  

38



Reasons for Taking the Program 

 
4 - What was your main reason for enrolling in the Physics for Modern Technology 
program? 

# Answer % Count 

1 To prepare for a specific career or job 46% 6 
2 To improve my job prospects and/or earning potential 15% 2 
3 To prepare to transfer to another institution 15% 2 
4 To qualify for graduate studies 15% 2 
5 To qualify for the Post-Graduation Work Permit program 0% 0 
6 Other, please specify 8% 1 
 Total 100% 13 

 

4_6_TEXT - Other, please specify 

The fact it's a Co-op program 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

Program Relevance 

 
5 - Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, to what extent 
do you agree that the program’s curriculum is relevant to your career goals? 

 

 

# Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that the 
program’s curriculum is relevant to your career goals? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 

4 Somewhat agree 62% 

5 Strongly agree 38% 

 Total 13 

 

39



6 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Physics for Modern 
Technology program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 8% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 54% 

5 Very satisfied 38% 

 Total 13 

 

7 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program’s curriculum as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program. 

Hands on training with small class sizes 

Very technical/interesting subjects 
Courses are relevant to each other, and so far there have been no situations where one course does not cover the material in a way that 
hampers a students fundamental understanding of the topic. 
The focus on electronics and how they apply to research is a strength 
•hands-on learning (projects, labs) •approachable instructors (Instructor Names Redacted) •work experience is integrated into the 
program 
The instructors 

It covers a wide range of topics 

The small class sizes make for more effective teaching, and the instructors are all very personable. 

I think it has a great ratio of labs and theory courses. The special topics course about communications and soft skills really helps. 

Lots of various and interesting physics courses. 
The hands-on experience that students gain with this program is unlike any other degree offered right now. Dealing with applied physics 
concepts is not only helpful for persuing a career after the program but I believe it will benefit me if I continue my physics studies at 
graduate level or go into research. 
hands on education; variety of subjects; close connection to real world when it comes to knowledge application 

  

40



8 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please provide suggestions you have for improvement. 

more frequently offered courses 

More hands on/applications for job prospect. More clear understanding of these jobs prospects. 
In regards to pre-requisites, if one of them is a mathematics course; than it should not limit physics students from still applying into the 
course. As most students have a mathematical background from their previous courses; one math course should not hold them back from 
continuing their degree. 
•advertise it more so people would know about it. I found it by chance and didnt know beforehand that it existed. 

perhaps add more math courses as a requirement, such as calculus 3 and 4 

Include more on how the topics we learn are applicable in the real world 
The third-fourth year semester bi-annual cycle thing is a big downside. It essentially forces every other enrolment class of students to spend 
an extra  year in school 
I think opening up a couple 3rd and 4th year courses during summer semester can allow those that are behind to catch up or an 
opportunity for those that wants to get ahead. 
Statistics courses are required for most other continuing programs, so I would add a statistics requirement to the curriculum. 

Nothing standing out 

 

9 - What topics, if any, are missing from the program? 

A course in Astronomy from a scientific approach, recently the Astrophysics course was added, but for anyone who wants to pursue a 
career in Astronomy/Astrophysics than they must learn these courses elsewhere; as there are only a few courses in this field, with most of 
them being made for Arts/Literature students. 
•more astrophysics related content maybe? 

courses on particle physics, astronomy 

Statistics 

I think a materials science course would be fascinating. A science/business hybrid course would also be very helpful for career planning 

I think some 3D designing/ drafting course or the concepts of how to design can be a great addition. 

See above. 

I wish statistics as course was part of the curriculum, or at least an option for an elective course 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

10 - Program Learning Outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and skills 
students will have upon completion of a program. To what extent are the courses you are 
taking for KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program helping you develop each of the 
following learning outcomes? 

41



 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories 

 Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and 
concepts. 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 
applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems 

Understand and gain an appreciation 
for concepts of biology as they relate 
to physics and technology. 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively 
convey and discuss thoughts and 
ideas. 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and 
interfacing components), and 
operate laboratory equipment to 
perform experiments and collect 
data. 

Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 
conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating 
data. 

Use, adapt, and develop software to:  
interface with equipment; collect, 
visualize and analyze data; perform 
numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems. 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 
learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

Develop solutions to problems by 
integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, 
business, experience, practical 
skills, and communication skills. 

42



# Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 
learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 0% 23% 77% 13 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 

learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

0% 0% 38% 62% 13 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including 

laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and practical 
problems. 

0% 23% 46% 31% 13 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they relate 
to physics and technology. 0% 46% 31% 23% 13 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 0% 62% 38% 13 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology 
development. 0% 46% 38% 15% 13 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

0% 0% 15% 85% 13 

8 Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses 
by utilizing the conventions and best practices of experimental research. 0% 8% 31% 62% 13 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, 
analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 0% 46% 54% 13 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, 

visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical 
systems. 

0% 15% 38% 46% 13 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 0% 38% 62% 13 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate 

avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills 
independently. 

0% 0% 54% 46% 13 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

0% 0% 38% 62% 13 

  

43



Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

11 - To what extent are the courses you are taking for KPU’s Physics for Modern 
Technology program helping you develop each of the following essential skills? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 31% 54% 15% 13 

2 Written communication 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 15% 46% 38% 13 

4 Group collaboration 0% 8% 23% 69% 13 

5 Independent learning 0% 8% 15% 77% 13 

6 Critical analysis 0% 8% 31% 62% 13 

7 Problem resolution 0% 8% 31% 62% 13 

8 Creativity and innovation 0% 15% 62% 23% 13 

9 Leadership skills 0% 69% 23% 8% 13 

10 Numeracy skills 0% 0% 23% 77% 13 

11 Technical skills 0% 0% 38% 62% 13 

12 Intercultural skills 15% 46% 38% 0% 13 

44



Are appropriate work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning opportunities provided to help students 
acquire the learning outcomes? 

12 - To what extent do you agree that you have sufficient opportunities in the program to 
reinforce your learning through practical application of this learning? 

 

 

# To what extent do you agree that you have sufficient opportunities in the program to reinforce your learning 
through practical application of this learning? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 8% 
2 Somewhat disagree 0% 
3 Neither agree nor disagree 8% 
4 Somewhat agree 38% 
5 Strongly agree 46% 
 Total 13 

 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? / Are students making satisfactory 
progress in the program? 

13 - Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, please 
indicate your agreement with the following. 

 

45



 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 The prerequisites offered prepare me 
for more advanced courses. 0% 0% 8% 46% 46% 13 

2 I am able to take the prerequisite 
courses when I need them. 0% 54% 15% 31% 0% 13 

3 The range of courses offered each term 
is adequate. 0% 46% 15% 38% 0% 13 

 

Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

14 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, please indicate your agreement with the 
following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 My instructors accommodate my learning 
needs. 0% 8% 0% 38% 54% 13 

2 My instructors present the course materials 
effectively. 0% 0% 8% 31% 62% 13 

3 My instructors are up-to-date on current 
developments in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 31% 69% 13 

4 My instructors ensure students’ emotional 
safety in the learning environment. 0% 0% 15% 38% 46% 13 

5 My instructors ensure students’ physical 
safety in the learning environment. 0% 0% 0% 23% 77% 13 

46



15 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Physics 
for Modern Technology program?

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Physics for Modern Technology 
program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 8% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 46% 
5 Very satisfied 46% 

Total 13 

16 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program instruction.

very knowledgeable instructors who care about their students 
Delivered clearly. 
Instructors have a deep understanding of the subjects, in a way that helps students to not only improve their own understanding; but to 
also ask thoughtful questions regarding future career/technological opportunities in these respective fields. 
Practical demonstrations really help me understand the concepts 
•professors are generally approachable  •i like the lab settings where we can work independently
Instructors show care to teach each each individual student 
Small class sizes 
I think each course carries over very well from first year to third year. By fourth year, the topics become more complex but fewer in each 
course, so instructions are longer and more time allocated is great. 
All the professors are very approachable with coursework as well as with any other issues students may be having related to their 
education. 
very technical and inspiring 

17 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
provide suggestions you have for improvement in program instruction.

Better examples/applications to theories for better understanding of material. Concepts needed for exams not always clear. 
Three hours lectures tend to cover the same material an almost two hour lecture covers, as most instructors simply go over the material too 
slowly that it makes it hard to focus for the full lecture. Especially since the material tends to be glanced over in a way that enforces the 
need to simply study it all over again once I leave the class. Also it seems most instructors find three hour lectures to be difficult to lecture, 
as they are not able to identify how much course material they should cover each lesson; hence the long and arduous discussions on very 
minor topics. 
•some courses need to be pre-reqs for other courses (electronics should be a pre-req for sensors)
None that I can think of currently 

47



More examples, especially with theoretical topics 
I would not change the instruction, I would just have certain courses offered more frequently, but I understand that limitations are due to 
the department's size. 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate the extent to which they have achieved the learning 
outcomes? 

18 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, indicate your 
agreement with the following.

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 I receive clear information on how I will 
be evaluated. 0% 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

2 The range of assessments lets me 
demonstrate what I have learned. 0% 0% 0% 46% 54% 13 

3 The assessment standards are consistent 
throughout the program. 0% 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

4 My instructors provide useful feedback. 0% 0% 0% 46% 54% 13 

48



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5: RESOURCES, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 

Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

19 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to KPU's 
Physics for Modern Technology program?

49



# Question 
Have 

not 
used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual 
and computer equipment 0% 0% 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

2 Books 15% 0% 0% 23% 23% 38% 13 

3 eBooks 15% 0% 0% 23% 15% 46% 13 

4 Online resources - journal 
articles, etc. 8% 0% 0% 15% 31% 46% 13 

5 Print periodicals, journals, 
etc. 38% 0% 0% 8% 31% 23% 13 

6 Study guides 31% 0% 8% 23% 15% 23% 13 

7 DVDs/streaming video on 
program-related topics 62% 0% 0% 15% 15% 8% 13 

8 Librarian support for 
program-related research 46% 8% 0% 23% 8% 15% 13 

9 Library orientation 54% 0% 0% 15% 8% 23% 13 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum?  Does the program have the 
facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

20 - How satisfied are you with the following specialized technology and facilities as they 
apply to KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program?

50



# Question Have not 
used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Software 0% 0% 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

2 Lab space 0% 0% 0% 8% 8% 85% 13 

3 Lab equipment 0% 0% 0% 0% 23% 77% 13 

4 3rd / 4th year project 
space 8% 0% 0% 8% 23% 62% 13 

5 Fabrication/workshop 
facilities 15% 0% 0% 0% 46% 38% 13 

Does the program have the support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 

21 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU's Physics for Modern 
Technology program?

# Question Have 
not used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
Satisfied Total 

1 Availability of required 
texts at the KPU bookstore 8% 0% 8% 15% 15% 54% 13 

2 Advising Services 23% 0% 0% 15% 23% 38% 13 
3 Career Services 62% 0% 0% 8% 8% 23% 13 
4 Accessibility Services 54% 0% 8% 8% 15% 15% 13 

51



Appendix F 

Faculty Survey Report 

52



Physics for Modern Technology Program Review - Faculty Survey Results
The faculty survey was sent to 25 Physics for Modern Technology faculty members. A total of 15 faculty members responded. 
The response rate is 60%.   

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

About Your Courses 

1 - Please tell us about yourself. Are you...

# Answer % Count 

1 Instructor 79% 11 

2 Lab instructor 7% 1 

3 Lab technician 14% 2 

Total 100% 14 

2 - Which level courses do you teach? Please select all that apply.

# Answer % Count 

1 Preparatory and/or first-year courses 100% 13 

2 Second-year courses 62% 8 

3 Third- or fourth-year courses 54% 7 

Total 13 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of respondents. 
Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

53



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

3 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, indicate the 
extent you agree with the following.

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Program curriculum is relevant to the 
needs of the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 33% 67% 15 

2 The program prepares students for a 
career in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 27% 73% 15 

3 The program prepares students for 
further education in the field. 0% 7% 7% 53% 33% 15 

4 The program is being adequately 
promoted. 7% 40% 27% 20% 7% 15 

54



4 - Please indicate how relevant each of the following Program Learning Outcomes is to 
the current needs of the discipline/sector. 

 

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical 
problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied Physics 
knowledge and concepts. 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical 
problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied 
Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical 
and practical problems. 

Understand and gain an 
appreciation for concepts of 
biology as they relate to physics 
and technology. 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively 
convey and discuss thoughts and 
ideas. 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and 
interfacing components), and 
operate laboratory equipment to 
perform experiments and collect 
data. 

Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 
conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and 
evaluating data. 

Use, adapt, and develop software 
to:  interface with equipment; 
collect, visualize and analyze data; 
perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 
learning, and pursue new 
knowledge and skills 
independently. 
 

Develop solutions to problems by 
integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, 
business, experience, practical 
skills, and communication skills. 

55



Note that “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency 
table below for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories.  

# Question Not at all 
relevant 

Slightly 
relevant 

Somewhat 
relevant 

Very 
relevant Total 

1 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and 
concepts. 

0% 0% 0% 100% 14 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge 
and techniques. 

0% 0% 7% 93% 14 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, 

including laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

0% 31% 31% 38% 13 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as 
they relate to physics and technology. 8% 42% 25% 25% 12 

5 
Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 

communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and 
ideas. 

0% 0% 8% 92% 12 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and 
technology development. 8% 8% 31% 54% 13 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform 
experiments and collect data. 

0% 0% 7% 93% 14 

8 
Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the conventions and best practices of 

experimental research. 
0% 0% 20% 80% 15 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 0% 18% 82% 11 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; 

collect, visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

0% 0% 9% 91% 11 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 0% 14% 86% 14 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify 

appropriate avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

0% 0% 17% 83% 12 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

0% 0% 17% 83% 12 

 

5 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program 
curriculum? 

 

 

56



# Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 7% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 7% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 43% 
5 Very satisfied 43% 
 Total 14 

 

6 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program. 

 
Practical, hands-on training, application of theory, project work 
The curriculum is broad enough to provide students with a good background in fundamental and applied physics while at the same time 
providing them with skills that are directly applicable to careers in the tech sector. The required work experience gives students valuable 
exposure to the workplace and often leads to post-graduation career opportunities. The curriculum ensure that students' problem-solving 
skills are constantly developing and are very strong by the time they finish the program. 
Graduates (and students) can turn theory into practice. Not all science degrees at the baccalaureate level can, or aim to, do this. 
Hands on projects 
I think it is a great program. It is very practical and focus towards generating problem solvers. 
The labs. 
Lot's of practical training 
Hands on classes 
The majority of the universities with a Physics degree prepare students to continue in academia while failing to prepare them for the 
industrial application of the degree. Ironically, only a few percentages of the graduates would stay in academia. PMT is meant to directly 
address the majority of enthusiasts in physics who are willing to work after their graduations while also preparing them for academic life. 
The work experience is a huge strength, as is the breadth of the curriculum 
 

7 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please provide any suggestions you have for improvement. 

 

The computer programming content of the program needs to be strengthened, ideally through the addition of one or two dedicated 
courses (in addition to continuing to infuse it in many of the existing courses). Although students develop quite good communication skills 
during the program, this area could also be strengthened (for example through something like the recent Special Topics offering). 
It would be great if we can find room for RF technology. 
Place Multivariable-&-Vector-Calculus on the term after Integral Calculus, that is, on the 1st-term of the 2nd-year. Place a Linear Algebra 
course as a 1st-year-2nd-term course, or replace their Linear Algebra course by MATH 1152(a course that includes complex numbers on its 
topics and is offered every Spring term).  Then add course covering differential equations (ODEs, PDEs and Fourier series)in the 2nd-term 
of the 2nd-year of the program. 
Dedicated Computer Programming course 
- The program is not being promoted the way it should. There is a huge capacity here and I don't think the importance of the program is 
well advertised. Students would gain skills that are directly applicable to industrial needs. This alone should attract students not only 
within Canada but also across the globe.    - Data analysis also has a huge application in physics and we need to invest more in that. So 
perhaps fewer biology and chemistry courses to add more PMT relevant courses. 
not really curricular, but more encouragement for students to take courses in "order" i.e. don't leave their chemistry until the last year..... 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

57



8 - To what extent is KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program helping students 
develop the following Program Learning Outcomes?

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical 
problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied Physics 
knowledge and concepts. 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical 
problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied 
Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques.

Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical 
and practical problems. 

Understand and gain an 
appreciation for concepts of 
biology as they relate to physics 
and technology. 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively 
convey and discuss thoughts and 
ideas. 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development.

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and 
interfacing components), and 
operate laboratory equipment to 
perform experiments and collect 
data.

Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 
conventions and best practices of 
experimental research.

Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and 
evaluating data.

Use, adapt, and develop software 
to:  interface with equipment; 
collect, visualize and analyze data; 
perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 
learning, and pursue new 
knowledge and skills 
independently. 
 

Develop solutions to problems by 
integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, 
business, experience, practical 
skills, and communication skills. 

58



# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 
learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 0% 0% 100% 10 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 

learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

0% 0% 10% 90% 10 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including 

laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and practical 
problems. 

0% 22% 22% 56% 9 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they relate 
to physics and technology. 11% 11% 44% 33% 9 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 0% 40% 60% 10 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology 
development. 10% 10% 60% 20% 10 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

0% 0% 10% 90% 10 

8 Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses 
by utilizing the conventions and best practices of experimental research. 10% 0% 10% 80% 10 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, 
analyzing, and evaluating data. 10% 0% 40% 50% 10 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, 

visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical 
systems. 

10% 0% 40% 50% 10 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate 

avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills 
independently. 

10% 0% 30% 60% 10 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

10% 0% 20% 70% 10 

 

  

59



Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

9 - To what extent is KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program helping students 
develop the following essential skills?

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 73% 27% 11 
2 Written communication 0% 0% 45% 55% 11 
3 Reading comprehension 0% 0% 55% 45% 11 
4 Group collaboration 0% 0% 45% 55% 11 
5 Independent learning 9% 0% 18% 73% 11 
6 Critical analysis 0% 9% 9% 82% 11 
7 Problem resolution 0% 9% 9% 82% 11 
8 Creativity and innovation 0% 18% 27% 55% 11 
9 Leadership skills 0% 30% 60% 10% 10 
10 Numeracy skills 0% 0% 18% 82% 11 
11 Technical skills 0% 0% 9% 91% 11 
12 Intercultural skills 36% 18% 27% 18% 11 

60



10 - How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 2000-level courses?

# How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 2000-level courses? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 13% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 13% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 
5 Very satisfied 25% 

Total 8 

11 - What do you think the program can do at the first-year level to make Physics for 
Modern Technology students better prepared for 2000-level course work?  

No Results to Show

12 - How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 3000-level and 4000-level 
courses?

# How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 3000-level and 4000-level courses? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 17% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 
5 Very satisfied 33% 

Total 6 

61



13 - What do you think the program can do at the second-year level to make Physics for 
Modern Technology students better prepared for 3000-level and 4000-level course work? 

          No Results to Show 

14 - Since 3rd and 4th year courses are offered in alternate years, we have 3rd and 4th 
year students taking courses together. Please comment on any benefits or drawbacks you 
have noticed with this arrangement. 

It has generally worked fine for the 4000-level course I teach. One drawback is that every other year, the 3rd year students have less time 
for work experience (4 months as opposed to 5 or 5.5 months). However, this is not a huge problem. 
I see no benefit to students with this arregement. 
Seems to be working well. 
It works well! 

 

15 - Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, to what extent 
do you agree that the prerequisites courses offered prepare students for more advanced 
courses? 

 

 

# Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that the 
prerequisites courses offered prepare students for more advanced courses? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 8% 

4 Somewhat agree 25% 

5 Strongly agree 67% 

 Total 12 

  

62



Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

16 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, please indicate your agreement with the 
following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Multiple learning modalities are 
accommodated. 0% 0% 8% 75% 17% 12 

2 The delivery of the curriculum is effective. 0% 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

3 Course materials reflect current 
developments in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

63



17 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the quality of instruction across the program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the quality of instruction across the program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 10% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 30% 
5 Very satisfied 60% 
 Total 10 

 

18 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program instruction. 

 

passionate, knowledgeable instructors 
Since many/most of the courses take place in the lab, instruction is biased in favour of providing students with hands-on active and 
experiential learning opportunities, which serves them very well when they enter the workforce (either during their work experience of after 
graduation). The small classes ensure that students get a a lot of time to work with lab equipment. 
Well qualified, dedicated faculty. 
The lab training. 
Small classes, lots of student-instructor interaction. 

 

Q19 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
provide any suggestions you have for improvements in program instruction. 

 

integration of student-learning across different courses 
I can't think of anything, but since there is a big interest in the department in sharing and developing instructional techniques, this would be 
a great topic for discussion at a department meeting. 
faculty could be more engaged in their own professional development and research if there were ongoing time and facilities allocated for it. 

 

 

 

64



Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the learning 
outcomes? 

20 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, please indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Assessment methods align with program 
learning outcomes. 0% 0% 8% 17% 75% 12 

2 The range of assessments let students 
demonstrate what they have learned. 0% 0% 8% 8% 83% 12 

3 Students are provided clear information 
on how they will be evaluated. 0% 0% 9% 9% 82% 11 

4 The assessment standards are consistent 
throughout the program. 0% 0% 9% 64% 27% 11 

 

 

 

 

65



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5: RESOURCES, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 

Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum?] 

21 - How well are the following library resources meeting the program’s needs? 

 

 

# Question Have not 
used 

Not at 
all 

Somewhat 
well 

Very 
well 

Extremely 
well Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual and computer 
equipment 40% 0% 0% 20% 40% 10 

2 Books 0% 0% 11% 67% 22% 9 

3 eBooks 22% 0% 33% 33% 11% 9 

4 DVDs/streaming video on program-related topics 89% 0% 11% 0% 0% 9 

5 Librarian support for program-related research 44% 0% 22% 11% 22% 9 

6 Library orientation 89% 0% 0% 11% 0% 9 

7 Online resources - journal articles, etc. 22% 11% 22% 22% 22% 9 

8 Print periodicals, journals, etc. 56% 0% 33% 0% 11% 9 

9 Study guides 78% 0% 22% 0% 0% 9 

 

66



Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? Does the program have the 
facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

22 - How well are the following specialized technology and facilities meeting program’s 
needs? 

 

 

# Question Have not used Not at all Somewhat well Very well Extremely well Total 

1 Software 10% 0% 30% 40% 20% 10 
2 Lab space 0% 0% 27% 27% 45% 11 
3 Lab equipment 0% 0% 9% 45% 45% 11 
4 3rd / 4th year project space 20% 0% 30% 20% 30% 10 
5 Fabrication/workshop facilities 30% 0% 20% 10% 40% 10 

 

  

67



Does the program have the support services needed to deliver the curriculum?  

23 - How well are the following services meeting program’s needs? 

 

 

# Question Have not used/ Don't 
know 

Not at 
all 

Somewhat 
well 

Very 
well 

Extremely 
well Total 

1 Availability of required texts at the KPU 
bookstore 20% 0% 10% 50% 20% 10 

2 Advising Services 40% 10% 20% 20% 10% 10 

3 Career Services 50% 0% 40% 10% 0% 10 

4 Accessibility Services 30% 0% 20% 50% 0% 10 

5 Support for international students 80% 0% 10% 10% 0% 10 

 

68



 

 

 

Appendix G 

 

Alumni Survey Report 

69



Physics for Modern Technology Program Review - Alumni Survey Results 
 
The alumni survey was sent to 14 Physics for Modern Technology alumni. A total of 8 alumni responded. The response 
rate is 57%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one exception: if 
individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether the comment is 
good, bad or indifferent. 
 

1 - When did you complete KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? 

# When did you complete KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 2021 50% 

2 2020 25% 

3 2019 13% 

4 2018 13% 

 Total 8 

 

2 - Physics for Modern Technology has been designed as a 4-year program, but we recognize 
that many students complete it in more than 4 years for various reasons. How long did it 
take you to complete the program? 

 

# Physics for Modern Technology has been designed as a 4-year program, but we recognize that many students complete it in 
more than 4 years for various reasons. How long did it take you to complete the program? Percentage 

1 4 years 25% 

2 4 to 5 years 63% 

3 5 to 6 years 13% 

4 More than 6 years 0% 

 Total 8 

 

  

70



3 - Can you tell us about some of the factors that contributed to taking more than 4 years? 

The limitation that some courses are not offered every year. 
I was not initially planning on remaining at KPU for the entire degree but decided to stay after seeing the amazing program and extraordinary 
assistance from the Faculty. 
Some classes are only offered once every other year so some semesters are overloaded. 

1) took classes part time to work 2) needed to repeat courses 
Mainly due to majority of course offer in Richmond only. It nice for the 3rd and 4th year but the 1 st and 2nd year we need to also take other 
general elective which does not have many option at Richmond campus. 
No or few summer classes open, and alternate third and fourth 

 

4 - Were program faculty helpful in helping you plan your studies? 

# Were program faculty helpful in helping you plan your studies? Percentage 

1 Yes 88% 

2 No 13% 

 Total 8 

 

5 - Were KPU advisors helpful in helping you plan your studies? 

# Were KPU advisors helpful in helping you plan your studies? Percentage 

1 Yes 100% 

2 No 0% 

 Total 8 

 

6 - What could the program or KPU do to make life easier for students who are pursuing the 
program? 

Make sure everyone know when does the courses are offered. 

It is pretty much greatly laid out. 

Have a better plan for which upper level courses will be offered on which semester. Especially the upper level chemistry courses. 

Target part time students for financial aid to help them become full time 

Nothing that stands out for me. Maybe a bit more flexibility on elective courses. But overall it's a great program. 
I do know PMT has the preplan / suggest course plan out. I wish that I am able to knew that early on as 1st year. So make that more accessible 
on the kpu/PMT website. 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance   

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?] 

71



7 - Program Learning Outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and skills 
students will have upon completion of a program. Please indicate how relevant each of the 
following Program Learning Outcomes was to your career goals. 

  

Understand and gain an appreciation 
for concepts of biology as they relate 

to physics and technology. 
 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and 

concepts. 
 Analyze, evaluate, and solve 

theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 

applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

 Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 

techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 

communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas. 

 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and interfacing 
components), and operate laboratory 

equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

 Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

 Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 

visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating 
data. 

 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  

interface with equipment; collect, 
visualize and analyze data; perform 

numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems. 

 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

 
Develop solutions to problems by 

integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, business, 

experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

 

72



Note that “not at all relevant” and “a somewhat relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency 
table below for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “somewhat relevant” categories 

# Question Not at all 
relevant 

Slightly 
relevant 

Somewhat 
relevant 

Very 
relevant Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 
learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 0% 0% 100% 8 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 

learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, 

including laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they 
relate to physics and technology. 38% 25% 25% 13% 8 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and 
technology development. 0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform 
experiments and collect data. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

8 
Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the conventions and best practices of 

experimental research. 
0% 25% 25% 50% 8 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; 

collect, visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 13% 13% 75% 8 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify 

appropriate avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge and 
skills independently. 

0% 25% 25% 50% 8 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

  

73



8 - The program curriculum is the academic content taught in a specific program. Overall, 
how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? 

 

 

# The program curriculum is the academic content taught in a specific program. Overall, how satisfied are you with the 
curriculum of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 

5 Very satisfied 50% 

 Total 8 

 

9 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program. 

The program includes many hand-on work that student can understand not only the theoretical knowledge. 
The projects really helped me to be able to think on my own and get some guidance. The hands on aspect of the program is useful for industry 
careers. 
Comprehensive and wide berth of topics 
Has good mixture of physics, engineering, and programming. The project courses are very useful as you can match the theory with application 
and demonstrate it. 
Excellent instruction Relevant topics Good resources for lab work 
Great professors who are dedicated to the success of students and the program. A lot of hands on laboratory work which other physics 
programs lack. Great opportunities to find relevant work experience. The professors are passionate at what they do. 
It provide a hand on approach to the theoretical concept which makes it easy to apply to the industry skill. 

  

74



10 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please provide any suggestions you have for improvement. 

Show how does the course apply in workplace. 
I believe it is still a growing program and I would love to see bigger projects once the program has expanded similar to projects carried out by 
UBC's engineering teams. 
More programming 

The biology class is irrelevant and the selected business electives are not particularly useful. 

Tests could be harder Stronger emphasis on software tools More time spent on differential equations and linear algebra 

It could have options for core physics courses such as statistical physics. 
Some class I feel can go into deeper understanding to be more beneficial in the job industry. For example, large portion of the program has use 
coding as a way of interfacing with the technology. if stream line all the coding course to build a solid foundation of 1 language by 4th year can 
open up many more job opportunity for student 

 

11 - What topics, if any, were missing from the program? 

Astronomy 

Could add some courses to do with data science or more hands on electronics courses. 
Computational physics would be amazing. Teach students to make models and visualize data. Also a more formal co-op program would be 
better. 
Core upper division courses such as statistical physics, electricity and magnetism. Although the concepts were taught in other courses. Anyone 
who wants to pursue post graduate physics will need to upgrade their degree with 4 extra courses. 
It would be beneficial to offer some optional and deeper understanding of the 3rd or 4th year topic such as optic or control 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

  

75



12 - To what extent did KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program help you develop 
each of the following Program Learning Outcomes? 

 

  

Understand and gain an appreciation 
for concepts of biology as they relate 

to physics and technology. 
 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and 

concepts. 
 Analyze, evaluate, and solve 

theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 

applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

 Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 

techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 

communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas. 

 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and interfacing 
components), and operate laboratory 

equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

 Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

 Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 

visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating 
data. 

 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  

interface with equipment; collect, 
visualize and analyze data; perform 

numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems. 

 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

 
Develop solutions to problems by 

integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, business, 

experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

 

76



Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below for the 
percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

2 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and techniques. 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 

3 Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including 
laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and practical problems. 0% 13% 50% 38% 8 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they relate to 
physics and technology. 13% 50% 13% 25% 8 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral communication to 
effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology 
development. 0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform experiments and 
collect data. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

8 Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses by 
utilizing the conventions and best practices of experimental research. 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, 
analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, 

visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical 
systems. 

0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 13% 0% 88% 8 

12 Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate 
avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills independently. 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

13 Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, mathematics, 
technology, business, experience, practical skills, and communication skills. 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

  

77



Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

13 - To what extent did KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program help you develop 
each of the following essential skills? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below for the 
percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 
2 Written communication 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 
3 Reading comprehension 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 
4 Group collaboration 0% 13% 13% 75% 8 
5 Independent learning 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 
6 Critical analysis 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 
7 Problem resolution 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 
8 Creativity and innovation 0% 38% 13% 50% 8 
9 Leadership skills 0% 38% 38% 25% 8 
10 Numeracy skills 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 
11 Technical skills 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 
12 Intercultural skills 0% 25% 38% 38% 8 

78



Are appropriate work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning opportunities provided to help students acquire 
the learning outcomes? 

14 - To what extent do you agree that you had sufficient opportunities in the program to 
reinforce your learning through practical application of this learning? 

 

 

# To what extent do you agree that you had sufficient opportunities in the program to reinforce your learning through practical 
application of this learning? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 13% 

4 Somewhat agree 25% 

5 Strongly agree 63% 

 Total 8 

  

79



15 - Indicate the extent the work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning 
opportunities contributed to your learning. 

 

Note that “not at all”, “a small extent”, and “Don’t know” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency 
table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

Don't 
know Total 

1 Work experience 0% 25% 13% 63% 0% 8 

2 Projects 0% 0% 13% 88% 0% 8 

3 
Other (presenting at or attending a conference, volunteering for 

outreach events, volunteering to help at info sessions for prospective 
students, attending networking events, etc.) 

0% 13% 25% 50% 13% 8 

  

80



Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? / Are students making satisfactory 
progress in the program? 

16 - Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, please indicate 
your agreement with the following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 The prerequisites offered prepared me for 
more advanced courses. 0% 13% 0% 50% 38% 8 

2 I was able to take the prerequisite courses 
when I needed them. 0% 25% 13% 25% 38% 8 

3 The range of courses offered each term 
was adequate. 0% 13% 13% 50% 25% 8 

  

81



Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

17 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Physics 
for Modern Technology program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 

5 Very satisfied 50% 

 Total 8 
 

18 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please indicate 
the strengths of the program instruction. 

Each professor had a unique specialty and allowed us to engage in depth for a wide range of subjects. 

Covers many aspects of physics, engineering and programming. 

Instructors were polite, knowledgeable, and available. 
The professors are very engaging and passionate when teaching. There is both theoretical and applied versions of most topics which helps 
students understand better. 
Since the 3rd and 4th year student all take the class together. The instructor are able understand the need of the student and tailor the content 
in a way that is easily understandable to the the student. 

 

19 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please provide 
any suggestions you have for improvement in program instruction. 

Unsure 

Although many subjects are covered there are not many opportunities to master a specific subject. 

No suggestions 

There is nothing that comes to mind. 
Part of my 4th year was online, it has really change the dynamic between the teacher and student. Some instructor begin to doubt the integrity 
of the student right from the beginning even though we already been through years of academic. It like we have to constantly prove we have 
integrity to him. 

82



Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the learning outcomes? 

20 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, indicate your agreement 
with the following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 I received clear information on how I would 
be evaluated. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

2 The range of assessments let me 
demonstrate what I had learned. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

3 The assessment standards were consistent 
throughout the program. 0% 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 

4 My instructors provided useful feedback. 0% 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

  

83



Are graduates of the program successful? 

Further Education 

21 - Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Physics for Modern 
Technology program? 

# Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Yes 25% 

2 No 75% 

 Total 8 

 

22 - Please list the name of the program and the institution where you enrolled after 
completing KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program. 

BCIT 

Simon fraser university M.Sc physics 

 

23 - What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently pursuing since 
completing KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? 

# What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently pursuing since completing KPU’s Physics for Modern 
Technology program? - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 Diploma 50% 

2 Associate’s Degree 0% 

3 Bachelor’s Degree 0% 

4 Master's Degree 0% 

5 Doctorate 0% 

6 Professional designation (Please specify) 0% 

7 Other (Please specify) 50% 

 Total 2 

 

Q23_7_TEXT - Other (Please specify) 

I started but didn't complete a masters degree at SFU. I've now applied to UBCs physics for engineering. 

  

84



24 - To what extent do you agree that the KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program 
prepared you well for further education? 

 

 

# To what extent do you agree that the KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program prepared you well for further education? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 

4 Somewhat agree 50% 

5 Strongly agree 50% 

 Total 2 

 

Employment  

25 - Are you currently employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 

# Are you currently employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? Percentage 

1 Yes 75% 

2 No 25% 

 Total 8 

 

26 - Were you previously employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 

# Were you previously employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? Percentage 

1 Yes 50% 

2 No 50% 

 Total 2 

  

85



27 - Which of the following best describes your current employment situation?

# Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? Percentage 

1 In a full-time position 83% 

2 In a part-time position 0% 

3 In a contract position 17% 

4 In a casual or temporary position 0% 

5 Self-employed/consultant 0% 

Total 6 

28 - What is your position/role/job title?

Manufacturing Technician 

Software Developer 

Manufacturing Technician 

Cyclotron operator/engineering technologist 

Data Scientist 

Hardware System Technician 

29 - Could you specify the organization where you are currently employed? This information 
will help us better determine KPU graduates’ career trajectories.

Ideon Technologies 

Altair Engineering 

Advanced cyclotron systems inc 

SFU 

Weir Motion Metrics 

30 - Which of the following best describes your employment situation? (This was asked to 
respondents who chose “yes” in Q26). 

# Which of the following best describes your employment situation? Percentage 

1 In a full-time position 100% 

2 In a part-time position 0% 

3 In a contract position 0% 

4 In a casual or temporary position 0% 

5 Self-employed/consultant 0% 

Total 1 

31 - What was your position/role/job title?

No results to show 

86



32 - Based on your experience since graduating, to what extent do you agree that the 
program prepared you well for an entry-level job in the industry? 

 

 

# Based on your experience since graduating, to what extent do you agree that the program prepared you well for an entry-
level job in the industry? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 

4 Somewhat agree 43% 

5 Strongly agree 57% 

 Total 7 

 

33 - Please identify the skills/knowledge area(s) you felt were missing in the program for an 
entry-level job in your industry. 

Hands tools 
I was missing some key programming knowledge that, without the physic background, would have prevented me from obtaining an entry level 
software development job. 
Data analysis in business setting. 

There is a fair amount of mechanical engineering knowledge (mechanics of materials, thermodynamics) that I think would be useful 

None that come to mind 

we learn a lot of coding but since they are not align, therefore wont as useful as other skills 
 

34 - Would you be confident hiring someone (whom you don’t personally know) who 
graduated from this program? 

# Would you be confident hiring someone (whom you don’t personally know) who graduated from this program? Percentage 

1 Yes 100% 

2 No 0% 

 Total 6 
 

87



Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector to remain current?] 

Alumni Connections 

35 - Please indicate the extent you agree with the following statements:

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 
The program provided me with opportunities to 

develop connections with industry/potential 
employers. 

0% 13% 25% 25% 38% 8 

2 I am provided with opportunities to stay connected 
to the Physics for Modern Technology program. 0% 0% 38% 38% 25% 8 

36 - What can the program do to build better connections with alumni?

Linkedin page to follow 
I can't offer any incentives beyond good food and/or money but that is likely out of the question UBC does alumni events. They would be a good 
resource for suggestions. 
I am still in contact with some of the professors. 
Have party/info on Academic opportunity after the program , host competition for the current student in which where the current student and 
alumni can connect 

88



 

 

 

Appendix H 

 

Discipline/Sector Survey Report 

89



Physics for Modern Technology Program Review - Discipline/Sector Survey Results 
The discipline/sector survey was sent to 27 discipline/sector representatives. A total of 16 representatives responded. 
The response rate is 59%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one exception: if 
individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether the comment is 
good, bad or indifferent 

 

About Your Organization/Role 

1 - Which sector best describes your organization/business? Please select all that apply. 

 

  

90



# Answer Percentage Count 

1 Engineering 56% 9 

2 Manufacturing 50% 8 

3 Biotechnology 13% 2 

4 Green Technology 31% 5 

5 Transportation 6% 1 

6 Natural Resources 0% 0 

7 Communications 6% 1 

8 Hardware 44% 7 

9 Software 25% 4 

10 Education 6% 1 

11 Government 0% 0 

12 Other. Please specify 13% 2 

 Total  16 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

Q1_12_TEXT - Other. Please specify 

scientific equipment for materials and life sciences 

Professional Association 

 

2 - What is your current job title/role? 

Director of Engineering 

President 

Physics Professor 

CTO 

Production Manager 

Electrical Engineer 

Chief Technology Officer 

Founder, general operations and planning. 

CEO 

Snr Technologist 

VP Product Development 
Retired member, volunteer as an application file reviewer and team lead for Technology program and technical specialist program 
accreditations. 
Business Development Manager 

research and development physicist. 

Lead Research Scientist/Engineer 

Director of manufacturing 

  

91



3 - How familiar are you with KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? 

 

Note that “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table 
below for the percentages for the “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories 

# How familiar are you with KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Not at all familiar 6% 

2 Slightly familiar 25% 

3 Moderately familiar 56% 

4 Very familiar 13% 

 Total 16 

 

4 - When you think about KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program, what are the top 
three characteristics that come to mind? 

Characteristic #1 Characteristic #2 Characteristic #3 

Practical knowledge Applied / practiced techniques Research & Development 

Enginneering Physics Application 

Advanced More electrical based New technology area 

Real world focus Relevant knowledgeE Engaged instruction and learning 

job-oriented up to date flexible 

Robotics Programming Physics 

Focused on employable skills Teaching Physics 

Great balance between theory and practice Well equipped labs and competent lab assistants Wide range of forward-looking physics topics 

Hands on Intense Balanced 

Different from other programs Practical Accessible 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance  

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

 

92



5 - Considering the needs and expectations of your organization, how important is it for an 
entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following? 

 

  

Understand and gain an appreciation 
for concepts of biology as they relate 

to physics and technology. 
 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and 

concepts. 
 Analyze, evaluate, and solve 

theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 

applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

 Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 

techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 

communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas. 

 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and interfacing 
components), and operate laboratory 

equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

 Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

 Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 

visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating 
data. 

 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  

interface with equipment; collect, 
visualize and analyze data; perform 

numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems. 

 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

 
Develop solutions to problems by 

integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, business, 

experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

 

93



# Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 
learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 13% 60% 27% 15 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 

learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

0% 25% 50% 25% 16 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, 

including laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

40% 27% 20% 13% 15 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they 
relate to physics and technology. 40% 33% 20% 7% 15 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 13% 25% 63% 16 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and 
technology development. 0% 50% 25% 25% 16 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform 
experiments and collect data. 

0% 13% 19% 69% 16 

8 
Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the conventions and best practices of 

experimental research. 
0% 20% 40% 40% 15 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 20% 53% 27% 15 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; 

collect, visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

0% 19% 44% 38% 16 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 13% 13% 75% 16 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify 

appropriate avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

0% 6% 38% 56% 16 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

0% 19% 38% 44% 16 

94



6 - What other skills, training or knowledge should an entry-level applicant have to be hired 
into your organization? 

Practical exposure to industry-standard software & tools. 

They must have some prior teaching experience. 
Soldering skills, electronics testing, drawing reading , prepare design documentation. Excellent work ethics should have to be hired into our 
organization. 
Understanding the basics of alternative energy systems, such as fuel cell fundamentals, battery technologies, power electronics fundamentals, 
motor control fundamentals 
Willingness to travel extensively (in Canada and abroad) Networking 

Understanding of the importance of documentation, using research discoveries to make SOP suggestions 

Programming languages such as C and Python are key for the efficient and successful work of any applicant. 

Knowledge of standards and codes UL Electrical Panel CSA Electrical code CompTIA Structured Cabling ISA 5.1  NETWORKING AUTOCAD 

Of particular interest in my current organisation is a good working knowledge of Python and an understanding of LED optics. 

An appreciation of the fundamentals of climate change and the role of all scientists in studying and addressing those issues 

Better understanding of standard business practices 
Typically we ask prospective employees to prepare a presentation of their choice. Being able to convey coherently to an audience is critical.  
Hands on experience with gadgets, lab instruments (scopes etc).  Some programming skills in an analytical language (python, matlab/octave 
etc). 
The list provided is fairly comprehensive. 
Able to work in team environment, able to use hand tools and computer, able to follow a process and work safely in an organized way, able to 
communicate issues and opportunities and present ways for improvements 

 

7 - What are the emerging trends in the sector that KPU Physics for Modern Technology 
students should be prepared for? These trends might include technology, sustainability, and 
innovation. Please be as specific as you are able to. 

Characteristics and limitations of renewable energy sector. 

Quantum materials technologies, quantum computing and communications, sustainable energy 

Design for manufacturing,  User experience for the man to machine interface  Understanding of industrial engineering 

I don't have any specifics on this. 

Large scale hydrogen production and storage. 

Machine learning Automation Supervision and maintenance of complex operations or devices working in a network/workflow. 

Machine learning, visualization and data mining, databases 
- Proper knowledge and skillsets related to IoT technologies - Design and development of basic UIs for the purpose of product testing and 
iteration - Knowledge of product management for the purpose of identifying the needs of end users and the answer to "why" we develop 
certain products or features. 
Climate change will be huge. Carbon capture, technologies that avoid carbon emissions also. AI and Machine Learning are an obvious home for 
physicists and are major trends. 
Too many to focus on, other than perhaps the evolution of alternate energy generation systems and mitigation of climate change challenges 

Innovation and product development process 
Sensing of kinds is getting so cheap these days that it is everywhere. A base knowledge of sensing techniques (magnetic, temperature, flow, 
pressure, distance (laser, eddy current, inductive, optical, vision) is helpful. On the computational side,  a working knowledge of Linux is 
essential. 
There's lots of emerging trends. Ones that come to mind are photonics and AI. However, what is really important is good fundamentals, such as 
in math and optics (in these cases) and the rest can be learned. 

  

95



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Career and Further Education Preparedness 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

8 - Which of the following best describes your previous experience with students and/or 
alumni in KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Please select all that apply.

# Answer Percentage Count 

1 I have hosted KPU Physics for Modern Technology co-op, practicum or internship students. 27% 4 

2 I have worked with KPU students on class projects. 0% 0 

3 I have hired KPU Physics for Modern Technology alumni to work in my organization. 13% 2 

4 I have worked with KPU Physics for Modern Technology alumni. 7% 1 

5 None of the above 67% 10 

Total 16 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

96



9 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology co-
op, practicum or internship students to work in your organization?

# Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology co-op, practicum or internship students 
to work in your organization? Percentage 

1 Not at all prepared 0% 

2 Somewhat prepared 25% 

3 Very well prepared 75% 

Total 4 

10 - Based on your experience, how prepared were the KPU Physics for Modern Technology 
students you worked with on class projects? 

No results to show

11 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology 
alumni to work in your organization?

# Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology alumni to work in your organization? Percentage 

1 Not at all prepared 100% 

2 Somewhat prepared 0% 

3 Very well prepared 0% 

Total 1 

12 - Please comment on ways in which the program is preparing students well for work.

Good knowledge for the general ideas our products making here. Good work ethics. 

N/A 
We only had one student joined us as an intern but in general she was very enthusiastic and open to learn, she had the proper knowledge for 
python and PCB design and circuit board work. 

13 - Please comment on ways the students’ preparation for work could be improved.

More communication with managers on problems came up or any ideas to suggest to improve the work process. 

N/A 
Having more in-depth hands-on experience in working with real-life products would get them ready for the market. Aside from the theoretical 
and lab experiments the students do, they must build the acumen of why devices and technologies designed in certain way so that they can 
build a more realistic vision about what really entice them when building a career path. 

97



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Student Demand 

14 - What is the current demand in your sector for graduates of programs like this one?

# What is the current demand in your sector for graduates of programs like this one? Percentage 

1 Very little demand 0% 

2 Some demand 81% 

3 A lot of demand 19% 

Total 16 

15 - How do you think the demand will change over the next 5 to 10 years?

# How do you think the demand will change over the next 5 to 10 years? Percentage 

1 It will likely decrease 0% 

2 It will likely stay the same 31% 

3 It will likely increase 69% 

Total 16 

98



Program’s Connections 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector to remain current? 

16 - How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s 
Physics for Modern Technology program?

# How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 20% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 27% 

5 Very satisfied 53% 

Total 15 

17 - What can KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program do to build better connections 
with the discipline/sector?

More foundational knowledge in core physics subjects (e.g., quantum mechanics) would better connect students in this program to technology 
applications of burgeoning areas of physics. 
Stay connected with the coop program coordinators.  Review job postings on our website on a regular basis. 

Continued outreach, eventually the time will come when we are ready for students. 
I believe in order to make it more efficient, KPU can hire/assign one person who will liaise between industry and the students, who can 
understand the challenges industry has and how to translate them into the programs students take and how to connect students with the right 
skill sets to those companies. 
I think the current activities and practices within the program are ideal. 

Perhaps try get some speakers to come through and talk about industrial application of physics ? 
I know that the program tries hard to develop these connections. Maybe some work to get field trips to some of the leading physics based 
companies would be helpful. (General Fusion, D-Wave, or Honeywell). 
I will recommend to ask the student to find a Co op position as a ENG level and not lower. if it is not at the line where they will continue after 
they graduate they will miss the opportunity to understand what is really required from them in the future in order to utilize their degree better 

99



18 - Have you attended meetings of the Physics for Modern Technology programs’ advisory 
committee?

# Have you attended meetings of the Physics for Modern Technology programs’ advisory committee? Percentage 

1 Yes 67% 
2 No 33% 

Total 15 

19 - How responsive is the program to external advice?

# How responsive is the program to external advice? Percentage 

1 Not responsive enough 0% 

2 Somewhat responsive 40% 

3 Very responsive 60% 

Total 10 

20 - Please rate your level of interest in participating projects that connect program students 
with the industry or sector. 

# Please rate your level of interest in participating projects that connect program students with the industry or sector. Percentage 

1 Not at all interested 7% 

2 Somewhat interested 67% 

3 Very interested 27% 

Total 15 

21 - Please share any project ideas you have to connect program students with the industry.

No project I can think of at the moment. 

This would be a good topic to see how project generators could connect with students. 

Facility tours of interested businesses for students might help the businesses scope out students that are especially interested in their industry. 

Sorry- the question is a little vague! 

None at this time 

As I mentioned before, a speaker series would be a good idea. Assuming that in person lectures are on these days. 

100



Appendix I 

List of specialized equipment used in the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th year of the Physics for Modern 
Technology program. 

(Note: this list does not include standard benchtop laboratory instruments such as power supplies, 
function generators, oscilloscopes, multimeters etc, which are used widely throughout the program. 
Neither does it include generic smaller components such as resistors, capacitors, inductors, switches, 
diodes, transistors, operational amplifiers, sensors etc.) 

Course Specialized equipment 

PHYS 2030 – Classical Mechanics Forced oscillations apparatus 

Coriolis apparatus 

Coupled oscillator apparatus 

PHYS 2040 – Thermal Physics Thermal Expansion Apparatus 

Adiabatic Gas Law Apparatus 

Stefan-Boltzmann Apparatus 

Entropy of Mixing Apparatus 

Refrigeration/Heat Pump Apparatus 

Absolute Zero Apparatus 

Planck’s Law Apparatus 

PHYS 2600 – Electronics National Instruments myDAQ (student data 
acquisition device) 

PHYS 2610 – Sensors & Actuators Photoelectric sensors 

Inductive proximity sensors 

Resistance Temperature Detectors (RTD) 

Linear Variable Differential Transformer (LVDT) 

PHYS 3610 – Introduction to Control 

PHYS 3620 – Process Control 

Allen Bradley Micro 850 PLC 

Velocio Ace 222v10 PLC 

Festo Basic Level , TP 101 pneumatic training kit 

Festo Process Automation basic Edukit  

PHYS 3700 – Signal & Image Processing 

PHYS 3710 – Applied Optics & 
Optoelectronics 

Multi-Wave Liquid Crystal Variable Retarder 

Thermoelectric laser power meter 

Fiber optics connectorizing and polishing kit 

Raspberry Pi 

101



PHYS 3900 – Project in Physics & 
Technology 

PHYS 4199 – Senior Project I 

PHYS 4299 – Senior Project II 

Rasie3D printer 

Formlabs 3D printer 

Voltera V-One PCB printer 

Ultra-Linear Measurement Condenser Microphone 

High field water cooled electromagnet 
Microfluidic fabrication system  

Arduino microcontrollers 

Raspberry Pi 

Lock-in amplifier 

Scanning Electron Microscope 

Sputter coater 

PHYS 4700 – Solid State Physics: Theory 
and Practice 

Earth’s Field Nuclear Magnetic Resonance apparatus 

Scanning tunneling microscope 

Gouy balance for magnetic susceptibility 
measurements 

102



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

1 
 

REPORT: Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 
 
OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
Reviewer #1:  
The PMT team have submitted a comprehensive and very well written self-study report. It shows thoughtful 
and thorough analysis of the curriculum mapping exercise and available data and articulates very reasonable 
recommendations. It is evident they have embraced their first program review detailing the strengths and 
successes of the program and also a willingness to progress. 
 
Reviewer #2: Overall, this is an excellent Self Study by the Physics for Modern Technology program.  
Congratulations to PMT on their Program Review and their excellent work.  This report is well written and 
carefully edited, and thorough and insightful in its response to the data.  The PMT program is clearly an 
important one at KPU and a unique one nation-wide.  I am hopeful that through the increased promotion of 
the program, the revisions to its curriculum, and its deepening of its industry connections, PMT will thrive in 
the future as a destination program.  I have provided some minor suggestions below and highlighted one area 
in chapter 2 that appears to be blank and needs correction (in the table on PLOs and the level of proficiency).  
I would like to underscore that any suggested changes and feedback are minor and can be readily addressed 
in short order. Bravo on a solid report! 
 
Reviewer #3: Kudos to the Physics for Modern Technology program for a comprehensive, detailed self-study 
report. Appreciate the depth of content, analysis presented in this report. Proposed a couple of key changes 
to graduate attributes, program outcomes in chapter 2. Minor changes and considerations are proposed to 
other chapters.  Recommend for approval by SSCPR pending action for chapter 2 recommendations. Good 
luck 
 
The Report (select the box that corresponds your recommendation):  

☒         Reviewer 1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒         Reviewer 2 & 3: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending further action (see below) 
☐         Recommend return to the Program for major revision 
☐         Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

2 
 

Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard. 
CHAPTER 1: Program Overview 
 
Criterion: This chapter provides an overview of the program, its purpose, and the scope of the review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its purpose, and the scope of the current review. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #2: Chapter 1 provides a clear and coherent introduction to the program by highlighting the 
unique strengths of PMT; addressing various revisions to the program that have been made since its 
launch; and identifying areas of concern with respect to curriculum, work terms, recruitment and 
retention, and pathways to graduate studies.   
 
Reviewer #3: This chapter is well written. Clearly outlined the program, purpose and its scope. See 
below a few comments and questions 
  
In page 6-7,  
The program has included specific course requirements in detail for the Physics for Modern Technology 
Major. I recommend that this section starting with the paragraph/table in page 6 “The specific course 
requirements for the Physics for Modern Technology Major are given in the table below. …….”  all the 
way to page 7 “Upon successful completion of the PMT program, ……” to be moved to appendix A. 
Course level detail is not required at this stage of the report. Include a reference to the appendix with 
this information here. This section needs to be referenced backed in chapter 2 with the curriculum 
mapping section, thus including it in an appendix makes more sense.  
 
Page 8 figure 1 
I loved the diagram added to show transferability of courses. However, got confused with the green and 
yellow boxes. I am assuming green boxes indicate transferability and yellow for no. 
Suggestion – include an index with a note to denote the green box refers to transferable 1st and 2nd year 
course and yellow. Or remove the colours and include check marks.  
 
Page 10 Changes since program launch 
a) Excellent content. Were these changes already made and approved by senate? It is written in past 

tense, and I am assuming they were. Would be useful to very clearly state this.  
b) What is the purpose of reporting this information here? Did these changes alter the original design 

of the program significantly? Did these change the program outcomes in some way? Useful to add a 
sentence to elaborate this.  

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
 
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

3 
 

CHAPTER 2: Curriculum Review 
 
Criteria: This chapter provides a clear profile of the program graduates, relevant program learning outcomes, 
and a curriculum mapping assessment that adequately identifies any gaps in the program’s curriculum.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☐     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1: The course mapping exercise and analysis is impressive. 

 
  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #2: The Department has provided a thoughtful and thorough overview of the profile of its 
graduates as well as the mapping of its learning outcomes in relation to its curriculum.  This chapter is 
clearly articulated and helpful.  One item needs attention: On page 20 in the chart on Learning 
Outcomes and proficiency levels, the second last item (Limits of Knowledge & independent learning) in 
the chart appears to be blank.  Should this be “Evaluate and Create”? 
 
Reviewer #3:  
I see a lot of effort and excellent details in this chapter. The section on graduate attributes, program 
outcomes need work and revision. Here are some comments, questions.   
 
Page 20 – program outcomes - How were graduate attributes created? 
It says in the report that a list of graduate attributes was created. This is the starting point of program 
outcome design. However, what information sources were reviewed to create these attributes? Were 
job descriptions reviewed, was the PAC consulted for industry competencies required to be successful in 
the industry. Were entry competencies required by programs that graduates may enroll further 
competing the current program reviewed? How were KPU essential skills incorporated into these 
graduate attributes? Were competencies, attributes required for graduates to live an enriched civic and 
personal life considered when developing graduate attributes?   

 
In chapter 1, page 11/12, the review team identifies the need to determine whether the program is 
preparing students for employment in the technology sector and whether program curriculum is serving 
student’s needs as core objectives. Given graduate attributes are mapped to create program outcomes, 
it is vital that these attributes are created to meet pathways to employment, future studies and 
enriched civic and personal life. This analysis would be a good opportunity for the program to answer 
the above objectives. The program has included rich information in the student, faculty, alumni, disciple 
sector surveys. Use some of this information and explain, justify how these graduate attributes was 
created in some detail. 
 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

4 
 

Program outcomes listed in pages 20-21 
Outcomes 1, 2, 7, 10 – These outcomes include multiple (three) action verbs. Using multiple action 
verbs in a single outcome can over complicate, difficult to understand the content of the program 
outcome. Program outcomes can be kept broad but needs to be measurable statements of graduate 
attributes. One way to overcome this issue (with these identified outcomes) is to use the highest-level 
complexity verb (among those listed) to craft the program outcome. In the curriculum mapping stage, 
course outcomes can be aligned from I, D & A to map the progression towards this highest complexity 
level outcome. I recommend the program outcomes to be revised taking some of the above comments 
into consideration   
 
Appendix C: Curriculum Map  
I understand why the PLOs were summarized in the curriculum map to save space. It is important that 
the full program outcomes to be listed in the curriculum map during the mapping process. The I, D & A 
process maps not only the subject matter but the complexity level of the action verb of the program 
outcome with the course outcome. I recommend that the full program outcomes be included in the 
curriculum map.  
 
Also refer to the detailed course breakdown of the program in appendix A (first, second, third year etc. 
courses) before the reader is directed to the curriculum map.  
 
Gap Analysis 
The gaps identified here are excellent. However, I do also see several other gaps. For example, PLO1, 2, 
13 are over emphasized in many course outcomes. PLO 3,4 & 6 are not adequately represented in CLOs. 
Some PLOs are introduced and developed but are not advanced adequately. Take another look at these 
gaps at a later stage so that you can fully benefit from the effort you put into developing the curriculum 
map. In doing so, you may identify further gaps that may direct the program to potentially identify 
changes to course outlines in addition to those identified. For now, the gaps identified are reasonable 
and sufficient. 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

5 
 

CHAPTER 3: Program Relevance and Student Demand 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program’s relevance, faculty qualifications and currency, 
connections to the discipline/sector, and student demand.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1: In Appendix, Discipline/Sector Survey Results, pg. 97, Q11 - 100% stated that alumni were 
not at all prepared to work in their organization. Can you comment on this?  
 
Reviewer #2: Another well-articulated chapter that provides a clear sense of the relevance of the 
program.  While I believe this meets the standard, I have some brief comments that would further 
strengthen this chapter. The importance of communication skills is mentioned in previous chapters in 
the Self Study, and here in chapter 3, there is a gap between students’ (62%) and industry’s (88%) 
perceptions of the importance of communication skills, yet communication skills do not appear to be 
addressed as part of the initial recommendations. Do communication skills warrant inclusion since their 
importance has been mentioned a number of times and in different chapters? On page 26 with respect 
to the Program Advisory Committee, the comment is made that the PAC should “meet more 
frequently.” Further into the PR process, it will be important to be more specific about how frequently.  
The Dean’s letter provides a concrete suggestion of twice per year.  Page 26 mentions “several years 
ago” the department hosted a “one-on-one” meet between students and industry. Does the 
department know the precise year? On page 29, the recommendation mentions the department 
“should discuss and develop a clear understanding of what indigenization means for the program.” It is 
wonderful to see the program moving in this direction.  Perhaps this recommendation should also 
include “the department will consult and seek guidance from Indigenous communities”? 
 
Reviewer #3:  
This chapter is written in excellent depth. No major changes required. Two minor comments.  
 
General  
Information provided in this chapter can be used to justify the program outcomes, graduate attributes 
created in chapter 2. Use information from industry, alumni, students to support the program 
outcomes, graduate attributes.  
 
Page 25 – Recommendations  
Recommendations highlighted here can directly be associated with further potential changes to 
graduate attributes and program outcomes you have developed. I recommend that you make a note to 
yourself to include this in the quality assurance action plan. No action required at this stage.  

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

6 
 

CHAPTER 4: Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately examines the effectiveness of the instructional design and delivery of the 
program and student success.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☐     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #2: This chapter clearly captures the impressive array of instructional design and the richness 
of assessment methods.  I am delighted to see the program considering ePortfolios for student 
reflection as this will further enhance communication skills and may even assist in placing students into 
industry positions upon graduation. 
 
Reviewer #3:  
Satisfied with the content written in this chapter. A few comments  
Page 40  
Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 
Content written here can also be used to further expand the gap analysis section in page 22.  
 
Page 41 
Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 
The program can also refer to the curriculum map to answer the above question. What program 
outcomes broadly and course outcomes specifically focus on essential skills 
 
Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 
The I, D & A in the curriculum map is the best way to plan for course progression. I recommend the 
program include a sentence referring to this. Later if the program decides to revise course progressions, 
pre-requisites, can refer to the curriculum mapping process. Given the program has made some changes 
to the courses(Page 10, 11), it would be a good idea to relook whether progression is affected. Consider 
adding this as a recommendation.  
 
Page 42  
Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 
In order to answer this question more clearly, recommend the program to consider whether course 
outlines are constructively aligned with assessments delivered. Given there are multiple courses and 
numerous assessments, this would be difficult. To manage this, consider course outcomes that Advance 
(A) a given program outcome (refer to the curriculum mapping), and take a closer look at assessments 
for those outcomes. See whether these assessments are created in such a way to constrictively align 
with core assessments.   

 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

7 
 

Page 49 
Support for International Students 
Recommendation Section – Familiarizing with services to international students alone may not be 
adequate to support international students meaningfully. Consider adding a recommendation to 
explore Universal Design Principles in course design to support international and other students.  

  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  

 
CHAPTER 5: Resources, Services and Facilities 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program’s resources, services, and facilities from both the student 
and faculty perspective.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

8 
 

CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
Criterion: This chapter summarizes the conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the program review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #2: An excellent conclusion to a detailed, well-articulated Self Study. One note: if an 
adjustment is made in chapter 3’s recommendations regarding Indigenization to include consultation 
with Indigenous communities, I would suggest making sure the recommendation on page 53 is revised 
accordingly.  
 
Reviewer #3:  
Page 51 
Recommendations for curriculum review – Go back to the comments made for chapter 2 and see 
whether there are additional recommendations that needs to be added here. Especially if you decide to 
relook at the gap analysis in chapter 02.  
 
Page 55 
Recommendations for Instructional Delivery. Go back to the comments made for chapter 2 and see 
whether there are additional recommendations that needs to be added here. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 
Pg 10 (last paragraph of 1.2): all the instances of “full time” and “part time” need to be hyphenated; also 
change the comma in front of “Surrey, however,” to a semicolon: “Surrey; however, the lab instructors” 
Pg. 12 (top of page): rather than stating “that one hopes the program review” – why not instead state, “that 
the Department hopes the program review” – the “one” is a bit vague. 
Page 16 (third line): Dangling modifier>> add a subject after the opening modifier: “Recognizing the need for 
these to be further developed, the Department made this year’s offering of our Special Topics on the topic of 
communication.” 
Pg.  20 (grid) – the line across from “Limits of knowledge and independent learning” is blank.  Should this be 
N/A?  Not applicable?  Or something else? 
Pg. 27 (second last paragraph; third last line): Delete the repetition of “one one student” >> there is currently 
one student project” 
p. 29 under Discipline/Sector Survey Responses – Although there is currently one one student project 
Pg. 48 – typo: Paragraph above “Survey responses” section:  “Recently, teh department” – change to “the” 

 
 
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

1 
 

REPORT: Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 
 
OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
Reviewer #1:  
The PMT team have submitted a comprehensive and very well written self-study report. It shows thoughtful 
and thorough analysis of the curriculum mapping exercise and available data and articulates very reasonable 
recommendations. It is evident they have embraced their first program review detailing the strengths and 
successes of the program and also a willingness to progress. 
 
Reviewer #2: Overall, this is an excellent Self Study by the Physics for Modern Technology program.  
Congratulations to PMT on their Program Review and their excellent work.  This report is well written and 
carefully edited, and thorough and insightful in its response to the data.  The PMT program is clearly an 
important one at KPU and a unique one nation-wide.  I am hopeful that through the increased promotion of 
the program, the revisions to its curriculum, and its deepening of its industry connections, PMT will thrive in 
the future as a destination program.  I have provided some minor suggestions below and highlighted one area 
in chapter 2 that appears to be blank and needs correction (in the table on PLOs and the level of proficiency).  
I would like to underscore that any suggested changes and feedback are minor and can be readily addressed 
in short order. Bravo on a solid report! 
 
Reviewer #3: Kudos to the Physics for Modern Technology program for a comprehensive, detailed self-study 
report. Appreciate the depth of content, analysis presented in this report. Proposed a couple of key changes 
to graduate attributes, program outcomes in chapter 2. Minor changes and considerations are proposed to 
other chapters.  Recommend for approval by SSCPR pending action for chapter 2 recommendations. Good 
luck 
 
The Report (select the box that corresponds your recommendation):  

☒         Reviewer 1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒         Reviewer 2 & 3: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending further action (see below) 
☐         Recommend return to the Program for major revision 
☐         Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

2 
 

Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard. 
CHAPTER 1: Program Overview 
 
Criterion: This chapter provides an overview of the program, its purpose, and the scope of the review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its purpose, and the scope of the current review. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #2: Chapter 1 provides a clear and coherent introduction to the program by highlighting the 
unique strengths of PMT; addressing various revisions to the program that have been made since its 
launch; and identifying areas of concern with respect to curriculum, work terms, recruitment and 
retention, and pathways to graduate studies.   
 
Reviewer #3: This chapter is well written. Clearly outlined the program, purpose and its scope. See 
below a few comments and questions 
  
In page 6-7,  
The program has included specific course requirements in detail for the Physics for Modern Technology 
Major. I recommend that this section starting with the paragraph/table in page 6 “The specific course 
requirements for the Physics for Modern Technology Major are given in the table below. …….”  all the 
way to page 7 “Upon successful completion of the PMT program, ……” to be moved to appendix A. 
Course level detail is not required at this stage of the report. Include a reference to the appendix with 
this information here. This section needs to be referenced backed in chapter 2 with the curriculum 
mapping section, thus including it in an appendix makes more sense.  
 
Page 8 figure 1 
I loved the diagram added to show transferability of courses. However, got confused with the green and 
yellow boxes. I am assuming green boxes indicate transferability and yellow for no. 
Suggestion – include an index with a note to denote the green box refers to transferable 1st and 2nd year 
course and yellow. Or remove the colours and include check marks.  
 
Page 10 Changes since program launch 
a) Excellent content. Were these changes already made and approved by senate? It is written in past 

tense, and I am assuming they were. Would be useful to very clearly state this.  
b) What is the purpose of reporting this information here? Did these changes alter the original design 

of the program significantly? Did these change the program outcomes in some way? Useful to add a 
sentence to elaborate this.  

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
 
 
 

Commented [FC1]:  We moved the list of course 
requirements to Appendix A. 

Commented [FC2]: We inserted a new version that uses 
check marks and also updated it to indicate transferability 
both to and from KPU. 

Commented [FC3]: We have added a brief preamble 
under the heading “Changes since program launch”. 
Hopefully that helps to clarify. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

3 
 

CHAPTER 2: Curriculum Review 
 
Criteria: This chapter provides a clear profile of the program graduates, relevant program learning outcomes, 
and a curriculum mapping assessment that adequately identifies any gaps in the program’s curriculum.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☐     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1: The course mapping exercise and analysis is impressive. 

 
  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
 
Reviewer #2: The Department has provided a thoughtful and thorough overview of the profile of its 
graduates as well as the mapping of its learning outcomes in relation to its curriculum.  This chapter is 
clearly articulated and helpful.  One item needs attention: On page 20 in the chart on Learning 
Outcomes and proficiency levels, the second last item (Limits of Knowledge & independent learning) in 
the chart appears to be blank.  Should this be “Evaluate and Create”? 
 
Reviewer #3:  
I see a lot of effort and excellent details in this chapter. The section on graduate attributes, program 
outcomes need work and revision. Here are some comments, questions.   
 
Page 20 – program outcomes - How were graduate attributes created? 
It says in the report that a list of graduate attributes was created. This is the starting point of program 
outcome design. However, what information sources were reviewed to create these attributes? Were 
job descriptions reviewed, was the PAC consulted for industry competencies required to be successful in 
the industry. Were entry competencies required by programs that graduates may enroll further 
competing the current program reviewed? How were KPU essential skills incorporated into these 
graduate attributes? Were competencies, attributes required for graduates to live an enriched civic and 
personal life considered when developing graduate attributes?   

 
In chapter 1, page 11/12, the review team identifies the need to determine whether the program is 
preparing students for employment in the technology sector and whether program curriculum is serving 
student’s needs as core objectives. Given graduate attributes are mapped to create program outcomes, 
it is vital that these attributes are created to meet pathways to employment, future studies and 
enriched civic and personal life. This analysis would be a good opportunity for the program to answer 
the above objectives. The program has included rich information in the student, faculty, alumni, disciple 
sector surveys. Use some of this information and explain, justify how these graduate attributes was 
created in some detail. 
 

 

Commented [FC4]:  We added “Apply”. 

Commented [FC5]: We added an explanation of how the 
attributes were determined (just above the Bloom’s 
Taxonomy figure). 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

4 
 

Program outcomes listed in pages 20-21 
Outcomes 1, 2, 7, 10 – These outcomes include multiple (three) action verbs. Using multiple action 
verbs in a single outcome can over complicate, difficult to understand the content of the program 
outcome. Program outcomes can be kept broad but needs to be measurable statements of graduate 
attributes. One way to overcome this issue (with these identified outcomes) is to use the highest-level 
complexity verb (among those listed) to craft the program outcome. In the curriculum mapping stage, 
course outcomes can be aligned from I, D & A to map the progression towards this highest complexity 
level outcome. I recommend the program outcomes to be revised taking some of the above comments 
into consideration   
 
Appendix C: Curriculum Map  
I understand why the PLOs were summarized in the curriculum map to save space. It is important that 
the full program outcomes to be listed in the curriculum map during the mapping process. The I, D & A 
process maps not only the subject matter but the complexity level of the action verb of the program 
outcome with the course outcome. I recommend that the full program outcomes be included in the 
curriculum map.  
 
Also refer to the detailed course breakdown of the program in appendix A (first, second, third year etc. 
courses) before the reader is directed to the curriculum map.  
 
Gap Analysis 
The gaps identified here are excellent. However, I do also see several other gaps. For example, PLO1, 2, 
13 are over emphasized in many course outcomes. PLO 3,4 & 6 are not adequately represented in CLOs. 
Some PLOs are introduced and developed but are not advanced adequately. Take another look at these 
gaps at a later stage so that you can fully benefit from the effort you put into developing the curriculum 
map. In doing so, you may identify further gaps that may direct the program to potentially identify 
changes to course outlines in addition to those identified. For now, the gaps identified are reasonable 
and sufficient. 

 

Commented [FC6]: We appreciate the comment and 
we will keep this in mind in future when revising course 
learning outcomes and developing new courses. 

Commented [FC7]: For clarity, we have removed 
"evaluate" from PLOs 1 and 2, but we feel that analysis 
is such an important part of problem solving that it 
should be kept. 
Action verbs in PLOs 7 & 10 refer to distinct lab skills 
that are all important. 
 

Commented [FC8]: We added the full PLOs to this 
Appendix. 

Commented [FC9]:  Done. 

Commented [FC10]: PLOs 1, 2, and 13 (physics and 
math knowledge, and integration of skills) are 
inherently important for most of our courses, so we 
would expect them to be widely represented. PLOs 3, 4, 
and 6 (chemistry, biology, and business) are enrichment 
topics that provide important breadth, and as such they 
are limited to a minority of courses in the program. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

5 
 

CHAPTER 3: Program Relevance and Student Demand 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program’s relevance, faculty qualifications and currency, 
connections to the discipline/sector, and student demand.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1: In Appendix, Discipline/Sector Survey Results, pg. 97, Q11 - 100% stated that alumni were 
not at all prepared to work in their organization. Can you comment on this?  
 
Reviewer #2: Another well-articulated chapter that provides a clear sense of the relevance of the 
program.  While I believe this meets the standard, I have some brief comments that would further 
strengthen this chapter. The importance of communication skills is mentioned in previous chapters in 
the Self Study, and here in chapter 3, there is a gap between students’ (62%) and industry’s (88%) 
perceptions of the importance of communication skills, yet communication skills do not appear to be 
addressed as part of the initial recommendations. Do communication skills warrant inclusion since their 
importance has been mentioned a number of times and in different chapters? On page 26 with respect 
to the Program Advisory Committee, the comment is made that the PAC should “meet more 
frequently.” Further into the PR process, it will be important to be more specific about how frequently.  
The Dean’s letter provides a concrete suggestion of twice per year.  Page 26 mentions “several years 
ago” the department hosted a “one-on-one” meet between students and industry. Does the 
department know the precise year? On page 29, the recommendation mentions the department 
“should discuss and develop a clear understanding of what indigenization means for the program.” It is 
wonderful to see the program moving in this direction.  Perhaps this recommendation should also 
include “the department will consult and seek guidance from Indigenous communities”? 
 
Reviewer #3:  
This chapter is written in excellent depth. No major changes required. Two minor comments.  
 
General  
Information provided in this chapter can be used to justify the program outcomes, graduate attributes 
created in chapter 2. Use information from industry, alumni, students to support the program 
outcomes, graduate attributes.  
 
Page 25 – Recommendations  
Recommendations highlighted here can directly be associated with further potential changes to 
graduate attributes and program outcomes you have developed. I recommend that you make a note to 
yourself to include this in the quality assurance action plan. No action required at this stage.  

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
 

Commented [FC11]: We note that only one person 
responded to this question. We do not have enough 
information to understand the response and do not 
have any way to follow up with the respondent. We will 
continue to track our alumni as well as  
we can to identify potential issues. 

Commented [FC12]: Although 63% of alumni 
recognise the importance of communications skills 
(PLO #5) to their career goals, we note that 88% agreed 
that the program helped them develop 
communications skills to a moderate or large extent. 
Since survey responses regarding comm skills were very 
positive, we don't think the data suggests that this is an 
issue that needs to be addressed. 

Commented [FC13]: We note that the new policy on 
advisory committees says they should strive to meet a 
minimum of once per academic year (with twice 
preferred), so we have updated the text on page 26 
accordingly. 

Commented [FC14]: 2017. This has been added. 

Commented [FC15]: We have added that we will seek the 
advice of KPU’s Indigenous Advisory Committee. Hopefully 
that is an acceptable alternative.  

Commented [FC16]: Thank you for these comments. 
We agree that the information from this chapter 
(including survey responses) can help with future 
refinement of the PLOs and graduate attributes. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

6 
 

CHAPTER 4: Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately examines the effectiveness of the instructional design and delivery of the 
program and student success.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☐     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #2: This chapter clearly captures the impressive array of instructional design and the richness 
of assessment methods.  I am delighted to see the program considering ePortfolios for student 
reflection as this will further enhance communication skills and may even assist in placing students into 
industry positions upon graduation. 
 
Reviewer #3:  
Satisfied with the content written in this chapter. A few comments  
Page 40  
Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 
Content written here can also be used to further expand the gap analysis section in page 22.  
 
Page 41 
Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 
The program can also refer to the curriculum map to answer the above question. What program 
outcomes broadly and course outcomes specifically focus on essential skills 
 
Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 
The I, D & A in the curriculum map is the best way to plan for course progression. I recommend the 
program include a sentence referring to this. Later if the program decides to revise course progressions, 
pre-requisites, can refer to the curriculum mapping process. Given the program has made some changes 
to the courses(Page 10, 11), it would be a good idea to relook whether progression is affected. Consider 
adding this as a recommendation.  
 
Page 42  
Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 
In order to answer this question more clearly, recommend the program to consider whether course 
outlines are constructively aligned with assessments delivered. Given there are multiple courses and 
numerous assessments, this would be difficult. To manage this, consider course outcomes that Advance 
(A) a given program outcome (refer to the curriculum mapping), and take a closer look at assessments 
for those outcomes. See whether these assessments are created in such a way to constrictively align 
with core assessments.   

 
  

Commented [FC17]: This is a good idea. We did not 
think of it when writing the document, but it is good 
advice for the future. 

Commented [FC18]: In physics and math, prerequisite 
knowledge is usually clearly defined. Levels of 
complexity and abstraction increase as students 
progress though the program. However, we do 
recognise that the curriculum map may be useful for 
pathways that are less obviously defined. 

Commented [FC19]: Since our analysis of progression 
(in this report) took place long after those changes (and 
since progression was a consideration when making 
those changes), we don't think this is an issue. 

Commented [FC20]: Given the high level of 
satisfaction with assessments that the surveys showed, 
we don't think this is an issue that needs to be analysed 
further at this time. However, we will keep this 
alignment in mind when reviewing and writing course 
outlines. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

7 
 

Page 49 
Support for International Students 
Recommendation Section – Familiarizing with services to international students alone may not be 
adequate to support international students meaningfully. Consider adding a recommendation to 
explore Universal Design Principles in course design to support international and other students.  

  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  

 
CHAPTER 5: Resources, Services and Facilities 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program’s resources, services, and facilities from both the student 
and faculty perspective.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 

Commented [FC21]: We are not familiar with Universal 
Design Principles, but we welcome suggestions for any 
course design principles that will facilitate better 
outcomes for our students. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

8 
 

CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
Criterion: This chapter summarizes the conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the program review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #2: An excellent conclusion to a detailed, well-articulated Self Study. One note: if an 
adjustment is made in chapter 3’s recommendations regarding Indigenization to include consultation 
with Indigenous communities, I would suggest making sure the recommendation on page 53 is revised 
accordingly.  
 
Reviewer #3:  
Page 51 
Recommendations for curriculum review – Go back to the comments made for chapter 2 and see 
whether there are additional recommendations that needs to be added here. Especially if you decide to 
relook at the gap analysis in chapter 02.  
 
Page 55 
Recommendations for Instructional Delivery. Go back to the comments made for chapter 2 and see 
whether there are additional recommendations that needs to be added here. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 
Pg 10 (last paragraph of 1.2): all the instances of “full time” and “part time” need to be hyphenated; also 
change the comma in front of “Surrey, however,” to a semicolon: “Surrey; however, the lab instructors” 
Pg. 12 (top of page): rather than stating “that one hopes the program review” – why not instead state, “that 
the Department hopes the program review” – the “one” is a bit vague. 
Page 16 (third line): Dangling modifier>> add a subject after the opening modifier: “Recognizing the need for 
these to be further developed, the Department made this year’s offering of our Special Topics on the topic of 
communication.” 
Pg.  20 (grid) – the line across from “Limits of knowledge and independent learning” is blank.  Should this be 
N/A?  Not applicable?  Or something else? 
Pg. 27 (second last paragraph; third last line): Delete the repetition of “one one student” >> there is currently 
one student project” 
p. 29 under Discipline/Sector Survey Responses – Although there is currently one one student project 
Pg. 48 – typo: Paragraph above “Survey responses” section:  “Recently, teh department” – change to “the” 

 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Physics for Modern Technology 
Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

 
Report Submission Date: May 30th, 2022 

 
Program Review Team Members: 

Fergal Callaghan 
Mike Coombes 
Michael Poon 
Takashi Sato 

Kianoosh Tahani 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report  

Table of Contents 
List of Acronyms ................................................................................................................................1 

Memo from Dean/Associate Dean ......................................................................................................3 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................5 

1.1.Overview of the Program(s) ......................................................................................................... 5 

1.2. Program Department ....................................................................... 101.2. Program Department
 ......................................................................................................................................................... 7 

1.3. Program Purpose .................................................................................... 101.3. Program Purpose
 ......................................................................................................................................................... 8 

1.4. Issues for Program Review ........................................................ 121.4. Issues for Program Review
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 

2. Curriculum Review .................................................................................................................. 152.
 Curriculum Review ................................................................................................................... 15 

2.1. Pathways for Graduates ............................................................... 152.1. Pathways for Graduates
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 15 

2.2. Program Learning Outcomes ................................................. 202.2. Program Learning Outcomes
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 18 

2.3. Essential Skill Development ..................................................... 212.3. Essential Skill Development
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 19 

2.4. Curriculum Assessment ................................................................. 222.4. Curriculum Assessment
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 20 

3. Program Relevance and Demand ............................................................................................. 243.
 Program Relevance and Demand .............................................................................................. 22 

3.1. Relevance .......................................................................................................... 243.1. Relevance
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 22 

3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency ............................ 293.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 27 

3.3. Student Demand ..................................................................................... 323.3. Student Demand
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 30 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ..................................................................................... 404.
 Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ....................................................................................... 38 

4.1.Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum ........... 404.1.Instructional Design and Delivery of 
Curriculum ...................................................................................................................................... 38 

4.2. Student Success ........................................................................................ 434.2. Student Success
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 41 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities ........................................................................................... 465.
 Resources, Services, and Facilities ............................................................................................. 44 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations......................................................................................... 516.
 Conclusions and Recommendations .......................................................................................... 49 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report  

6.1. Overview ............................................................................................................. 516.1. Overview
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 49 

6.2. Curriculum Review ............................................................................... 516.2. Curriculum Review
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 49 

6.3. Program Relevance & Student Demand ................. 526.3. Program Relevance & Student Demand
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 50 

6.4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ..................... 556.4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 53 

6.5. Resources, Services, and Facilities ................................. 556.5. Resources, Services, and Facilities
 ....................................................................................................................................................... 53 

7. Appendices ............................................................................................................................. 577.
 Appendices............................................................................................................................... 55 

 
 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 1 

List of Acronyms 
 

AAPT: American Association of Physics Teachers 

APEGBC: Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia 

BCAPT: British Columbia Association of Physics Teachers 

BCIT: British Columbia Institute of Technology 

BEng: Bachelor of Engineering 

BSc: Bachelor of Science 

CAP: Canadian Association of Physicists 

CASCA: Canadian Astronomical Society 

CCD: Charge-Coupled Device 

CLO: Course Learning Outcome 

CMOS: Complementary Metal-Oxide Semiconductor 

EPT: Environmental Protection Technology 

FSH: Faculty of Science and Horticulture 

FTE: Full-time Equivalent 

GPA: Grade Point Average 

ISA: International Society of Automation 

JPEC: Junior Physics and Engineering Challenge 

KPU: Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

KSC: Kwantlen Science Challenge 

LIDAR: Light Detection and Ranging 

MSc: Master of Science 

OEM: Original Equipment Manufacturer 

OER: Open Educational Resource 

PAC: Program Advisory Committee 

PCB: Printed Circuit Board 

PhD: Doctor of Philosophy 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 2 

PLO: Program Learning Outcome 

PMT: Physics for Modern Technology 

P.Phys.:  Professional Physicist  

RF: Radio Frequency 

SEM: Scanning Electron Microscope 

SFU: Simon Fraser University 

TRU: Thompson Rivers University 

UBC: University of British Columbia 

UNBC: University of Northern British Columbia 

VCC: Vancouver Community College 

  



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 3 

Memo from Dean/Associate Dean 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 4 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 5 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) 

Program Under Review 

The Bachelor of Science, Major in Physics for Modern Technology (PMT) is an undergraduate program 
offered by the Department of Physics, Astronomy and Engineering at Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
(KPU). Most industrial achievements are based on science, and although physicists play an important role 
in technology development, there is a dearth of programs in North America designed to prepare physics 
graduates for work in industry. The major goal of the PMT program is that graduates will find employment 
in local high-tech industry upon graduation. It is specifically designed to address the long-standing issue 
with many traditional science degrees in which graduates are not prepared to apply their knowledge and 
skills in the workplace after graduation. PMT is the first physics degree in Canada with this explicit goal.  

In 2010, the Department initiated the idea of a program to specifically tackle this issue. This was followed 
by a visit to similar successful applied physics programs offered in Ireland at Galway-Mayo Institute of 
Technology, Cork Institute of Technology, & Waterford Institute of Technology in 2011. At the same time, 
consultation with local high-tech companies revealed the demand for an applied physics program. In 2012, 
KPU approved the PMT program, followed by approval from the of BC Ministry of Advanced Education in 
2013. 

The PMT program underwent a “soft launch” in 2014 when a selection of new courses were offered for 
the first time. The Program Advisory Committee (PAC) was established within the same year. In 2015, the 
PMT program fully launched, which resulted in the first students graduating in 2018. PMT graduates have 
proven to be successful in securing technical, scientific, and management roles in the local tech sector. 

Admission Requirements 

Admission to the PMT program is classified as open-intake – there is no set limit to the number of students 
admitted.  For students intending to pursue the PMT program directly from high-school or without any 
post-secondary experience, admission into the program is a two-step process.  First, these students must 
be admitted to the Faculty of Science & Horticulture (FSH), which requires meeting KPU’s undergraduate 
English proficiency requirement.  These students are classified as undeclared-FSH students with a Physics 
intention.  In order to complete the required first-year courses in the PMT program, students must meet 
the following prerequisites:  

• Math 12 (C+) 
• Physics 12 (P)  
• Chemistry 12 (C+) 
• English 12 (B) 

Students missing any of the above prerequisites can upgrade at KPU.  

The second step to enter the PMT program is program declaration.  At the time of declaration, the student 
must satisfy all of the following requirements: 

• In good academic standing with the University 
• Completion of a minimum of 24 credits of undergraduate coursework, including the following: 
• 3 credits of ENGL at the 1100 level or higher 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 6 

• PHYS 1102 or PHYS 1220, with a minimum grade of “C” 
• MATH 1220 or MATH 1230, with a minimum grade of “C” 

All KPU students intending to graduate with a bachelor’s degree from the Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture degree must declare their major by the time they complete 60 credits of undergraduate 
coursework.  

 
Other Pathways into the Program:   

Students with post-secondary experience at KPU or any other post-secondary institution can declare 
directly into the PMT program if all the declaration requirements are met.  In particular, students who 
have successfully completed KPU’s Certificate in Engineering meet the PMT declaration requirements and 
may transfer directly into the second year of the PMT program.  Note, Engineering Certificate graduates 
would still need to complete BIOL 1110 as a graduation requirement.  Students transferring from other 
KPU programs or post-secondary institutions will be required to complete PHYS 1600 Introduction to 
Modern Technology as a prerequisite for some second-year PMT courses. 

Credential & Curricular Requirements 

Currently, students must meet the following minimum requirements to graduate with a Bachelor of 
Science from the Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

• 120 credits from courses at the 1100 level or higher.  
• 45 credits from a minimum of 15 courses at the 3000 level or higher, including 9 credits at the 

4000 level. 
• 18 credits of breadth electives (see Electives below) including: 

• at least 12 credits from courses that are offered outside the Faculty of Science & 
Horticulture; and 

• up to 6 credits from fields of science not prescribed in the Major requirements; and 
• 3 credits from a course at the 3000 level or higher. 

• Cumulative GPA of 2.0 or higher 
• At least 50% of all courses for the BSc, and at least 66% of upper-level courses for the BSc, must 

be completed at KPU (See the Laddering and Transferability for more details).  

See Appendix A for a full list of the course requirements for the PMT program (including course numbers 
and titles). 

The specific course requirements for the Physics for Modern Technology Major are given in the table 
below. 

 
Year 1 Credits 
BIOL 1110 Introductory Biology I 4 
CHEM 1110 The Structure of Matter 4 
CHEM 1210 Chemical Energetics and Dynamics 4 
ENGL 1100 Introduction to University Writing 3 
PHYS 1600 Introduction to Modern Technology 3 
MATH 1120 
or MATH 1130 

Differential Calculus (recommended) 
or Calculus for Life Sciences I 

3 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 7 

MATH 1220 
or MATH 1230 

Integral Calculus 
or Calculus for Life Sciences II 

3 

Select one of the following: 4 
PHYS 1101 Physics for Life Sciences I   
PHYS 1120 Physics for Physical and Applied Sciences I 

(recommended) 
  

Select one of the following: 4 
PHYS 1102 Physics for Life Sciences II   
PHYS 1220 Physics for Physical and Applied Sciences II 

(recommended) 
  

One Breadth Elective 3 
  Credits 35 
   
Year 2 
MATH 2721 Complex Numbers and Linear Algebra 3 
MATH 2821 Multivariate and Vector Calculus 3 
PHYS 2010 Modern Physics 3 
PHYS 2030 Classical Mechanics 3 
PHYS 2040 Thermal Physics 3 
PHYS 2100 Experimental Physics 3 
PHYS 2420 Intermediate Electricity and Magnetism 3 
PHYS 2600 Electronics 3 
PHYS 2610 Sensors and Actuators 3 
One Breadth Elective 3 
  Credits 30 
   
Year 3 
CHEM 2315 Analytical Chemistry 4 
PHYS 3610 Introduction to Control 3 
PHYS 3620 Process Control 3 
PHYS 3700 Signal and Image Processing 3 
PHYS 3710 Applied Optics & Optoelectronics 3 
PHYS 3900 Project in Physics & Technology 3 
PHYS 3950 Work Experience - Part I 3 
PHYS 3951 Work Experience - Part II 3 
PHYS 4900 Special Topics 3 
One Business Elective 3 
 
Year 3 includes work experience. Several courses in the Spring semester are taken in 
compressed mode, January to March, in order to make a longer period available for 
work placement. 

  

  Credits 31 
   
Year 4 
CHEM 4610 Instrumental Analysis 4 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 8 

PHYS 4010 Quantum Mechanics 3 
PHYS 4199 Senior Project I 3 
PHYS 4299 Senior Project II 3 
PHYS 4600 Programming for Instrumentation 3 
PHYS 4700 Solid State Physics: Theory and Practice 3 
Three Breadth Electives 9 
One Business Elective 3 
  Credits 31 
  Total Credits 127 

 
 
Electives 
As part of the major program, students are required to complete 21 credits of electives, including 6 credits 
of Business Electives. These electives must satisfy the General Requirements for 18 credits of breadth as 
stated above. 
 
Breadth Electives 
Breadth electives must be selected from subject areas outside of Physics. No more than six of these credits 
may be from the Faculty of Science & Horticulture. 
 
Business Electives 
At least six credits (two courses) must be selected in consultation with Physics faculty to meet Business 
Elective requirements. Courses must be selected from: 

• Accounting (ACCT) – any course other than ACCT 1130 
• Business & Quantitative Methods (BUQU) – any course other than BUQU 1130 or BUQU 1230 
• Business (BUSI) – any course other than BUSI 1204 or BUSI 1209 
• Economics (ECON) – any course 
• Marketing (MRKT) – any course 

Upon successful completion of the PMT program, students are eligible to receive a Bachelor of Science. 
Transcripts will indicate a Major in Physics for Modern Technology. 
 

Transferability 

As mentioned above, the program aims to attract students who have completed (fully or partially) their 
first year at another post-secondary institution. KPU is a member of the BC Council on Admission and 
Transfer (BCCAT) which manages articulation agreements between post-secondary institutions across BC.  
As such, most of the PMT program’s first-year courses have existing course articulation agreements with 
many post-secondary institutions across BC (see Figure 1).  The only first-year course that does not 
articulate is PHYS 1600 Introduction to Modern Technology, which was specifically designed for the PMT 
program.  Students from other institutions are also able to transfer a limited number of second year 
Physics and Math courses for credit toward the PMT degree.  The relatively small number of institutions 
with transferrable second year courses is because many smaller institutions do not offer second year 
Physics courses, and many of the second-year courses were uniquely designed for the PMT program.   



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 9 

 

 
 
Figure 1: Transferability of first- and second-year PMT courses to and from other BC institutions. Darkened 
blocksCheck marks indicates an existing articulation agreements.   
 

Preparation for graduate school 

Although preparing students for graduate studies is not the primary goal of the program, it is desirable to 
make sure that laddering into graduate school is an option for our graduates. To facilitate this option, an 
understanding was reached with the graduate chair of the SFU physics department on how PMT graduates 
could become eligible for entry to SFU’s graduate program. To enter the SFU graduate Physics program, 

BIOL 1110                 
CHEM 1110                      
CHEM 1210                       
ENGL 1100                         

MATH 1120/1130                        
MATH 1220/1230                      

PHYS 1101/1120                      
PHYS 1102/1220                      

PHYS 1600
MATH 2721
MATH 2821 

PHYS 2010    
PHYS 2030   
PHYS 2040  
PHYS 2100
PHYS 2420     
PHYS 2600
PHYS 2610

AL
EX

BC
IT

CA
M

O

CA
PU

CC
C

CM
TN

CN
C

CO
LU

CO
TR

DO
U

G

LA
N

G

N
IC

N
LC O
C

SE
LK

SF
U

TR
U

TW
U

U
BC

U
CW U
FV

U
VI

C

VC
C

VI
U

YU
KO



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 10 

PMT graduates are first conditionally accepted and then required to complete three additional fourth-
year theoretical physics courses at SFU prior to full acceptance. So far two of our graduates have pursued 
that route. UBC have also been contacted about admission of our graduates to their graduate program. 
They encourage applications from PMT graduates. 
 

1.2. Program Department  
 
The Department of Physics, Astronomy and Engineering has operations on three campuses; Richmond, 
Surrey, and Langley, with 17 full-time faculty, lab instructors and staff.  
 
The Department offers courses to support the Engineering First-Year, Environmental Protection 
Technology (EPT), PMT and other bachelors' programs in other science disciplines, as well as breadth 
courses for non-science students. At the Richmond and Surrey campuses, we offer a comprehensive 
selection of first year and preparatory physics courses. To support the Engineering First-Year program, a 
number of Applied Science courses (APSC 1124, 1151 and 1299) are offered on both the Richmond and 
Surrey campuses, in addition to a specialized Engineering Mechanics course, PHYS 1141/1170.The 
Department also runs introductory Astronomy courses for non-science majors, which have been 
particularly popular with Arts students. The Department has recently started offering an astrophysics 
course for science students. At the Langley campus, the Physics department runs two courses annually, 
Energy, Environment, Physics (PHYS 1400), and Environmental Physics Lab (PHYS 1401), for students in the 
Environmental Protection Technology program. The first year of the PMT program is run at both the 
Richmond and Surrey campuses. All second, third- and fourth-year Physics courses are delivered at the 
Richmond campus only. 
 
There are nine full- time faculty, five full- time lab instructors and two full- time technicians. The faculty 
and lab instructor contingents are augmented by part- time personnel as needed. Roughly half of the 
Department is based in Richmond and half in Surrey;, however, the lab instructors and faculty are 
routinely called upon to teach on both campuses based on expertise or timetabling logistics. In addition, 
there is a full-time instrumentation specialist on the Richmond campus to support the needs of the PMT 
program. 

 

1.3. Program Purpose  

The purpose of the program is to provide an applied and hands-on education that prepares students for 
careers in the tech sector. 

Changes Since Program Launch 

Since program launch, the program has been adapting to meet the needs of its stakeholders. These 
changes have not altered the program significantly. While some changes have been procedural, others 
have been curricular, requiring Senate approval. some revisions have been made anSome of the revisionsd 
are outlined below:. 

CHANGES THAT REQUIRED SENATE APPROVAL: Formatted: Font: 12 pt, No underline, All caps



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 11 

Issue to be addressed Resulting program change(s) 
The senior project was originally completed in 
one semester. However, discussions within our 
department and with our Program Advisory 
Committee led us to the conclusion that a two-
semester project would be more beneficial for 
our students as it gives them more time to plan 
their project, would allow them to work on a 
more substantial project, and would increase the 
likelihood of achieving the desired outcomes. 
 

The senior project was lengthened from one 
semester to two semesters in duration. PHYS 
4199 (semester 1) largely involves project 
proposal, planning, and management, while PHYS 
4299 (semester 2) involves the actual project 
work. 
 

PHYS 4010 was originally intended to cover both 
quantum mechanics and solid state physics. 
However, it became apparent that it would be 
very difficult to fit both topics into one course. 
We realized that it makes more sense to give 
students a firmer foundation in quantum 
mechanics and to offer a separate course in solid 
state physics. 
 

PHYS 4010 is now dedicated to quantum 
mechanics and PHYS 4700 was changed from 
“Spectroscopic Instrumentation” to “Solid State 
Physics: Theory and Practice”. 
 

The list of recommended business electives on 
the PMT calendar page contained some courses 
that had been discontinued. 
 

Discontinued courses were removed from the 
list. 
 

After the initial offerings of some of the second 
year courses it was realized that some course 
names and prerequisites should be changed to 
better reflect their content and requirements as 
well as to provide more flexibility to students. 

MATH 2721 is no longer a co-requisite of PHYS 
2010. 
 
PHYS 2600 and PHYS 2610 are no longer co-
requisites. 
 
Name of PHYS 2600 changed from “Electronics 
with Microcontrollers” to “Electronics”. 
 

OTHER CHANGES: 
Issue to be addressed 
 

Resulting program change(s) 

Students must work full-time for at least 14 
weeks in a relevant department-approved 
position in order to satisfy the mandatory work 
experience requirement. This is intended to take 
place at the end of a student’s third year in the 
program. In order to accommodate work terms 
longer 14 weeks, the three 3rd-year Spring 
semester courses are accelerated. Originally the 
accelerated courses finished at the end of 
February, so that students could have up to six 
months (March to August) for their work term. 

The accelerated courses now run until mid-
March, which decreases the time-pressure, while 
still allowing for longer work terms of up to five 
months.  
 
PHYS 3710 (Applied Optics & Optoelectronics) 
was moved from the Spring to the Fall semester 
as it was deemed to be too demanding to run in 
accelerated mode. It was replaced in the Spring 
semester with PHYS 4900 (Special Topics).  

 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, No underline, All caps



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 12 

Issue to be addressed 
 

Resulting program change(s) 

However, feedback from faculty and students 
indicated that the semester was too demanding 
in this format. 
 

 

Lower enrollment in 3rd and 4th year courses. We have been running the third- and fourth-year 
courses in alternate years. This has ensured 
healthier enrolment in those courses, with third- 
and fourth-year students taking them together.  

External Accreditation 

There is no external accreditation for physics degrees in Canada. This issue was discussed several years 
ago by physics department chairs from across Canada at the annual Canadian Association of Physicists 
Congress. As far as the authors of this review are aware, the conversation has not progressed any further, 
but it is something we will keep track of and ensure our involvement in. 

Although there is no external accreditation of physics degrees in Canada, the Canadian Association of 
Physicists does have a Professional Physicist (P.Phys.) designation that our graduates can apply for after 
three years of physics-related work experience.  

1.4. Issues for Program Review 

As Physics for Modern Technology is a relatively new program, this is its first program review. However, 
since the launch of the program, there have been various issues identified by students, faculty, and the 
program advisory committee (PAC) that one the Department hopes the program review will shed further 
light on. It is hoped that the following four goals and related issues will be addressed by this program 
review.   

 
1. Determine whether or not the program is meeting its primary purpose of preparing students for 

employment in the technology sector. 

The following are specific employment-related issues/questions that have been identified: 
• Career progression: Are students progressing in their careers? Are there things related to the 

program that are holding our graduates back from advancing in their careers? What kinds of 
upgrades to their education have they been seeking to further advance their careers? 

• Work Experience: Feedback from the PAC has generally been that longer (eight months) work 
terms are preferred by many companies (though four-month positions are very common). In 
addition, about 50% of students who have completed their work terms have indicated that 
longer and/or more work terms would be beneficial (at least as an option, if not mandatory). 
From time to time, there is also discussion on whether or not a co-op model should be used, 
instead of coordinating everything from within the Department, which is the current practice.  

• Communication Skills: One career-related topic that is often discussed among faculty and at 
PAC meetings is the development of students’ communication skills. The importance of 
communication skills is also mentioned often by students in their work experience reports. 
Although this has been incorporated throughout the program, faculty experience has been 
that our students need even more opportunity to develop these skills. To that end, the spring 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 13 

2021 offering of our Special Topics course (PHYS 4900, which students take in their 3rd or 4th 
year) was on the topic of communication. However, by its nature, the topic of that course 
changes from year to year. This program review can help determine whether and/or how 
students’ communication skills should be increased in the program. 

 
2. Determine how best to adjust the program curriculum to serve the PMT students’ needs.  

Students, faculty, and the PAC have expressed a desire for additional topics to be added to the 
PMT program. However, any additional topics will require the removal of others. The hope is that 
this program review will provide quantitative data to support the addition/removal of content 
from the PMT program. The following are specific curricular issues that we would like to 
investigate: 
• Computer Programming: Since computer programming is an essential skill for most academic 

and industrial physicists and technologists, it has always been clear that it must be a skill that 
students develop during the PMT program. So far, feedback from faculty, students, and the 
PAC has been that more explicit emphasis on programming is needed, with the likely 
development of at least one new dedicated programming course focused on programming 
fundamentals and best practice for scientists and engineers. It is also hoped to incorporate a 
data science course into the program, and its requirements would help inform the content of 
any additional programming courses that develop. Although departmental discussions on this 
topic have already begun and are ongoing, this program review will help identify the best way 
forward. 

• Mathematics: MATH 2721 and MATH 2821 were designed specifically for the PMT program 
in consultation with the math department. When developing the program, the alternative 
option was for our students to take at least four existing math courses (in addition to MATH 
1120 and 1220). The decision to instead develop and offer MATH 2721 and 2821 was made 
so that students’ math education would be focused on what they need for their 2nd, 3rd, and 
4th year physics courses. Recent feedback from the math department has been that it is 
difficult to cover the content of MATH 2721 in one semester. This program review will be used 
to determine if changes need to be made to the math content of the program. 

• Chemistry: Based on consultations that occurred while designing the program, it was decided 
to include a total of four chemistry courses in the program. It is important to ascertain 
whether or not these courses are valued by our graduates and by current members of our 
PAC (i.e. whether the content is useful in the types of jobs PMT graduates have been 
securing). 

• Breadth: Currently the PMT program requires students to complete 6 elective/breadth 
courses (18 credits). Two of those courses must be business courses and were included in the 
program on the basis of feedback from local industry – it was deemed important for graduates 
to have some business knowledge when entering the workforce. The 18-credit requirement 
comes from KPU’s BSc framework (see Appendix BA). It is understood that the BSc framework 
is due to be revised by the Faculty of Science and Horticulture, partly in light of the new policy 
AC14 (KPU Credential Framework). The program review will help determine if we can or 
should change the breadth requirement of the program. Such investigations could in turn help 
inform the revision of the BSc framework. 

 
3. Identify ways to promote the program and increase enrolment.  



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 14 

Most of the second, third and fourth year PMT courses have a maximum class size of 20. This is 
because most of these courses take place in a lab, and lab capacity is more limited than a regular 
classroom. However, since the PMT program launch, class sizes have been significantly smaller 
than the maximum. This program review will examine data on class sizes, how they have changed 
over the years, and how they vary across years one to four. This data will hopefully help identify 
ways to attract more students. 
• Promotion: Faculty have recently been discussing the need for increased promotion of the 

program. Earlier, the Department engaged quite regularly in promotional activities, but the 
level of activity has fallen off. Also, at that time, questions about the kinds of careers that 
graduates of the program could pursue could only be answered hypothetically. Now that PMT 
graduates have been securing positions in the technology sector, more concrete material can 
be included to promote the program and attract students. The Department hopes to identify 
ways to achieve this goal, internally and in liaison with other groups at KPU (e.g. Dean’s office, 
Future Students Office, Marketing). 

• Transferability: As discussed above, there are gaps in the ease with which students can 
transfer into the PMT program. An investigation of ways to increase and facilitate 
transferability from local institutions (and perhaps into our third year) may help to increase 
enrolment. 
 

4. Identify ways to allow students to pursue other post-degree educational opportunities (i.e. 
graduate studies).  

As previously mentioned, preparing students for graduate studies is not a primary goal of the 
program. However, there are several current students who are interested in pursuing graduate 
studies.  It is hoped that this program review will give a better handle on the extent of that interest 
among our student body. This review should also help decide whether and how to further 
facilitate such opportunities (e.g. through modification of the program and/or the creation of 
more agreements with other universities). 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 15 

2. Curriculum Review 

2.1. Pathways for Graduates 

Pathways to Employment 
 
What kind of occupations are your graduates prepared to pursue? 
 
When designing the program, the expectation was that it would provide a broad education in physics and 
technology that would allow graduates to pursue scientific and technical roles in the technology sector 
(in areas such as green energy technology, robotics, industrial process control, and electronics). It was 
also envisaged that graduates would be prepared to pursue teacher training as well as more business-
oriented roles such as technical sales. Now that PMT students have secured work experience positions 
during the program and full-time jobs after graduation, there are concrete examples of where the 
program can lead. (See also the Career Pathways Map in Appendix CB.) 
 
For their work experience, which takes place at the end of third year, students have secured positions in 
areas such as robotics, green energy technology, manufacturing engineering, biomedical engineering, 
software development, physics research, particle accelerator technology, satellite image analysis, optics, 
agricultural technology, and electronics. Students’ roles in those areas have included: assembling, testing, 
and calibrating products (hardware and software); computer programming; building and testing 
electronic circuits and optical setups; performing experiments; analyzing data; refining manufacturing 
procedures. Some students have also gained experience in the area of sales and marketing. After 
graduating, several students have been offered positions at the company where they did their work 
experience.  
 
PMT graduates are working in the following areas: scientific camera development; software; scientific 
research; particle accelerator technology; biomedical engineering; mining technology; electric power 
supply and management. Job titles of the PMT graduates include: Product Manager; Software Developer; 
Junior Data Scientist; Hardware Systems Technician; Service Engineer; Biomedical Engineering 
Technologist; Assembler; Engineering Technologist; Electromechanical Technician.  
 
 
How are you preparing your graduates for jobs in this field, future changes in this field, and the job 
market in general?  
 
Preparation for jobs in the technology sector has been the focus of the PMT program from the beginning. 
The first step in designing the degree was consultation with local companies to determine the type of 
content that would be useful. This consultation is ongoing through the PAC. Feedback on the usefulness 
of program content is also received from students when they complete their work experience and from 
graduates who are employed in the sector. 
 
Specific hands-on technical skills and topics relevant to the technology sector that are taught in the 
program include electronics, programming, experimental design, process control, sensors & actuators, 
applied optics, signal & image processing, and analytical chemistry. As noted in the previous chapter, 
programming is an area that could be improved.  Also, there may be a desire to re-examine the range and 
scope of chemistry needed for the program. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 16 

 
In addition to technical skills, development of students’ soft skills is also very important in preparing them 
for the workforce. To that end, written and oral communication skills are developed in many courses 
through activities such as report writing, presentations, and teamwork. Recognizing the need for these 
communication skills to be further developed, this year’s offering of our Special Topics was on the topic 
of communication.  The results of this program review will be used to help determine the extent to which 
communication skills should be incorporated in the program on an ongoing basis. 
 
When designing the program, feedback from employers was that technology graduates are generally 
lacking in business skills, which are important for many jobs in industry. To help address that, the program 
contains two business courses. The mandatory work experience at the end of students’ third year also 
helps to prepare them for their future careers. As stated in our Full Program Proposal, the benefits of work 
experience include “(i) students seeing the relevance of their studies to the workplace, (ii) students gaining 
valuable experience of the “real world” of employment, and (iii) students making 
contacts that will serve them well when they look for employment after graduation.” 
 
The PMT program helps prepare students for future changes in the field in a number of ways. Although 
technology may change quite rapidly on the surface, the science underlying modern technology changes 
much more slowly. Courses such as Classical Mechanics, Thermal Physics, Electricity & Magnetism, 
Quantum Mechanics, and Solid State Physics, ensure that PMT graduates have a sound grasp of the 
fundamental science underlying much of modern technology and are therefore equipped to understand 
and learn about new technologies as they emerge. The PMT program encourages independent learning 
and thought, which is also important when dealing with changes in the field. For example, in Experimental 
Physics in second year, students must design and perform their own experiments, as well as learn about 
topics that are not necessarily directly covered in their lecture courses. This ability is developed further in 
the 3rd and 4th year projects, in which students carry out extended one-semester and two-semester 
projects. This requires independent research of the project topic and also often requires students to learn 
new skills. Such abilities are critical for any employee who needs to keep up with changes in their field of 
employment. 
 
 
Are there professional competencies that your graduates require for entry to the profession?  

PMT graduates do not require specific professional competencies as set out by an accreditation agency in 
order to secure the types of position described above.  

There is no external accreditation of physics degrees in Canada. As noted previously, the Canadian 
Association of Physicists does have a Professional Physicist (P.Phys.) designation that our graduates can 
apply for after three years of physics-related work experience. Although this designation is not required 
for physicists to work in industry, it is possible that it will help PMT graduates advance in their careers if 
it becomes more widely recognized. 
 
 
Are your graduates ready to take on entry level positions only, or are you preparing them in the medium 
or long-term for leadership roles? 
 
So far, PMT graduates have secured entry-level positions. However, some have advanced to higher levels 
a couple of years after graduating. In addition, some graduates are planning to pursue further education 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 17 

(e.g. MBA) to accelerate the advancement of their careers. The alumni survey will give more detailed 
information on the PMT graduates’ career paths. 
 
It is hoped that the students’ experience in the PMT program will help them as they progress in their 
careers to more senior roles. In addition to the scientific and technical knowledge that would be important 
in a senior role in the technology sector, one also hopes that the graduates’ problem-solving ability and 
communication skills will help them as they progress. The alumni survey that will be administered later in 
the program review process may help identify ways to further help in that regard. 
 
 
In a competitive employment market, what kinds of experiential education are employers looking for? 
 
The primary experiential learning component of the PMT program is the work experience that students 
complete at the end of their third year. Although such experience is sought by employers, some members 
of our PAC have indicated that longer work terms (e.g. 8 months) are more desirable as it gives more time 
for the student to do meaningful work after the initial training period. Currently the PMT program is 
structured so that students can do work experience of up to five months’ duration. This program review 
will help inform whether/how to reform the work experience component of the program.  
 
Feedback from the PAC suggests that employers value the experiential learning that the 3rd and 4th year 
student projects provide. In addition to the specific scientific and/or technical aspects of the projects, PAC 
members have expressed the importance of development of project management skills, which is now a 
focus of the first semester of the 4th year project. PAC members also value student projects that are done 
in collaboration with companies. Some students have been involved in such projects, both as part of their 
3rd and 4th year projects and as extracurricular activities. 
 
 
Will your students be well prepared to keep up with the changing knowledge base of their field? 
 
As discussed above, the PMT program helps in various ways to prepare students to navigate changes in 
their field of employment. Hopefully this program review will provide further understanding of this aspect 
of the students’ preparation for the workforce. 
  

Pathways to Further Study 
 
Is your program intended to be, in most cases, the terminal program in a student’s educational 
experience, or do you typically expect them to take another program of study? 
 
Since its primary goal is for graduates to find employment in the technology sector, the PMT program is 
designed so that it can be the terminal program in a student’s educational experience. However, as 
discussed below, options for further study are available to students after they graduate. See also the 
Career Pathways Map in Appendix CB. 
 
 
Does, or should, your program ladder into another credential at KPU or elsewhere? To what extent are 
your courses transferable to other programs at KPU or elsewhere? 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 18 

The program is not designed to directly ladder into other programs. As shown in Figure 1 (chapter 1), our 
first-year courses are highly transferrable to other BC institutions. Also, as discussed below and in the 
previous chapter, transferring to graduate programs at other institutions is possible. 
 
BSc degrees at KPU have a significant amount of overlap in their first year. Students who decide to switch 
programs after (or during) their first year will therefore have already completed a sizable fraction of the 
first-year courses. 
 
The first year of our program contains five of the Engineering Certificate’s courses, so transfer between 
the two programs is possible. 
 
 
Does, or should, your program provide prerequisite courses that allow students to apply, on graduation, 
for a professional program (such as teacher education)? 
 
As written in the Full Program Proposal: “We believe graduates of our program will be exceptionally well 
prepared for entry into teacher preparation programs for secondary school science teaching. The program 
provides a combination of theoretical understanding at a level that appropriately exceeds that required 
in high schools and practical skills that supports the teacher’s work. After the appropriate teacher-training, 
the more obvious areas of expertise include physics, math, electronics and information & communications 
technology.”  
 
None of the PMT graduates so far has pursued this route. However, one should connect with local teacher 
preparation programs to confirm that PMT graduates are eligible for admission. 
 
Some of the PMT alumni who are currently employed are planning to register in (or have started) MBA  
programs. Their analytical and communication skills, along with the business content of the PMT program, 
will help them in pursuing this route. 
 
 
Is a graduate of your program well prepared for study at the next level? Is, for instance, a baccalaureate 
graduate prepared for graduate school should they choose to pursue it? 
 
Although preparing students for graduate studies is not the primary goal of the program, it is desirable to 
make sure that laddering into graduate school is an option for our graduates. To that end, several years 
ago the Physics Department reached an understanding with the graduate chair of the SFU physics 
department on how PMT graduates could become eligible for entry to SFU’s graduate program. It involves 
completion of three additional fourth year theoretical physics courses at SFU. So far, two PMT graduates 
have pursued that route. The Department has also reached out to UBC, and they have indicated that they 
encourage applications from PMT students.  
 
Laddering directly into graduate programs outside Canada is possible. One of the recent graduates was 
accepted into the MSc in Fusion Energy at the University of York in the UK (though chose to accept a job 
at a BC tech company instead of pursuing the MSc).  
 
The experience of faculty at similar European BSc programs is that their graduates fare very well in 
graduate school. For example, a graduate of a highly applied and hands-on physics degree is well-prepared 
for research in laboratory-based experimental physics. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 19 

Pathways to an Enriched Civic and Personal Life 
 
How well does your program curriculum develop skills an educated citizen should have? 
 
By the end of the program, students will have a high level of numeracy and a deep knowledge of physics. 
They will have honed their skills in course work, scholarly research in their projects, and in their work 
experience. These skills are transferrable and will allow our graduates to evaluate complex issues by 
looking deep into the data and drawing their own conclusions. The program puts emphasis on 
communication so they will have the ability to present their findings and opinions in a clear, coherent 
manner in writing and in public. During the program, students develop the ability to read and understand 
complex texts and documents, which will serve them well in keeping up to date with, and understanding, 
many of the major issues facing our society. PMT students will be able to engage in the discussion of 
complex issues, not just follow them. 
 
As the program name Physics for Modern Technology suggests, PMT students will have acquired a deep 
appreciation of the new technologies that pervade daily life and will be equipped to put those 
technologies to work in new and creative ways for their own benefit and the benefit of society. It will also 
allow the students to better understand the potential and the limitations of new technologies. 
 
Finally, the program makes it clear that there is always more to know. Research and project courses give 
the students the skills to control their own learning and not to rely on their instructors. 
  
Does your program help students to make more informed decisions in their personal and civic lives?  
 
As mentioned above, numeracy, a sophisticated knowledge of physics and technology, the practice of 
scholarly research, examining data and drawing conclusions, synthesizing research findings, and being 
able to present and discuss those findings are skills that can be used in many areas of their personal and 
civic lives. If the students wish to make informed decisions, they will have the problem-solving skills to do 
so in many areas. 
 
Does your program equip students with new, or deepened literacies – be they digital, oral, written, etc.? 
 
PMT students acquire and use a wide range of mathematical, scientific, and technical knowledge. 
Numeracy, an often-overlooked literacy, is at the heart of the physical sciences. Combined with a deep 
knowledge of physics, numerical data, equations, and charts become a way to read and represent the 
world around us.  
 
Since the program emphasizes communication skills, the students will have had experience translating 
complex ideas and technical knowledge into more accessible language. To be truly literate, one must be 
able to discuss topics on many different levels. 

 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 20 

2.2. Program Learning Outcomes 

Since the PMT program did not have an explicit list of program learning outcomes (PLOs) prior to this 
review, one of the major tasks of our curriculum review was to develop them.   

A list of graduate attributes for the program was first created by the PMT program review team based 
on continuous feedback from local companies, knowledge of similar programs in Europe, and the vision 
for the PMT program. , and then assigned aA proficiency level was assigned to each attribute according 
to Bloom’s Taxonomy. 

 

 
Graduate Attribute Proficiency Level at Graduation 

Physics Knowledge Analyze and Evaluate 
Math Knowledge Analyze and Evaluate 
Chemistry Knowledge Apply 
Biology Knowledge Understand 
Communication skills Analyze 
Business  Understand and Apply 
Lab techniques and practical skills Evaluate 
Experimental design skills Evaluate and Create 
Analysis and modelling skills Evaluate 
Computer/software programming skills Evaluate and Create 
Cooperation and teamwork attitudes Apply 
Limits of knowledge & independent learning Apply 
Integration of concepts Evaluate and Create 

 
[Note: even though the process of integrating concepts may create new works, one does not expect the 
student’s ability to integrate concepts to be at the same “create” or “evaluate” level as might be 
expected for a Master’s or PhD thesis.] 
 
This process led to the following PLOs: 
 
A student who successfully completes this program will have reliably demonstrated the ability to:  



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 21 

1. analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and concepts; 

2. analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned fundamentals and 
applied Mathematics knowledge and techniques; 

3. apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical and practical problems; 

4. understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of Biology as they relate to physics and 
technology; 

5. apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas; 

6. appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology development; 
7. choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing components), and operate 

laboratory equipment to perform experiments and collect data; 
8. design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of experimental research; 
9. formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, analyzing, and 

evaluating data; 
10. use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, visualize and analyze 

data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical systems; 
11. work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors; 
12. recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills independently; 
13. develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, mathematics, technology, 

business, experience, practical skills, and communication skills. 

 

2.3. Essential Skill Development 

Both KPU and the Ministry of Advanced Education and Skills Training have lists of essential skills that KPU’s 
programs are expected to meet. Combining these requirements leads to thirteen essential skills that 
students in our program should have the opportunity to learn and demonstrate: 

  
Creative Thinking and Problem Solving Skills; 
Oral Skills; 
Interpersonal Skills; 
Teamwork and Leadership Skills; 
Personal management and Entrepreneurial Skills; 
Writing Skills; 
Reading and Information Skills; 
Visual Literacy; 
Mathematical Skills; 
Technological Skills; 
Intercultural Skills; 
Citizenship and Global Perspective; 
Independent Learning. 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 22 

A number of essentials skills are inherent to an undergraduate physics degree. From reading and 
understanding physics lab manuals, reading graphs, writing lab reports and using algebra and calculus to 
solve kinematics and dynamics problems in first-year studies, to performing literature searches, analyzing 
data, writing term papers and solving advanced physics problems using differential equations, complex 
numbers and vector calculus in fourth year studies, reading, writing, visual literacy, creative thinking, 
problem solving and mathematical skills are developed throughout a physics degree program. 
 
The PMT program at KPU is more than a standard physics degree and was specifically developed to 
emphasize practical applications of theory and hands-on experience. The use of technology is prevalent 
throughout the PMT program, with the introduction of microprocessors in their first year PMT course, 
and electronics, sensors and actuators, process control, applied optics and practical solid state physics 
course in the upper years, PMT students are provided many opportunities to develop their technological 
skills. Much of the hands-on experience comes from the labs where students work in teams to prepare 
equipment and perform experiments. Team learning in the labs is a common theme in the PMT program, 
with lab-based courses in each year of study to give students the ability to advance their teamwork, 
leadership and interpersonal skills. The capstone courses of the PMT program are the third- and fourth-
year project courses. These one- and two-semester long projects require students to imagine creative 
solutions to unique problems. Working independently towards the application of the solutions, students 
are required to identify gaps in their knowledge base and learn independently to address those gaps. 
 
The PMT program was also designed to facilitate employment after graduation. Public speaking is usually 
a weakness for most people, so to help develop good oral skills in PMT graduates, oral presentation skills 
are explicitly listed in the learning outcomes in three PMT program courses, in the first, third and fourth 
years of study. PMT students are also required to take business electives to aid in the development of 
their entrepreneurial skills and global perspectives. Probably one of the best mechanisms to facilitate 
employment after graduation is the requirement that each PMT student complete a work experience 
term. In addition to gaining experience in a relevant industry, PMT students also gain personal 
management, intercultural, citizenship and a global perspective while interacting with the world outside 
of academia. 
 
Nearly all of the essential skills are explicitly addressed in the design of the PMT program and/or the 
learning outcomes and learning activities of the required courses. However, the KPU essential skill, 
“Intercultural Skills” has not been formally addressed. Even though the diversity of KPU’s student 
population and instructional staff provides PMT students the opportunity to meet and interact with 
people of different cultures, it is felt that more can be done to ensure that the PMT students have an 
intercultural awareness, particularly with respect to Indigenous peoples. 

 

2.4. Curriculum Assessment 
 
The complete course requirements for the PMT program are listed in Appendix A. The full curriculum map, 
in which we have listed course learning outcomes (CLOs) for each course and identified which PLOs they 
align with, is presented in Appendix CD. 
 
As mentioned above, the program PLOs were developed for this review based on the content and desired 
outcomes of the program (an explicit list of PLOs did not exist prior to this program review). The curriculum 
mapping exercise has shown that the PLOs are appropriate and are well-covered by the program as a 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 23 

whole. The map demonstrates that the level at which the PLOs are addressed progresses appropriately 
from an introductory (I) level in 1000-level courses to developing (D) at intermediate levels and mostly 
advanced (A) at the upper level. Since the prerequisites and corequisites for program courses were 
designed to allow students to progress smoothly from one level to the next, there were no concerns about 
their overall appropriateness. 
 
Gap Analysis 
 
Some apparent gaps in how the CLOs map to the PLOs are discussed and explained below. 
 
PHYS 2420 
Two of the course learning outcomes are not addressed at all in the curriculum map. This is because the 
course was developed and taught well before the PMT program was launched and the content on AC 
circuits and semiconductor devices is now covered in PHYS 2600 instead. This points to the need to revise 
the PHYS 2420 course outline. 
 
PHYS 4900 
This is a Special Topics course, with the topic varying from offering to offering. Due to this variation, a 
specific mapping of CLOs to PLOs cannot be achieved. We may need to revise the CLOs for this course so 
that they can cover a wider range of possible topics.  
 
Business 
The two business courses that students must take to complete the program were not included in the 
curriculum mapping exercise because there are many courses that can be taken to satisfy this 
requirement. Despite this, PLO #6 (“…appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and 
technology development”) is still represented in the curriculum map (CLOs from PHYS 3900, 3950, 3951, 
4199, 4299, and 4600 are connected to this PLO).   
 
Recommendation: 
Update the PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 course outlines to better align them with current practice. 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 24 

3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1. Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?  
 
The primary goal of KPU’s PMT program is to prepare students for a career in the high-tech sector. While 
some students may have other plans after graduation, such as graduate school or a different degree, this 
review will focus on the primary goal of the PMT program, specifically, on its relevance to the major 
stakeholders of the program – students and industry. 
 
Based on the student and alumni survey responses [Appendices E F and GH], both students and alumni 
felt that the PMT program was relevant to their career goals. Current students, who were at various stages 
in the program, all responded positively to the general question on program relevancy – 100% either 
somewhat or strongly agreed that the program was relevant to their career goals.  Alumni, who had all 
completed the program, were afforded an opportunity to provide a more detailed assessment of the PMT 
program.  For nine out of the thirteen program learning outcomes (PLOs) listed in chapter 2, 75% or more 
of the alumni responses were positive (either somewhat or very relevant).  For three of the PLOs, related 
to chemistry, communications and business, the alumni responses were still mostly positive, but only 62% 
of the alumni found these learning outcomes to be relevant. Only one PLO, related to biology, yielded a 
majority of negative responses to its relevancy.  In terms of the PMT curriculum, a very high fraction of 
both current students and alumni, 92% and 100%, respectively, were either somewhat or very satisfied 
with the PMT curriculum.  Regarding the strengths of the PMT curriculum, two main themes emerged 
from the open-ended responses.  Over half of the respondents specified “hands-on” learning and training 
as a strength of the program, with specific mentions of the labs and projects. The other strength of the 
PMT curriculum, as noted by nearly half of the respondents, was the variety of topics and courses included 
in the PMT program. Students and alumni were also asked for suggestions to improve the PMT curriculum.  
While a number of suggestions were related to class scheduling rather than curriculum, the ideas of 
including more computer programming and statistical topics was noted by multiple respondents. 
Astronomy and astrophysics were also suggested. 
 
The other major stakeholder of the PMT program – industry – also deemed the program to be relevant to 
their sector [Appendix HI]. The replies from industry regarding the importance of the PLOs closely 
mirrored the alumni responses. In fact, for the same nine PLOs rated most favourably by the alumni, 75% 
of the industry respondents also deemed these PLOs to be very important or essential.  The only difference 
in the responses between alumni and industry was with regards to the communication PLO. Eighty-eight 
percent of the industry respondents considered communications to be very relevant, compared to 62% 
of alumni. With regards to the PMT curriculum, many of the skills, training and knowledge identified by 
industry are already part of the PMT program. Skills such as programming, soldering, electronics, motor 
control, business practice, presentations/communications, hands-on experiences and working in a team 
environment are part of the PMT course and program learning outcomes. In order to maintain relevancy 
in the future, the industry survey also asked respondents to identify emerging trends in their sector.  
Technology related to addressing climate change (renewable energy, sustainability, carbon capture), and 
automation (artificial intelligence, machine learning, quantum computing) were identified as important 
themes in the coming years. While elements of these themes can be found in some of the course learning 
outcomes, it may be worthwhile to update the course outlines to explicitly address these topics. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 25 

 
Faculty responses [Appendix FG] were in strong agreement (100%) that the PMT program prepares 
students for a career in the high-tech sector and that the PMT program is relevant to the needs of the 
sector. The detailed responses from faculty regarding relevancy of the PLOs and curriculum closely 
mirrored the views of both alumni and industry. Faculty commonly communicate with students and 
industry, so it is not surprising that the responses from faculty reflect these conversations. In common 
with students and alumni, several faculty also expressed the need for the computing content of the 
program to be strengthened (Q7 faculty survey). One faculty member also suggests restructuring the 
mathematics content of the program.  Similar issues with computer programming and mathematics were 
also identified by the program review team in chapter 1 prior to the launch of the surveys.  
Current students, alumni, industry and faculty all agree that most of the PLOs of the PMT program are 
relevant.  Alumni, industry and faculty viewed the biology related PLO to be significantly less relevant than 
the other PLO’s, with less than 50% of the respondents supporting the relevancy of biology.   
 
Recommendations: 
As noted above, survey responses suggest that a review of the program’s curriculum is warranted in order 
to increase its relevance. These include both changes to existing content of the program as well as 
suggestions for new topics to include. Several of the areas of potential curricular change (computer 
programming, biology, and mathematics) that were identified in the surveys were also identified by 
faculty in chapter 1 prior to the administering of the surveys. We have the following recommendations: 
 

• Assess whether or not the biology content of the program needs to be changed. Although there 
have been good reasons for including biology in the program (such as ensuring alignment with 
KPU’s BSc Framework, providing breadth of education, and preparing students for potential 
careers in the biotechnology sector), the survey results suggest that the biology requirement and 
its relevance to the program should be reviewed.  

• Investigate ways in which the computing content of the program can be strengthened. The need 
for this is a common theme among survey respondents and has also been identified by faculty 
prior to this program review (with some work on looking into the issue already begun).  

• The faculty survey points to the need to review the content and structure of the mathematics 
component of the program. The need for this was also identified by faculty prior to the surveys. 

• Investigate the suitability of the new topics that were identified by survey respondents for 
inclusion in the program. These include: clean technology; artificial intelligence and machine 
learning; data science; RF (radio frequency) technology; statistics; statistical physics; 
astronomy/astrophysics. 

 
The PAC should be consulted on any revisions before implementation. In addition to the topics identified 
here, the PAC should also be surveyed regularly on potential topics to ensure the program stays relevant. 

 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector needed to remain current? 
 
Professional academic bodies 
Faculty in the department are active members of the Canadian Association of Physicists (CAP), the BC 
Association of Physics Teachers (BCAPT), the American Association of Teachers (AAPT), and the Canadian 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 26 

Astronomical Society (CASCA). Activities include attending and presenting at conferences and serving on 
committees. As well as individual memberships, we also have departmental membership of CAP. 
Faculty also hold leadership positions such as President of the BC Association of Physics Teachers and 
section rep for BC in the American Association of Physics Teachers. Until recently, was also the 
Secretary/Treasurer of CAP’s Division of Physics Education. These connections ensure that faculty remain 
current in latest trends and best practices in their field(s), especially when it comes to teaching.  
 
Professional industry associations  

• For several years, at the instigation of the physics department, the Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture has been a member of the BC Tech Association. This has proved to be beneficial for 
making connections with local tech companies. Our students have also been able to attend 
networking events organised by BC Tech. All of this has helped to build our profile with, and 
maintain connections with, local industry. However, membership and connection with the 
association have lapsed in the past year and need to be renewed. 

• When launching the PMT program, we joined the International Society of Automation, which had 
a BC section at the time. This facilitated connections with local automation professionals and 
companies through attending trade fairs, field trips, and social/networking events. The BC section 
has been inactive for several years but is being reactivated and we are re-establishing our 
connection with them. Along with the mechatronics program (Faculty of Trades and Technology), 
we are looking into the possibility of setting up an ISA KPU student section. 

 
Program advisory committee (PAC)  
The PAC was established in 2014. Meetings have been held approximately every 18 months since then. 
Committee members hail from a variety of local teach companies and organizations. They are a very 
engaged group who have helped the program stay current with latest industry trends and provided advice 
on program content. The PAC has, on average, met approximately once every 18 months. We will increase 
this frequency to once per year (the minimum frequency required by KPU’s new policy AC1 (Program 
Advisory Committee).It would be good to meet more frequently. 
 
On-campus events 
Some examples of other on-campus events that help to maintain strong connections with the local tech 
sector: 
 

• Student project presentations and work experience presentations, which several of the program’s 
industry contacts have attended.  

• For several years before the pandemic, the physics department hosted a lecture as part of the 
annual Canadian Association of Physicists Lecture tour, and several industry contacts and PAC 
members have attended.  

• Several years agoIn 2017, representatives from local companies were invited to meet one-on-one 
with 3rd and 4th year PMT students. The evening had a speed-dating format, and its goal was to 
give students experience of networking and hopefully secure a work experience position for the 
summer. This event worked well, and we should consider doing it again, perhaps on an annual 
basis. 

• Before the pandemic the physics department organized and ran two large annual competitions 
for high school students: the Kwantlen Science Challenge (KSC) in November and the Junior 
Physics and Engineering Challenge (JPEC) in April. Members of the BC Association of Professional 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 27 

Engineers and Geoscientists (APEGBC) are typically invited to help run the event. Returning to 
running these events post-pandemic will be as an opportunity to strengthen the PMT program’s 
connection with local industry. 

 
Connections with alumni  
Connection with alumni is maintained in various ways. Last year, an alumnus spoke about the program at 
an information session organised by the Future Students Office. Last Fall, an alumnus contacted the 
program about a potential collaborative project with company. This has developed into a capstone project 
that a fourth-year PMT student is currently working on. Alumni attended the 3rd and 4th year student 
project presentations in April of this year. Alumni sometimes notify us of employment opportunities for 
our students. Such notifications have led to both work experience positions for students and jobs for new 
graduates.  
 
The alumni survey results show that most alumni are happy with the connections they have with the 
program: 63% of respondents agreed with the statement “I am provided with opportunities to stay 
connected to the Physics for Modern Technology program” (Question 35). Alumni survey respondents 
also had some good suggestions for building better connections with them, including: a LinkedIn profile 
for the program; alumni events; and competitions involving both current students and alumni. These 
suggestions are certainly worth looking into. 
  
 
Potential employers 
63% of alumni survey respondents agreed with the statement “The program provided me with 
opportunities to develop connections with industry/potential employers” (Question 35). There is certainly 
room for improvement on that figure. The avenues described above for maintaining the program’s 
connection with industry tend to be intermittent and are not consistently or systematically pursued. 
Program faculty should consider making an annual calendar of events and activities so that such 
opportunities can be provided more consistently from year to year. 
 
The co-ordinator of the PMT work experience courses (PHYS 3950 and 3951) regularly seeks out new 
potential employers to connect with. 
 
 
Discipline/Sector Survey Responses 
Respondents to the discipline/sector survey also provided us with useful feedback on the effectiveness of 
the program’s connections with industry, including some useful suggestions. 80% of respondents were 
either very or somewhat satisfied with opportunities to stay connected with the program. 60% said we 
are very responsive, and 40% somewhat responsive, to external advice. These results suggest that our 
efforts to maintain connection and dialogue with industry are largely effective and should be maintained. 
In addition, 93% of respondents were either very or somewhat interested in participating in projects that 
connect students to the industry. Although there is currently one one student project being done in 
collaboration with a local company, and there have been a number of others previously, this result 
suggests that it should be possible to increase the number of industry-connected student projects. 
 
Discipline/sector survey respondents also had some ideas for how the program could maintain and 
strengthen connections with the sector, including inviting scientists and engineers from industry to give 
talks and arranging field trips for our students to local companies (See Q17 and 21). While we have done 
some of this in the past, they should become a more regular and more frequent part of our program.  



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 28 

 
Recommendations: 
 
The above analysis of survey responses and the program’s track record of engaging with industry and 
alumni shows that improvements can be made in this area. We have several related recommendations: 
 

• Renew links with local professional associations such as the BC Tech Association and the BC 
section of the ISA. This will allow faculty and students to engage in the networking events that are 
organized by these associations, which will in turn raise the profile of the program and lead to 
more opportunities (for student work experience, for collaborative projects, and for jobs post-
graduation). 

• Organize more events, both on- and off-campus. Suggestions from alumni and discipline/sector 
survey respondents include field trips, invited talks, and alumni/student competitions. We also 
recommend revisiting the idea of a student-industry networking evening on campus, which was 
held once several years ago and which could potentially become an annual event. In addition to 
ensuring ongoing engagement with industry and alumni (which would in turn lead to more 
opportunities for our students), such extracurricular events would increase the visibility of the 
program on campus, thus providing an opportunity to attract and retain more of our many first-
year students. 

• Develop an annual calendar of events. This would include both internal and external events of the 
kind described above. It would help to keep us accountable and would help ensure that events 
stay ‘on our radar’ from year to year. 

• Develop a LinkedIn profile for the program to allow us to engage more with industry online. This 
was suggested in the alumni survey and would be part of a broader effort to have a more 
substantial and consistent presence on social media in general. This is also related to promotion 
of the program and will be elaborated on further in that section (see below).  

 

Does the program include appropriate Indigenous content? 
 
When the PMT program was developed and launched, indigenization was not a prominent educational 
endeavour, but we recognize that it is now a big goal for KPU and the wider Canadian educational 
community. Although indigenization has not been an explicit goal for the program, the physics 
department does engage in some related activities: 
 

• A broad range of teaching modes are used, some of which are recognised as ways in which 
educators can help indigenize and the delivery of curriculum.1 For example, many classes involve 
students working on activities together in small groups. In fact, many faculty have moved away 
from traditional lectures altogether and engage instead in a “flipped classroom” format in which 
lecture material is delivered through videos and reading assignments, with class time being used 
for deeper and more collaborative activities such as problem solving in small groups and group 
discussion. Some faculty also require our students to engage in reflective writing, which is a 

                                                           
1 Shauneen Pete, 100 Ways: Indigenizing & Decolonizing Academic Programs, Aboriginal Policy Studies, Vol. 6 No. 1 
(2016). https://doi.org/10.5663/aps.v6i1.27455 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 29 

writing activity in which students express and reflect on their own understanding of assigned 
reading.2  

• One physics faculty member runs a physics workshop at the regular Open Doors, Open Minds 
event, in which Indigenous high school students are invited to KPU to “meet current students and 
faculty members, listen to engaging keynote speakers, attend mock classes, and learn about KPU's 
Indigenous Services for Students”. This event is also an opportunity to promote our program to 
the local Indigenous community. 

 
Recommendation:  
Faculty should discuss and develop a clear understanding of what indigenization means for the program. 
We will also seek guidance from KPU’s Indigenous Advisory Committee. 

 

3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency 

What is the collective expertise available to deliver the program? 
 
FTEs  
 
There are 9.6 FTE (Full-time equivalent) of faculty in the department, nine of whom are fulltime. There is 
one 50% regular instructor and sessional instructors as needed. There are two types of instructional 
support staff in the Physics Department. The first are our three full-time technical support people (one 
Instrumentation Specialist and two Technicians). These positions maintain physics laboratory equipment 
and do not have direct teaching responsibility. The second type is composed of lab instructors responsible 
for teaching preparatory and first-year laboratory portions of our courses. There are 5.6 FTEs of lab 
instructors. Five are fulltime and sessionals are hired as needed.  
  
  
Areas of Expertise  
  
Faculty are physicists by training, several with additional engineering background. Most of the faculty 
have an instrumentation or experimental background which is vital considering the goal of PMT is to turn 
out industrial physicists with a wide range of practical and applied skills. Two faculty have backgrounds in 
Astronomy. This reflects the number of Astronomy courses we offer.  
  
The broad areas of expertise in the department are optics, condensed matter physics, and astronomy.  
  
More specific areas of expertise are: scanning probe microscopy, sensors and sensor development, 
experimental particle astrophysics, star formation astrophysics, digital signal processing, dynamics and 
control of non-linear and complex systems, data science, machine learning, data analysis¸ 
superconductivity, semiconductor physics, polymers, environmental physics, laser technology, 
microfabrication, applications of physics in cell biology, fusion energy, and solid oxide fuel cells. As well 

                                                           
2 Kalman, Calvin S., Lattery, Mark and Sobhanzadeh, Mandana, Impact of Reflective Writing and Labatorials on 
Student Understanding of Force and Motion in Introductory Physics. Creative Education, 9 (4). pp. 575-596 (2018). 
http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ce.2018.94041 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 30 

there is considerable expertise in astronomy education, online physics labs, and physics education and 
outreach.  
 
Faculty Qualifications  
  
All but one faculty member has a PhD. Since the development of the PMT degree, only PhDs have been 
hired. Two faculty members have an Engineer-in-Training (EIT) status. This is helpful with successful 
transfer of our Applied Science courses and students to Engineering programs.  
  
  
Expertise of Instructional Staff  
  
Among the department’s technical support people are two B.Eng. and one MSc. They have expertise in 
digital electronics and optics.   
  
Among the department’s lab instructors, there is one PhD and one MSc with the remainder being BSc 
holders. Areas of expertise include computer programming and the production and editing of instructional 
video.  
  
 
Recent Professional Development  
  
Much of the PD by physics faculty is spent acquiring deeper skills to aid in student research projects such 
as taking educational leave to learn about fabrication of molecularly imprinted polymers and performing 
scanning probe microscopy studies of organic photovoltaic materials and taking an online course in Power 
Electronics.  A large part of scheduled PD is self-directed, side of the desk work such as learning javascript 
to create physics simulations and learning video editing techniques to prepare instructional or 
introductory videos for labs.   
  
Scholarly presentations have largely grown out of the innovations that the faculty do as part of their 
teaching including the development of the PMT degree and creating remotely operated labs. Faculty have 
also made presentations to high school teachers on aspects of teaching physics and to retired learners 
with a general desire to learn more about physics.  
  
Teaching load is high at KPU but several faculty members have published research in the last five years in 
Astronomy and Physics Education. One faculty member has also been a reviewer of several papers.  
  
Several members are involved on the organizational side of the Canadian Association of Physicists (CAP), 
the Canadian Astronomical Society (CASCA), and the BC chapter of the American Association of Physics 
Teachers (BCAPT).    
  

Collectively, does the department have the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 
The KPU Physics for Modern Technology degree was modeled on similar degrees in Ireland and with the 
assistance of the Galway-Mayo Institute of Technology, the Cork Institute of Technology, and the 
Waterford Institute of Technology.  In creating the degree, it was acknowledged that faculty at the time 
did not have the expertise to offer all the third- and fourth-year courses for the degree. Fortunately, 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 31 

establishing the degree necessitated the hire of two new full-time faculty. These faculty members were 
hired for their expertise is the required areas. When hired, the new faculty developed most of the required 
new course outlines. Combined with the pre-existing expertise in the Department, the breadth and depth 
of specialist knowledge has been more than enough to graduate students from the program with the skills 
and attitudes that have made our students successful in obtaining employment (see Alumni Survey) and 
meeting the needs of employers (see Discipline/Sector Survey).   
  
It is worth noting that the breadth of expertise and knowledge in the Department is greater than the 
curriculum requirements of the PMT program’s courses. This extra expertise can on occasion be used in 
the student project courses (PHYS 3900, 4199, 4299) to enrich the learning outcomes for our students.    
  
Two retirements in the Department following the inauguration of the PMT degree have allowed us to hire 
new full-time faculty. Prior to the hiring of these faculty, an internal discussion was made of our long-term 
needs. The department must balance the need for expertise in non-PMT courses such as Astronomy with 
the need to deepen or broaden expertise in areas applicable to the PMT degree. Fortunately, physicists 
with a background in Astronomy normally have expertise in Optics that is needed in many of our PMT 
courses. Beyond Optics, we have also been able to add expertise in Data Science and Machine Learning 
that we wish to incorporate into our degree.   
  
In the next five years, two more retirements can be expected. The department will of course need to 
ensure that replacement hires fill any gaps that the retirements may leave in departmental areas of 
expertise. Such retirements also provide an opportunity to add new areas of expertise to the PMT 
program.  
  
One problem for a small department such as ours is that the expertise to teach a particular course may 
only reside with a single faculty member. An unexpected lengthy illness or retirement, or an educational 
leave, could cause major problems. Some basic planning for such an occurrence is needed.    
  
Professional development and scholarly activity such as research is a problematic area at KPU. High 
teaching loads, limited PD funds, and lack of space for research laboratories limit what faculty may 
accomplish. As a result, degree programs in the Faculty of Science and Horticulture emphasize student-
led research. Limited funding for student research courses is available. Some research projects may be 
done in collaboration with companies for whom our students have worked. Such collaboration, as a 
bonus, deepens our connections with industry. Developing and overseeing student project work is one 
way faculty can remain current in the field. Much of the professional development done by our faculty 
has been directly related to the need to oversee student project work or to enhance educational 
outcomes.  
  
As the PMT program grows and becomes better known, donations in kind from industry are occurring. 
PMT recently acquired a Scanning Electron Microscope this way. Direct purchase of such a device would 
have been much too expensive for our budget. As a result, faculty can acquire new skills and offer a 
broader range of research projects to our students.  
  
Acquiring new equipment, particularly of the size of the SEM, causes its own problems. Space is limited 
on Richmond Campus. In arguing for new space, administration looks at the number of students who 
would use that space. Boosting our enrolment would strengthen our position.  
   
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 32 

 
 
Recommendations:  
  
• Prior to a new hire, the department should have a discussion on gaps the retirement will create. In 

addition, the department should have regular discussions with the Program Advisory Committee 
about topics in physics that are growing in importance to Industry and conversely topics that are 
declining. These discussions should drive hiring criteria.  

 
• Alternate instructors for second-, third-, and fourth-year courses should be designated. Current 

instructors should be asked to develop a package of teaching materials such as a detailed course 
outline, teaching notes, sample examinations, sample projects, and the like. Course instructors and 
their alternates should meet to discuss the course and the materials. If possible, hiring lists for the 
courses should be kept for hiring on short notice.  

 
• Research is crucial to the success of students in the PMT program. The Physics Department should 

continue to have representation on Faculty and Senate committees considering the future of scholarly 
activity at KPU.  

 

3.3. Student Demand 

Who takes the program? 

Exhibits 2 and 3 of the Administrative Data Report (Appendix DE) are reproduced below. We also used the 
KPU Strategic Enrollment Data tool to extract data for PMT-declared students as those are students we 
can definitively identify as being in the program (see Exhibit 2b below). 
 
Female students 
Female students typically make up around 15% to 20% of the program’s population. Although this is 
considerably lower than the 50% to 60% in the Faculty of Science and Horticulture, it is similar to the 
proportion of female physics students at American institutions. As shown on page 19 of the American 
Institute of Physics’ “Roster of Physics Departments with Enrollment and Degree Data, 2020”, the number 
of female physics bachelor’s degree graduates has been steadily increasing in the US over the last couple 
of decades and had reached over 20% by the year 20203.  
   
Under-representation of women in physics is a well-known issue4 and many causes and solutions have 
been proposed5. We should familiarize ourselves with global current thinking and practices in addressing 
this issue. One possible step that could be undertaken is to consult our female students and alumni about 
                                                           
3 Starr Nicholson and Patrick J Mulvey, Roster of Physics Departments with Enrollment and Degree Data, 2020, 
American Institute of Physics (2020).  
https://www.aip.org/statistics/reports/roster-physics-departments-enrollment-and-degree-data-2020 
4 Jess Wade, Why we need to keep talking about equality in physics, Physics World, August 2019. 
https://physicsworld.com/a/why-we-need-to-keep-talking-about-equality-in-physics/ 
5 Valerie Jamieson, Women in physics: Why there’s a problem and how we can solve it, New Scientist, 7 November 
2018. https://www.newscientist.com/article/mg24032031-900-women-in-physics-why-theres-a-problem-and-
how-we-can-solve-it/ 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 33 

their experiences to see if they could shed light on barriers to female students entering our program. For 
example, it is possible that the large gender imbalance among PMT faculty and the subsequent dearth of 
female faculty role models might discourage some female students from pursuing the program. To that 
end, we recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the 
department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to try to identify strategies for redressing the 
imbalance. Potential sources of help in this area include groups like the Canadian Association of Physicists’ 
Division for Gender Equity in Physics, which advocates on this issue. 
 
Age of students 
Although the age profile of intended and declared PMT students is similar to that of FSH (70-80% aged 22 
or younger), exhibit 2b shows that students aged 23 or older typically make up more than 50% of our 
declared total. This could be due to a variety of factors (time to decide on program, students working etc.) 
and is not considered to be a problem. Having slightly older students in class can benefit the whole class 
due to the positive influence that their maturity can have on younger students in terms of motivation, 
study habits etc. 
 
International students 
Since 2018/19, the proportion of international students in the program has been significantly lower than 
in FSH as a whole.  Since our program is applied and job-focused, it should be attractive to international 
students who want to pursue a career in Canada. A reasonable goal for PMT would be to reach the FSH 
average of approximately 35%.  

Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by 
Academic Year 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Student Headcount 118 138 114 102 81 
% Female 18% 19% 13% 17% 16% 
% 22 years or younger 76% 83% 77% 72% 72% 
% International 22% 24% 18% 18% 17% 

 
Exhibit 2b: Demographic Profile of Declared Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by 
Academic Year 
- from KPU Strategic Enrolment Management Data (files: 2016-17 and 2020-21) 
FTE Head counts 

Academic Year 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Total PMT Students 16 9 11 14 13 19 21 

Home 
Domestic 13 7 9 14 13 17 19 
International 3 2 2 0 0 2 2 

Gender 
Male 14 7 9 12 11 16 17 
Female 2 2 2 2 2 3 4 

Study 
Full-time1 15 8 9 14 11 17 19 
Part-time 1 1 2 0 2 2 2 

Age 

<19 53 0 1 0 0 0 0 
19-22 6 4 5 5 5 10 9 
23-29 4 4 4 7 7 8 11 
> 29 1 1 1 2 1 12 12 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 34 

1  Full-time defined as at least 9-credits in a semester or at least one term. 
2  This student was 40+ and considered full-time. 
3 This may be the number of physics-intended, rather than PMT-declared students. Students can only 

declare into the program after completing a minimum of 24-credits, including ENGL1100, MATH1220 
and PHYS1220 – typically requires completing at least one undergraduate year. 

Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Science and Horticulture Students by Academic 
Year 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Student Headcount 2,591 3,256 2,795 2,672 2,405 
% Female 53% 58% 55% 56% 58% 
% 22 years or younger 73% 78% 76% 75% 74% 
% International 18% 38% 36% 35% 34% 

 
 
Students’ reasons for taking the program 
Out of thirteen respondents to question 4 of the student survey (“What was your main reason for enrolling 
in the Physics for Modern Technology program?”), eight said they enrolled in the program for career 
reasons (to prepare for a specific career or to improve job prospects/earning potential). Two enrolled to 
prepare to transfer and two to prepare for graduate studies. These responses are not surprising given that 
the program was primarily designed and is promoted as one that prepares students for a career in the 
tech sector.  

 

Is demand for the program sustainable? 
 
PMT enrollments and comparisons with FSH as a whole 
 
As can be seen in Exhibit 7 of the administrative data report, enrollment trends across all PHYS courses 
taught by the department (i.e. including the many students who are in our preparatory and first year 
courses but not in the PMT program) are similar to those across FSH as a whole, with an average fill-rate 
for PHYS only about two students less than for FSH. 
 
The size of the PMT program itself (as distinct from courses taken by PMT and non-PMT students) can be 
estimated from the number of declared students (Exhibit 5). Although our relatively new program is still 
small, it is growing, with a 91% increase in declared students from 2016/17 (11 declared students) to 
2020/21 (21 declared students). Growth in enrollments in physics programs is also seen at other BC post-
secondary institutions (see Exhibit 6), although we only have data up to 2018/19. Our aim is to have this 
upward trend continue and we believe that a realistic medium-term goal is to have enough students to 
run 3rd and 4th year courses concurrently (at least 10 students in our 3rd and 4th year courses, including an 
increased proportion of international students). 
 
[Note on terminology: to be consistent with the nomenclature in the administrative data report, in some 
sections of this report we refer to first-year as L1, second-year as L2 etc. Also, we sometimes use the term 
“upper-level” to indicate 3rd and 4th year (i.e. L3 and L4).] 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 35 

While the number of declared students has been increasing, the size of the pool from which declared 
students are drawn (i.e., the number of intended or undeclared students) has been decreasing, with a 
43% drop from 2016/17 to 2020/21 (Exhibit 5). The department has identified this as an issue that needs 
to be addressed and is beginning to make more vigorous efforts to promote the program to 
intended/undeclared first-year students. The need for this is also seen in the L1-to-L2 retention rate, 
which is low compared to FSH (Exhibit 8.1 and 8.2). [However, we note that there are two-year programs 
in FSH that would inflate the L2 FSH numbers relative to ours.] Note that the ratio of declared to intended 
or undeclared has been increasing, which is a positive sign. 
 
As has been mentioned, the program's upper-level courses have been running in alternate years, with all 
3rd and 4th year students together generally taking L3 courses one year and L4 courses the following year. 
Since there are some exceptions to this, with some L3 courses being offered in an L4 year and vice versa6, 
when comparing our upper-level enrollments with those of FSH (for example) it makes more sense to 
compare PMT L3+L4 totals with FSH L3+L4 totals for any given year. Also, in order to make a direct 
comparison between upper-level PMT enrollments with those of FSH as a whole, we can use data from 
Exhibit 8 in the administrative data report to calculate enrollment per class (as opposed to just looking at 
total enrollment): 
 

2020/21  PMT FSH 
L3+L4 total enrollment 76 887 
L3+L4 classes 9 90 
Enrollment per class 8.4 9.9 

 
Note that for 2020/21 the combined L3 and L4 enrollments per class for PMT are similar to those for FSH 
(8.4 vs 9.9). This shows that the practice of alternating our L3 and L4 offerings brings PMT’s upper-level 
enrollments roughly into line with the FSH average. As noted, we hope to at least double our upper-level 
enrollment in the coming years so that we can offer all L3 and L4 courses every year instead of alternating 
them. 
 
Another way to assess the health of our upper-level enrollment in comparison to FSH as a whole is to look 
at the total L3+L4 enrollments as a percentage of L1 enrollments: 
 

2020/21  PMT FSH 
L1 total enrollment 548 6494 
L3+L4 total enrollment 76 887 
(L3+L4) as percentage of L1 13.9% 13.7% 

 
As can be seen from the above table, retention of L1 students through to upper levels (L3 and L4) in PMT 
is very similar to FSH as a whole. Despite this, a retention rate of approximately 14% is low and, as 
discussed, is something the program needs to address. 
 
 
Financial considerations 

                                                           
6 For example: PHYS 3950 and 3951 (Work Experience) run every year; PHYS 4900 (Special Topics) is generally 
offered with L3 courses; students can do their 3rd year project (PHYS 3900) when L4 courses are being offered; and 
students can do their 4th year project (PHYS 4199, 4299) when L3 courses are being offered.  
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 36 

We identify two ways in which financial considerations can have a positive impact on the sustainability of 
the program: 

• Tuition revenue: Since international students pay approximately $2,000 in tuition fees for a 3-
credit course, the data in Exhibit 9 shows that an addition of just 3 international students per class 
(on average), would bring PMT’s average revenue per class into line with that of FSH. 

• Low non-tuition costs for students: In recent years PMT faculty have been making efforts to keep 
additional costs low for students. Keeping costs for students low can help improve the 
sustainability of the program by attracting more students. Examples of these efforts include:  

o Use of OER (Open Educational Resource) materials instead of requiring students to 
purchase textbooks. 

o Use of the library resources (e.g. accessing high quality textbooks online for free via the 
library website). 

o Free lab manuals. Several years ago the department moved away from requiring students 
to purchase lab manuals. Students can now access them at no cost via course websites. 

o Lending students take-home kits. While this has been a practice for several years in some 
PMT courses (for example PHYS 2600 – Electronics), it was expanded greatly during the 
pandemic to ensure students were still able to perform hands-on activities, which are 
such an important aspect of science education.  

These initiatives allow some PMT courses to be designated as ZTC (Zero Textbook Cost). ZTC is a 
KPU initiative which “helps remove barriers to access post-secondary education, adapting our 
programs to create a more equitable place for all students to learn.” 
 

Industry demand 
 
Another aspect of demand for the program is industry’s need for its graduates. All sixteen respondents to 
question 14 of the discipline/sector survey said that there is demand in their sector for graduates of 
programs like PMT, with 81% saying there is “some” demand and 19% saying there is “a lot of” demand. 
Additionally, 69% percent of respondents said demand is likely to increase over the next 5 to 10 years, 
while 31% said demand will likely stay the same (question 15 of discipline/sector survey). These responses 
bode well for the job prospects of future PMT graduates. 
 
The demand for graduates of the program can also be seen in the success they are having in securing jobs. 
Six out of eight alumni survey respondents say they are currently employed in a field related to what they 
studied at KPU (with the survey suggesting that the other two have pursued graduate school). Of those 
six, five are in a full-time position and one is in a contract position. As seen from responses to questions 
28 and 29, alumni are working in a wide variety of roles in the tech sector, with job titles of Manufacturing 
Technician, Software Developer, Cyclotron Operator/Engineering Technologist, Data Scientist, and 
Hardware Systems Technician. In addition to survey respondents, we are aware of other alumni who are 
working as Manufacturing Technician, and others in the roles of Electromechanical Technician and 
Technical Support. One of our alumni, who started off in the role of Product Manager after graduation, 
has been promoted to the position of OEM Business Development Manager. 
 
Comparison with enrollments at other BC institutions 
 
The number of declared PMT students in 2020/21 is similar to the 2018/19 data we have for smaller 
physics degree programs in BC (Exhibit 6). In that year, there were 20 declared physics students at 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 37 

Thompson Rivers University and 29 at UNBC. The number of PMT graduates is also similar to those 
institutions (see Exhibits 18 and 18.1). 
 
Recommendations: 
 

• We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the 
department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to try to identify strategies for redressing the 
imbalance. 

• To help achieve this goal of reaching the FSH average of 35% international students, we should 
learn more about how KPU recruits international students and find out if it is possible for KPU’s 
international recruiters and agents to promote our program more abroad. 

• Since the low retention rate is a Faculty-wide issue, we recommend that chairs and Faculty Council 
discuss this and initiate a Faculty-wide response. Our department’s Faculty Council 
representatives can communicate the need for this to Faculty Council, and our department chair 
can bring this up with the other department chairs and program coordinators in the Faculty. (We 
note that, at the time of writing, these communications have just begun.)   

 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 
 
Instructional capacity 
 
We currently have instructional capacity to meet demand for the program. However, meeting the goal of 
running all upper-level courses concurrently will require an additional faculty member to be hired. This 
and related issues are explored more fully in section 3.2 above. 
 
Physical (space) capacity 
 
First-year PMT labs are taught on both the Richmond and Surrey campuses. The program’s 2nd, 3rd, and 
4th year labs are largely taught in room 3310 on the Richmond campus, which can also accommodate up 
to 20 students. For the last few years, the program has also had access to project and workshop space 
that has allowed students to engage in active hands-on project and fabrication activities that are very 
important for their employability. The recent loss of the project space and adjacent workshop will prove 
challenging for the program. Replacement fabrication and project space will be required in order to 
maintain student satisfaction with the program’s facilities and the quality of their education, as well as to 
accommodate the planned increased number of students. We refer the reader to Chapter 5 (Resources, 
Services, and Facilities), where these issues are explored more fully. 

 

Does the program have effective outreach to ensure demand? 
 
Overall, faculty are keen to increase and improve promotion of the program. In response to question 3 of 
the faculty survey, only 27% agreed that the program is being adequately promoted, with 47% 
disagreeing. As one respondent to the faculty survey stated: “The program is not being promoted the way 
it should. There is a huge capacity here and I don't think the importance of the program is well advertised. 
Students would gain skills that are directly applicable to industrial needs. This alone should attract 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 38 

students not only within Canada but also across the globe” (Q7 faculty survey). A similar comment was 
made in response to question 8 of the student survey: “advertise it more so people would know about it. 
I found it by chance and didnt know beforehand that it existed.”  
 
Promotion has two facets: (1) attracting students and (2) promoting to industry to raise the program’s 
profile and help facilitate opportunities for our students and graduates. 
 
 
Attracting students 
 
As shown in Exhibit 5.1 of the administrative data report, and by our earlier analysis of retention rates, 
there is a large untapped potential for increasing the number of students in the program through better 
retention of current KPU students. The department has therefore identified a need to promote the 
program more to existing KPU students and has begun discussing how to do this (for example through 
more explicit promotion of the program to students in our first-year courses). As discussed above, we also 
recommend a Faculty-wide response to tackle this.  
 
Of course, it will also be important to continue promoting the program to high school students. The need 
for this is borne out by the fact that in response to question 3 in the student survey, only 23% say they 
heard about the program via a KPU visit to their high school or via teachers/counsellors. Pre-pandemic, 
promotion to high school students involved in-person events such as open houses, high school visits, 
promotion to high school counsellors, attendance at science fairs, as well as large annual competitions 
that the department organized for high school students such as the Kwantlen Science Challenge and the 
Junior Physics and Engineering Challenge. Although we have participated in several virtual events during 
the pandemic, we are looking forward to returning to more in-person promotional events. The Future 
Students Office at KPU have been very helpful in involving us in their promotions to high schools and we 
should ensure that we continue to engage with them as more in-person events take place.  
 
Only 8% of student survey respondents said that they heard about the program through social media (Q3 
student survey). This tells us that an increased presence on social media will also be an important part of 
our promotional efforts. This has begun with the recent designation of a faculty member as our social 
media liaison/facilitator and has resulted in an increased frequency of posts to our facebook page. To help 
coordinate all of this, we had a recent meeting with our Faculty’s Communications and Events Specialist 
and will be working with them over the summer (2022) and beyond.  
 
We have also identified international recruitment as a priority. As mentioned above: “A reasonable goal 
for PMT would be to reach the FSH average of approximately 35%.” To help achieve this, we should learn 
more about how KPU recruits international students and find out if it is possible for KPU’s international 
recruiters and agents to promote our program more abroad. 
 
In the past, PMT faculty have promoted to local colleges that do not have their own physics degree and 
whose students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond the first- or second-year level. This has 
involved visits to Langara, Douglas, and VCC. We need to start doing that again. 
 
 
Promotion to industry 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 39 

Industry promotion happens through the various events and organizations that were mentioned earlier 
in this chapter. This is discussed in section 3.1 above. 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
As shown, there is great potential to increase enrollments through retention of existing KPU students. 
There is also a need to engage more with high school students. In light of the space issues identified above, 
and explored thoroughly in chapter 5, we note that it will be important to have a plan for accommodating 
the increase in student numbers. In addition to the importance of the Faculty-wide response identified 
above, we have additional recommendations for how the department can engage in promoting the PMT 
program: 
 

• Develop a coordinated action plan for promoting our program to students in our first-year classes. 
• Engage more with high school students through school visits, involvement in science fairs, and 

events hosted by us on campus. Seek the support of our Dean’s office (e.g. our Faculty’s 
Communications and Events Specialist) and the Future Students Office in these endeavours.  

• Develop an annual calendar of events (similar to what was recommended above for our 
interactions with industry).  

• Expand our presence on social media, particularly with a view to targeting potential students. 
• Renew promotional activities at local colleges that do not have physics degrees, and whose 

students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond the first- or second-year level. 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 40 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

As can be seen in the curriculum map that was discussed in chapter 2, most of the program’s PLOs are 
met in multiple courses. This is especially true of the PLOs involving physics knowledge, math knowledge, 
communication skills, and integration skills. Also very well represented are the PLOs involving laboratory 
skills, data analysis, computing, teamwork, and awareness of limits of knowledge.  

PLOs involving biology and chemistry are less well represented on the map. This is to be expected as they 
are not core topics in the program. The business PLO also does not feature strongly on the map. This is 
largely due to the fact that we have not included the two business electives on the map because there are 
many courses that can be taken to satisfy this requirement. 

The results from the student survey largely corroborate the above analysis of the curriculum map. Only 
53% of students said that the program helps them develop the business learning outcome to a large or 
moderate extent. The figure for biology was very similar, at 54%. However, the result for chemistry was 
significantly larger, with 77% of students saying that the program helps them develop the chemistry 
learning outcome to a large or moderate extent. For all other PLOs, more than 80% of students say the 
program is helping to develop them to a large or moderate extent. 

 

Are appropriate experiential learning opportunities provided to help student acquire the learning 
outcomes? 

Responses to question 6 of the faculty survey highlight projects and hands-on work as strengths of the 
program. We consider a lot of the program’s content to fall into the category of experiential learning. As 
has been previously discussed, the program emphasizes hands-on learning, with more lab-based and 
fewer theoretical courses than a standard physics degree. The extended 3rd and 4th year student projects 
are also highly experiential, as is the work experience component of the program. Areas in which students 
gain work experience have previously been discussed. To give the reader a flavour of the kinds of project 
that upper-level PMT students undertake, this is the list of projects that were presented by 3rd and 4th 
year students at the end of the spring 2022 semester: 

• LIDAR navigation for a semi-autonomous weeding robot 

• Using machine-learning algorithms to classify star forming regions 

• Phase-locked loop for quartz tuning fork sensors 

• A sun-tracking solar panel 

• Soft-actuator pick and place robot 

• External-cavity carbon-dioxide laser 

• Predicting micro-satellite constellation locations for astrophotography 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 41 

• Comparison of CMOS and CCD cameras for Raman spectroscopy 

As can be seen, students pursue hands-on experiential projects in a wide range of fields including 
astronomy, sensor technology, clean energy technology, machine learning, robotics, and optics (among 
others). 

Communication skills are another important aspect of experiential learning and those are emphasized 
throughout the program in the form of oral presentations, poster presentations, report writing, teamwork 
etc. Survey responses give us confidence that the program is meeting the experiential learning needs of 
its students: 

92% of students and 88% of alumni agree that the program provides sufficient opportunities to reinforce 
learning through practical application (Q12 student survey and Q14 alumni survey).  

A majority of alumni said that work experience (76%) and projects (100%) contributed to their learning to 
a moderate or large extent (Q15 alumni survey). 

An important aspect of experiential learning in the program is the quality of the space, technology, and 
facilities that allow that learning to take place. Students expressed very high levels of satisfaction with the 
specialized technology and facilities in the program (Q20 student survey). Although faculty’s assessment 
of this was also mostly positive (Q22 faculty survey), it was not as enthusiastic as the student response – 
this will be discussed further in chapter 5 on Resources, Services, and Facilities.  

 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

Responses to question 11 of the student survey show that students feel that the program is helping them 
develop most of the essential skills, apart from leadership skills (31%) and intercultural skills (38%). 
Although intercultural skills are not something the program focuses on explicitly, students are exposed to 
people (fellow students and faculty) of diverse backgrounds and from other programs (e.g. School of 
Design, Sustainable Agriculture). These experiences will serve them well when they go on to work in 
industry, where physicists work with people with a variety of backgrounds and expertise. This is supported 
by the alumni survey, where 76% of respondents report that the program helped them develop 
intercultural skills. Leadership is also not something the program focuses on, however students do gain 
some project management experience in their fourth-year projects (PHYS 4199/4299), which is an 
important aspect of leadership. We note that 63% of alumni say that the program helped them develop 
leadership skills. The difference in the student and alumni responses suggests that by the time they have 
finished the program, students have gained awareness of how much they have learned in these areas. 

 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 

The program has been designed with progression in mind, with prerequisites and content chosen to help 
students transition smoothly from one level to the next. This aspect of the program’s design is borne out 
in the survey results.  

75% of faculty are satisfied with students’ preparation for 2000-level courses (Q10 faculty survey) and 
83% are satisfied with students’ preparation for 3000-level and 4000-level courses (Q12 faculty survey). 
Overall, 92% of faculty agree that the prerequisites prepare students for more advanced courses (Q15 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 42 

faculty survey). 92% of students agree that the prerequisites prepare them for more advanced courses 
(Q13 student survey), and 83% of alumni agree that the prerequisites prepared them for more advanced 
courses. 

Exhibit 17 in the administrative data report also suggests that students are well prepared for subsequent 
courses. As can be seen in the data for the 2020/21 academic year, mean grades increase significantly as 
students progress from L1 to L4. In addition, the DFW and repeat rates decrease as students progress 
from L1 to L4. 

 

Does instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

The program encompasses many learning and teaching modes. Classes and labs generally involve a lot of 
student-student and student-instructor interaction and involve activities and modes such as problem 
solving, group work, lecturing, student presentations, coding, and experiments, to name a few. As such, 
the program is designed for hands-on, practical, active learners and is less suited to passive learners. 

Third- and fourth-year projects are somewhat self-paced and allow students to be more self-directed 
(especially the fourth-year projects, and with appropriate levels of supervision of course).  

Survey results suggest that the program is meeting the needs of our learners: 

92% of student respondents agreed that their instructors accommodate their learning needs (Q14 student 
survey) and 92% of students say they are satisfied with the instruction they have received in the program 
(Q15 student survey). 92% of faculty agree that “multiple learning modalities are accommodated” in the 
program (Q16 faculty survey) and 90% are satisfied with the quality of instruction across the program 
(Q17 faculty survey). In addition, 100% of alumni respondents say they are satisfied with the instruction 
they received in the program (Q17 alumni survey). Instructors’ attention to the needs of each learner is 
also demonstrated in one student’s response to question 16: “Instructors show care to teach each 
individual student.” 

 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 
 
Instructors’ use of a wide variety of assessment methods ensures that there are multiple ways in which 
students can demonstrate their achievement of the learning outcomes. The types of work and activity 
that are assessed include written exams, practical hands-on exams, written assignments, oral 
presentations, poster presentations, formal written reports, reflective writing, laboratory record 
keeping, and computer programming (coding). 
 
The survey results show a high level of satisfaction with the program’s range of assessment methods 
(Q18 student survey, Q20 alumni survey, Q20 faculty survey). 100% of students and alumni and 91% of 
faculty agree that the range of assessments let students demonstrate what they have learned. Between 
88% and 100% of students, alumni, and faculty agree that information from instructors on evaluation 
methods is clear and that assessment methods are consistent throughout the program. 100% of 
students and 88% of alumni agree that instructors provide useful feedback. In addition, 92% of faculty 
agree that assessment methods align with program learning outcomes. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 43 

 

Summary and Recommendation 
 
Feedback from students and alumni noted above indicates that the current design and delivery of the 
curriculum and assessment methods in the program are meeting students’ needs. We will not remain 
complacent though. We will investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a means for 
students to reflect on their progress. 
 
Recommendation: Investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a means for students 
to reflect on their progress. 
 

4.2. Student Success  

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 

A satisfactory grade is considered to be a “C” or above. Exhibits 12 and 13 in the administrative data report 
represent the cumulative grade distribution of PMT and FSH students, respectively, from 2016/17 to 
2020/21. On average, over the last 5 years, 68.6% of PMT students achieved grade C or higher. This result 
is very similar to the average of 69.8% for FSH students over the same period. In addition, the overall 
mean grade and repeat rate of PMT students (Exhibits 14 & 15) are very similar to the FSH average. The 
increase in overall PMT DFW rate in 20/21 (Exhibit 16), as well as the slight increase in repeat rate in that 
year (relative to FSH), may be explained by the pandemic and the move to online learning, which may 
have affected physics students more than others in FSH.  

While Exhibits 12 to 16 indicate the overall performance of students across all levels of the program, the 
performance of students in each level (for the 2021/21 academic year) can be gauged via Exhibit 17. Even 
though Physics is considered to be a difficult subject, Exhibit 17 shows a great improvement of the mean 
GPA of the students from level 1 to level 4. On its own, this increase in GPA suggests that students are 
progressing very well from one level to the next. However, the DFW rates at levels 1 and 2 (i.e. first- and 
second-year) are significantly higher than the FSH average. We could examine pre-pandemic data to try 
to discern if this is a consistent feature from year-to-year or if it is a result of the change of teaching modes 
necessitated by the pandemic. We note that the move from in-person to online learning likely had a 
significant impact on our students due to the hands-on nature of the program. 

 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 

The most basic measure of progress through the program is time to completion. Using the data in Exhibit 
20 of the administrative data report, it can be seen that the average completion time over the last four 
years (2017/18 to 2020/21) has been 5.7 years. This is comparable to the average of 5.4 years for FSH 
bachelor’s degrees over the same period (Exhibit 21). 

Although PMT students’ completion times are not cause for concern, some survey responses suggest that 
students feel their progress through the program could be faster (Q13 student survey). For example, 54% 
of students disagree with the statement “I am able to take the prerequisite courses when I need them” 
and 46% disagree with the statement “The range of courses offered each term is adequate.” Although 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 44 

75% of alumni agreed that the range of courses offered each term was adequate (Q16 alumni survey), 
several respondents also said that limited availability of courses was a factor in them taking longer than 
four years to complete the program (Q6 alumni survey). 

Alternation of 3rd and 4th year course offerings, as well as the fact that the program’s 2nd year courses are 
only offered once per year, are likely the reasons for low satisfaction with availability of courses. The 
ability to offer courses more frequently (especially the ability to offer all 3rd and 4th year courses 
concurrently) will require us to attract more students to the program. As has been discussed, the 
department is dedicated to growing the program within the next few years, which will allow a broader 
range of courses to be taught each semester. 

Since 2018, when the first student graduated from the program, there have been an average of three 
graduations per year (Exhibit 18), which is comparable to the graduation rate from physics degree 
programs at other BC institutions such as UNBC and TRU (Exhibit 18.1). This year, at least six PMT students 
are expected to graduate, which will be a record year. However, as mentioned, the department is 
dedicated to further increasing the number of PMT graduates in the coming years. 

 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

PMT is designed not to only address industrial needs but also to provide sufficient knowledge for students 
to continue their education if they desire. This is well reflected in the alumni survey since 75% of 
respondents are working in industry and 25% decided to continue their educations at other institutes such 
as SFU, UBC, & BCIT (see Q.21-24 Alumni Survey). Both of the graduates who pursued further education 
agree that the PMT program prepared them well for further education. 

Although the program is designed to prepare students to work in industry, when designing and launching 
the program we could not predict how successful the program would be in that regard. However, we are 
proud to see that six out of eight alumni survey respondents say they are currently employed in a field 
related to what they studied at KPU (the other two having pursued further education). Of those six, five 
are in permanent positions and one is in a contract position. As seen from responses to questions 28 and 
29, alumni are working in a wide variety of roles in the tech sector, with job titles of Manufacturing 
Technician, Software Developer, Cyclotron Operator/Engineering Technologist, Data Scientist, and 
Hardware Systems Technician. In addition to survey respondents, we are aware of other alumni who are 
working as Manufacturing Technician, and others in the roles of Electromechanical Technician and 
Technical Support. One of our alumni, who started off in the role of Product Manager after graduation, 
has been promoted to the position of OEM Business Development Manager. 

While, in total, 100% of alumni to some extent agree that the program prepared them for industry, 57% 
of them strongly agree with it. This strength of the program is further underscored in the responses to 
question 34, where 100% of our graduates say they would be “confident hiring someone … who graduated 
from this program”. 

 
Summary and Recommendation 
 
The feedback above strongly indicates that the current program is meeting its primary objective of 
training physicists for industry. We will continue to stay in contact with our graduates and the PAC to 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 45 

ensure that we continue to meet this objective. The above analysis also provides us with evidence that 
can be used as a marketing tool to increase enrolment.  
 
Recommendation: Incorporate more examples of student success into the promotion of the program. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 46 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

In general, students report positively on the library services that they use (Q19 student survey). For 
example, students widely use and are happy with the library’s provision of audio-visual and computer 
equipment, books, ebooks, and online journals, which are probably the most important services to 
students from faculty’s point of view. The lower usage of some items (e.g. DVDs and print journals) can 
probably be attributed to obsolescence and the wide availability of online resources.  Faculty responses 
showed lower levels of library usage (Q19 faculty survey). However, for those who do use the services, 
the responses were generally favourable.  

Recommendation: 

As a department, we should discuss and identify library resources that we might want to use. This could 
involve a more detailed survey of faculty to find out how library resources are currently used in our 2nd, 
3rd, and 4th year courses. This will help us determine if we could be making better use of library resources. 

 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Since the program is very applied and hands-on and aims to prepare students to work in the tech sector, 
a lot of specialized software and equipment is needed to deliver the curriculum. The importance of 
equipment and software is also underscored in the alumni survey, in which 100% of respondents said the 
PLO involving operation of laboratory equipment was relevant to their career goals and 88% said the PLO 
involving use and development of software was relevant to their career goals (Q7 alumni survey). Some 
of the program’s equipment and software is broadly used in many courses and some is specific to a certain 
course or courses.  

Equipment that is broadly used throughout the program includes standard laboratory instruments such 
as oscilloscopes, function generators, power supplies, and multimeters. For a list of more specialized 
equipment that students use, see the table in Appendix IJ. We also have a library of classroom 
demonstrations that instructors use to illustrate concepts in the classroom, particularly for first- and 
second-year courses. 

The program also has a range of specialized equipment that is used by students for their third- and fourth-
year student projects (depending on the nature of each individual project). This includes, for example, 3D 
printers, equipment for fabricating microfluidic devices, a spin coater, and a PCB (printed circuit board) 
printer. Last year the program was also very fortunate to acquire a scanning electron microscope (SEM) 
by donation from local company Ballard Power Systems, which has so far been used for student projects, 
class demonstrations, and also by faculty from other departments. At the same time as acquiring the SEM, 
a sputter coater was also purchased, which is needed to coat samples with a conducting (e.g. gold) film 
so that they can be imaged with the SEM. 

Survey responses are favourable, with 100% of students expressing satisfaction with lab equipment and 
90% of faculty saying that the lab equipment meets the program’s needs extremely well or very well (Q20 
student survey, Q22 faculty survey). In addition, 100% of students and 100% of alumni said that the 
program is helping them (or did help them) develop the ability to “Choose, assemble (soldering, 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 47 

connecting, powering, and interfacing components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform 
experiments and collect data” to a large or moderate extent (Q10 student survey, Q12 alumni survey). 

Satisfaction with software among students and alumni is also high. 92% of students are satisfied with the 
program’s software (Q20 student survey). In addition, 84% of students and 100% of alumni said that the 
program is helping them (or did help them) develop the ability to “Use, adapt, and develop software to:  
interface with equipment; collect, visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems” to a large or moderate extent (Q10 student survey, Q12 alumni survey). Faculty 
satisfaction with software is not quite as high, with 60% saying that it meets the needs of the program 
extremely well or very well (Q22 faculty survey). The department should investigate this further to find 
out how we can improve in this area and if there is additional software we could be making use of. 

 

Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Description of special facility requirements 

First-year PMT labs are taught on both the Richmond and Surrey campuses. This includes labs for PHYS 
1101/1120, and PHYS 1102/1220, which are taken by students in many programs in addition to PMT, and 
for PHYS 1600, which is taken by PMT students (but is also open to other students). For these courses, the 
department has two laboratory rooms on each campus, with each room accommodating up to 20 
students. (The same rooms also accommodate some second-year PMT courses as well as labs for the 
engineering program, preparatory physics courses, and the department's astronomy courses.)  

The program’s 2nd, 3rd, and 4th year labs are largely taught in room 3310 on the Richmond campus, which 
can also accommodate up to 20 students. 

Although many of the 3rd and 4th year student projects are housed in room 3310, for the last few years we 
have had access to project and workshop space that has allowed students to engage in active hands-on 
project and fabrication activities that are very important for their employability. This was a space where 
students could leave their projects set up and work on them outside of (as well as during) scheduled 
project hours (leaving projects set up in room 3310 is problematic as the room is used for many other 
courses). This space also housed important project equipment such as 3D printers, a PCB printer, 
microfluidics equipment, chemical storage (fridge and cabinet), and a spin coater (among others), as well 
as specific student projects that make heavy use of that equipment and that are difficult to accommodate 
in 3310. Adjacent to the project space is a fabrication workshop, which has allowed the program to meet 
its metalwork and woodworking needs.  

Other specialized space includes room 3260, which houses the recently acquired scanning electron 
microscope (SEM) and sputter coater. This room also houses a scanning tunneling microscope (used by 
PHYS 4700 students) and a white light interferometric profilometer, which has been built and used in a 
number of upper-level student projects. The room has also served as a space for other student projects 
that require very low light levels. It also houses several telescopes, which are used in the department’s 
introductory astronomy courses.  

The department’s fabrication facilities and space are also used to support many departmental activities 
beyond the PMT program, including labs for the hundreds of non-PMT preparatory and first year physics 
students, as well as outreach activities (for example 3D printing parts for demonstrations). Other 
departments also use our fabrication and workshop facilities for maintenance of their equipment, and 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 48 

they also use our advanced equipment for scholarly activity (e.g. the Institute for Sustainable Food 
Systems has made use of our SEM)). These represent cost savings for the university as external repair and 
direct purchases are expensive. 

Some student projects (for example, fabrication of microfluidic devices and investigation of polymers) 
require use of a fume hood for working with chemicals. Although the department does not have a fume 
hood, the departments of chemistry and sustainable agriculture have been very generous in allowing us 
to use their facilities. 

Some student activities also make use of the wider campus. For example, PHYS 2100 students have 
mapped the vibrational characteristics of the campus and have also made use of the height of the third 
floor to perform air drag experiments. In addition, PHYS 4700 students use a section of a common area 
on the third floor to perform their Earth’s Field Nuclear Magnetic Resonance experiments, as it is an area 
where the local magnetic field is relatively homogeneous (a requirement of the experiment). 

An important and growing aspect of our first-year labs is the CloudLab. This allows students to perform 
labs remotely – they use a computer to log in from anywhere and control equipment that is located on 
our campus. As well as KPU’s first-year physics students, the CloudLab has also been used by students at 
Langara College and the University of Regina. The experiments, once complete, are housed in several 
display cases on the Richmond campus. Development space is also needed. Recently, teh the department 
was notified that the CloudLab development lab is being reassigned to the new Centre for Entertainment 
Arts. As of this writing, we are awaiting a replacement room to be assigned to CloudLab. 

 

Survey responses 

(Note that the surveys were performed before we learned that we would lose access to the project and 
workshop space and the CloudLab development space.) 

Students express strong satisfaction with the program’s facilities: 93% are satisfied with lab space; 85% 
are satisfied with 3rd/4th year project space; and 85% are satisfied with fabrication/workshop facilities 
(Q20 student survey). Faculty are less positive: 72% say that lab space meets the program’s needs 
extremely or very well; 50% say the 3rd/4th year project space meets the program’s needs extremely or 
very well (though 20% have not used); 50% say the fabrication/workshop facilities meet the program’s 
needs extremely or very well (though 30% have not used) -- Q22 faculty survey. 

  

Summary and Recommendation 

The recent loss of the project space and adjacent workshop will prove challenging for us. Replacement 
fabrication and project space will be required to maintain student satisfaction with the program’s facilities 
(see discussion of survey results below) and the quality of their education, as well as to accommodate the 
planned increased number of students. Suitable replacement space for the CloudLab development work 
will also be required. 

Recommendation: Work with and seek the support of the relevant authorities at KPU to ensure the 
program has sufficient space to maintain quality and accommodate the planned increase in student 
numbers. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 49 

Does the program have the other support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Both faculty and students were asked about their satisfaction with the bookstore, advising services, career 
services, and accessibility services (Q23 faculty survey, Q21 student survey). In addition, faculty were 
asked to rate KPU’s support for international students. 

Bookstore 

Both faculty and students report high levels of satisfaction with the availability of required texts at the 
KPU bookstore. 70% of faculty said the bookstore meets the program’s needs extremely well or very well, 
with 20% reporting “have not used / don’t know”. Similarly, 69% of students are satisfied with the 
availability of required texts at the bookstore, with 8% reporting “have not used”. The numbers of “have 
not used” responses may seem quite high, however this may reflect the fact that many faculty choose to 
use open educational resources (OER) for some of their courses. 

Advising 

Of student respondents who have used advising services, satisfaction levels are high. However, it is 
perhaps surprising that 23% have not used the service. Students are advised to meet with an advisor for 
declaration and to ensure they plan their courses appropriately. Perhaps the 23% who have not used the 
service are students who have not yet declared. In any case, it is important for students to meet with 
advisors early on to help ensure smooth progress through the program.  

Faculty also expressed some dissatisfaction with advising. Of those who did not choose “have not used / 
don’t know”, only half say that advising services meet the needs of the program extremely well or very 
well.  

Recommendation: Faculty should clarify among ourselves what our expectations are around advising and 
communicate with advisors about how the service can better meet the needs of the program. 

Career Services 

Most students (62% of respondents) have not directly used this service, but those who have are generally 
satisfied. It is likely that most students do not feel the need to contact Career Services as they get a lot of 
support in that regard from faculty in the program (for example, in searching for and applying for work 
experience positions). We note that the KPU Career Development Centre has been very helpful in 
providing workshops to PMT students on writing cover letters and resumes and preparing for interviews. 

Accessibility Services 

There was a mixed response from faculty and students to the question about accessibility services. A 
majority of students, and 30% of faculty, have not used the services. It is difficult to gauge the cause of 
this lack of use since the range of accessibility services provided at KPU is broad. 

Support for International Students 

80% of faculty responded “have not used / don’t know” to the question of how well KPU’s support for 
international students is meeting the needs of the program. This is not surprising, given that only a small 
fraction of PMT students are international, and faculty do not monitor the immigration status of students. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 50 

Recommendation: As part of the effort to increase enrollments, and in anticipation of an associated 
increase in international enrollments, faculty should familiarize ourselves with the services that KPU 
provides for international students. 

 

 

 

 

 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 51 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

6.1. Overview 
 
The curriculum review and self-study that informed this report have been great opportunities for 
examining the Physics for Modern Technology program in-depth. In some areas we are heartened to see 
that the program is doing well (for example instructional delivery and student success), in other areas 
the results are generally positive but with identified avenues for change (for example curriculum), and in 
other areas where improvement is clearly needed (for example student recruitment and retention) we 
are happy to have identified ways in which we can improve. In this chapter we briefly summarize the 
outcomes of each area of exploration and list the recommendations that were proposed in the 
preceding chapters of this report. 
 

6.2. Curriculum Review 

The program’s learning outcomes (PLOs) were developed for this review based on the content and desired 
outcomes of the program (we did not have an explicit list of PLOs prior to this program review). The 
subsequent curriculum mapping exercise, in which the alignment of course learning outcomes (CLOs) with 
the PLOs was assessed, has given us confidence that the PLOs are appropriate and are well-covered by 
the program as a whole. However, we did notice a lack of consistency from course-to-course in the way 
CLOs are written, both in terms of the number of PLOs (sometimes many, sometimes few) and the level 
of detail they contain (sometimes very detailed, sometimes lacking detail). When revising course outlines 
in future, and when writing new ones, faculty should try to ensure more consistency from course to 
course. Now that we have gone through this exercise, it will be possible to ensure that future new and 
revised course outlines will align well with the PLOs, which should also result in better consistency. Aside 
from those important general observations and conclusions, the examination of the CLOs and the 
curriculum mapping exercise did result in a concrete recommendation to better align the course learning 
outcomes of PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 with current teaching practice in the department. 

In addition to the curriculum mapping exercise, our analysis of survey responses when examining the 
relevance of the program’s curriculum in chapter 3 also resulted in some curriculum-related 
recommendations. These include investigations of potential changes to existing content of the program 
as well as suggestions for new topics to include. Several of the areas of potential curricular change 
(computer programming, biology, and mathematics) that were identified in the surveys were also 
identified by faculty in chapter 1 prior to the administering of the surveys. 

We note that the PAC should be consulted on any revisions before implementation. In addition to the 
topics identified here, the PAC should also be surveyed regularly on potential topics to ensure the program 
stays relevant. We also note that, depending on what kinds of outcomes emerge from the recommended 
assessments and investigations listed below, it may be necessary to revisit the program’s breadth 
requirement in order to create room for new topics (or for expansion of existing topics) in the program. 

Overall, the curriculum mapping exercise and the examination of the program’s relevance have led to the 
following recommendations:  

• Update the PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 course outlines to better align them with current practice.  



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 52 

• Assess whether or not the biology content of the program needs to be changed. Although there 
have been good reasons for including biology in the program (such as ensuring alignment with 
KPU’s BSc Framework, providing breadth of education, and preparing students for potential 
careers in the biotechnology sector), the survey results suggest that the biology requirement and 
its relevance to the program should be reviewed. 

• Investigate ways in which the computing content of the program can be strengthened. The need 
for this is a common theme among survey respondents and has also been identified by faculty 
prior to this program review (with some work on looking into the issue already begun).  

• The faculty survey points to the need to review the content and structure of the mathematics 
component of the program. The need for this was also identified by faculty prior to the surveys. 

• Investigate the suitability of the new topics that were identified by survey respondents for 
inclusion in the program. These include: clean technology; artificial intelligence and machine 
learning; data science; RF (radio frequency) technology; statistics; statistical physics; 
astronomy/astrophysics. 

 

6.3. Program Relevance & Student Demand 

(As noted above, our analysis of the relevance of the programs curriculum resulted in several 
recommendations which have been listed in the curriculum review section above.) 

Discipline/sector connections 

Because the PMT program was designed to prepare students to work in the tech sector, faculty have tried 
to create and maintain close and multiple connections with local tech companies since the program’s 
inception. Having said that, our analysis of survey responses and the program’s track record of engaging 
with industry and alumni shows that improvements can be made in this area, and we have the following 
recommendations: 

• Renew links with local professional associations such as the BC Tech Association and the BC 
section of the ISA. This will allow faculty and students to engage in the networking events that are 
organized by these associations, which will in turn raise the profile of the program and lead to 
more opportunities (for student work experience, for collaborative projects, and for jobs post-
graduation). 

• Organize more events, both on- and off-campus. Suggestions from alumni and discipline/sector 
survey respondents include field trips, invited talks, and alumni/student competitions. We also 
recommend revisiting the idea of a student-industry networking evening on campus, which was 
held once several years ago and which could potentially become an annual event. In addition to 
ensuring ongoing engagement with industry and alumni (which would in turn lead to more 
opportunities for our students), such extracurricular events would increase the visibility of the 
program on campus, thus providing an opportunity to attract and retain more of our many first-
year students. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 53 

• Develop an annual calendar of events. This would include both internal and external events of the 
kind described above. It would help to keep us accountable and would help ensure that events 
stay ‘on our radar’ from year to year. 

• Develop a LinkedIn profile for the program to allow us to engage more with industry online. This 
was suggested in the alumni survey and would be part of a broader effort to have a more 
substantial and consistent presence on social media in general. This is also related to promotion 
of the program (see below). 

 

Indigenization 

When the PMT program was developed and launched, indigenization was not a prominent educational 
endeavour, but we recognize that it is now a big goal for KPU and the wider Canadian educational 
community. Although some of the department’s teaching practices align with recognized ways in which 
programs can decolonize and indigenize, and the department also engages in outreach with the local 
Indigenous community, we recognize that more can be done to educate ourselves in this area, and we 
have the following recommendation: 

• We recommend that faculty discuss and develop a clear understanding of what indigenization 
means for our program. We will also seek guidance from KPU’s Indigenous Advisory Committee. 

 

Faculty Qualifications and Currency 

Our analysis of faculty qualifications and currency demonstrates that faculty and staff are well qualified 
and well prepared to deliver the curriculum. There is a wide range of expertise in the department that 
allows a broad range of courses to be taught as well as the supervision of more specialized upper-level 
student projects. Professional development activities also ensure that faculty and staff are able to remain 
current in their areas of expertise and in the scholarship of teaching. However, we identify contingency 
planning (for example for retirements and/or unexpected absences) as an important area in which we can 
improve. We also identify the importance of research and the need to stay involved in KPU's exploration 
of the role of scholarly activity in the institution. The following are our recommendations in this area:  

• Prior to a new hire, the department should have a discussion on gaps any retirements will create. 
In addition, the department should have regular discussions with the Program Advisory 
Committee about topics in physics that are growing in importance to Industry and conversely 
topics that are declining. These discussions should drive hiring criteria.  

• Alternate instructors for second-, third-, and fourth-year courses should be designated. Current 
instructors should be asked to develop a package of teaching materials such as a detailed course 
outline, teaching notes, sample examinations, sample projects, and the like. Course instructors 
and their alternates should meet to discuss the course and the materials. If possible, hiring lists 
for the courses should be kept for hiring on short notice.  

• Research is crucial to the success of students in the PMT program. The Physics Department should 
continue to have representation on Faculty and Senate committees considering the future of 
scholarly activity at KPU. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 54 

 

Diversity, retention, and promotion 

Our analysis of the make-up of our student body reveals that female students and international students 
are under-represented in the program. We recommend that the department looks at the 
underrepresentation of women through a broader gender diversity lens that includes examination of 
diversity among faculty and staff as well as students. For international students, we believe that the 
applied nature of our program should appeal to international students who are seeking to pursue a career 
in Canada. We also note that attracting more international students would have a large positive impact 
on the revenue generated by the program.  

Our analysis of the data also shows that retention of students is low (both in PMT and in FSH in general) 
and that there is great potential to increase enrollments through retention of existing KPU students. There 
is also a need to engage more with high school students. In light of the space issues identified (particularly 
in chapter 5), we note that it will be important to have a plan for accommodating the increase in student 
numbers. 

Overall, our analysis of both the data in the administrative data report and the surveys has led us to the 
following recommendations for dealing with the issues of diversity, retention, and promotion: 

• We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the 
department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to try to identify strategies for redressing the 
imbalance. 

• To help achieve this goal of reaching the FSH average of 35% international students, we should 
learn more about how KPU recruits international students and find out if it is possible for KPU’s 
international recruiters and agents to promote our program more abroad. 

• Since the low retention rate is a Faculty-wide issue, we recommend that chairs and Faculty Council 
discuss this and initiate a Faculty-wide response. Our department’s Faculty Council 
representatives can communicate the need for this to Faculty Council, and our department chair 
can bring this up with the other department chairs and program coordinators. (We note that, at 
the time of writing, these communications have just begun.)   

• Develop a coordinated action plan for promoting our program to students in our first-year classes. 

• Engage more with high school students through school visits, involvement in science fairs, and 
events hosted by us on campus. Seek the support of our Dean’s office (e.g. our Faculty’s 
Communications and Events Specialist) and the Future Students Office in these endeavours.  

• Develop an annual calendar of events (similar to what was recommended above for our 
interactions with industry).  

• Expand our presence on social media, particularly with a view to targeting potential students. 

• Renew promotional activities at local colleges that do not have physics degrees, and whose 
students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond the first- or second-year level. 

 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 55 

6.4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

We are very heartened that our analysis of the surveys indicates that the current design and delivery of 
the curriculum and assessment methods in the program are meeting PMT students’ needs. We will not 
remain complacent though. We will investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a 
means for students to reflect on their progress. 

In terms of student success, the survey feedback strongly indicates that the current program is meeting 
its primary objective of training physicists for industry. The program will continue to stay in contact with 
its graduates and the PAC to ensure that this objective continues to be met. The success of the program’s 
students has led us to another promotion-related recommendation. When the program launched we 
could only give hypothetical examples of what kinds of jobs and careers graduates might be able to 
pursue. Now that the success of PMT students has given us concrete examples, those examples should be 
used to attract more students to the program.  

The following are the recommendations that arose from our analysis of instructional delivery and student 
success: 

• Investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a means for students to reflect on 
their progress. 

• Incorporate more examples of student success into the promotion of the program. 

 

6.5. Resources, Services, and Facilities 

The major issue identified in chapter 5 is the loss of fabrication and project space, which was particularly 
important for 3rd and 4th year students. Surveys, which were carried out before the loss of the space, 
indicate a high level of student satisfaction with lab space, project space, and fabrication/workshop 
facilities. In order to maintain student satisfaction with the program’s facilities as well as the high quality 
of their hands-on education, replacement fabrication and project space will be required. This will also be 
needed to accommodate the planned increased number of students. Suitable replacement space for the 
CloudLab development work will also be needed.  

In this chapter, we also analyzed satisfaction with the services provided by KPU and how well they meet 
the needs of the program. The following issues were identified: 

Surveys show that students and faculty who use the library are generally satisfied. However, levels of 
usage are quite low, particularly among faculty.  

Knowledge and/or usage of advising services is also quite low, especially among faculty. Among those who 
have used or know about the services, student satisfaction is high and faculty satisfaction quite low. 

In addition, survey results show that the vast majority of faculty are unfamiliar with the services provided 
by KPU to support international students. 

Our analysis of resources, services, and facilities leads us to make the following recommendations: 

• Work with and seek the support of the relevant authorities at KPU to ensure the program has 
sufficient space to maintain quality and accommodate the planned increase in student numbers. 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 56 

• As a department, we should discuss and identify library resources that we might want to use. This 
could involve a more detailed survey of faculty to find out how library resources are currently 
used in our 2nd, 3rd, and 4th year courses. This will help us determine if we could be making better 
use of library resources. 

• Faculty should clarify among ourselves what our expectations are around advising and 
communicate with advisors about how the service can better meet the needs of the program. 

• As part of the effort to increase enrollments, and in anticipation of an associated increase in 
international enrollments, faculty should familiarize ourselves with the services that KPU provides 
for international students.   

 

 

 
 



Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report 57 

7. Appendices  

Appendices are provided in separate document. 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Physics for Modern Technology Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

 
 

APPENDICES 
 

Table of Contents: 
 

Appendix A: Course Requirements Page 2 
Appendix B: BSc Framework Page 4 
Appendix C: Career Pathways Map Page 8 
Appendix D: Curriculum Map Page 9 
Appendix E: Administrative Data Report Page 23 
Appendix F: Student Survey Report Page 38 
Appendix G: Faculty Survey Report Page 54 
Appendix H: Alumni Survey Report Page 71 
Appendix I: Discipline/Sector Survey Report Page 91 
Appendix J: List of Specialized Equipment Page 103 

 



Appendix A: Course Requirements for BSc Major in Physics for Modern Technology 

 
Year 1 Credits 
BIOL 1110 Introductory Biology I 4 
CHEM 1110 The Structure of Matter 4 
CHEM 1210 Chemical Energetics and Dynamics 4 
ENGL 1100 Introduction to University Writing 3 
PHYS 1600 Introduction to Modern Technology 3 
MATH 1120 
or MATH 1130 

Differential Calculus (recommended) 
or Calculus for Life Sciences I 

3 

MATH 1220 
or MATH 1230 

Integral Calculus 
or Calculus for Life Sciences II 

3 

Select one of the following: 4 
PHYS 1101 Physics for Life Sciences I   
PHYS 1120 Physics for Physical and Applied Sciences I 

(recommended) 
  

Select one of the following: 4 
PHYS 1102 Physics for Life Sciences II   
PHYS 1220 Physics for Physical and Applied Sciences II 

(recommended) 
  

One Breadth Elective 3 
  Credits 35 
   
Year 2 
MATH 2721 Complex Numbers and Linear Algebra 3 
MATH 2821 Multivariate and Vector Calculus 3 
PHYS 2010 Modern Physics 3 
PHYS 2030 Classical Mechanics 3 
PHYS 2040 Thermal Physics 3 
PHYS 2100 Experimental Physics 3 
PHYS 2420 Intermediate Electricity and Magnetism 3 
PHYS 2600 Electronics 3 
PHYS 2610 Sensors and Actuators 3 
One Breadth Elective 3 
  Credits 30 
   
Year 3 
CHEM 2315 Analytical Chemistry 4 
PHYS 3610 Introduction to Control 3 
PHYS 3620 Process Control 3 
PHYS 3700 Signal and Image Processing 3 
PHYS 3710 Applied Optics & Optoelectronics 3 
PHYS 3900 Project in Physics & Technology 3 
PHYS 3950 Work Experience - Part I 3 

2



PHYS 3951 Work Experience - Part II 3 
PHYS 4900 Special Topics 3 
One Business Elective 3 
 
Year 3 includes work experience. Several courses in the Spring semester are taken in 
compressed mode, January to March, in order to make a longer period available for 
work placement. 

  

  Credits 31 
   
Year 4 
CHEM 4610 Instrumental Analysis 4 
PHYS 4010 Quantum Mechanics 3 
PHYS 4199 Senior Project I 3 
PHYS 4299 Senior Project II 3 
PHYS 4600 Programming for Instrumentation 3 
PHYS 4700 Solid State Physics: Theory and Practice 3 
Three Breadth Electives 9 
One Business Elective 3 
  Credits 31 
  Total Credits 127 

 
 
Electives 
As part of the major program, students are required to complete 21 credits of electives, including 6 
credits of Business Electives. These electives must satisfy the General Requirements for 18 credits of 
breadth as stated above. 
 
Breadth Electives 
Breadth electives must be selected from subject areas outside of Physics. No more than six of these 
credits may be from the Faculty of Science & Horticulture. 
 
Business Electives 
At least six credits (two courses) must be selected in consultation with Physics faculty to meet Business 
Elective requirements. Courses must be selected from: 

• Accounting (ACCT) – any course other than ACCT 1130 
• Business & Quantitative Methods (BUQU) – any course other than BUQU 1130 or BUQU 1230 
• Business (BUSI) – any course other than BUSI 1204 or BUSI 1209 
• Economics (ECON) – any course 
• Marketing (MRKT) – any course 

Upon successful completion of the PMT program, students are eligible to receive a Bachelor of Science. 
Transcripts will indicate a Major in Physics for Modern Technology. 
 

3



 

 

 

Appendix B 

 

BSc Framework 

4



General Framework for a Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) 
at Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

  
 
This version of the B.Sc. framework passed the Science Curriculum Committee, the Science and Horticulture 
Faculty Council, and SSCC on 1 June 2010, 14 June 2010, and 5 January 2011, respectively. 

The B.Sc. degree program is designed to provide students with a solid foundation in basic science, as well as the 
opportunity to specialize in their area of interest at the upper levels.  It includes a component of liberal education 
to ensure that students are able to access a variety of future educational and employment opportunities, to 
participate actively in collegial discussion and to contribute constructively to the body of scientific knowledge.  

The program is also designed to provide students with the following: 

1) An integrated educational experience that develops critical awareness of issues of cultural and global well 
being particularly as they relate to the scientific knowledge base. 

2) An integrated educational experience that develops problem solving and analytic skills to be used in the 
workplace or in further study after graduation, and also to be used in making decisions as an informed citizen. 

3) An integrated educational experience that enhances skills in written and spoken English, and enables 
effective communication and constructive contributions to the scientific knowledge base. 

 

Framework  
  
All students seeking to graduate with a Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) degree from Kwantlen Polytechnic University 
must complete all of the following requirements:  
 
 A minimum of 120 credits and a minimum of 40 courses total at the post-secondary level.1 (Note that in this 

document the word “course” refers to a course of at least 3 credits.)  At least 45 of these credits (15 
courses) must be at the 3000 or 4000 level. 

 
 A minimum 6 credits writing requirement, including at least 3 credits from ENGL 1100 or any other 

designated by Senate as meeting writing-intensive guidelines.    

 A minimum 3 courses (9 credits) in MATH2, and a minimum of 4 credits in each of BIOL, CHEM, and 
PHYS.3,4    

 3 credits of statistics5 (which could be included in the 3 MATH courses).    

 A minimum 66 science6 credits (including at least 5 courses with a lab component4), with at least 30 credits 
of the 66 science credits at the 3000 and 4000 level.  This must include at least 9 credits (minimum 3 
courses) at the 4000 level.   

 A minimum 18 credits breadth requirement7, including at least 1 course at the upper level.    

 A minimum of a passing grade (D or better) in all courses counting towards the B.Sc., with a cumulative 
GPA of 2.0 or higher.    

 To meet residency expectations, at least 50% of all courses for the B.Sc.,8 and at least 66% of upper level 
courses for the B.Sc., will be completed at Kwantlen Polytechnic University.  

 

 

 

5



 

General Framework for a Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) 
at Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

 
APPENDIX 1 

 
1  Courses numbered 1099 or lower (such as CHEQ 1094 or MATQ 1093) cannot be counted towards a 
Bachelor of Science degree.  
 
2
 At least 3 credits in MATH must be from MATH 1120, MATH 1130, or MATH 1140 (with a C+ or better). 

 
3  ASTR 1100, ASTR 1105, ASTR 3110, ASTR 3111, ENVI 3112, ENVI 2405, MATH 1115, MATH 1116, MATH 
1117, MATH 1190, and PHYS 1112 cannot be counted as science credits towards a Bachelor of Science, but 
may be used as elective credits. CHEM 1101 cannot be used either as science or elective credits. BIOL 1112, 
CHEM 1105, MATH 1112, and PHYS 1100 cannot be counted as science or elective credits unless included in 
the degree requirements. 
 
4  As Mathematics is not a laboratory-based science, students pursuing a major in Math are only required to 
take 3 courses with a lab component from at least 2 disciplines of biology, chemistry, and physics. 

 
5  Specific mathematics requirements are generally prescribed in the course content for any Bachelor of 
Science degree.  Calculus 1 may be one of MATH 1120, MATH 1130, or MATH 1140 (with a C+ or better) and 
Calculus 2 may be one of MATH 1220, MATH 1230, or MATH 1240 (with a B- or better). Courses with 
considerable content overlap may only be counted once: (MATH 1120 or 1130 or 1140), (MATH 1220 or 1230), 
(MATH 2335 or 2341), for example.  The statistics courses must be coded “MATH” (i.e. MATH 2315 or 2335), 
unless they are offered at the 3000 or 4000 level, in which case a minimum of 6 MATH credits would be required. 
Students entering the degree who have already successfully completed an equivalent level of statistics to the 
one(s) prescribed in the degree may apply for course substitution.  
 
6  Specific biology, chemistry, mathematics and physics requirements are generally prescribed for any Bachelor 
of Science degree in these areas. Courses outside these fields may also qualify as science courses provided they 
are deemed to contain or demand sufficient quantitative reasoning (numerical, geometric, statistical, probabilistic), 
formal reasoning (mathematical or logically deductive) or scientific reasoning (involving the scientific method in 
general, and/or the methodology or content of a specific scientific discipline) as a base principle in their primary 
subject matter. These are usually prescribed in the specific degree requirements. Courses with considerable 
content overlap may only be counted once:  For example, BIOL 1112 or BIOL 1210, ENVI 1106 or CHEM 1110, 
ENVI 1206 or CHEM 1154 or CHEM 1210, CHEM 3310 or CHEM 2311, PHYS 1101 or PHYS 1120, PHYS 1102 
or PHYS 1220.  
 
7  At least 12 breadth credits must come from fields or courses not regarded as science courses as per the 
above defining criteria (see note #6) for science or mathematics. EDUC 4100 may be used as a breadth 
requirement.  Up to 6 credits of breadth may come from fields of science not prescribed in the specific 
requirements for that Bachelor of Science degree - these may include ASTR 1100, ASTR 1105, ASTR 3110, and 
ASTR 3111 from Note 3 above.  PHYS 1112 may also count towards the breadth requirement, but cannot count 
towards the physics requirement for the degree. 
 
8
  On an individual basis, students may apply to the appropriate program chair for an exemption to these 

expectations; however, Kwantlen policy B.14, Credit for Prior Learning, requires that no more than 75% of credits 
for graduation can be obtained through transfer credit and/or prior learning assessment.  
 

 

 

6



General Framework for Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) at Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University 

 
APPENDIX 2 

 
Requirements for B.Sc. Major and B.Sc. Minor Degrees 

 
 

In addition to satisfying the requirements of the General Framework, students wishing to graduate with a B.Sc. 
degree must also satisfy the requirements of one of the following options: 
 
B.Sc. Major 
Students wishing to complete a B.Sc. Major program must satisfy the specific requirements of that program as 
outlined in the institution’s academic calendar. 
 
B.Sc. Major and Minor 
Students wishing to complete a B.Sc. Minor degree must complete at least 15 credits at the 3000 and/or 4000 
levels in the subject area of the Minor.  Please note that individual departments and programs may stipulate 
further, or more specific, requirements in addition to these minimum requirements. 
 
If a student satisfies the requirements of both a B.Sc. Major program and a B.Sc. Minor, then they may graduate 
with both designations.  Note that the Major and Minor must be in different subject areas (for example, a student 
cannot graduate with both a Major and Minor in biology). 
 
B.Sc. Double Minor 
Students wishing to complete a B.Sc. Minor degree must complete at least 15 credits at the 3000 and/or 4000 
levels in the subject area of the Minor.  Please note that individual departments and programs may stipulate 
further, or more specific, requirements in addition to these minimum requirements. 
 
In order to graduate with a B.Sc. Double Minor, students must satisfy the requirements for B.Sc. Minor degrees in 
two different subject areas and must also complete at least one 4000 level directed studies, research, or work 
placement course. 
 
Other 
Students wishing to graduate with an option other than those listed above (for example, Double Major) must seek 
approval from all of the programs and departments involved. 
 

7



Appendix C: Career Pathways Map 
 

Graduates of the program may choose to go directly into employment, or to first pursue further study:  

 

Employment  Further Study 

Areas of Work 
Example Entry-Level 

Positions 
 Program Possible Outcomes 

Original Equipment 
Manufacturer (OEM) 

Data Science 

Software 

Particle Accelerator 
Development 

Mining Technology 

Robotics 

Green Energy 
Technology 

Government Lab 

 

Technical Advisor 

Product Specialist 

Service Engineer 

Junior Data Scientist 

Software Developer 

Hardware Systems 
Technician 

Engineering 
Technologist / Cyclotron 
Operator 

Electromechanical 
Technician 

Assembler 

 

 

 

MSc / PhD (entry may 
require completion of 
upgrading courses at 
receiving institution) 

 

 

Advanced technical role 
in high technology 
sector 

Research and 
development in high 
technology sector 

Postdoctoral researcher 

College or University 
professor 

 

 

Teacher training 

 

 

High school science / 
math teacher 

 

 

MBA (normally 
undertaken after a 
period of postgraduate 
employment) 

 

Management role in 
high technology sector 

 

 

8



 

 

 

Appendix D 

 

Curriculum Map 

 
In the curriculum map on the following pages, learning outcomes from courses in the PMT 
program were mapped onto the following Program Learning Outcomes: 

 

A student who successfully completes this program will have reliably demonstrated the ability to:  

1. analyze and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned fundamentals and applied 
Physics knowledge and concepts; 

2. analyze and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned fundamentals and applied 
Mathematics knowledge and techniques; 

3. apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical and practical problems; 

4. understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of Biology as they relate to physics and 
technology; 

5. apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas; 

6. appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology development; 
7. choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing components), and operate 

laboratory equipment to perform experiments and collect data; 
8. design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of experimental research; 
9. formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, analyzing, and 

evaluating data; 
10. use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, visualize and analyze 

data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical systems; 
11. work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors; 
12. recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills independently; 
13. develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, mathematics, technology, 

business, experience, practical skills, and communication skills. 
 

9



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

For each CLO, the PLO(s) it satisfies are indicated, and at which 
level. The three levels are:

Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate 
learning at an increasing level of proficiency of the program 
level outcome as well expanding complexity.
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate 
learning related to the program level outcome with an 
increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication 
or integrate the use of content or skills in multiple levels of 
complexity. 

PHYS 1101 I I I I I I I I I
Explain the concepts of vectors and their use in mechanics 
problems I I

I
I I

Apply Newton's laws of motion to point particles as well as 
extended objects I I

I
I I

Apply the concepts of work and energy to mechanics problems I I
I

I I
Apply the conservation laws to systems of particles I I I I I
Explain the basic concepts in simple harmonic motion, waves, 
sound, fluids and heat I I

I
I I

Use computers in the laboratory for the collection and analysis 
of data and in the presentation of results I I I I I I I I

PHYS 1102 I I I I I I I I I
Explain the concepts of currents, charges and electric fields in 
electrostatic and circuit problems I I I

I I
Explain the concepts involving moving charges in magnetic 
fields I I I

I I
Solve simple problems in finding magnetic fields produced by 
moving charges I I I

I I
Explain electromagnetic induction I I I I I
Solve both geometric and physical optics problems I I I I I
Explain some of the basic concepts of nuclear physics and 
radioactivity I I I

I I
Use computers in the laboratory for the collection and analysis 
of data and in the presentation of results I I

I
I I I I I

Discuss applications of course topics to the life sciences I I I I I
PHYS 1120 I I I I I I I I

Explain the concepts of vectors and their use in mechanics 
problems I I I I
Apply Newton's laws of motion to point particles as well as 
extended objects I I I I

Apply the concepts of Work and Energy to mechanics problems I I I I
Apply the conservation laws to systems of particles I I I I
Explain the basic concepts of oscillatory motion, waves, and 
sound I I I I

Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry‐level of complexity.

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

10



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Use computers in the laboratory for the collection and analysis 
of data and in the presentation of results I I I I I I I I

PHYS 1220 I I I I I I I I I
Explain the concepts of currents, charges and electric fields I I I I
Explain the concepts involving moving charges in magnetic 
fields I I I I

Solve simple problems in finding magnetic fields produced by 
moving charges I I I I

Explain electromagnetic induction I I I I
Solve both geometric and physical optics problems I I I I I
Explain some of the basic concepts of modern physics I I I I
Use computers in the laboratory for the collection and analysis 
of data and in the presentation of results I I I I I I I I

PHYS 1600 I I I I I I
 Write computer programs in the C programming language
Construct simple circuits on a breadboard, based on a 
microcontroller and Input/Output (IO) devices such as push‐
button switches and Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs)

I I I I I

Write simple programs in C to enable a microcontroller to 
receive and analyze input data I I I I I

Use measured data to control output I I I I I
Use and maintain a proper notebook
Function effectively in a group environment
Produce written and oral presentations on group project(s) I I I

PHYS 2010 D D I D D D
State the assumptions made by Einstein which led to the 
Special Theory of Relativity     D D D

State important implications of the theory of special relativity    D D D

Perform Lorentz transformation of space‐time coordinates 
under special relativity     D D D

Describe the invariants in special relativity and apply them in 
problem solving    D D D

Summarize the historical development of the theory of 
Quantum Mechanics    D D D D

Recognize the evidence for quantization in nature    D D
State the Schrödinger Equation, describe its significance, apply 
to simple problems     D D D D

Solve the Schrödinger Equation for a variety of simple potential 
functions    D D D

State the Uncertainty Principle and its applications   D D
Describe simple crystal structures   D I D
State the principles of band theory and apply to simple 
problems D D

Perform simple calculations involving the electronic properties 
of solids   D D D

11



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Understand the basic properties and operation of  D D D
PHYS 2030 D D I/D I I I/D

Solve dynamics problems involving time, space and velocity 
dependent forces using elementary calculus D D I/D I I

I or D
Show that a given equation of motion satisfies a given 
differential equation I I I/D I I

I or D
Solve the harmonic oscillator problem including the damped 
and forced cases D D I/D

I or D
Solve dynamics problems in standard three dimensional co‐
ordinate systems D D I/D

I or D
Solve dynamics problems in standard accelerated frames of 
reference, including rotating systems D D I/D

I or D
State the definitions of key fluid properties: density, flow rate, 
viscosity I I I

Apply fundamental fluid equations (continuity, mass/energy,...) 
to the solution of problems D D I/D

I or D
State and apply Euler's and Bernoulli's fluid laws  D D I/D I or D
Recognize the importance of dimensional analysis in the study 
of fluids and state several dimensionless ratios of interest such 
as Euler's number and Reynolds' number

D D I/D
I or D

PHYS 2040 D I I I I/D I D I
State the 4 laws of thermodynamics D I I I

Describe the operating principles of common thermometers D I D D D
Name standard themodynamic processes 
(isothermal,adiabatic, etc) D I I
Analyze common thermodynamic cycles for ideal gases in the 
pV plane D I I I I D
State several versions of the Second Law D I I I
 Describe several ‘real world’ heat engines D I I I
Define entropy macroscopically and statistically D I I I
Define thermodynamic potentials: Enthalpy, Free Energy D I I I
Describe Planck’s resolution of the ultraviolet catastrophe D I I I I

Perform calculations using the Stefan Boltzmann radiation law D I I I D
Apply thermodynamic principles to modern energy 
technologies such as solar panels and heat pumps D I I

PHYS 2100 D D D D I/D D D D D D
Describe the characteristics of, and demonstrate the operation 
of, common laboratory equipment such as oscilloscopes and 
function generators

D D D D I & D D D D D

Apply physical principles in designing, and choosing 
instrumentation for, physics experimentsUse electronic 
instrumentation as well as computers to acquire experimental 
data in physics experiments

D D D D I & D D D D D D

Organize and interpret experimental data in physics 
experiments D D D D I & D D D D D

12



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Use theoretical methods and computer software to analyze 
experimental data in physics experiments D D D D I & D D D D D D

Write a formal laboratory report on physics experiments D D D D I & D D D D D
PHYS 2420 D D D I D

Calculate electric field and electric potential for various charge 
distributions, incorporating the effects of dielectrics D D D

I D
Calculate magnetic fields for various current distributions, with 
or without the presence of matter D D D

I D
Calculate induced emfs D D D I D
Solve DC and AC circuit problems with standard circuit 
elements, using phasor and complex number representation 
where appropriate
Analyse the operation of the BJT in small‐signal amplifiers

PHYS 2600 D D D D I D D I D

Analyse and calculate voltage, current and power in AC and DC 
circuits containing resistors, capacitors, and inductors using 
phasor diagrams and complex variable mathematics

D D D D

Analyse circuits containing diodes and operational amplifiers D D D I D D

Use a microcontroller unit to measure voltages and currents in 
AC and DC circuits D D D D D D

Troubleshoot circuits that are not performing as expected D D D I D I D
Work with common laboratory tools such as function 
generators, oscilloscopes, and power supplies D D D I D D

Record data using a computer spreadsheet (e.g.MS Excel) D D
Write and present reports D D D D I D
Program in C D D D

PHYS 2610 D D I D D D D D
Choose an appropriate sensor and/or actuator for a particular 
measurement D D I D

D
Test and calibrate sensors and actuators D D D D D D D
Convert sensor output to physical quantities, e.g. convert a 
thermistor voltage to temperature in degrees Celsius D D D D

D

Interface a microcontroller unit (MCU) to a sensor and/or 
actuator and write a C program for the operation of the MCU

D
D

Interface a data acquisition module to a sensor and/or actuator 
and write a LabVIEW program for the operation of the module

D
D

Collect data using a computer spreadsheet (e.g. MS Excel) and 
use symbolic math programs (e.g. MAPLE) to aid in converting 
data

D D D D
D

PHYS 3610 D D I I/D I/D I/D I/D I/D D I/D
 Model physical systems in the  me and frequency domain D D I/D I/D I/D
Analyze the response of first and second order systems D D I/D I/D I/D

13



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Obtain the transfer function of linear systems D I/D I/D I/D
Model linear systems using block diagrams I/D I I/D I/D I/D I/D
Design on‐off controls systems with PLCs I I/D I/D I/D I/D I/D D I/D
Use software such as Matlab to model linear systems and to 
design classic control systems I/D I/D I/D I/D

I/D
Create basic programs in Ladder Logic to control industrial 
processes I/D I/D I/D I/D D I/D

Create logic circuits using pneumatic and hydraulic 
components and simulators I/D I/D I/D D

I/D
Read electrical, pneumatic and hydraulic schematics I/D I/D I/D I/D

PHYS 3620 I/D I/D I I/D D I/D I/D D D I/D
 Design feedback control systems using the root locus, 
frequency response and state space techniques I/D I I/D I/D I/D I/D

I/D
Use software such as Matlab to plot the root locus, Nyquist and 
Bode diagrams I/D I I/D I/D I/D I/D

I/D
Use software such as Matlab to simulate  feedback control 
systems using block diagrams I/D I I/D I/D I/D I/D

I/D
Build controllers using operational amplifiers I/D I/D I/D I/D D I/D
Work with laboratory equipment such as power supplies and 
oscilloscopes I/D D D

I/D
Read and interpret electrical schematics for motor controls I/D I/D I/D I/D
Control electric motors with a programable logic controller or a 
microcontroller I/D D D D D D

Read and interpret pipe diagrams I/D I/D I/D I/D
Work in a team to complete a project of several weeks' 
duration D D D D D D D D

PHYS 3700 A A A A A
Understand and explain the concepts and methods of signal 
and image processing   A A A A

A

Sample signals effectively and reconstruct signals from samples A A A A
A

Design and implement digital filters A A A A A

Use Fourier transform techniques for signal and image analysis A A A A
A

Critically assess the appropriateness, reliability, and limitations 
of various signal and image processing techniques for particular 
applications

A A A A
A

PHYS 3710 A A/D A A A D D D A
Design, construct and analyze optical systems for imaging, 
illumination, sensing/testing, communications and other 
applications.

A A A A A D D D A

Select, prepare and work with common optical components 
such as lenses, mirrors, filters, optical fibers.

D D A A A D D A A

Confidently use and understand common optical devices such 
as microscopes, telescopes, interferometric devices and 
spectrometers.

A A A A A D D D A

14



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Understand the operation and applications of a variety of light 
sources.

A D A A A D D D A

Understand the ray, wave and photon models of light and 
recognize their domains of applicability.

A A A A A D D D A

Work safely with lasers. D A A D
PHYS 3900 D D D D D D D D D D D

 Perform and present a literature review on the topic of the 
project D D D

D D D
Choose parameters to be measured and/or controlled, 
instruments/methods to be used, calibration procedures and 
appropriate techniques for analysis of measurement data and 
uncertainties

D D D D D D  

D
Apply knowledge and skills from their coursework to the 
project D D D D D D  

D D
Identify and address gaps in their knowledge and skills as 
relevant to the project D D D

D D
Use appropriate statistical methods and computer software for 
data analysis D D D D D D  

D
Work with less supervision than in laboratory activities in 
previous courses D D D D

D D
PHYS 3950 D D D I D D D D D D

Identify goals and objectives for their work term D D D D
Apply knowledge and skills from their studies to their work at 
the host organization D

D
Some 
students

D D D
D (many 
students)

D
D

Assess progress and adjust work practices and goals 
accordingly D D D D D

D D
Identify the relevance of their studies to the work being done 
by their host organization D D

Some 
students I

D D
D

Identify additional knowledge and skills being learned during 
the work term I I

D D

Appreciate the rigours and demands of the modern workplace I I

Understand workplace etiquette and norms I I
Identify and assess gaps in their knowledge and skills as 
relevant to the work being carried out D

Respond constructively to feedback from the host organization 
and from the Physics work experience committee

D D
D

Write a report that includes an assessment of progress in 
meeting the initial goals, a description of the work being 
carried out, and a plan for the second part of the work term

D D D D

D D
PHYS 3951 A D D D A D/A A D/A

Identify goals and objectives for the remainder of the work 
term A A

A D

15



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Identify the relevance of their studies to the work being done 
by their host organization A A D

D
A (many 
students)

A (many 
students)

A (many 
students) D

Identify additional knowledge and skills learned so far during 
the work experience D D D

Identify and assess gaps in their knowledge and skills as 
relevant to the work being carried out D

A
Formulate a plan for acquiring additional knowledge and skills 
during the remainder of the work term D A

A A

Respond constructively to feedback from the host organization 
and from the Physics work experience committee

D A

Appreciate the rigours and demands of the modern workplace D D

Understand workplace etiquette and norms D D
Write a final report that includes a self‐assessment and a 
description of the work that was performed A D A A

A A
Make a presentation on the placement to physics faculty and 
students A D A

A
PHYS 4010 A A A A A

 Calculate measurement probabili es for states with a finite 
number of outcomes  (e.g. spin = n/2 systems) A A A

Use bra‐ket formulation in calculations A A A
Normalize state vectors A A A
Determine if two operators are compatible A A A
Solve the characteristic equation for a state with n outcomes 
and determine the eigenvectors and eigenvalues A A A A

Explain how interference effects arise in quantum systems A A A
Sketch physically reasonable wavefunctions for 1D potential 
wells and barriers A A A A

Numerically determine energy levels of 1D potential wells A A A A
Numerically determine tunnelling probabilities  A A A
Describe applications of quantum mechanics to modern 
technology. A A A A

Qualitatively explain different interpretations of quantum 
mechanics.     I A

I
PHYS 4199 A A A D A A A A A A A

 Conduct a literature review within the scope of the senior 
physics project A A A

D A A
Develop a project proposal A A A A A A
Develop a project schedule with milestones A A A A
Organize materials and equipment required for the project A A A A A A A
Maintain effective communication with the project supervisor 
(and industry representative as applicable) A A A

D
A A

A
Present the full proposal in both written and oral formats A A D A A

PHYS 4299 A A A D A A A A A A A
Conduct the project proposal developed in PHYS 4199 A A A A A A A A

16



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Maintain a project notebook A A
Troubleshoot and solve problems that may arise during the 
course of the project A A A A

A A
Apply appropriate statistical methods and computer software 
for data analysis A A A A

A
Maintain effective communications with the project supervisor 
(and industry representative if applicable) A A A

D
A A

A
PHYS 4600 A A A D A A A A A

 Write effec ve programs in industrially relevant programming 
languages to interface with instrumentation A A A A A

Analyze and debug programs A A

Interface a variety of hardware devices with computer systems A A A A A

Conduct research to select and specify appropriate hardware 
and software for industrial applications A A A A A A

Explain the limitations and abilities of different prorgramming 
techniques A A

D
A A A

Work in development teams producing human‐readable well 
commented and documented code A A

D
A A

Describe the software development process in terms of 
prototyping, testing and profiling code  D

A A

Recognize and work with a variety of programming languages D
A A A

Apply industry standards for software and hardware interfaces A
A A

PHYS 4700 A A A A A A A D A
 Predict and recognise the features of diffrac on pa erns from 
various crystal structures A A A

Use band theory to explain the differences between insulators, 
semiconductors, and metals A A A A

Use spectroscopic techniques to probe the band structure of 
various materials
Explain, and perform calculations pertaining to the properties 
of semiconductors, metals, superconductors, and magnetic 
materials

A A A A

Describe important experimental techniques used by solid 
state physicists A A A A

Perform laboratory experiments to investigate 
various electrical, thermal, and magnetic properties of solids

A A A A A A A
D

A

Present and explain the results of their experiments in terms of 
solid state theory A A A A A

D
A

Describe important applications of semiconductors, 
superconductors, and magnetic materials in modern 
technology

A A A

PHYS 4900

17



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

 Describe the founda onal physics of the problem of interest

Describe the basics of the technology applicable to the topic
Identify the application of this topic in BC , Canada, North 
America, and around the world

Communicate the importance of the topic orally and in writing
BIOL 1110 I I I I I I I  I I I I I

Describe the current system of biological taxonomy and explain 
why it is changing I I

Describe the key features of major groups of organisms I
Explain how organisms have evolved by natural selection I
Describe and explain nutrient cycling and energy flow in 
ecosystems I I I I I I

I
Recognize and differentiate a range of interspecific interactions 
in communities I

Relate the structure of plant tissues to their functions I
Compare and contrast a range of morphological and 
physiological systems in selected organisms I I I I

Carry out basic laboratory procedures, including the use of 
compound and dissecting microscopes, preparation of material 
for observation with a microscope, and construction of 
biological drawings

I I I I I

Apply the scientific method to conduct and report on 
experimental investigations I I I I I I I

I
Cooperate with group members to complete tasks in a shared 
learning environment I I I

I
CHEM 1110 I I I I I I I I

Solve a variety of stoichiometric and gas law problems I I I I I I

Solve problems based on the Bohr model of the atom, other 1‐
electron atomic systems and the photoelectric effect

I I I I
I

Use quantum theory to discuss orbital shapes, energies and 
electron configurations of atoms and ions I I I I

I

Describe and explain trends in atomic and ionic radii, ionization 
energies, electron affinities, and electronegativities with 
reference to the Periodic Table of Elements

I I I I

I
Describe ionic and covalent bonding and explain trends in 
physical properties based on type of bonding I I I I

I
Use Lewis structures and resonance to describe bonding and 
Valence Shell Electron Pair Repulsion (VSEPR) Theory to predict 
shapes of covalent species

I I I I I
I

18



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Use Valence Bond Theory and Molecular Orbital Theory to 
rationalize shapes, stabilities and magnetic properties of 
covalent species

I I I I I
I

Describe the different intermolecular forces and explain effects 
of intermolecular forces on physical properties of covalent 
compounds

I I I I
I

Name a variety of organic compounds containing different 
functional groups I I I 

I
Describe and illustrate different types of isomerism possible in 
organic compounds I I I I 

I
Predict the products of simple reactions involving organic 
compounds I I I

I
Discuss the common types of radioactivity and their uses I I I I
Solve problems based on the rates of radioactive decay, 
binding energies of nuclei and energy associated with nuclear 
reactions

I I I
I

CHEM 1210 I I I I I I I
Solve problems in electrochemistry, chemical kinetics, 
thermodynamics, equilibria involving gases, acids and bases, 
ionic compounds, liquids and solids, solutions I I I I I I
Write reports based on observations and data obtained in the 
laboratory for each of the experiments performed I I I I I
Perform lab techniques learned throughout the semester by 
successfully performing experiments as well as a final practical 
lab exam I I I I

CHEM 2315 D D D D D I D
Solve problems related to course content D D I D
Analyze data and write reports based on experiments 
performed in the laboratory D D D D I D
Perform lab techniques learned throughout the semester D D D
Quantitatively analyze an unknown sample, using techniques 
learned in class D D D
Report results in a meaningful and useful format D D D I D
Use laboratory equipment and instrumentation in a safe and 
effective manner D D D

CHEM 4610 D D D D D D D

 Illustrate understanding of the chemical principles underlying 
instrumental analysis techniques discussed in class D
Design, carry out, record and analyze the results of 
instrumental analysis techniques A D D
Identify and solve chemical problems and explore new areas of 
research. D D
Use modern library search and retrieval methods to obtain 
information on a topic, chemical, instrumental analysis 
technique or related issue D D
Problem solve, think critically and reason analytically A D

19



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Know the proper procedures to safely and skillfully use the 
instruments in the laboratory, design experiments and properly 
record the results of their experiments D D D D D
Describe the fundamental principles behind and the 
advantages and limitations of each instrument used D D D D D
Study the scientific literature to complete their understanding 
of the background information and future implications of the 
results obtained by experimentation A D A

ENGL 1100 I I I I
 Read, annotate, and summarize a variety of academic and non‐
academic works I I
Understand audience, purpose, and occasion I I
Analyze and evaluate structure, logic, style, and evidence I I I
Explore and refine ideas through discussion and debate I I
Think and respond critically to a broad range of texts and 
cultural products I I
Engage in a writing process that includes brainstorming, 
outlining, drafting, and revising strategies to produce university‐
level writing I I I
Apply principles of unity, development, and coherence in 
writing I I
Produce clear, grammatical, and logical written work 
independently  I I

Write essays that assert and support clear thesis statements I I i
Research and assess secondary‐source material using university‐
level methods and resources I I
Integrate sources effectively into written work using quotation, 
paraphrase, and summary I I
Document source material and format essays using MLA and/or 
APA citation methods to uphold the principles of academic 
integrity I I
Recognize and correct errors in their own writing I I I

MATH 1120 I I I I

State and apply the concepts of differential calculus, including 
the limit, the derivative, both as the slope of a tangent line and 
as a rate of change, and the geometry of derivatives I (minimal) I I I (minimal) I
Compute, in simple cases, derivatives from the definition I I I
Demonstrate and apply the basic skills of calculus (finding 
limits, differentiation, graphing) for algebraic and elementary 
transcendental functions I I I (minimal) I
Apply these skills to solve applied problems I D I
Use a computer algebra system to solve problems related to 
differential calculus I I I I

MATH 1130 I I I I

20



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Understand and state the basic concepts of differential calculus I I I
Find limits of, differentiate, and graph algebraic and 
elementary transcendental functions I I I
Apply the above concepts and skills to the solution of applied 
problems, especially those of biological sciences I I I I

MATH 1220 I I I I I
Understand, state and apply the concepts of integral calculus, 
including integration, the fundamental theorem of calculus, 
approximation techniques, infinite series and simple 
differential equations I (minimal) I I I I I I
Evaluate, in simple cases, definite integrals using Riemann 
sums I I I

Solve applied problems requiring integration and infinite series I (minimal) I I I I I
Use a computer algebra system to solve problems related to 
integral calculus I I I I I

MATH 1230 I I I I
Evaluate both definite and indefinite integrals I I I

Solve applied problems requiring integration (area between 
curves, volume of rotation, probability density functions) I I I I I
Solve first order differential equations and analyze them 
qualitatively I I I I I I
Use calculus to model biological systems I I I I  I I

MATH 2721 I I D I D
 Use matrices to solve a variety of problems in physics and 
engineering I I D I D
Apply common matrix algebra algorithms such as inversion and 
diagonalization I D I D

Perform basic arithmetic and algebra with complex numbers I I D D
Use complex numbers in the solution of differential equations 
relevant to physics and engineering I D D I D

MATH 2821 I D D D
Find equations of lines and planes D D D
Recognize the equations of cylinders and quadratic surfaces; 
use level curves to visualize and sketch surfaces D D D
Evaluate and interpret partial derivatives D D D

Evaluate and interpret gradients and directional derivatives D D D
Evaluate and interpret double and triple integrals I/D D D D
Evaluate multiple integrals using polar, cylindrical, and 
spherical coordinates D D D
Calculate area, volume, mass, first and second moments, and 
center of mass I/D D D D

21



PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 PLO#11 PLO#12 PLO#13

Physics 
Knowledge

Math 
Knowledge

Chemistry 
Knowledge

Biology 
Knowledge

Comm 
skills

Business

Lab 
techniques 
and practical 

skills

Experimental 
design skills

Using data to 
formulate or 
validate 
models

Sofware & 
computer 

programming

Cooperation 
and 

teamwork 
attitudes

Limits of 
knowledge & 
independent 
learning

Integration of 
knowledge & 

skills

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES

Evaluate derivatives of vector‐valued functions of a single 
variable D D D
Evaluate line integrals of scalar and vector functions; work as a 
line integral I D D D
Evaluate operators (grad, div, curl, Laplacian) in all three major 
coordinate systems I D D D
Evaluate surface integrals of scalar‐ and vector‐valued 
functions I D D D
State the Divergence Theorem and apply to electricity and 
magnetism, and fluid flow I I I
Evaluate line and surface integrals using Green’s and Stokes’ 
theorems D D D
Apply the concepts of the course to topics such as electricity 
and magnetism, and fluid flow D D I/D D

22



 

 

 

Appendix E 

 

Administrative Data Report 

23



Administrative Data Report for B.Sc. Physics for Modern Technology 
 
The chapter headings refer to the chapters in the Self-Study to which the data pertain. 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Glossary ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Chapter 3. Program Relevance and Demand ................................................................................................ 3 

3.1 Relevance ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? ................ 3 

3.3 Student Demand ................................................................................................................................. 3 

Who takes the program? ....................................................................................................................... 3 

Is demand for the program sustainable? ................................................................................................ 4 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? ......................................................................... 8 

Chapter 4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ......................................................................................... 8 

4.1 Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum ................................................................................ 9 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills?........................... 9 

4.2 Student Success ................................................................................................................................ 10 

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? ............................................................................... 10 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? ................................................................. 13 

Are graduates of the program successful? ........................................................................................... 14 

 
 
 

 

 

24



Glossary 

Average Seats Offered: Maximum number of seats available in a department/Faculty divided by the count 
of classes offered by the department/Faculty.  

Average Seats Filled: Number of seats taken in a department/Faculty divided by the count of classes 
offered by the department/Faculty.  

BC Student Outcomes: Results of the three annual surveys of former post-secondary students in BC, one 
to two years after graduation, as a supplemental tool for assessing programs offered by KPU and 
comparing them to similar programs at other institutions. The three BC Student Outcomes surveys include 
the Diploma, Associate Degree, and Certificate Student Outcomes Survey (DAC), the Baccalaureate 
Graduates Survey (BGS), and the Trades Student Outcomes Survey (Trades). Note that while DAC covers 
all BC public post-secondary institutions, BGS does not report data from programs at research-intensive 
universities such as UBC and SFU.  

Cumulative Grade Distribution: The number of students who receive a particular letter grade (A+ through 
F) plus those who receive a higher grade, as a percentage of the total number of students with a grade or 
a W/WE or DEF (Deferred). Useful for estimating the proportion of passing students based on any specific 
grade requirement. 

DFW Rate: % of students who received a grade of D or F or withdrew from the course. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF (Deferred). 

Faculty Student Headcount: Count of all students enrolled in a Faculty, including undeclared students.  

Fill Rate: Number of seats filled divided by the number of seats offered.   

Grade Point Equivalent Mean: The average grade of students in the selected courses, based solely on the 
numerical grade point equivalent of a letter grade. A weighted average is used, such that larger classes 
have a larger influence on the computed mean. It is not an average of course-level grades weighted by 
course credits. 

Intended of Undeclared: Students who identified the program under review as their intended major on 
their application. Note that not all of these students declare into the program.   

Program Student Headcount: Count of declared and intended of undeclared students. Withdrawals are 
included. To avoid double counting students, the student headcount is a unique headcount for the year, 
not the sum of intended of undeclared and declared counts. 

Repeat Rate: Students who repeat a course, that is, have taken the course previously. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF. 

Unmet Demand: Number of waitlist seats held by students unable to enrol in the same course, and have 
not dropped that course, within the same term. A student waitlisted in multiple sections of the same 
course in the same term is counted as one waitlist seat. 

Seats Offered: Maximum number of seats available in a unit (section, course, department, faculty).  

Seats Filled: Number of seats taken in the unit (section, course, department, faculty) 

25



Chapter 3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1 Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?1  

What percentage of the program graduates are satisfied with the education they received? What 
percentage of the graduates rate the quality of instruction they received as “very good”, “good”, or 
“adequate”?  Do they find their program of study useful in their current position? 
Exhibit 1: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with 
Ministry Targets 

Measures 
Student Outcome Data for KPU 
Physics for Modern Technology 

Program 
 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents2 Less than 5  
Satisfaction3 

N/A N/A Quality4 
Usefulness5 

3.3 Student Demand 

Who takes the program?6 

Has the demographic profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program students changed over the last 
five years?  
Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by Academic Year 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Unique Student Headcount 118 138 114 102 81 
% Female 18% 19% 13% 17% 16% 
% 22 years or younger 76% 83% 77% 72% 72% 
% International 22% 24% 18% 18% 17% 

How does the demographic profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program students compare with 
that of students at the same level for the Faculty of Science and Horticulture as a whole over the same 
period? 
Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Science and Horticulture Students by Academic Year 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Unique Student Headcount 2,591 3,256 2,795 2,672 2,405 
% Female 53% 58% 55% 56% 58% 
% 22 years or younger 73% 78% 76% 75% 74% 
% International 18% 38% 36% 35% 34% 

1 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Student Outcomes Dashboard 2016-20, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
2 Results for groups of less than 5 graduates are not reported.  
3 Respondents who are "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with the education or training they received in their program of study. 
4 Respondents who rate the quality of instruction received from their program of study as "very good", "good" or "adequate". 
5 Respondents who describe their program of study as "very" or "somewhat" useful in their current occupation. 
6 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Enrolment Dashboard 2020-21, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

26



Is demand for the program sustainable? 

Various measures of student demand for the program courses are presented below. Consider what, 
collectively, these measures indicate about the demand for program courses. 

Has demand for Physics for Modern Technology courses been changing over the last five years? Is the 
overall class size, in terms of filled seats, sustainable? How does demand for Physics for Modern 
Technology courses compare with demand for Faculty of Science and Horticulture courses at the same 
level over the same period?  
Exhibit 4: Unique Student Headcount in Physics for Modern Technology Courses by Academic Year 
Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture Courses 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 %Change7 
Physics for Modern Technology 553 559 568 508 458 -17% 
Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture 3,563 3,876 4,104 3,646 3,421 -4% 

Has demand for the Physics for Modern Technology Program changed over the last five years? How does 
it compare with demand for Faculty of Science and Horticulture programs at the same level over the 
same period? 
Exhibit 5: Unique Student Headcount in Physics for Modern Technology Program by Academic Year 
Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture Programs 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 %Change 
Declared-Major 11 14 13 19 21 91% 
Intended of Undeclared 108 129 103 84 62 -43% 
Physics for Modern Technology 
Total Headcount 118 138 114 102 81 -31% 

Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture Total Headcount 2,591 3,256 2,795 2,672 2,405 -7% 

 
Exhibit 5.1: Outcomes of Physics Intended Students by Academic Year Intake Cohort 

  2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Cohort Headcount 73 60 31 34 13 
% who graduated in Physics 4% 3% 0% 0% 0% 
% graduated in something else 7% 13% 3% 3% 0% 
% who left KPU without graduating 66% 60% 74% 56% 0% 
% studying as undeclared 5% 5% 10% 29% 92% 
% studying Physics as declared 11% 5% 3% 6% 0% 
% studying in another program 7% 13% 10% 6% 8% 

Note: The Cohort Headcount refers to the number of new students who started as Physics Intended in the Faculty 
of Science and Horticulture in an academic year. In 2016/17 Academic Year, there were 108 Physics-Intended 
students (see Exhibit 5), of which 73 were new students.  
  

7 % Change refers to change between 2016/17 to 2020/21. 
27



How do KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program enrolment trends compare with overall enrolment 
trends in similar programs in BC?  

Exhibit 6: Number of Students Enrolled in similar Programs at BC Public Post-Secondary Institutions 8 
 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 
Total (excluding KPU) 9 565 630 678 706 744 
Bachelor’s Degree 482 538 587 620 664 
   Simon Fraser University 84 92 99 107 111 
   Thompson Rivers University 14 11 12 15 20 
   UBC Okanagan 86 102 82 78 92 
   UBC Vancouver 176 207 230 244 247 
   University of Northern British Columbia 13 16 23 22 29 
   University of Victoria 109 110 141 154 165 
Associate Degree – Langara College 83 92 91 86 80 
KPU Total  63 30 17 14 15 
Bachelor’s Degree 16 9 11 14 15 
Associate Degree 47 21 5 - - 

Has there been a change in average filled seats per class in Physics for Modern Technology courses? 
How do they compare with Faculty of Science and Horticulture courses at the same level? Is demand 
steady, declining, or increasing?  
Exhibit 7: Average Filled Seats per Class by Academic Year 

Physics for Modern Technology:  Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 
   

 

 

 
 

 
  

8 All data reported below was obtained from the STP Enrolment dashboard 2021. STP refers to the BC Student Transitions 
Project, which tracks students in the public post-secondary education system. Data are coded by Classification of Instructional 
Program (CIP). To identify Physics programs, CIP code 40.0801 Physics, General was used. The data on UFV’s Bachelor of 
Science in Physics were not available.  
9 Langara College, SFU, TRU, UBC-Okanagan, UBC-Vancouver, UNBC, and UVic.  

24.4 23.6 23.8 25.0

15.9 17.1 16.1 16.1

AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20 AY20/21

24.8 24.7 25.1 25.3

19.3 19.3 18.4 18.0

AY17/18 AY18/19 AY19/20 AY20/21

28



How does demand for upper level courses (3rd and 4th year) compare with demand for lower level 
courses, where applicable? How does demand for upper level versus lower level courses compare with 
demand for Faculty of Science and Horticulture upper level and lower level courses?  
Exhibit 8.1: Number of Course Enrolments by Level for Academic Year 2020/21 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 
Exhibit 8.2 Number of Course Enrolments by Level for Academic Year 2019/20 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 
Exhibit 8.3: Number of Courses by Level for Academic Year 2020/21 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 

 
 
 
 

548

41 59
17

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments
6,494

1,601

499 388

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

620

47 11 44

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

6,872

1,698

451 367

0
1,000
2,000
3,000
4,000
5,000
6,000
7,000
8,000

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

59

6 7 2

1 2 3 4 5

Count of classes 468

140

47 43

1 2 3 4 5

Count of classes

29



 
 
Exhibit 8.4: Number of Courses by Level for Academic Year 2019/20 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

   

 
Exhibit 8.5: Number of Course Enrolments in Mathematics and Sustainable Agriculture by Level 
for Academic Year 2020/21 

Mathematics: Sustainable Agriculture: 

  
 
Exhibit 8.6: Number of Course Enrolments in Mathematics and Sustainable Agriculture by Level for 
Academic Year 2019/20 

Mathematics: Sustainable Agriculture: 

  

 
  

62

7 5 5

1 2 3 4 5

Count of classes 464

149

49 52

1 2 3 4 5

Count of classes

2,200

353
63 48

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

44

77

54

21

0

20

40

60

80

100

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

2,124

314
81 32

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

43

67

52

23

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

L1 L2 L3 L4

Number of Enrolments

30



How does tuition compare with instructional costs for the average class in your program?  

A program’s importance isn’t gaged by the tuition revenue it brings in, as some programs will not be 
able to cover their costs, but all programs should be delivered efficiently. Part of assessing a program’s 
sustainability is considering if it can be made more efficient without compromising student safety or 
success. The biggest driver of efficiency is class size in terms of filled seats. International enrolments, 
where relevant, can improve a program’s sustainability.  

Exhibit 9: Cost Structure of Average Class for Physics for Modern Technology, Faculty of Science and 
Horticulture UG, and All KPU UG Courses for Academic Year 2020/21 

 Physics for Modern 
Technology 

SCI & HORT UG 
Courses All KPU UG Courses 

Cost of Instruction  $15,713   $15,713   $15,713  

Average # of Seats Filled 16.1 18.0 25.1 

Overall % filled by International 17% 34% 32% 

Tuition Revenue   $11,424   $17,580   $23,726  

Average Net Revenue  $(4,288)  $1,867   $8,013  

Total # of Classes  73   697   4,302  

Total Net Revenue  $(313,059)  $1,301,437   $34,471,213  
*Average Net Revenue = Cost of instruction - tuition revenue 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 

Are there waitlists that limit students’ ability to progress through the program in a timely manner? Are 
the waitlists for courses delivered by the program, or delivered by other departments? 

Exhibit 10: Unmet Demand at the Stable Enrolment Date  
 Unmet Demand Fill Rate 
2020/21 Academic Year 19 64% 
2019/20 Academic Year 33 68% 

There is no notable unmet demand for the program’s discipline-specific courses. Unmet demand by 
course is available in the Enrolment Tracking Report dashboard for each term.  

 

31

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/851e6c7f-4896-4f3a-8a34-49c7c5c8dcd9/reports/fd0dcdd3-04bc-4549-8b7c-fe3ed5322fd7/ReportSection40e9da610aab37cd78d0?ctid=66b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0


Chapter 4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1 Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 10 

Graduates are asked to indicate the extent to which the program helps them achieve the Ministry 
identified essential skills. Is the program achieving the Ministry’s targets in skills development?  
Exhibit 11: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Essential Skills Data 
Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 
Student Outcome Data for 

KPU Physics for Modern 
Technology Program 

 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents11 Less than 5  
Skill Development12 

N/A N/A 

Write Clearly and Concisely 
Speak Effectively 

Read and Comprehend Materials 
Work Effectively with Others 

Analyze and Think Critically 
Resolve Issues or Problems 

Learn on your Own 

 
  

10 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Student Outcomes dashboard 2016-20, which is available at: 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
11 Results for groups of less than 5 graduates are not reported.  
12 Program graduates’ assessment of their skill development at KPU. An overall average for all skills is provided, plus the results 
for each skill. 

32



4.2 Student Success 

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 13 

Are an adequate number of students in Physics for Modern Technology courses receiving a grade of C 
and above? How do they compare with the students in Faculty of Science and Horticulture courses at 
the same level? 

Exhibit 12: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Physics for Modern Technology Courses from AY 2016/17 
to AY 2020/21 

 

Exhibit 13: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Science and Horticulture Undergraduate 
Courses from AY 2016/17 to AY 2020/21 

 

 
  

13 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Grade Distribution dashboard 2020-21, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 

9%

20
%

32
% 41

% 50
% 57

% 65
% 73

% 77
% 84

% 93
%

8%

16
% 26

% 35
% 43

% 50
% 57

% 67
% 70

% 78
%

90
%

7%

13
%

25
% 35

% 46
% 55

% 64
% 72

% 76
% 82

% 90
%

7%

18
% 27

% 36
% 46

% 55
% 61

% 69
%

70
% 76

% 83
%

9%

16
% 27

% 35
% 42

% 49
% 56

% 62
% 65

% 69
% 79

%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

10
% 19

% 30
% 38

% 46
% 54

% 61
% 69

% 73
% 79

%

91
%

10
% 19

% 29
% 37

% 46
% 54

% 62
% 68

% 73
% 79

%

91
%

10
% 19

%

30
% 39

% 48
% 56

% 63
% 70

% 74
% 80

%

91
%

12
% 22

%

33
% 42

% 51
% 59

% 65
% 71

% 75
% 79

% 87
%

14
% 24

%

36
% 45

% 52
% 60

% 66
% 71

% 75
% 79

% 87
%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

A+ A A- B+ B B- C+ C C- D F

Cumulative Distribution

33



Do the overall grade trends for the program indicate an issue? How do they compare with the overall 
grades for Faculty of Science and Horticulture courses? 

Exhibit 14: Grade Data for Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic 
Year compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
Do the repeat rate trends in Physics for Modern Technology courses indicate an issue? How does it 
compare with the repeat rate trends of Faculty of Science and Horticulture undergraduate courses?  

Exhibit 15: Repeat Rates in Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic 
Year Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 

  

2.70 
2.49 2.64 2.76 2.66 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Mean Grade & Std Dev

2.59 2.60 2.63 
2.84 2.90 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Mean Grade & Std Dev

11% 11% 13% 13% 16%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Repeat Rate

12% 11% 12% 14% 13%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

Repeat Rate

34



Does the DFW rate trends in Physics for Modern Technology courses indicate an issue? How does it 
compare with the DFW rate trends in Faculty of Science and Horticulture undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 16: DFW Rates in Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic 
Year Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  

Are there any issues with Physics for Modern Technology students’ performance at each level? How do 
they compare with Faculty of Science and Horticulture undergraduate courses?   

Exhibit 17: Student Performance Data for Physics for Modern Technology Courses for Academic Year 
2020/21 by Undergraduate Levels Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture  

Physics for Modern Technology:14 Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  
 

Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  

14 Note that variations in sample size can affect the Grade Point Equivalent Mean data. 

23%
30%

24% 26%
35%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

DFW Rate

27% 27% 26% 24% 25%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

16/17 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21

DFW Rate

2.41 

3.14 

3.83 3.90 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4

Mean Grade & Std Dev

2.80 2.98 
3.44 3.47 

 -

 1.00

 2.00

 3.00

 4.00

L1 L2 L3 L4

Mean Grade & Std Dev

18% 15%
3% 0%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

Repeat Rate

15% 10%
2% 5%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

Repeat Rate

35



Physics for Modern Technology: Faculty of Science and Horticulture: 

  

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 15 

Has there been a change in the number of Physics for Modern Technology Program graduates over 
time? How does it compare with Faculty of Science and Horticulture in general? 

Exhibit 18: Physics for Modern Technology Program Graduate Headcount16 by Credential and 
Academic Year  

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Total17   -     1   5   2   4  
Bachelor’s Degree   -  1   5   2   4  

Exhibit 19: Faculty of Science and Horticulture Graduate Headcount by Credential and Academic Year  
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Total   181   205   228   256   162  
Bachelor’s Degree 14 38 39 35 42 
Associate Degree 44 36 30 46 27 
Diploma 68 68 93 126 79 
Certificate 41 42 43 24 8 
Citation 26 31 39 38 14 

Exhibit18.1: Graduate Headcount of Physics Programs at other BC Public Post-Secondary Institutions 18 
Calendar Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Bachelor’s Degree        
   Simon Fraser University 10 10 16 11 11 14 11 
   Thompson Rivers University 4 4 4 4 5 3  
   UBC Okanagan 5 23 24 16 13 16 18 
   UBC Vancouver 28 41 34 41 56 49 52 

15 All data reported in this section was obtained from the Credentials dashboard AY 2020-21, which is available at 
https://our.kpu.ca/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx 
16 Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up to total or 100% because a 
student can earn multiple credentials in different categories within the same academic year. 
17 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibits 18 and 19 are unique headcounts of 
students for the year, not the sum of the credential counts. 
18 Data was obtained from the BC Headset and CDW. CIP code 40.0801 Physics, General was used. CDW does not have the data 
on UFV’s Bachelor of Science in Physics Program.   

39% 34%

2% 0%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

DFW Rate

28% 24%
8% 6%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

L1 L2 L3 L4

DFW Rate

36



   University of Northern British 
Columbia   4  5  2 

   University of Victoria 17 10 9 14 15 21 23 
Associate Degree – Langara 
College 3 1 3 1 3 1 119 

 

Are Physics for Modern Technology students completing the program within a reasonable time? How 
does it compare with Faculty of Science and Horticulture in general? 

Exhibit 20: Median20 Years to Graduate:21 Physics for Modern Technology  
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Bachelor’s Degree - 5.9 5.2 5.6 6.3 

Exhibit 21: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Science and Horticulture  
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Bachelor’s Degree 2.8 4.9 4.9 5.9 5.9 
Associate Degree 3.5 3.2 3.0 3.2 3.2 
Diploma 2.9 2.5 2.4 2.2 2.9 
Certificate 0.9 1.1 0.9 1.3 1.9 
Citation 0.9 0.6 1.2 1.4 1.3 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

Are the graduates getting jobs in a related field? Are the graduates pursuing further education?  
Exhibit 22: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with 
Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Average Student Outcome 
Data for KPU Physics for 

Modern Technology Program 
(2018-20) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents22 Less than 5  
Unemployment Rate23 

N/A N/A 
Currently Employed24 
In a Related Job25 
Further Studies26 

 

19 The graduate data for Langara College for 2021 calendar year is incomplete.  
20 A computed "middle" number in a set of numbers when sorted by value, such that 50% of the values are higher and 50% are 
smaller than this number. The Median is preferred over the Mean when the distribution of numbers contains a few extreme 
values. Extreme values will distort the Mean in that direction, whereas the Median is not affected by extreme values. 
21 The data in Exhibits 20 and 21 present the median number of years students took to receive their first credential. 
22 Results for groups of less than 5 graduates are not reported. 
23 Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market). 
24 Respondents who were working at a job or business at the time of the survey, as a percentage of all respondents, regardless 
of whether they were in the labour force (see above). 
25 Respondents who are currently employed in occupations that they describe as "very" or "somewhat" related to their studies, 
as a percentage of all employed respondents. 
26 Respondents who have taken further studies after taking the program, including those currently studying. 

37



 

 

 

Appendix F 

 

Student Survey Report 

38



 

Physics for Modern Technology Program Review - Student Survey Results 
The student survey was sent to 34 Physics for Modern Technology students. A total of 13 students responded. The response 
rate is 38%.  

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Who takes the program? 

Your Program 

 
1 - Which of the following credentials are you working towards at KPU? Please select all 
that apply. 

#  
Answer 

 
Percentage 

 
Count 

1 Bachelor’s degree: Major in Physics for Modern Technology 100% 13 
2 Another credential, please specify 8% 1 
3 Don’t know 0% 0 
 Total  13 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of respondents. 
Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

 

1_2_TEXT - Another credential, please specify 

Minor in math 

 

2 - How many PHYS courses have you completed in Physics for Modern Technology 
program? 

# How many PHYS courses have you completed in Physics for Modern Technology 
program? 

 
Percentage 

 
Count 

1 0 to 2 courses 0% 0 
2 3 to 10 courses 15% 2 
3 11 to 20 courses 31% 4 
4 21 or more courses 54% 7 
 Total  13 

  

39



3 - How did you find out about KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Please 
select all that apply. 

 

# Answer % Count 

1 KPU Physics for Modern Technology website 77% 10 
2 KPU open house or events 31% 4 
3 KPU’s online Academic calendar 31% 4 
4 KPU instructors 15% 2 
5 Other KPU students 15% 2 
6 KPU Educational Advising 15% 2 
7 Visit by KPU representative to my high school 15% 2 
8 Social media 8% 1 
9 High school teachers/counsellors 8% 1 
10 Other, please specify: 8% 1 
11 BC Education Planner website 0% 0 
12 BC Transfer Guide website 0% 0 
13 Other contact with KPU representative(s) 0% 0 
 Total  13 

 
Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of respondents. 
Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

3_10_TEXT - Other, please specify: 

I sort of enrolled by accident by specifying just “physics” in my application 

 
  

40



Reasons for Taking the Program 

 
4 - What was your main reason for enrolling in the Physics for Modern Technology 
program? 

# Answer % Count 

1 To prepare for a specific career or job 46% 6 
2 To improve my job prospects and/or earning potential 15% 2 
3 To prepare to transfer to another institution 15% 2 
4 To qualify for graduate studies 15% 2 
5 To qualify for the Post-Graduation Work Permit program 0% 0 
6 Other, please specify 8% 1 
 Total 100% 13 

 

4_6_TEXT - Other, please specify 

The fact it's a Co-op program 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

Program Relevance 

 
5 - Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, to what extent 
do you agree that the program’s curriculum is relevant to your career goals? 

 

 

# Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that the 
program’s curriculum is relevant to your career goals? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 

4 Somewhat agree 62% 

5 Strongly agree 38% 

 Total 13 

 

41



6 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Physics for Modern 
Technology program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 8% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 54% 

5 Very satisfied 38% 

 Total 13 

 

7 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program’s curriculum as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program. 

Hands on training with small class sizes 

Very technical/interesting subjects 
Courses are relevant to each other, and so far there have been no situations where one course does not cover the material in a way that 
hampers a students fundamental understanding of the topic. 
The focus on electronics and how they apply to research is a strength 
•hands-on learning (projects, labs) •approachable instructors (Instructor Names Redacted) •work experience is integrated into the 
program 
The instructors 

It covers a wide range of topics 

The small class sizes make for more effective teaching, and the instructors are all very personable. 

I think it has a great ratio of labs and theory courses. The special topics course about communications and soft skills really helps. 

Lots of various and interesting physics courses. 
The hands-on experience that students gain with this program is unlike any other degree offered right now. Dealing with applied physics 
concepts is not only helpful for persuing a career after the program but I believe it will benefit me if I continue my physics studies at 
graduate level or go into research. 
hands on education; variety of subjects; close connection to real world when it comes to knowledge application 

  

42



8 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please provide suggestions you have for improvement. 

more frequently offered courses 

More hands on/applications for job prospect. More clear understanding of these jobs prospects. 
In regards to pre-requisites, if one of them is a mathematics course; than it should not limit physics students from still applying into the 
course. As most students have a mathematical background from their previous courses; one math course should not hold them back from 
continuing their degree. 
•advertise it more so people would know about it. I found it by chance and didnt know beforehand that it existed. 

perhaps add more math courses as a requirement, such as calculus 3 and 4 

Include more on how the topics we learn are applicable in the real world 
The third-fourth year semester bi-annual cycle thing is a big downside. It essentially forces every other enrolment class of students to spend 
an extra  year in school 
I think opening up a couple 3rd and 4th year courses during summer semester can allow those that are behind to catch up or an 
opportunity for those that wants to get ahead. 
Statistics courses are required for most other continuing programs, so I would add a statistics requirement to the curriculum. 

Nothing standing out 

 

9 - What topics, if any, are missing from the program? 

A course in Astronomy from a scientific approach, recently the Astrophysics course was added, but for anyone who wants to pursue a 
career in Astronomy/Astrophysics than they must learn these courses elsewhere; as there are only a few courses in this field, with most of 
them being made for Arts/Literature students. 
•more astrophysics related content maybe? 

courses on particle physics, astronomy 

Statistics 

I think a materials science course would be fascinating. A science/business hybrid course would also be very helpful for career planning 

I think some 3D designing/ drafting course or the concepts of how to design can be a great addition. 

See above. 

I wish statistics as course was part of the curriculum, or at least an option for an elective course 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

10 - Program Learning Outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and skills 
students will have upon completion of a program. To what extent are the courses you are 
taking for KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program helping you develop each of the 
following learning outcomes? 

43



 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories 

 Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and 
concepts. 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 
applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems 

Understand and gain an appreciation 
for concepts of biology as they relate 
to physics and technology. 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively 
convey and discuss thoughts and 
ideas. 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and 
interfacing components), and 
operate laboratory equipment to 
perform experiments and collect 
data. 

Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 
conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating 
data. 

Use, adapt, and develop software to:  
interface with equipment; collect, 
visualize and analyze data; perform 
numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems. 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 
learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

Develop solutions to problems by 
integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, 
business, experience, practical 
skills, and communication skills. 

44



# Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 
learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 0% 23% 77% 13 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 

learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

0% 0% 38% 62% 13 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including 

laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and practical 
problems. 

0% 23% 46% 31% 13 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they relate 
to physics and technology. 0% 46% 31% 23% 13 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 0% 62% 38% 13 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology 
development. 0% 46% 38% 15% 13 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

0% 0% 15% 85% 13 

8 Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses 
by utilizing the conventions and best practices of experimental research. 0% 8% 31% 62% 13 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, 
analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 0% 46% 54% 13 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, 

visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical 
systems. 

0% 15% 38% 46% 13 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 0% 38% 62% 13 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate 

avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills 
independently. 

0% 0% 54% 46% 13 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

0% 0% 38% 62% 13 

  

45



Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

11 - To what extent are the courses you are taking for KPU’s Physics for Modern 
Technology program helping you develop each of the following essential skills? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 31% 54% 15% 13 

2 Written communication 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

3 Reading comprehension 0% 15% 46% 38% 13 

4 Group collaboration 0% 8% 23% 69% 13 

5 Independent learning 0% 8% 15% 77% 13 

6 Critical analysis 0% 8% 31% 62% 13 

7 Problem resolution 0% 8% 31% 62% 13 

8 Creativity and innovation 0% 15% 62% 23% 13 

9 Leadership skills 0% 69% 23% 8% 13 

10 Numeracy skills 0% 0% 23% 77% 13 

11 Technical skills 0% 0% 38% 62% 13 

12 Intercultural skills 15% 46% 38% 0% 13 

46



Are appropriate work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning opportunities provided to help students 
acquire the learning outcomes? 

12 - To what extent do you agree that you have sufficient opportunities in the program to 
reinforce your learning through practical application of this learning? 

 

 

# To what extent do you agree that you have sufficient opportunities in the program to reinforce your learning 
through practical application of this learning? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 8% 
2 Somewhat disagree 0% 
3 Neither agree nor disagree 8% 
4 Somewhat agree 38% 
5 Strongly agree 46% 
 Total 13 

 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? / Are students making satisfactory 
progress in the program? 

13 - Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, please 
indicate your agreement with the following. 

 

47



 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 The prerequisites offered prepare me 
for more advanced courses. 0% 0% 8% 46% 46% 13 

2 I am able to take the prerequisite 
courses when I need them. 0% 54% 15% 31% 0% 13 

3 The range of courses offered each term 
is adequate. 0% 46% 15% 38% 0% 13 

 

Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

14 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, please indicate your agreement with the 
following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 My instructors accommodate my learning 
needs. 0% 8% 0% 38% 54% 13 

2 My instructors present the course materials 
effectively. 0% 0% 8% 31% 62% 13 

3 My instructors are up-to-date on current 
developments in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 31% 69% 13 

4 My instructors ensure students’ emotional 
safety in the learning environment. 0% 0% 15% 38% 46% 13 

5 My instructors ensure students’ physical 
safety in the learning environment. 0% 0% 0% 23% 77% 13 

48



15 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Physics 
for Modern Technology program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Physics for Modern Technology 
program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 8% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 46% 
5 Very satisfied 46% 
 Total 13 

 

16 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program instruction. 

very knowledgeable instructors who care about their students 
Delivered clearly. 
Instructors have a deep understanding of the subjects, in a way that helps students to not only improve their own understanding; but to 
also ask thoughtful questions regarding future career/technological opportunities in these respective fields. 
Practical demonstrations really help me understand the concepts 
•professors are generally approachable  •i like the lab settings where we can work independently 
Instructors show care to teach each each individual student 
Small class sizes 
I think each course carries over very well from first year to third year. By fourth year, the topics become more complex but fewer in each 
course, so instructions are longer and more time allocated is great. 
All the professors are very approachable with coursework as well as with any other issues students may be having related to their 
education. 
very technical and inspiring 

 

17 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
provide suggestions you have for improvement in program instruction. 

Better examples/applications to theories for better understanding of material. Concepts needed for exams not always clear. 
Three hours lectures tend to cover the same material an almost two hour lecture covers, as most instructors simply go over the material too 
slowly that it makes it hard to focus for the full lecture. Especially since the material tends to be glanced over in a way that enforces the 
need to simply study it all over again once I leave the class. Also it seems most instructors find three hour lectures to be difficult to lecture, 
as they are not able to identify how much course material they should cover each lesson; hence the long and arduous discussions on very 
minor topics. 
•some courses need to be pre-reqs for other courses (electronics should be a pre-req for sensors) 
None that I can think of currently 

49



More examples, especially with theoretical topics 
I would not change the instruction, I would just have certain courses offered more frequently, but I understand that limitations are due to 
the department's size. 

 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate the extent to which they have achieved the learning 
outcomes? 

18 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 I receive clear information on how I will 
be evaluated. 0% 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

2 The range of assessments lets me 
demonstrate what I have learned. 0% 0% 0% 46% 54% 13 

3 The assessment standards are consistent 
throughout the program. 0% 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

4 My instructors provide useful feedback. 0% 0% 0% 46% 54% 13 

  

50



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5: RESOURCES, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 

Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

19 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to KPU's 
Physics for Modern Technology program? 

 

 

51



# Question 
Have 

not 
used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual 
and computer equipment 0% 0% 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

2 Books 15% 0% 0% 23% 23% 38% 13 

3 eBooks 15% 0% 0% 23% 15% 46% 13 

4 Online resources - journal 
articles, etc. 8% 0% 0% 15% 31% 46% 13 

5 Print periodicals, journals, 
etc. 38% 0% 0% 8% 31% 23% 13 

6 Study guides 31% 0% 8% 23% 15% 23% 13 

7 DVDs/streaming video on 
program-related topics 62% 0% 0% 15% 15% 8% 13 

8 Librarian support for 
program-related research 46% 8% 0% 23% 8% 15% 13 

9 Library orientation 54% 0% 0% 15% 8% 23% 13 

 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum?  Does the program have the 
facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 

20 - How satisfied are you with the following specialized technology and facilities as they 
apply to KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? 

 

 

52



# Question Have not 
used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied Total 

1 Software 0% 0% 0% 8% 38% 54% 13 

2 Lab space 0% 0% 0% 8% 8% 85% 13 

3 Lab equipment 0% 0% 0% 0% 23% 77% 13 

4 3rd / 4th year project 
space 8% 0% 0% 8% 23% 62% 13 

5 Fabrication/workshop 
facilities 15% 0% 0% 0% 46% 38% 13 

 

Does the program have the support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 

21 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU's Physics for Modern 
Technology program? 

 

 

# Question Have 
not used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
Satisfied Total 

1 Availability of required 
texts at the KPU bookstore 8% 0% 8% 15% 15% 54% 13 

2 Advising Services 23% 0% 0% 15% 23% 38% 13 
3 Career Services 62% 0% 0% 8% 8% 23% 13 
4 Accessibility Services 54% 0% 8% 8% 15% 15% 13 

 

53



 

 

 

Appendix G 

 

Faculty Survey Report 

54



Physics for Modern Technology Program Review - Faculty Survey Results 
The faculty survey was sent to 25 Physics for Modern Technology faculty members. A total of 15 faculty members responded. 
The response rate is 60%.   

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

About Your Courses 
 

1 - Please tell us about yourself. Are you... 

# Answer % Count 

1 Instructor 79% 11 

2 Lab instructor 7% 1 

3 Lab technician 14% 2 

 Total 100% 14 

 

2 - Which level courses do you teach? Please select all that apply. 

# Answer % Count 

1 Preparatory and/or first-year courses 100% 13 

2 Second-year courses 62% 8 

3 Third- or fourth-year courses 54% 7 

 Total  13 
 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of respondents. 
Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

  

55



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

3 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, indicate the 
extent you agree with the following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Program curriculum is relevant to the 
needs of the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 33% 67% 15 

2 The program prepares students for a 
career in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 27% 73% 15 

3 The program prepares students for 
further education in the field. 0% 7% 7% 53% 33% 15 

4 The program is being adequately 
promoted. 7% 40% 27% 20% 7% 15 

 

  

56



4 - Please indicate how relevant each of the following Program Learning Outcomes is to 
the current needs of the discipline/sector. 

 

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical 
problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied Physics 
knowledge and concepts. 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical 
problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied 
Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical 
and practical problems. 

Understand and gain an 
appreciation for concepts of 
biology as they relate to physics 
and technology. 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively 
convey and discuss thoughts and 
ideas. 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and 
interfacing components), and 
operate laboratory equipment to 
perform experiments and collect 
data. 

Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 
conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and 
evaluating data. 

Use, adapt, and develop software 
to:  interface with equipment; 
collect, visualize and analyze data; 
perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 
learning, and pursue new 
knowledge and skills 
independently. 
 

Develop solutions to problems by 
integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, 
business, experience, practical 
skills, and communication skills. 

57



Note that “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency 
table below for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories.  

# Question Not at all 
relevant 

Slightly 
relevant 

Somewhat 
relevant 

Very 
relevant Total 

1 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and 
concepts. 

0% 0% 0% 100% 14 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge 
and techniques. 

0% 0% 7% 93% 14 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, 

including laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

0% 31% 31% 38% 13 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as 
they relate to physics and technology. 8% 42% 25% 25% 12 

5 
Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 

communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and 
ideas. 

0% 0% 8% 92% 12 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and 
technology development. 8% 8% 31% 54% 13 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform 
experiments and collect data. 

0% 0% 7% 93% 14 

8 
Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the conventions and best practices of 

experimental research. 
0% 0% 20% 80% 15 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 0% 18% 82% 11 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; 

collect, visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

0% 0% 9% 91% 11 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 0% 14% 86% 14 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify 

appropriate avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

0% 0% 17% 83% 12 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

0% 0% 17% 83% 12 

 

5 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program 
curriculum? 

 

 

58



# Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 7% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 7% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 43% 
5 Very satisfied 43% 
 Total 14 

 

6 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program. 

 
Practical, hands-on training, application of theory, project work 
The curriculum is broad enough to provide students with a good background in fundamental and applied physics while at the same time 
providing them with skills that are directly applicable to careers in the tech sector. The required work experience gives students valuable 
exposure to the workplace and often leads to post-graduation career opportunities. The curriculum ensure that students' problem-solving 
skills are constantly developing and are very strong by the time they finish the program. 
Graduates (and students) can turn theory into practice. Not all science degrees at the baccalaureate level can, or aim to, do this. 
Hands on projects 
I think it is a great program. It is very practical and focus towards generating problem solvers. 
The labs. 
Lot's of practical training 
Hands on classes 
The majority of the universities with a Physics degree prepare students to continue in academia while failing to prepare them for the 
industrial application of the degree. Ironically, only a few percentages of the graduates would stay in academia. PMT is meant to directly 
address the majority of enthusiasts in physics who are willing to work after their graduations while also preparing them for academic life. 
The work experience is a huge strength, as is the breadth of the curriculum 
 

7 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please provide any suggestions you have for improvement. 

 

The computer programming content of the program needs to be strengthened, ideally through the addition of one or two dedicated 
courses (in addition to continuing to infuse it in many of the existing courses). Although students develop quite good communication skills 
during the program, this area could also be strengthened (for example through something like the recent Special Topics offering). 
It would be great if we can find room for RF technology. 
Place Multivariable-&-Vector-Calculus on the term after Integral Calculus, that is, on the 1st-term of the 2nd-year. Place a Linear Algebra 
course as a 1st-year-2nd-term course, or replace their Linear Algebra course by MATH 1152(a course that includes complex numbers on its 
topics and is offered every Spring term).  Then add course covering differential equations (ODEs, PDEs and Fourier series)in the 2nd-term 
of the 2nd-year of the program. 
Dedicated Computer Programming course 
- The program is not being promoted the way it should. There is a huge capacity here and I don't think the importance of the program is 
well advertised. Students would gain skills that are directly applicable to industrial needs. This alone should attract students not only 
within Canada but also across the globe.    - Data analysis also has a huge application in physics and we need to invest more in that. So 
perhaps fewer biology and chemistry courses to add more PMT relevant courses. 
not really curricular, but more encouragement for students to take courses in "order" i.e. don't leave their chemistry until the last year..... 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

59



8 - To what extent is KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program helping students 
develop the following Program Learning Outcomes? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical 
problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied Physics 
knowledge and concepts. 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical 
problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied 
Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 
techniques, to solve theoretical 
and practical problems. 

Understand and gain an 
appreciation for concepts of 
biology as they relate to physics 
and technology. 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively 
convey and discuss thoughts and 
ideas. 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and 
interfacing components), and 
operate laboratory equipment to 
perform experiments and collect 
data. 

Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 
conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and 
evaluating data. 

Use, adapt, and develop software 
to:  interface with equipment; 
collect, visualize and analyze data; 
perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 
learning, and pursue new 
knowledge and skills 
independently. 
 

Develop solutions to problems by 
integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, 
business, experience, practical 
skills, and communication skills. 

60



# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 
learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 0% 0% 100% 10 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 

learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

0% 0% 10% 90% 10 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including 

laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and practical 
problems. 

0% 22% 22% 56% 9 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they relate 
to physics and technology. 11% 11% 44% 33% 9 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 0% 40% 60% 10 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology 
development. 10% 10% 60% 20% 10 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

0% 0% 10% 90% 10 

8 Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses 
by utilizing the conventions and best practices of experimental research. 10% 0% 10% 80% 10 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, 
analyzing, and evaluating data. 10% 0% 40% 50% 10 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, 

visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical 
systems. 

10% 0% 40% 50% 10 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate 

avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills 
independently. 

10% 0% 30% 60% 10 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

10% 0% 20% 70% 10 

 

  

61



Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

9 - To what extent is KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program helping students 
develop the following essential skills? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 73% 27% 11 
2 Written communication 0% 0% 45% 55% 11 
3 Reading comprehension 0% 0% 55% 45% 11 
4 Group collaboration 0% 0% 45% 55% 11 
5 Independent learning 9% 0% 18% 73% 11 
6 Critical analysis 0% 9% 9% 82% 11 
7 Problem resolution 0% 9% 9% 82% 11 
8 Creativity and innovation 0% 18% 27% 55% 11 
9 Leadership skills 0% 30% 60% 10% 10 
10 Numeracy skills 0% 0% 18% 82% 11 
11 Technical skills 0% 0% 9% 91% 11 
12 Intercultural skills 36% 18% 27% 18% 11 

  

62



10 - How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 2000-level courses? 

 

 

# How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 2000-level courses? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 13% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 13% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 
5 Very satisfied 25% 
 Total 8 

 

11 - What do you think the program can do at the first-year level to make Physics for 
Modern Technology students better prepared for 2000-level course work?  

  No Results to Show 

12 - How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 3000-level and 4000-level 
courses? 

 

 

# How satisfied are you with the students’ preparation for 3000-level and 4000-level courses? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 17% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 
5 Very satisfied 33% 
 Total 6 

 

63



13 - What do you think the program can do at the second-year level to make Physics for 
Modern Technology students better prepared for 3000-level and 4000-level course work? 

          No Results to Show 

14 - Since 3rd and 4th year courses are offered in alternate years, we have 3rd and 4th 
year students taking courses together. Please comment on any benefits or drawbacks you 
have noticed with this arrangement. 

It has generally worked fine for the 4000-level course I teach. One drawback is that every other year, the 3rd year students have less time 
for work experience (4 months as opposed to 5 or 5.5 months). However, this is not a huge problem. 
I see no benefit to students with this arregement. 
Seems to be working well. 
It works well! 

 

15 - Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, to what extent 
do you agree that the prerequisites courses offered prepare students for more advanced 
courses? 

 

 

# Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that the 
prerequisites courses offered prepare students for more advanced courses? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 8% 

4 Somewhat agree 25% 

5 Strongly agree 67% 

 Total 12 

  

64



Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

16 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, please indicate your agreement with the 
following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Multiple learning modalities are 
accommodated. 0% 0% 8% 75% 17% 12 

2 The delivery of the curriculum is effective. 0% 0% 0% 42% 58% 12 

3 Course materials reflect current 
developments in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

65



17 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the quality of instruction across the program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the quality of instruction across the program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 10% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 30% 
5 Very satisfied 60% 
 Total 10 

 

18 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program instruction. 

 

passionate, knowledgeable instructors 
Since many/most of the courses take place in the lab, instruction is biased in favour of providing students with hands-on active and 
experiential learning opportunities, which serves them very well when they enter the workforce (either during their work experience of after 
graduation). The small classes ensure that students get a a lot of time to work with lab equipment. 
Well qualified, dedicated faculty. 
The lab training. 
Small classes, lots of student-instructor interaction. 

 

Q19 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
provide any suggestions you have for improvements in program instruction. 

 

integration of student-learning across different courses 
I can't think of anything, but since there is a big interest in the department in sharing and developing instructional techniques, this would be 
a great topic for discussion at a department meeting. 
faculty could be more engaged in their own professional development and research if there were ongoing time and facilities allocated for it. 

 

 

 

66



Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the learning 
outcomes? 

20 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, please indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Assessment methods align with program 
learning outcomes. 0% 0% 8% 17% 75% 12 

2 The range of assessments let students 
demonstrate what they have learned. 0% 0% 8% 8% 83% 12 

3 Students are provided clear information 
on how they will be evaluated. 0% 0% 9% 9% 82% 11 

4 The assessment standards are consistent 
throughout the program. 0% 0% 9% 64% 27% 11 

 

 

 

 

67



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5: RESOURCES, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 

Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum?] 

21 - How well are the following library resources meeting the program’s needs? 

 

 

# Question Have not 
used 

Not at 
all 

Somewhat 
well 

Very 
well 

Extremely 
well Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual and computer 
equipment 40% 0% 0% 20% 40% 10 

2 Books 0% 0% 11% 67% 22% 9 

3 eBooks 22% 0% 33% 33% 11% 9 

4 DVDs/streaming video on program-related topics 89% 0% 11% 0% 0% 9 

5 Librarian support for program-related research 44% 0% 22% 11% 22% 9 

6 Library orientation 89% 0% 0% 11% 0% 9 

7 Online resources - journal articles, etc. 22% 11% 22% 22% 22% 9 

8 Print periodicals, journals, etc. 56% 0% 33% 0% 11% 9 

9 Study guides 78% 0% 22% 0% 0% 9 

 

68



Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? Does the program have the 
facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

22 - How well are the following specialized technology and facilities meeting program’s 
needs? 

 

 

# Question Have not used Not at all Somewhat well Very well Extremely well Total 

1 Software 10% 0% 30% 40% 20% 10 
2 Lab space 0% 0% 27% 27% 45% 11 
3 Lab equipment 0% 0% 9% 45% 45% 11 
4 3rd / 4th year project space 20% 0% 30% 20% 30% 10 
5 Fabrication/workshop facilities 30% 0% 20% 10% 40% 10 

 

  

69



Does the program have the support services needed to deliver the curriculum?  

23 - How well are the following services meeting program’s needs? 

 

 

# Question Have not used/ Don't 
know 

Not at 
all 

Somewhat 
well 

Very 
well 

Extremely 
well Total 

1 Availability of required texts at the KPU 
bookstore 20% 0% 10% 50% 20% 10 

2 Advising Services 40% 10% 20% 20% 10% 10 

3 Career Services 50% 0% 40% 10% 0% 10 

4 Accessibility Services 30% 0% 20% 50% 0% 10 

5 Support for international students 80% 0% 10% 10% 0% 10 

 

70



 

 

 

Appendix H 

 

Alumni Survey Report 

71



Physics for Modern Technology Program Review - Alumni Survey Results 
 
The alumni survey was sent to 14 Physics for Modern Technology alumni. A total of 8 alumni responded. The response 
rate is 57%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one exception: if 
individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether the comment is 
good, bad or indifferent. 
 

1 - When did you complete KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? 

# When did you complete KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 2021 50% 

2 2020 25% 

3 2019 13% 

4 2018 13% 

 Total 8 

 

2 - Physics for Modern Technology has been designed as a 4-year program, but we recognize 
that many students complete it in more than 4 years for various reasons. How long did it 
take you to complete the program? 

 

# Physics for Modern Technology has been designed as a 4-year program, but we recognize that many students complete it in 
more than 4 years for various reasons. How long did it take you to complete the program? Percentage 

1 4 years 25% 

2 4 to 5 years 63% 

3 5 to 6 years 13% 

4 More than 6 years 0% 

 Total 8 

 

  

72



3 - Can you tell us about some of the factors that contributed to taking more than 4 years? 

The limitation that some courses are not offered every year. 
I was not initially planning on remaining at KPU for the entire degree but decided to stay after seeing the amazing program and extraordinary 
assistance from the Faculty. 
Some classes are only offered once every other year so some semesters are overloaded. 

1) took classes part time to work 2) needed to repeat courses 
Mainly due to majority of course offer in Richmond only. It nice for the 3rd and 4th year but the 1 st and 2nd year we need to also take other 
general elective which does not have many option at Richmond campus. 
No or few summer classes open, and alternate third and fourth 

 

4 - Were program faculty helpful in helping you plan your studies? 

# Were program faculty helpful in helping you plan your studies? Percentage 

1 Yes 88% 

2 No 13% 

 Total 8 

 

5 - Were KPU advisors helpful in helping you plan your studies? 

# Were KPU advisors helpful in helping you plan your studies? Percentage 

1 Yes 100% 

2 No 0% 

 Total 8 

 

6 - What could the program or KPU do to make life easier for students who are pursuing the 
program? 

Make sure everyone know when does the courses are offered. 

It is pretty much greatly laid out. 

Have a better plan for which upper level courses will be offered on which semester. Especially the upper level chemistry courses. 

Target part time students for financial aid to help them become full time 

Nothing that stands out for me. Maybe a bit more flexibility on elective courses. But overall it's a great program. 
I do know PMT has the preplan / suggest course plan out. I wish that I am able to knew that early on as 1st year. So make that more accessible 
on the kpu/PMT website. 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance   

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?] 

73



7 - Program Learning Outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and skills 
students will have upon completion of a program. Please indicate how relevant each of the 
following Program Learning Outcomes was to your career goals. 

  

Understand and gain an appreciation 
for concepts of biology as they relate 

to physics and technology. 
 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and 

concepts. 
 Analyze, evaluate, and solve 

theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 

applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

 Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 

techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 

communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas. 

 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and interfacing 
components), and operate laboratory 

equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

 Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

 Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 

visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating 
data. 

 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  

interface with equipment; collect, 
visualize and analyze data; perform 

numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems. 

 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

 
Develop solutions to problems by 

integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, business, 

experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

 

74



Note that “not at all relevant” and “a somewhat relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency 
table below for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “somewhat relevant” categories 

# Question Not at all 
relevant 

Slightly 
relevant 

Somewhat 
relevant 

Very 
relevant Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 
learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 0% 0% 100% 8 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 

learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, 

including laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they 
relate to physics and technology. 38% 25% 25% 13% 8 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and 
technology development. 0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform 
experiments and collect data. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

8 
Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the conventions and best practices of 

experimental research. 
0% 25% 25% 50% 8 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; 

collect, visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 13% 13% 75% 8 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify 

appropriate avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge and 
skills independently. 

0% 25% 25% 50% 8 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

  

75



8 - The program curriculum is the academic content taught in a specific program. Overall, 
how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? 

 

 

# The program curriculum is the academic content taught in a specific program. Overall, how satisfied are you with the 
curriculum of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 

5 Very satisfied 50% 

 Total 8 

 

9 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program. 

The program includes many hand-on work that student can understand not only the theoretical knowledge. 
The projects really helped me to be able to think on my own and get some guidance. The hands on aspect of the program is useful for industry 
careers. 
Comprehensive and wide berth of topics 
Has good mixture of physics, engineering, and programming. The project courses are very useful as you can match the theory with application 
and demonstrate it. 
Excellent instruction Relevant topics Good resources for lab work 
Great professors who are dedicated to the success of students and the program. A lot of hands on laboratory work which other physics 
programs lack. Great opportunities to find relevant work experience. The professors are passionate at what they do. 
It provide a hand on approach to the theoretical concept which makes it easy to apply to the industry skill. 

  

76



10 - Thinking of KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program's curriculum as a whole, 
please provide any suggestions you have for improvement. 

Show how does the course apply in workplace. 
I believe it is still a growing program and I would love to see bigger projects once the program has expanded similar to projects carried out by 
UBC's engineering teams. 
More programming 

The biology class is irrelevant and the selected business electives are not particularly useful. 

Tests could be harder Stronger emphasis on software tools More time spent on differential equations and linear algebra 

It could have options for core physics courses such as statistical physics. 
Some class I feel can go into deeper understanding to be more beneficial in the job industry. For example, large portion of the program has use 
coding as a way of interfacing with the technology. if stream line all the coding course to build a solid foundation of 1 language by 4th year can 
open up many more job opportunity for student 

 

11 - What topics, if any, were missing from the program? 

Astronomy 

Could add some courses to do with data science or more hands on electronics courses. 
Computational physics would be amazing. Teach students to make models and visualize data. Also a more formal co-op program would be 
better. 
Core upper division courses such as statistical physics, electricity and magnetism. Although the concepts were taught in other courses. Anyone 
who wants to pursue post graduate physics will need to upgrade their degree with 4 extra courses. 
It would be beneficial to offer some optional and deeper understanding of the 3rd or 4th year topic such as optic or control 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

  

77



12 - To what extent did KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program help you develop 
each of the following Program Learning Outcomes? 

 

  

Understand and gain an appreciation 
for concepts of biology as they relate 

to physics and technology. 
 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and 

concepts. 
 Analyze, evaluate, and solve 

theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 

applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

 Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 

techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 

communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas. 

 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and interfacing 
components), and operate laboratory 

equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

 Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

 Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 

visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating 
data. 

 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  

interface with equipment; collect, 
visualize and analyze data; perform 

numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems. 

 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

 
Develop solutions to problems by 

integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, business, 

experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

 

78



Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below for the 
percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

2 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using learned 
fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and techniques. 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 

3 Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, including 
laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and practical problems. 0% 13% 50% 38% 8 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they relate to 
physics and technology. 13% 50% 13% 25% 8 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral communication to 
effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and technology 
development. 0% 38% 25% 38% 8 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform experiments and 
collect data. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

8 Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate hypotheses by 
utilizing the conventions and best practices of experimental research. 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by visualizing, 
analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; collect, 

visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and model physical 
systems. 

0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 13% 0% 88% 8 

12 Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify appropriate 
avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge and skills independently. 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

13 Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, mathematics, 
technology, business, experience, practical skills, and communication skills. 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

  

79



Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

13 - To what extent did KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program help you develop 
each of the following essential skills? 

 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below for the 
percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not at all A small extent A moderate extent A large extent Total 

1 Oral communication 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 
2 Written communication 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 
3 Reading comprehension 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 
4 Group collaboration 0% 13% 13% 75% 8 
5 Independent learning 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 
6 Critical analysis 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 
7 Problem resolution 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 
8 Creativity and innovation 0% 38% 13% 50% 8 
9 Leadership skills 0% 38% 38% 25% 8 
10 Numeracy skills 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 
11 Technical skills 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 
12 Intercultural skills 0% 25% 38% 38% 8 

80



Are appropriate work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning opportunities provided to help students acquire 
the learning outcomes? 

14 - To what extent do you agree that you had sufficient opportunities in the program to 
reinforce your learning through practical application of this learning? 

 

 

# To what extent do you agree that you had sufficient opportunities in the program to reinforce your learning through practical 
application of this learning? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 13% 

4 Somewhat agree 25% 

5 Strongly agree 63% 

 Total 8 

  

81



15 - Indicate the extent the work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning 
opportunities contributed to your learning. 

 

Note that “not at all”, “a small extent”, and “Don’t know” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency 
table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

Don't 
know Total 

1 Work experience 0% 25% 13% 63% 0% 8 

2 Projects 0% 0% 13% 88% 0% 8 

3 
Other (presenting at or attending a conference, volunteering for 

outreach events, volunteering to help at info sessions for prospective 
students, attending networking events, etc.) 

0% 13% 25% 50% 13% 8 

  

82



Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? / Are students making satisfactory 
progress in the program? 

16 - Thinking of KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program as a whole, please indicate 
your agreement with the following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 The prerequisites offered prepared me for 
more advanced courses. 0% 13% 0% 50% 38% 8 

2 I was able to take the prerequisite courses 
when I needed them. 0% 25% 13% 25% 38% 8 

3 The range of courses offered each term 
was adequate. 0% 13% 13% 50% 25% 8 

  

83



Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

17 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Physics 
for Modern Technology program? 

 

 

# Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 50% 

5 Very satisfied 50% 

 Total 8 
 

18 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please indicate 
the strengths of the program instruction. 

Each professor had a unique specialty and allowed us to engage in depth for a wide range of subjects. 

Covers many aspects of physics, engineering and programming. 

Instructors were polite, knowledgeable, and available. 
The professors are very engaging and passionate when teaching. There is both theoretical and applied versions of most topics which helps 
students understand better. 
Since the 3rd and 4th year student all take the class together. The instructor are able understand the need of the student and tailor the content 
in a way that is easily understandable to the the student. 

 

19 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please provide 
any suggestions you have for improvement in program instruction. 

Unsure 

Although many subjects are covered there are not many opportunities to master a specific subject. 

No suggestions 

There is nothing that comes to mind. 
Part of my 4th year was online, it has really change the dynamic between the teacher and student. Some instructor begin to doubt the integrity 
of the student right from the beginning even though we already been through years of academic. It like we have to constantly prove we have 
integrity to him. 

84



Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the learning outcomes? 

20 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, indicate your agreement 
with the following. 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 I received clear information on how I would 
be evaluated. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

2 The range of assessments let me 
demonstrate what I had learned. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

3 The assessment standards were consistent 
throughout the program. 0% 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 

4 My instructors provided useful feedback. 0% 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

  

85



Are graduates of the program successful? 

Further Education 

21 - Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Physics for Modern 
Technology program? 

# Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Yes 25% 

2 No 75% 

 Total 8 

 

22 - Please list the name of the program and the institution where you enrolled after 
completing KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program. 

BCIT 

Simon fraser university M.Sc physics 

 

23 - What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently pursuing since 
completing KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? 

# What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently pursuing since completing KPU’s Physics for Modern 
Technology program? - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 Diploma 50% 

2 Associate’s Degree 0% 

3 Bachelor’s Degree 0% 

4 Master's Degree 0% 

5 Doctorate 0% 

6 Professional designation (Please specify) 0% 

7 Other (Please specify) 50% 

 Total 2 

 

Q23_7_TEXT - Other (Please specify) 

I started but didn't complete a masters degree at SFU. I've now applied to UBCs physics for engineering. 

  

86



24 - To what extent do you agree that the KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program 
prepared you well for further education? 

 

 

# To what extent do you agree that the KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program prepared you well for further education? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 

4 Somewhat agree 50% 

5 Strongly agree 50% 

 Total 2 

 

Employment  

25 - Are you currently employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 

# Are you currently employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? Percentage 

1 Yes 75% 

2 No 25% 

 Total 8 

 

26 - Were you previously employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 

# Were you previously employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? Percentage 

1 Yes 50% 

2 No 50% 

 Total 2 

  

87



27 - Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? 

# Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? Percentage 

1 In a full-time position 83% 

2 In a part-time position 0% 

3 In a contract position 17% 

4 In a casual or temporary position 0% 

5 Self-employed/consultant 0% 

 Total 6 

28 - What is your position/role/job title? 

Manufacturing Technician 

Software Developer 

Manufacturing Technician 

Cyclotron operator/engineering technologist 

Data Scientist 

Hardware System Technician 

 

29 - Could you specify the organization where you are currently employed? This information 
will help us better determine KPU graduates’ career trajectories. 

Ideon Technologies 

Altair Engineering 

Advanced cyclotron systems inc 

SFU 

Weir Motion Metrics 

 

30 - Which of the following best describes your employment situation? (This was asked to 
respondents who chose “yes” in Q26). 

# Which of the following best describes your employment situation? Percentage 

1 In a full-time position 100% 

2 In a part-time position 0% 

3 In a contract position 0% 

4 In a casual or temporary position 0% 

5 Self-employed/consultant 0% 

 Total 1 
 

31 - What was your position/role/job title? 

No results to show 

88



32 - Based on your experience since graduating, to what extent do you agree that the 
program prepared you well for an entry-level job in the industry? 

 

 

# Based on your experience since graduating, to what extent do you agree that the program prepared you well for an entry-
level job in the industry? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 

4 Somewhat agree 43% 

5 Strongly agree 57% 

 Total 7 

 

33 - Please identify the skills/knowledge area(s) you felt were missing in the program for an 
entry-level job in your industry. 

Hands tools 
I was missing some key programming knowledge that, without the physic background, would have prevented me from obtaining an entry level 
software development job. 
Data analysis in business setting. 

There is a fair amount of mechanical engineering knowledge (mechanics of materials, thermodynamics) that I think would be useful 

None that come to mind 

we learn a lot of coding but since they are not align, therefore wont as useful as other skills 
 

34 - Would you be confident hiring someone (whom you don’t personally know) who 
graduated from this program? 

# Would you be confident hiring someone (whom you don’t personally know) who graduated from this program? Percentage 

1 Yes 100% 

2 No 0% 

 Total 6 
 

89



Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector to remain current?] 

Alumni Connections 

35 - Please indicate the extent you agree with the following statements: 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 
The program provided me with opportunities to 

develop connections with industry/potential 
employers. 

0% 13% 25% 25% 38% 8 

2 I am provided with opportunities to stay connected 
to the Physics for Modern Technology program. 0% 0% 38% 38% 25% 8 

 

36 - What can the program do to build better connections with alumni? 

Linkedin page to follow 
I can't offer any incentives beyond good food and/or money but that is likely out of the question UBC does alumni events. They would be a good 
resource for suggestions. 
I am still in contact with some of the professors. 
Have party/info on Academic opportunity after the program , host competition for the current student in which where the current student and 
alumni can connect 

 

90



 

 

 

Appendix I 

 

Discipline/Sector Survey Report 

91



Physics for Modern Technology Program Review - Discipline/Sector Survey Results 
The discipline/sector survey was sent to 27 discipline/sector representatives. A total of 16 representatives responded. 
The response rate is 59%. 

Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one exception: if 
individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether the comment is 
good, bad or indifferent 

 

About Your Organization/Role 

1 - Which sector best describes your organization/business? Please select all that apply. 

 

  

92



# Answer Percentage Count 

1 Engineering 56% 9 

2 Manufacturing 50% 8 

3 Biotechnology 13% 2 

4 Green Technology 31% 5 

5 Transportation 6% 1 

6 Natural Resources 0% 0 

7 Communications 6% 1 

8 Hardware 44% 7 

9 Software 25% 4 

10 Education 6% 1 

11 Government 0% 0 

12 Other. Please specify 13% 2 

 Total  16 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

Q1_12_TEXT - Other. Please specify 

scientific equipment for materials and life sciences 

Professional Association 

 

2 - What is your current job title/role? 

Director of Engineering 

President 

Physics Professor 

CTO 

Production Manager 

Electrical Engineer 

Chief Technology Officer 

Founder, general operations and planning. 

CEO 

Snr Technologist 

VP Product Development 
Retired member, volunteer as an application file reviewer and team lead for Technology program and technical specialist program 
accreditations. 
Business Development Manager 

research and development physicist. 

Lead Research Scientist/Engineer 

Director of manufacturing 

  

93



3 - How familiar are you with KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? 

 

Note that “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table 
below for the percentages for the “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories 

# How familiar are you with KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Not at all familiar 6% 

2 Slightly familiar 25% 

3 Moderately familiar 56% 

4 Very familiar 13% 

 Total 16 

 

4 - When you think about KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program, what are the top 
three characteristics that come to mind? 

Characteristic #1 Characteristic #2 Characteristic #3 

Practical knowledge Applied / practiced techniques Research & Development 

Enginneering Physics Application 

Advanced More electrical based New technology area 

Real world focus Relevant knowledgeE Engaged instruction and learning 

job-oriented up to date flexible 

Robotics Programming Physics 

Focused on employable skills Teaching Physics 

Great balance between theory and practice Well equipped labs and competent lab assistants Wide range of forward-looking physics topics 

Hands on Intense Balanced 

Different from other programs Practical Accessible 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance  

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

 

94



5 - Considering the needs and expectations of your organization, how important is it for an 
entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following? 

 

  

Understand and gain an appreciation 
for concepts of biology as they relate 

to physics and technology. 
 

Appreciate the business aspects of 
the technology sector and 
technology development. 

 

Work cooperatively and effectively 
with peers and supervisors. 

 

Analyze, evaluate, and solve 
theoretical and practical problems 

using learned fundamentals and 
applied Physics knowledge and 

concepts. 
 Analyze, evaluate, and solve 

theoretical and practical problems 
using learned fundamentals and 

applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

 Apply learned fundamentals and 
applied Chemistry knowledge, 
including laboratory skills and 

techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

 

Apply the conventions and best 
practices of written and oral 

communication to effectively convey 
and discuss thoughts and ideas. 

 

Choose, assemble (soldering, 
connecting, powering, and interfacing 
components), and operate laboratory 

equipment to perform experiments 
and collect data. 

 Design laboratory experiments to 
investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the 

conventions and best practices of 
experimental research. 

 Formulate or validate theoretical 
and/or numerical models by 

visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating 
data. 

 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  

interface with equipment; collect, 
visualize and analyze data; perform 

numerical analysis; and model 
physical systems. 

 

Recognize the limits of their own 
knowledge and skills, identify 
appropriate avenues for new 

learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

 
Develop solutions to problems by 

integrating facets of science, 
mathematics, technology, business, 

experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

 

95



 

# Question Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essential Total 

1 Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 
learned fundamentals and applied Physics knowledge and concepts. 0% 13% 60% 27% 15 

2 
Analyze, evaluate, and solve theoretical and practical problems using 

learned fundamentals and applied Mathematics knowledge and 
techniques. 

0% 25% 50% 25% 16 

3 
Apply learned fundamentals and applied Chemistry knowledge, 

including laboratory skills and techniques, to solve theoretical and 
practical problems. 

40% 27% 20% 13% 15 

4 Understand and gain an appreciation for concepts of biology as they 
relate to physics and technology. 40% 33% 20% 7% 15 

5 Apply the conventions and best practices of written and oral 
communication to effectively convey and discuss thoughts and ideas. 0% 13% 25% 63% 16 

6 Appreciate the business aspects of the technology sector and 
technology development. 0% 50% 25% 25% 16 

7 
Choose, assemble (soldering, connecting, powering, and interfacing 

components), and operate laboratory equipment to perform 
experiments and collect data. 

0% 13% 19% 69% 16 

8 
Design laboratory experiments to investigate and/or validate 
hypotheses by utilizing the conventions and best practices of 

experimental research. 
0% 20% 40% 40% 15 

9 Formulate or validate theoretical and/or numerical models by 
visualizing, analyzing, and evaluating data. 0% 20% 53% 27% 15 

10 
Use, adapt, and develop software to:  interface with equipment; 

collect, visualize and analyze data; perform numerical analysis; and 
model physical systems. 

0% 19% 44% 38% 16 

11 Work cooperatively and effectively with peers and supervisors. 0% 13% 13% 75% 16 

12 
Recognize the limits of their own knowledge and skills, identify 

appropriate avenues for new learning, and pursue new knowledge 
and skills independently. 

0% 6% 38% 56% 16 

13 
Develop solutions to problems by integrating facets of science, 

mathematics, technology, business, experience, practical skills, and 
communication skills. 

0% 19% 38% 44% 16 

  

96



6 - What other skills, training or knowledge should an entry-level applicant have to be hired 
into your organization? 

Practical exposure to industry-standard software & tools. 

They must have some prior teaching experience. 
Soldering skills, electronics testing, drawing reading , prepare design documentation. Excellent work ethics should have to be hired into our 
organization. 
Understanding the basics of alternative energy systems, such as fuel cell fundamentals, battery technologies, power electronics fundamentals, 
motor control fundamentals 
Willingness to travel extensively (in Canada and abroad) Networking 

Understanding of the importance of documentation, using research discoveries to make SOP suggestions 

Programming languages such as C and Python are key for the efficient and successful work of any applicant. 

Knowledge of standards and codes UL Electrical Panel CSA Electrical code CompTIA Structured Cabling ISA 5.1  NETWORKING AUTOCAD 

Of particular interest in my current organisation is a good working knowledge of Python and an understanding of LED optics. 

An appreciation of the fundamentals of climate change and the role of all scientists in studying and addressing those issues 

Better understanding of standard business practices 
Typically we ask prospective employees to prepare a presentation of their choice. Being able to convey coherently to an audience is critical.  
Hands on experience with gadgets, lab instruments (scopes etc).  Some programming skills in an analytical language (python, matlab/octave 
etc). 
The list provided is fairly comprehensive. 
Able to work in team environment, able to use hand tools and computer, able to follow a process and work safely in an organized way, able to 
communicate issues and opportunities and present ways for improvements 

 

7 - What are the emerging trends in the sector that KPU Physics for Modern Technology 
students should be prepared for? These trends might include technology, sustainability, and 
innovation. Please be as specific as you are able to. 

Characteristics and limitations of renewable energy sector. 

Quantum materials technologies, quantum computing and communications, sustainable energy 

Design for manufacturing,  User experience for the man to machine interface  Understanding of industrial engineering 

I don't have any specifics on this. 

Large scale hydrogen production and storage. 

Machine learning Automation Supervision and maintenance of complex operations or devices working in a network/workflow. 

Machine learning, visualization and data mining, databases 
- Proper knowledge and skillsets related to IoT technologies - Design and development of basic UIs for the purpose of product testing and 
iteration - Knowledge of product management for the purpose of identifying the needs of end users and the answer to "why" we develop 
certain products or features. 
Climate change will be huge. Carbon capture, technologies that avoid carbon emissions also. AI and Machine Learning are an obvious home for 
physicists and are major trends. 
Too many to focus on, other than perhaps the evolution of alternate energy generation systems and mitigation of climate change challenges 

Innovation and product development process 
Sensing of kinds is getting so cheap these days that it is everywhere. A base knowledge of sensing techniques (magnetic, temperature, flow, 
pressure, distance (laser, eddy current, inductive, optical, vision) is helpful. On the computational side,  a working knowledge of Linux is 
essential. 
There's lots of emerging trends. Ones that come to mind are photonics and AI. However, what is really important is good fundamentals, such as 
in math and optics (in these cases) and the rest can be learned. 

  

97



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Career and Further Education Preparedness 

Are graduates of the program successful? 
 

8 - Which of the following best describes your previous experience with students and/or 
alumni in KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Please select all that apply. 

 

# Answer Percentage Count 

1 I have hosted KPU Physics for Modern Technology co-op, practicum or internship students. 27% 4 

2 I have worked with KPU students on class projects. 0% 0 

3 I have hired KPU Physics for Modern Technology alumni to work in my organization. 13% 2 

4 I have worked with KPU Physics for Modern Technology alumni. 7% 1 

5 None of the above 67% 10 

 Total  16 
 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

  

98



9 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology co-
op, practicum or internship students to work in your organization? 

# Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology co-op, practicum or internship students 
to work in your organization? Percentage 

1 Not at all prepared 0% 

2 Somewhat prepared 25% 

3 Very well prepared 75% 

 Total 4 

 

10 - Based on your experience, how prepared were the KPU Physics for Modern Technology 
students you worked with on class projects? 

No results to show 

11 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology 
alumni to work in your organization? 

# Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology alumni to work in your organization? Percentage 

1 Not at all prepared 100% 

2 Somewhat prepared 0% 

3 Very well prepared 0% 

 Total 1 

 

12 - Please comment on ways in which the program is preparing students well for work. 

Good knowledge for the general ideas our products making here. Good work ethics. 

N/A 
We only had one student joined us as an intern but in general she was very enthusiastic and open to learn, she had the proper knowledge for 
python and PCB design and circuit board work. 

 

13 - Please comment on ways the students’ preparation for work could be improved. 

More communication with managers on problems came up or any ideas to suggest to improve the work process. 

N/A 
Having more in-depth hands-on experience in working with real-life products would get them ready for the market. Aside from the theoretical 
and lab experiments the students do, they must build the acumen of why devices and technologies designed in certain way so that they can 
build a more realistic vision about what really entice them when building a career path. 

  

99



QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Student Demand 

14 - What is the current demand in your sector for graduates of programs like this one? 

# What is the current demand in your sector for graduates of programs like this one? Percentage 

1 Very little demand 0% 

2 Some demand 81% 

3 A lot of demand 19% 

 Total 16 

 

15 - How do you think the demand will change over the next 5 to 10 years? 

# How do you think the demand will change over the next 5 to 10 years? Percentage 

1 It will likely decrease 0% 

2 It will likely stay the same 31% 

3 It will likely increase 69% 

 Total 16 

 

  

100



Program’s Connections 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector to remain current?  

16 - How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s 
Physics for Modern Technology program? 

 

 

# How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 20% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 27% 

5 Very satisfied 53% 

 Total 15 

 

17 - What can KPU’s Physics for Modern Technology program do to build better connections 
with the discipline/sector? 

More foundational knowledge in core physics subjects (e.g., quantum mechanics) would better connect students in this program to technology 
applications of burgeoning areas of physics. 
Stay connected with the coop program coordinators.  Review job postings on our website on a regular basis. 

Continued outreach, eventually the time will come when we are ready for students. 
I believe in order to make it more efficient, KPU can hire/assign one person who will liaise between industry and the students, who can 
understand the challenges industry has and how to translate them into the programs students take and how to connect students with the right 
skill sets to those companies. 
I think the current activities and practices within the program are ideal. 

Perhaps try get some speakers to come through and talk about industrial application of physics ? 
I know that the program tries hard to develop these connections. Maybe some work to get field trips to some of the leading physics based 
companies would be helpful. (General Fusion, D-Wave, or Honeywell). 
I will recommend to ask the student to find a Co op position as a ENG level and not lower. if it is not at the line where they will continue after 
they graduate they will miss the opportunity to understand what is really required from them in the future in order to utilize their degree better 

 

 

101



18 - Have you attended meetings of the Physics for Modern Technology programs’ advisory 
committee? 

# Have you attended meetings of the Physics for Modern Technology programs’ advisory committee? Percentage 

1 Yes 67% 
2 No 33% 
 Total 15 

 

19 - How responsive is the program to external advice? 

# How responsive is the program to external advice? Percentage 

1 Not responsive enough 0% 

2 Somewhat responsive 40% 

3 Very responsive 60% 

 Total 10 
 

20 - Please rate your level of interest in participating projects that connect program students 
with the industry or sector. 

 

# Please rate your level of interest in participating projects that connect program students with the industry or sector. Percentage 

1 Not at all interested 7% 

2 Somewhat interested 67% 

3 Very interested 27% 

 Total 15 
 

21 - Please share any project ideas you have to connect program students with the industry. 

No project I can think of at the moment. 

This would be a good topic to see how project generators could connect with students. 

Facility tours of interested businesses for students might help the businesses scope out students that are especially interested in their industry. 

Sorry- the question is a little vague! 

None at this time 

As I mentioned before, a speaker series would be a good idea. Assuming that in person lectures are on these days. 
 

102



Appendix J 

List of specialized equipment used in the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th year of the Physics for Modern 
Technology program. 

(Note: this list does not include standard benchtop laboratory instruments such as power supplies, 
function generators, oscilloscopes, multimeters etc, which are used widely throughout the program. 
Neither does it include generic smaller components such as resistors, capacitors, inductors, switches, 
diodes, transistors, operational amplifiers, sensors etc.) 

Course Specialized equipment 

PHYS 2030 – Classical Mechanics Forced oscillations apparatus 

Coriolis apparatus 

Coupled oscillator apparatus 

PHYS 2040 – Thermal Physics Thermal Expansion Apparatus 

Adiabatic Gas Law Apparatus 

Stefan-Boltzmann Apparatus 

Entropy of Mixing Apparatus 

Refrigeration/Heat Pump Apparatus 

Absolute Zero Apparatus 

Planck’s Law Apparatus 

PHYS 2600 – Electronics National Instruments myDAQ (student data 
acquisition device) 

PHYS 2610 – Sensors & Actuators Photoelectric sensors 

Inductive proximity sensors 

Resistance Temperature Detectors (RTD) 

Linear Variable Differential Transformer (LVDT) 

PHYS 3610 – Introduction to Control 

PHYS 3620 – Process Control 

Allen Bradley Micro 850 PLC 

Velocio Ace 222v10 PLC 

Festo Basic Level , TP 101 pneumatic training kit 

Festo Process Automation basic Edukit  

PHYS 3700 – Signal & Image Processing  

PHYS 3710 – Applied Optics & 
Optoelectronics 

Multi-Wave Liquid Crystal Variable Retarder 

Thermoelectric laser power meter 

Fiber optics connectorizing and polishing kit 

Raspberry Pi 

103



 

PHYS 3900 – Project in Physics & 
Technology 

PHYS 4199 – Senior Project I 

PHYS 4299 – Senior Project II 

Rasie3D printer 

Formlabs 3D printer 

Voltera V-One PCB printer 

Ultra-Linear Measurement Condenser Microphone 

High field water cooled electromagnet 
Microfluidic fabrication system  

Arduino microcontrollers 

Raspberry Pi 

Lock-in amplifier 

Scanning Electron Microscope 

Sputter coater 

 

PHYS 4700 – Solid State Physics: Theory 
and Practice 

Earth’s Field Nuclear Magnetic Resonance apparatus  

Scanning tunneling microscope 

Gouy balance for magnetic susceptibility 
measurements 

 

104



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.4 

Meeting Date: June 22, 2022 
Presenter: Rebecca Yoshizawa, Billeh Nickerson, Greg Millard 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   

  
  

Attachments Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted June 2, 2022 

 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 1  

 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: December 6, 2017 Date External Review approved by SSCPR: May 16, 2018  

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: October 4, 2018 Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: April 22,  2020             

Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted to SSCPR:  

Third Progress Report on Quality Assurance Plan (Note: black: first, red: second, green: third) 
 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: October 4, 2018 

STRATEGY 1: Enable Student Success. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: 1-Enable student success 

Step(s) Required to 
Achieve this 

Strategy 

Led  
by 

Began 
on 

(M/YY) 

Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

1. Revise Course 
Outlines 

Bassani (Chair 
of Program 
Review) 
 
As of 2021: 
Program 
Review Chair 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa 

Summer* 
2019 

Summer 
2023 

Note: Discussion on Course outlines began in 2017; work on course outlines began Summer 2019 (after program 
review was fully completed) 
2 outlines (1125, 2260) have been passed through senate 
1 outline near Program Review Committee Vote.  
*Reason for limited progress on course outline revisions: 

• Duties of Program Review Chair exceed time release (no time release given).  
• Duties to revise outlines exceeds time given to faculty members.  
• A number of work-place issues beyond our control occurred between 2017-2020.  

 
List of courses revised: 
SOCI 1125 
SOCI 2260 
 
List of courses waiting for revision with target dates for AFCC: 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 2  

 
Course Outline Target Date for ASCC 
SOCI 2225 Done 
SOCI 2230 Done 
SOCI 2235 Done 
SOCI 2240 Done 
SOCI 2250 12/20 
SOCI 2255 12/20 
SOCI 2270 12/20 
SOCI 2275 12/20 
SOCI 2280 12/20 
SOCI 2285 12/20 
SOCI 2290 Done 
SOCI 2311 12/20 
SOCI 2365 Done 
SOCI 3155 12/20 
SOCI 3210 12/20 
SOCI 3230 Done 
SOCI 3235 12/20 
SOCI 3240 12/20 
SOCI 3245 12/20 
SOCI 3260 Done, ASCC June 2022 
SOCI 3270 04/21 
SOCI 3275 04/21 
SOCI 3280 04/21 
SOCI 3300 04/21 
SOCI 3310 04/21 
SOCI 3320 04/21 
SOCI 3330 Done 
SOCI 3345 04/21 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 3  

SOCI 3365 Done 
SOCI 3385 Done 
SOCI 4225 04/21 
SOCI 4230 04/21 
SOCI 4310 04/21 
SOCI 4320 04/21 

 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Progress: 

• SOCI 2240 was revised and passed at departmental level. It will be sent to ASCC for their next meeting. SOCI 
2225 was also passed last term (fall 2020) and will be sent for the meeting after that.  

• Program Review has new representation in Co-Chairs of Rebecca Yoshizawa and Kyle Mitchell. Legacy 
work/training was necessary for this transition from the chairing by Cherylynn Bassani 

• Shifts in service representation as well as ongoing faculty discussions led to us developing and passing a 
new Course Revision Workflow, which signifies and crystalizes our efforts  

• Course outlines have been distributed and faculty have signed up for “commitment dates” or due dates for 
revisions. Faculty have committed course outlines to self-chosen deadlines, some of them approaching in 
May and ongoing in 2021. 

• A number of other outlines are being revised for Summer 2021 consideration, including: SOCI 2230, 3210, 
3155, 3240, and 4325 
 

*Reason for limited progress on course outline revisions: 
• The covid-19 pandemic has made more progress on our outlines impossible; for instance, any time faculty 

would dedicate to revising course outlines was dedicated to revising course presentations for teaching 
online 

• Committee leadership transition 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• Our department has experienced a great deal of transition and challenges in the past year. For instance, 
Associate Dean Billeh Knickerson became our Acting Chair for 5 months. Rebecca Yoshizawa became the 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 4  

chair on May 1st 2022. We continue to experience cumulative and new challenges as a result of the 
pandemic. We saw colleagues retire and new colleagues welcomed. New colleagues need time to 
understand our program and training to be able to participate in course revisions.  

• More shifts in service representation on Program Review – Rebecca Yoshizawa became sole chair.  
 

 
Progress: 

• Online discussion and e-voting procedure was developed and passed by department vote. This improved 
our efficiency on discussing and passing revisions.  

• The following outlines were revised and passed by department vote, and most of these have also passed 
ASCC and/or Senate shortly will be: 

o 2230, 2235, 2260, 2290, 2365, 3230, 3260, 3330, 3365, 3385. 
o Given our departmental burnout, other unique departmental challenges, and the ongoing 

pandemic, we believe this progress is very encouraging.  
o We dug very deep to make this progress. Where once basically no progress had been made from 

2018 when the present program review was done, in 2022 we now have approximately 1/3 of our 
courses revised! 

• The rest of our courses have a firm plan in place for revision and timeline, and a dedicated Program Review 
Chair constantly facilitating progress   

• At this space we plan to have all our outlines revised by 2023, when we will be looking toward our next 
program review.  

• We have assigned the rest of our courses; faculty do them as soon as they can, primarily in their non-
teaching terms: 

SOCI 2250 Families in Canada Cherylynn 

SOCI 2255 Sociology of Everyday Life and Interaction Cherylynn 

SOCI 2270 Sociology of Education: A Critical Perspective Amir 

SOCI 2275 Mass Media and Society Becky and Fiona 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 5  

SOCI 2280 Health, Disability and Society Becky and Fiona 

SOCI 2285 Gods in the Global Village: A Sociological Perspective of World Religions Cherylynn 

SOCI 2311 Social Justice in the Local Contexts Kyle and Fabricio 

SOCI 3155 Indigenous Perspectives on Settler Colonial Societies Seema 

SOCI 3210 Technology and Society Becky 

SOCI 3235 Classic Sociological Theories Mariana and Ryan 

SOCI 3240 Gender in the Global Context Seema 

SOCI 3245 Gender, Bodies, and Sexualities Becky 

SOCI 3270 Education, Nation-Building and Globalization Amir 

SOCI 3275 Sociology of Popular Culture Becky and Fiona 

SOCI 3280 Sociology of Dying and Death Cherylynn 

SOCI 3300 Sociology of Work and Occupations Mariana 

SOCI 3310 Conflict Analysis and Resolution No plan yet 

SOCI 3320 Sociology of Global Inequalities Ryan and Mariana 

SOCI 3345 Social Policy in Context Not up for review 

SOCI 4225 Advanced Topics in Canadian Issues Kyle 

SOCI 4230 Advanced Topics in Race/Ethnicity: A Global Perspective Ryan 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 6  

SOCI 4310 Terrorism, Globalization, and Social Justice Claudio 

SOCI 4320 Advanced Topics in Global Studies Ryan 

SOCI 4325 Sociological Aspects of Community Service Seema 

SOCI 4330 Global Community Service Seema 
 

2. Reduce elective 
requirements for 
2nd 3rd and 4th 
year classes 

Bassani 
 

As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, Alicia 
Horton 

Fall 2018 Summer 
2023 

Ongoing discussion at faculty meetings since 2017. The department agreed that an across the board reduction in 
requirements is in the best interest of students and the program. Department agreed to retain prerequisites, 
though reassess this on a course-by-course basis as outlines are reviewed.   
 
The following courses have been reviewed and have been amended to reflect the abovementioned strategy: 

• 1125 -no reduction in electives (has no elective) 
• 2260 -reduction in electives from 1125 to 18 university credits 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
These discussions are ongoing with course revisions as above. Electives for 2240 were not reduced.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• We have not reduced the prerequisites for any of the courses we have revised so far. None of these courses 
had “superfluous” prerequisites. “Recommended” prerequisites that were listed on old course outlines 
were removed with their revisions. 

• We highlight that we recently created a curriculum committee to address these and other programmatic 
elements in our program review plan, from a programmatic perspective.  

3. Complete 
transfer 
agreements with 
post secondary 
institutions in 
metro Vancouver 

Seema 
Ahluwalia 
(articulation 
rep) 

Ongoing Annually; 
throughout 
the year 
when 
needed 

This is ongoing through BC articulation. We are up to date on Articulation in BC. The next BCCAT for Sociology is 
May 8, 2020.  
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
This is ongoing. We have a dedicated faculty member engaging in articulation. We are constantly streaming 
articulation requests. We are up to date on articulation. In our department there has been strong support to 
articulate our courses for the benefit of our students.   



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 7  

 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
This is ongoing. We have a dedicated faculty member engaging in articulation. We are constantly streaming 
articulation requests. We are up to date on articulation. In our department there has been strong support to 
articulate our courses for the benefit of our students.   

4. Develop 
pathways to 
minor and other 
relevant majors 

Bassani (and 
Promotional 
Committee) 
 
As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, Alicia 
Horton 

Fall 2020 Ongoing Bassani (Dept Chair) will take this up during 04/20 department meeting. 
• Bassani to email department chairs in FA (minus Criminology and Psychology) about visiting classes in Fall 

2020 promoting 2260 (research methods), 2265 (statistics), 3250 (qual research), 3365 (statistics) 
• Courses for Environmental Justice Minor in development (Mitchell working on course development over 

Summer 2020 semester) 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
The Covid-19 pandemic has slowed the progress on these endeavours. We plan to incorporate this action into our 
service work starting fall 2021.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• We recently created a curriculum committee to address these and other programmatic elements in our 
program review plan, from a programmatic perspective. 

• Fiona Whittington-Walsh is developing a “pathway” for her Including All Citizens project, which is a suite of 
courses for students with intellectual disabilities  

• We are involved in the proposed creation of the Film Studies minor – for instance, we have elaborated on 
the courses we could offer to such a minor, and have scheduled these courses for upcoming terms in order 
to develop them into our rotation and create opportunities to revise them (e.g., SOCI 3275). 

 
5. Offer condensed 

and blended 
learning 
opportunities 

Bassani & 
Whittington-
Walsh 
 
As of 2022: 
everyone, part 
of ed planning 

Summer 
2017 

Annual 
discussion 
at 
department 
meeting 
(progress & 
direction 

• Department meetings (2019): Discussed merits of blended and condensed classes. 
• Bassani offers blended learning in all classes she teaches.  
• Whittington-Walsh scheduled condensed SOCI 1125 classes starting Summer 2017. 
• Bassani teaching condensed 3345 & 1125 classes in Summer 2019 (first time for 3345), 1125 and two 

sections of 1125 in Summer 2020 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 8  

for next 
year) 

The pandemic has dramatically impacted this area of program review. We will be pursuing what the “New KPU” 
looks like, as with everyone else, as a collective starting fall 2021.  We have engaged this discussion in department 
meetings concerning ed planning 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
The pandemic provided a silver lining in helping us achieved this goal. We offer blended and online options every 
term at most levels of courses. All faculty are now “qualified” to teach online, due to necessity, where once this 
was a unique skill of only a few of us. We are able to offer additional sections of our popular 1125 course without 
requiring room space at KPU. So, we have experienced growth and strong enrollment.  

6. Work with 
Dean’s Office & 
Registrar’s Office 
to give declared 
sociology 
students 
preferential 
registration in 
upper level 
sociology courses 
required for 
graduation. 

Whittington-
Walsh 
(department 
chair) 
 
As of 2021, 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa 

Summer 
2018 

No longer 
pursuing; 
but yearly 
review of 
the issue 
and data  

• Follow up with the Dean of Arts, Dr. Purvey, in Summer 2020 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Research was conducted and a report prepared for discussion at the April 2021 department meeting. However, the 
meeting agenda exceeded the time we could spend at the meeting and this item was not discussed. It will be 
pursued in the May 2021 meeting.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
More research was done on this, looking at quantitative data on seats, fill rate, and majors, and through 
discussions with arts advisors. A fulsome departmental discussion was had in 2021.  
 
The department no longer finds that this is a good course of action. From our research we realized that the real 
issue wasn’t lack of reserved seats, but ed planning. We need better ed planning to see students through our 
program. Students were getting bottlenecked, or were not sure of when their required courses would next run and 
therefore unable to plan ahead for their courses.  
 
Right now, the department is creating a 3 Year Ed Plan to better map the degree pathways for the students.  
 
Based on this plan, our Promotions Committee will be making “one-pagers” every term to share with students, in 
order to help them better plan for “when they need to take what” to complete their degrees in a timely manner. 
This “one-pager” idea was proposed by A. Dean Billeh.  
 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 9  

Finally, we worry that enrollments will reduced by excluding non-sociology majors through parts of the registration 
period. 
 

7. Examine BA 
Major to reduce 
requirement of 
45 upper level 
sociology classes 
to 42 upper level 
sociology classes 

Bassani 
 
As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, Alicia 
Horton 
 

April 
2020 

Summer 
2023 

This will be presented and discussed at the Department’s April 2020 meeting 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
We need to revise more outlines before we decide upon these issues.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
Now that we have a new Curriculum Committee, they will incorporate this as a part of their mandate.  

8. Stream-line 
declared 
students’ access 
to registration in 
upper level 
courses 

Bassani 
 
As of 2021, 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa 

May 
2020 

Dec 2021 
 
No longer 
pursuing; 
but yearly 
review of 
the issue 
and data 

This will be presented and discussed at the Department’s May 2020 meeting 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Research was conducted and a report prepared for discussion at the April 2021 department meeting. However, the 
meeting agenda exceeded the time we could spend at the meeting and this item was not discussed. It will be 
pursued in the May 2021 meeting.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
This is addressed above in discussion of reserved seats.  

9. Other - Individual 
faculty are 
committed to PD 
concerning 
student success 
 

 2019 Ongoing; 
faculty 
account for 
their PD 
activities 
on an 

• 2019-2020 Gatzeva: wrote open access Statistics textbook for KPU and all students 
• 2019 -2020 Whittington-Walsh: conducting research on transformative teaching and its effect on students 

with disabilities 
• 2019 Ahluwalia: Organizes Indigenous knowledge sharing & decolonization sessions for KPU community 
• 2019-2020 Bassani: Organizes anti-violence against women campaigns at KPU 

 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 10  

annual 
basis 

2nd Annual Follow-up 
Our members are dutifully engaged in ongoing professional development. For example, many did “Leveling Up” to 
prepare for pandemic crisis teaching; faculty are conducting research and community projects including important 
activism particularly for racialized and minoritized communities; faculty are involved in the creation of OER.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• All faculty members are always fully engaged in PD for student success. Fiona and Cherylynn both currently 
have course releases to do EDID research work, for instance.  

• As illustrative example, Fabricio Telo provided this report: 

“I participated in workshops promoted by Teaching and Learning Commons on a variety of topics, including e-
portfolios, blended learning, and inviting spaces; 

I am mentoring two students who are working as RAs in my research project "Canadian Corporations and the 
Brazilian Military Dictatorship"; Related to this research project, I am attending a course on Corporate 
Accountability and Authoritarian Regimes in Latin America promoted by Argentina's Human Rights Ministry; 

I have attended numerous sessions of the Kitchen Table Talks, a bi-weekly space for discussion hosted by 
Jennifer Anaquod on issues such as indigenization of pedagogy, reconciliation, safe spaces for students, and 
more. 

I am currently working on a Collaborative Online International Learning (COIL) proposal for my Fall 2022 course 
on Contemporary Sociological Theory, in partnership with Dr. João Marcelo Maia, from Getulio Vargas 
Foundation, Brazil, where I am currently spending a three-week period as visiting researcher with a grant from 
KPU's Guard.me Fund; 

I attended the Mental Health First Aid Standard virtual course.” 

• PD opportunities are regularly shared and availed by faculty  
 

*note: the department met in the Spring 2018 term to discuss course revisions however we did not start doing course revisions until after/during the Program Review was passed. 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 11  

 

STRATEGY 2: Indigenize and decolonize Sociology curriculum. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Indigenize and decolonize sociology curriculum. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve 
this Strategy 

Led  
by 

Began 
on 

(M/YY) 

Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

1. Internal discussion on 
what indigenization and 
decolonization means 
and what it could look 
like in curriculum 

Ahluwalia, 
everyone  

Fall 2019 Regular 
discussions, 
usually 
monthly at 
department 
meetings since 
this is a major 
goal of our 
department  

As a department we are currently working our way through discussions with respect to problematizing the 
process of indigenization (i.e. non-indigenous faculty members indigenizing curriculum) and we have come 
to a consensus that decolonization is a departmental obligation. The Department will: 

• continue on as it has previously in courses and course outlines, in discussing intersectional 
inequality but also recognize that indigenous histories are unique in that they are historically 
rooted in colonialism (this includes the process of decolonizing curriculum and this will be 
recognized in course outline revisions going forward). 

• Ensure that all appropriate course outlines include indigenous histories, settler society, and 
colonization; challenge to science providing alternative ways of knowing.   

 
Once we have direction from the Indigenous Steering Committee with respect to indigenization, we can 
make best practice alterations (and amend above bullets). When Ahluwalia returns from leave (9/20) we 
will determine if she still wishes to organize this Committee. 
 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
In our department, decolonization and Indigenization is always an ongoing and open discussion, 
particularly as we revise our curriculum.  
 
We do not have any Indigenous members of the department so our department has had extensive 
discussions about the possibility of ‘Indigenizing.’ In the absence, other department members are meeting 
this goal by incorporating Indigenous perspectives and doing decolonizing pedagogical work. Our 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 12  

curriculum revision process now ensures that our course presentations will include content on that reflects 
Indigenous and decolonisation discourse and pedagogy. As well, sociology 3155 was developed specifically 
as a sociology course that focuses on Indigenous perspectives. 4225 has been presented as an Indigenous 
perspective course through the lens of sociology.  
 
In revising our outlines, we are actively recognizing critical perspectives that emerge from indigenous 
scholars themselves regarding the process of Indigenization and recognizing that our primary need in the 
department is Indigenous faculty members. The Sociology department has tried unsuccessfully to hire an 
Indigenous faculty member and our attempts to do so have not been properly addressed. Our current 
search processes and discussions have extensively directed towards achieving a hire. It is very complex. We 
have only been recently informed, for example, that we could seek an exception to hire an Indigenous or 
racialized scholar. We intend to pursue this, and have had our search committee begin this process with 
HR; as such we have moved to hire contract faculty until we can set the ad that we desire. We have two 
ads that are currently being advertised to fill the needs. We have developed our language for our ads to 
support our search for these types of faculty. There is a lack of understanding in the university leadership 
in how to support this goal, so we are in continuous negotiation to achieve our goal.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
We have had extensive conversations about this, relevant to almost all aspects of our program. Our faculty 
individually and as a group are doing decolonizing work. All of our course revisions have decolonizing 
content. We have participated in and followed closely the developments of the “cluster hire”. We have 
designed our search plan around our hope that we can secure an Indigenous scholar through the cluster 
hire – for instance, we’ve had the opportunity to hire new permanent faculty, but instead have strategized 
hiring NR2s so that we can still avail the cluster hire opportunity once it becomes officially possible. We 
recently changed our minimum requirements through the department, AFC, and Senate, to increase the 
ways applicants can show us that they are ready to teach at KPU. This was a huge development for us, 
because the MQ conversation has been ongoing for years. We have drafted and re-drafted our ads to draw 
in diverse applicant pools. Our NR searches have led to the hiring of two faculty with expertise in 
decolonization.  

2. Create an Indigenous 
Steering Committee: 

Ahluwalia 
 

Fall 2020 Fall 2022  Discussion on going. Funding is an issue -inviting speakers/elders to engage with department/ KPU. 
 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 13  

request indigenous 
leaders to engage with 
department  

 We aspire to have active engagement with this committee and the department 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Ahluwalia returned from leave to work in a pandemic. We have the guidance of the KPU Indigenous 
Advisory Committee and our own community contacts. We have the opportunity but it is not possible in 
the context of the pandemic. We will pursue this once we have a sense of our post-pandemic ‘normal’ and 
once it is safe to organize, both physically and for community members who have been suffering due to 
covid-19 impacts on their communities and workplaces 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
In a pandemic context where Indigenous people are being over-asked to do university 
decolonizing/Indigenizing, are experiencing ongoing systemic discrimination, and are working through 
individual and community traumas associated with residential school victim grave discoveries as well as 
legacy and ongoing colonialism, we are not going to ask this of Indigenous people. We do not have an 
Indigenous faculty member. We have done other kinds of work that is possible for settlers to do, 
however.  

3. Review course outlines 
and teaching practices 
so as to meet this goal  

Bassani 
 
As of 2021, 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa 
and all 
faculty 
involved in 
course 
revisions 

Fall 2019 Every term; 
Course Review 
Workflow is 
complete, 
which requires 
this of any 
revised course 

See * in Strategy 1 progress 

Outline revisions: 1125: Under content: “Indigenous Peoples and Canadian society” was added.  

2260:  no changes were made in reference to indigenous peoples. Issues of colonization of knowledge and 
therefore research are discussed in the class. This is encapsulated in Learning Outcome: “Understand the 
logic of scientific research and academic research practices” and in the Content in the discussion of 
“scientific research methods and then the logic of scientific research and academic research practices” 

No changes have been made with respect to the service learning core competencies for the two approved 
course outlines 

 

2nd Annual Follow-up 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 14  

Our curriculum revision process now ensures that our course presentations will include content on that 
reflects Indigenous and decolonisation discourse and pedagogy. 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
Every single course we have put through after 1125 and 2260 were done has had decolonizing content in 
it.  

4. Continue to organize 
decolonizing university 
wide events 

Ahluwalia, 
everyone 

Fall 2017 Annually to 
Regularly  

Ahluwalia has a long history of organizing university wide (and general community) events that focus on 
Indigenous peoples.  
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
This is always ongoing. For instance, Ahluwalia organized KPU’s first and only 4-campus week long events 
in 2019 spring. 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
This is always ongoing. For instance, Amir Mirfakhraie has two events coming up called “Marginalized 
Voices Speak: A Reading and Listening Series.” 

5. Encourage Sociology 
faculty to complete the 
three online Indigenous 
Awareness Modules 

Whittington-
Walsh 

Fall 2019 Annually 
(training 
should be 
taken each 
year) 

Whittington-Walsh mentioned the training at department meeting. 
 
This has been encouraged. Many faculty are engaged with work and PD activities, within and outside the 
university, in these areas and are well engaged in the discussion of ‘Indigenous awareness’. E.g., TLC has 
provided many workshops related to anti-racism that faculty attend.  
 
Territorial acknowledgement is now woven into our department meetings.  

 

 

STRATEGY 3: Enhance marketing to achieve retention in upper level courses. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Enhance marketing strategies to achieve retention in upper level courses. 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 15  

Step(s) Required to Achieve 
this Strategy 

Led  
by 

Began 
on (M/YY) 

Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

1. Sociology Promotions 
committee (PC) to meet 
with marketing and 
communications 
department to set out a 
marketing strategy 

Mitchell 
(PC) 

Fall 2018 Ongoing; 
monthly, our 
department 
meetings 
require 
reporting  

Mitchell will meet with marketing and communications department. Together with the Sociology 
Promotions Committee Mitchell will develop a marketing strategy and then report back to the Department 
and Program Review Committee in the October 2020 meetings. 
Mitchell. Higgitt, Jalowica engaged with community in 2019 & 2020 to market Sociology  

• KPU open house (2019, 2020) 
• Major sign up open house in Sociology Department 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
We have had many contacts with marketing in development our website and promotional materials. We 
extensively make use of posters to advertise courses. The pandemic has changed how we promote and 
challenged our ability to dedicate time to it. We have a twitter account to promote our department. Higgit 
and Hanlon are creating a sociology newsletter.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• We’ve done a huge amount of promotional work in the past year!: 

o We have created content and materials to post on the Sociology Twitter account; 

o We have organized the Declaration Day on February 28, 2022; 

o We have recorded promotion videos with some sociology faculty members addressing their 

work and scholarship and published them on social media and our website; 

o We have worked with alumni to create and publish testimonials on our website and social 

media; 

o We are working on updating the sociology brochure to promote our program; 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 16  

o We have met with the Future Students Office regarding the possibility of reaching out to 

high school students in Surrey to introduce our sociology programs. We are planning some 

activities to receive high school students at KPU; 

o We are working to define some activities for the KPU Open House event; 

o We have created a draft of a one-pager document to encourage students to declare 

sociology as their Minor.  

o We have created an Instagram account for the department and we are working on creating 

a Tik Tok account. 

 
2. Sociology Promotions 

committee to allocated 
tasks as per above 
mentioned plan  

Mitchell Fall 2018 October 
2020 

See comment above 
 
We have a committee dedicated to promotions.  

3. Promotion of Sociology 
minors and develop 
pathways with Political 
Science, Psychology and 
Criminology 

Whittigton-
Walsh, 
Bassani,  
Mitchell,  
Higgett  
 
As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio 
Telo, 

Spring 
2018 

Annually, 
each term 

• Opened SOCI 2260 to other Arts majors by removing SOCI 1125 prerequisite (Passed Spring 2020).  
• Sociology as a Minor is promoted in all Sociology 2260 classes. 
• Mitchell, Higgit, Jalowica showcase sociology at KPU open house (Feb 2019, 2020) 
• Sociology open house to sign up Sociology Majors and Minors (Feb 2020) 
• Bassani visits classes in other Departments discussing violence against women and advertises 

Sociology (Nov 2018, 2019; March 2019) 
• Bassani has Sociology students knowledge share at KPU Surrey Campus on issues of poverty, 

violence and Sociology (Oct, Feb 2018; 2019; 2020) 
• Other promotions to be articulated by Mitchell during October 2020 department meeting. 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
As we revise our curriculum we will pursue more opportunities.  
 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 17  

Cherylynn 
Bassani, 
Alicia 
Horton 
 

3rd Annual Follow-up 
As we revise our curriculum we will pursue more opportunities. 

STRATEGY 4: Facilitating more community connections for students. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Facilitating more community connections for students. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve 
this Strategy 

Led  
by 

Began 
on (M/YY) 

Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

1. Re-engage with members 
of the previous Sociology 
Community Advisory 
Review Board (SCARB) 

Bassani 
(PC) 
 
As of May 
2022, 
Yoshizawa 

Fall/2020 Fall 2023 PC and Dept. Chair (DC) will take this up as priority in Fall 2020 term  
Reason for lack of progress concerning Strategy: 

• Sociology Department Chair duties exceed the amount of time given to perform role.  
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
The pandemic has challenged our progress. We will pursue this once we have a sense of our post-pandemic 
‘normal’ and once it is safe to organize, both physically and for community members who have been 
suffering due to covid-19 impacts on their communities and workplaces 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
We have not been able to do this yet, predominantly related to the challenges of the pandemic. Now that 
the university has a new policy about this as well as staffing support for it, we will explore it more intently 
as a department.  
 
We highlight that because we have both service learning courses AND faculty actively engaged in 
community work, that we are uniquely positioned in communities and already informally seek advisory-like 
opinions from communities.  
 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 18  

We would like to highlight that our service learning courses were held during the pandemic. They were 
hugely successful with students gaining a range of skills in connecting with community partners. The courses 
had to be reimagined for the pandemic. It was a big “win” for our department to continue with offering 
excellent service learning. Service learning builds SCARB-like learning opportunities into our program.  

2. Integrate service learning 
core competencies in 
targeted sociology courses 

 Bassani 
 
As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio 
Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, 
Alicia 
Horton 

Summer 
2019 

Annually Discussed in summer 2019 program review committee meeting, to be added as go through course outlines 
See * on Strategy 1. 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
In spring 2021, we have discussed how we will be maintaining service learning in the context of a pandemic. 
We will revisit our service learning components in 2022. Consideration of service learning opportunities is 
incorporated into our Course Revision Workflow 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
We are still elaborating upon this. The new Curriculum Committee can take up this mandate 
programmatically.  

3. Strike a new SCARB Bassani 
 
As of May 
2022, 
Yoshizawa 

Fall 2020 Fall 2023 PC and DC to take this up as priority in Fall 2020 term. 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
The pandemic has challenged our progress. We will pursue this once we have a sense of our post-pandemic 
‘normal’ and once it is safe to organize, both physically and for community members who have been 
suffering due to covid-19 impacts on their communities and workplaces. We have contacts in community, 
industry and other sectors that we can mobilize.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
As above, we are not ready to do this.  

4. Hold meet and greet 
between students and 
SCARB 

Bassani 
 

Fall 2020 Fall 2023 DC will take this up as priority in Fall 2020 term. 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 19  

As of May 
2022, 
Yoshizawa 

The pandemic has challenged our progress. We will pursue this once we have a sense of our post-pandemic 
‘normal’ and once it is safe to organize, both physically and for community members who have been 
suffering due to covid-19 impacts on their communities and workplaces 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
As above, we are not ready to do this. 

     



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Sociology  

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If 
no progress has occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has 
been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
Reviewer #1: Actioned third annual review. It is clear that the faculty and overall department have 
clearly addressed the needs of the department through the steps outlined in this third annual follow 
up report. I commend the program for their working through the details of this report and following 
up on each strategy. Covid 19 has hit programs that are in program review very hard over the last 
two years, especially within the strategies that require collaboration with stakeholders as this can be 
seen in your strategies regarding the advisory board. I just have some comments and suggested 
actions below related to these dates and delays that may be ongoing due to this. Please note that 
the dates should be updated and there may be need to be a forth annual follow up due to this. 
Wonderfully written. 
 
Reviewer #2: The big question in this review is how we should handle the outstanding items, which, 
while potentially reasonably delayed, will ultimately be a challenge for the program in future when 
these documents are used (potentially by Government) to assess program quality. 
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer 1 & 2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see 
below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-
Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
Section 1  The section on course review makes a few claims 

about workload and course release that Senate 
can’t assess. These should be removed. If the 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

2 
 

claim is made that release is insufficient the only 
way to consider that point is to compare faculty 
workloads and that is not something we can do 
in this venue.  

1. Revise Course Outlines strategy page 1. 
 

Your program review committee has a great 
start, but from reading through the past 
comments under this strategy I wonder with a 
completion date of one more year that you may 
also want to add in a circular workflow chart. 
This will help you identify what outlines are 
moving through what committees or senate 
level, with very specific timelines and allowances 
for resubmitting. This will help with the approval 
of another full year.  

2. Reduce elective requirements for 2 nd 3 rd 
and 4th year classes Page 6. 
 

It is very unclear what you are doing to reduce 
electives? If you added a comment in, such as 
our newly elected curriculum committee is 
seeking consultation with  T&L in regards to 
reducing electives in our program model, it may 
help. 

2.3 On the Indigenous committee question. The 
point about not wanting to burden the 
Indigenous community is a good one, and 
certainly reflects the current state of thought on 
these kinds of asks. Perhaps say something 1) 
about how our thinking has changed since the 
goal was set and 2) about what other things were 
done. SOCI leads the way on these issues but this 
way of explaining it seems like that might not be 
the case. 

We are constantly streaming articulation 
requests. 
Page 7 

This sentence is very unclear, can it be reworded. 

As of 2022: everyone, part of ed planning page 7 
 

This sentence is very unclear, can it be reworded. 

3rd Annual Follow-up 
In a pandemic context where Indigenous people 
are being over-asked to do university 
decolonizing/Indigenizing, are experiencing 
ongoing systemic discrimination, and are 
working through individual and community 
traumas associated with residential school victim 
grave discoveries as well as legacy and ongoing 

I am not sure why there is a 3rd annual follow up 
comment if this was completed in Fall 2022, is it 
ongoing? 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

3 
 

colonialism, we are not going to ask this of 
Indigenous people. We do not have an 
Indigenous faculty member. We have done 
other kinds of work that is possible for settlers 
to do, however. Page 13 
We have a committee dedicated to promotions. 
Page 16 
 

I am not sure why there is a 3rd annual follow up 
comment if this was completed in Oct. 2020, is it 
ongoing? 
 

Strike a new SCARB, 3 rd Annual Follow-up As 
above, we are not ready to do this. Page 18 
 
 

The date on this is Fall 2023, I wondering if the 
committee will ask for a 4th follow up as this date 
is more than a year away? 

Hold meet and greet between students and 
SCARB 
 

The date on this is Fall 2023, I wondering if the 
committee will ask for a 4th follow up as this date 
is more than a year away? 

General There are a few goals that we list as things we 
can’t yet do. So long as these are left hanging like 
that we need to keep the follow up process 
going, I think, though it isn’t clear to me how 
that would work with another review 
presumably starting soon. 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or 
remove rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #)  

Page 9 remove the green bullets in front of the first follow up points that are in black 
 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 1  

 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: December 6, 2017 Date External Review approved by SSCPR: May 16, 2018  

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: October 4, 2018 Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: April 22,  2020             

Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted to SSCPR:  

Third Progress Report on Quality Assurance Plan (Note: black: first, red: second, green: third) 
 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: October 4, 2018 

STRATEGY 1: Enable Student Success. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: 1-Enable student success 

Step(s) Required to 
Achieve this 

Strategy 

Led  
by 

Began 
on 

(M/YY) 

Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

1. Revise Course 
Outlines 

Bassani (Chair 
of Program 
Review) 
 
As of 2021: 
Program 
Review Chair 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa 

Summer* 
2019 

Summer 
2023 

Note: Discussion on Course outlines began in 2017; work on course outlines began Summer 2019 (after program 
review was fully completed) 
2 outlines (1125, 2260) have been passed through senate 
1 outline near Program Review Committee Vote.  
*Reason for limited progress on course outline revisions: 

• Duties of Program Review Chair exceed time release (no time release given).  
• Duties to revise outlines exceeds time given to faculty members.  
• A number of work-place issues beyond our control occurred between 2017-2020.  

 
List of courses revised: 
SOCI 1125 
SOCI 2260 
 
List of courses waiting for revision with target dates for AFCC: 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 2  

 
Course Outline Target Date for ASCC 
SOCI 2225 Done 
SOCI 2230 Done 
SOCI 2235 Done 
SOCI 2240 Done 
SOCI 2250 12/20 
SOCI 2255 12/20 
SOCI 2270 12/20 
SOCI 2275 12/20 
SOCI 2280 12/20 
SOCI 2285 12/20 
SOCI 2290 Done 
SOCI 2311 12/20 
SOCI 2365 Done 
SOCI 3155 12/20 
SOCI 3210 12/20 
SOCI 3230 Done 
SOCI 3235 12/20 
SOCI 3240 12/20 
SOCI 3245 12/20 
SOCI 3260 Done, ASCC June 2022 
SOCI 3270 04/21 
SOCI 3275 04/21 
SOCI 3280 04/21 
SOCI 3300 04/21 
SOCI 3310 04/21 
SOCI 3320 04/21 
SOCI 3330 Done 
SOCI 3345 04/21 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 3  

SOCI 3365 Done 
SOCI 3385 Done 
SOCI 4225 04/21 
SOCI 4230 04/21 
SOCI 4310 04/21 
SOCI 4320 04/21 

 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Progress: 

• SOCI 2240 was revised and passed at departmental level. It will be sent to ASCC for their next meeting. SOCI 
2225 was also passed last term (fall 2020) and will be sent for the meeting after that.  

• Program Review has new representation in Co-Chairs of Rebecca Yoshizawa and Kyle Mitchell. Legacy 
work/training was necessary for this transition from the chairing by Cherylynn Bassani 

• Shifts in service representation as well as ongoing faculty discussions led to us developing and passing a 
new Course Revision Workflow, which signifies and crystalizes our efforts  

• Course outlines have been distributed and faculty have signed up for “commitment dates” or due dates for 
revisions. Faculty have committed course outlines to self-chosen deadlines, some of them approaching in 
May and ongoing in 2021. 

• A number of other outlines are being revised for Summer 2021 consideration, including: SOCI 2230, 3210, 
3155, 3240, and 4325 
 

*Reason for limited progress on course outline revisions: 
• The covid-19 pandemic has made more progress on our outlines impossible; for instance, any time faculty 

would dedicate to revising course outlines was dedicated to revising course presentations for teaching 
online 

• Committee leadership transition 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• Our department has experienced a great deal of transition and challenges in the past year. For instance, 
Associate Dean Billeh Knickerson became our Acting Chair for 5 months. Rebecca Yoshizawa became the 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 4  

chair on May 1st 2022. We continue to experience cumulative and new challenges as a result of the 
pandemic. We saw colleagues retire and new colleagues welcomed. New colleagues need time to 
understand our program and training to be able to participate in course revisions.  

• More shifts in service representation on Program Review – Rebecca Yoshizawa became sole chair.  
 

 
Progress: 

• Online discussion and e-voting procedure was developed and passed by department vote. This improved 
our efficiency on discussing and passing revisions.  

• The following outlines were revised and passed by department vote, and most of these have also passed 
ASCC and/or Senate shortly will be: 

o 2230, 2235, 2260, 2290, 2365, 3230, 3260, 3330, 3365, 3385. 
o Given our departmental burnout, other unique departmental challenges, and the ongoing 

pandemic, we believe this progress is very encouraging.  
o We dug very deep to make this progress. Where once basically no progress had been made from 

2018 when the present program review was done, in 2022 we now have approximately 1/3 of our 
courses revised! 

• The rest of our courses have a firm plan in place for revision and timeline, and a dedicated Program Review 
Chair constantly facilitating progress   

• At this space we plan to have all our outlines revised by 2023, when we will be looking toward our next 
program review.  

• We have assigned the rest of our courses; faculty do them as soon as they can, primarily in their non-
teaching terms: 

SOCI 2250 Families in Canada Cherylynn 

SOCI 2255 Sociology of Everyday Life and Interaction Cherylynn 

SOCI 2270 Sociology of Education: A Critical Perspective Amir 

SOCI 2275 Mass Media and Society Becky and Fiona 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 5  

SOCI 2280 Health, Disability and Society Becky and Fiona 

SOCI 2285 Gods in the Global Village: A Sociological Perspective of World Religions Cherylynn 

SOCI 2311 Social Justice in the Local Contexts Kyle and Fabricio 

SOCI 3155 Indigenous Perspectives on Settler Colonial Societies Seema 

SOCI 3210 Technology and Society Becky 

SOCI 3235 Classic Sociological Theories Mariana and Ryan 

SOCI 3240 Gender in the Global Context Seema 

SOCI 3245 Gender, Bodies, and Sexualities Becky 

SOCI 3270 Education, Nation-Building and Globalization Amir 

SOCI 3275 Sociology of Popular Culture Becky and Fiona 

SOCI 3280 Sociology of Dying and Death Cherylynn 

SOCI 3300 Sociology of Work and Occupations Mariana 

SOCI 3310 Conflict Analysis and Resolution No plan yet 

SOCI 3320 Sociology of Global Inequalities Ryan and Mariana 

SOCI 3345 Social Policy in Context Not up for review 

SOCI 4225 Advanced Topics in Canadian Issues Kyle 

SOCI 4230 Advanced Topics in Race/Ethnicity: A Global Perspective Ryan 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 6  

SOCI 4310 Terrorism, Globalization, and Social Justice Claudio 

SOCI 4320 Advanced Topics in Global Studies Ryan 

SOCI 4325 Sociological Aspects of Community Service Seema 

SOCI 4330 Global Community Service Seema 
 

2. Reduce elective 
requirements for 
2nd 3rd and 4th 
year classes 

Bassani 
 

As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, Alicia 
Horton 

Fall 2018 Summer 
2023 

Ongoing discussion at faculty meetings since 2017. The department agreed that an across the board reduction in 
requirements is in the best interest of students and the program. Department agreed to retain prerequisites, 
though reassess this on a course-by-course basis as outlines are reviewed.   
 
The following courses have been reviewed and have been amended to reflect the abovementioned strategy: 

• 1125 -no reduction in electives (has no elective) 
• 2260 -reduction in electives from 1125 to 18 university credits 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
These discussions are ongoing with course revisions as above. Electives for 2240 were not reduced.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• We have not reduced the prerequisites for any of the courses we have revised so far. None of these courses 
had “superfluous” prerequisites. “Recommended” prerequisites that were listed on old course outlines 
were removed with their revisions. With every course we revise, we have a fulsome discussion of 
prerequisites.  

• We highlight that we recently created a curriculum committee to address these and other programmatic 
elements in our program review plan, from a programmatic perspective.  

3. Complete 
transfer 
agreements with 
post secondary 
institutions in 
metro Vancouver 

Seema 
Ahluwalia 
(articulation 
rep) 

Ongoing Annually; 
throughout 
the year 
when 
needed 

This is ongoing through BC articulation. We are up to date on Articulation in BC. The next BCCAT for Sociology is 
May 8, 2020.  
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 7  

This is ongoing. We have a dedicated faculty member engaging in articulation. We are constantly streaming 
articulation requests. We are up to date on articulation. In our department there has been strong support to 
articulate our courses for the benefit of our students.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
This is ongoing. We have a dedicated faculty member engaging in articulation. We are constantly streaming 
articulation requests. We are up to date on articulation. In our department there has been strong support to 
articulate our courses for the benefit of our students.   

4. Develop 
pathways to 
minor and other 
relevant majors 

Bassani (and 
Promotional 
Committee) 
 
As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, Alicia 
Horton 

Fall 2020 Ongoing Bassani (Dept Chair) will take this up during 04/20 department meeting. 
• Bassani to email department chairs in FA (minus Criminology and Psychology) about visiting classes in Fall 

2020 promoting 2260 (research methods), 2265 (statistics), 3250 (qual research), 3365 (statistics) 
• Courses for Environmental Justice Minor in development (Mitchell working on course development over 

Summer 2020 semester) 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
The Covid-19 pandemic has slowed the progress on these endeavours. We plan to incorporate this action into our 
service work starting fall 2021.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• We recently created a curriculum committee to address these and other programmatic elements in our 
program review plan, from a programmatic perspective. 

• Fiona Whittington-Walsh is developing a “pathway” for her Including All Citizens project, which is a suite of 
courses for students with intellectual disabilities  

• We are involved in the proposed creation of the Film Studies minor – for instance, we have elaborated on 
the courses we could offer to such a minor, and have scheduled these courses for upcoming terms in order 
to develop them into our rotation and create opportunities to revise them (e.g., SOCI 3275). 

 
5. Offer condensed 

and blended 
learning 
opportunities 

Bassani & 
Whittington-
Walsh 
 

Summer 
2017 

Annual 
discussion 
at 
department 

• Department meetings (2019): Discussed merits of blended and condensed classes. 
• Bassani offers blended learning in all classes she teaches.  
• Whittington-Walsh scheduled condensed SOCI 1125 classes starting Summer 2017. 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 8  

As of 2022: 
everyone, part 
of ed planning 

meeting 
(progress & 
direction 
for next 
year)2020 

• Bassani teaching condensed 3345 & 1125 classes in Summer 2019 (first time for 3345), 1125 and two 
sections of 1125 in Summer 2020 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
The pandemic has dramatically impacted this area of program review. We will be pursuing what the “New KPU” 
looks like, as with everyone else, as a collective starting fall 2021.  We have engaged this discussion in department 
meetings concerning ed planning 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
The pandemic provided a silver lining in helping us achieved this goal. We offer blended and online options every 
term at most levels of courses. All faculty are now “qualified” to teach online, due to necessity, where once this 
was a unique skill of only a few of us. We are able to offer additional sections of our popular 1125 course without 
requiring room space at KPU. So, we have experienced growth and strong enrollment.  

6. Work with 
Dean’s Office & 
Registrar’s Office 
to give declared 
sociology 
students 
preferential 
registration in 
upper level 
sociology courses 
required for 
graduation. 

Whittington-
Walsh 
(department 
chair) 
 
As of 2021, 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa 

Summer 
2018 

No longer 
pursuing; 
but yearly 
review of 
the issue 
and data  

• Follow up with the Dean of Arts, Dr. Purvey, in Summer 2020 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Research was conducted and a report prepared for discussion at the April 2021 department meeting. However, the 
meeting agenda exceeded the time we could spend at the meeting and this item was not discussed. It will be 
pursued in the May 2021 meeting.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
More research was done on this, looking at quantitative data on seats, fill rate, and majors, and through 
discussions with arts advisors. A fulsome departmental discussion was had in 2021.  
 
The department no longer finds that this is a good course of action. From our research we realized that the real 
issue wasn’t lack of reserved seats, but ed planning. We need better ed planning to see students through our 
program. Students were getting bottlenecked, or were not sure of when their required courses would next run and 
therefore unable to plan ahead for their courses.  
 
Right now, the department is creating a 3 Year Ed Plan to better map the degree pathways for the students.  
 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 9  

Based on this plan, our Promotions Committee will be making “one-pagers” every term to share with students, in 
order to help them better plan for “when they need to take what” to complete their degrees in a timely manner. 
This “one-pager” idea was proposed by A. Dean Billeh.  
 
Finally, we worry that enrollments will reduced by excluding non-sociology majors through parts of the registration 
period. 
 

7. Examine BA 
Major to reduce 
requirement of 
45 upper level 
sociology classes 
to 42 upper level 
sociology classes 

Bassani 
 
As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, Alicia 
Horton 
 

April 
2020 

Summer 
2023 

This will be presented and discussed at the Department’s April 2020 meeting 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
We need to revise more outlines before we decide upon these issues.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
Now that we have a new Curriculum Committee, they will incorporate this as a part of their mandate. The 
committee will be in consultations to do this starting Fall 2022.  

8. Stream-line 
declared 
students’ access 
to registration in 
upper level 
courses 

Bassani 
 
As of 2021, 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa 

May 
2020 

Dec 2021 
 
No longer 
pursuing; 
but yearly 
review of 
the issue 
and data 

This will be presented and discussed at the Department’s May 2020 meeting 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Research was conducted and a report prepared for discussion at the April 2021 department meeting. However, the 
meeting agenda exceeded the time we could spend at the meeting and this item was not discussed. It will be 
pursued in the May 2021 meeting.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
This is addressed above in discussion of reserved seats.  

9. Other -– 
Individual faculty 

 2019 Ongoing; 
faculty 

• 2019-2020 Gatzeva: wrote open access Statistics textbook for KPU and all students 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 10  

are committed to 
PD concerning 
student success 
 

account for 
their PD 
activities 
on an 
annual 
basis 

• 2019 -2020 Whittington-Walsh: conducting research on transformative teaching and its effect on students 
with disabilities 

• 2019 Ahluwalia: Organizes Indigenous knowledge sharing & decolonization sessions for KPU community 
• 2019-2020 Bassani: Organizes anti-violence against women campaigns at KPU 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Our members are dutifully engaged in ongoing professional development. For example, many did “Leveling Up” to 
prepare for pandemic crisis teaching; faculty are conducting research and community projects including important 
activism particularly for racialized and minoritized communities; faculty are involved in the creation of OER.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 

• All faculty members are always fully engaged in PD for student success. Fiona and Cherylynn both currently 
have course releases to do EDID research work, for instance.  

• As illustrative example, Fabricio Telo provided this report: 

“I participated in workshops promoted by Teaching and Learning Commons on a variety of topics, including e-
portfolios, blended learning, and inviting spaces; 

I am mentoring two students who are working as Ras in my research project "Canadian Corporations and the 
Brazilian Military Dictatorship"; Related to this research project, I am attending a course on Corporate 
Accountability and Authoritarian Regimes in Latin America promoted by Argentina's Human Rights Ministry; 

I have attended numerous sessions of the Kitchen Table Talks, a bi-weekly space for discussion hosted by 
Jennifer Anaquod on issues such as indigenization of pedagogy, reconciliation, safe spaces for students, and 
more. 

I am currently working on a Collaborative Online International Learning (COIL) proposal for my Fall 2022 course 
on Contemporary Sociological Theory, in partnership with Dr. João Marcelo Maia, from Getulio Vargas 
Foundation, Brazil, where I am currently spending a three-week period as visiting researcher with a grant from 
KPU's Guard.me Fund; 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 11  

I attended the Mental Health First Aid Standard virtual course.” 

• PD opportunities are regularly shared and availed by faculty  
 

*note: the department met in the Spring 2018 term to discuss course revisions however we did not start doing course revisions until after/during the Program Review was passed. 

 

STRATEGY 2: Indigenize and decolonize Sociology curriculum. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Indigenize and decolonize sociology curriculum. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve 
this Strategy 

Led  
by 

Began 
on 

(M/YY) 

Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

1. Internal discussion on 
what indigenization and 
decolonization means 
and what it could look 
like in curriculum 

Ahluwalia, 
everyone  

Fall 2019 Regular 
discussions, 
usually 
monthly at 
department 
meetings since 
this is a major 
goal of our 
department  

As a department we are currently working our way through discussions with respect to problematizing the 
process of indigenization (i.e. non-indigenous faculty members indigenizing curriculum) and we have come 
to a consensus that decolonization is a departmental obligation. The Department will: 

• continue on as it has previously in courses and course outlines, in discussing intersectional 
inequality but also recognize that indigenous histories are unique in that they are historically 
rooted in colonialism (this includes the process of decolonizing curriculum and this will be 
recognized in course outline revisions going forward). 

• Ensure that all appropriate course outlines include indigenous histories, settler society, and 
colonization; challenge to science providing alternative ways of knowing.   

 
Once we have direction from the Indigenous Steering Committee with respect to indigenization, we can 
make best practice alterations (and amend above bullets). When Ahluwalia returns from leave (9/20) we 
will determine if she still wishes to organize this Committee. 
 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 12  

In our department, decolonization and Indigenization is always an ongoing and open discussion, 
particularly as we revise our curriculum.  
 
We do not have any Indigenous members of the department so our department has had extensive 
discussions about the possibility of ‘Indigenizing.’ In the absence, other department members are meeting 
this goal by incorporating Indigenous perspectives and doing decolonizing pedagogical work. Our 
curriculum revision process now ensures that our course presentations will include content on that reflects 
Indigenous and decolonisation discourse and pedagogy. As well, sociology 3155 was developed specifically 
as a sociology course that focuses on Indigenous perspectives. 4225 has been presented as an Indigenous 
perspective course through the lens of sociology.  
 
In revising our outlines, we are actively recognizing critical perspectives that emerge from indigenous 
scholars themselves regarding the process of Indigenization and recognizing that our primary need in the 
department is Indigenous faculty members. The Sociology department has tried unsuccessfully to hire an 
Indigenous faculty member and our attempts to do so have not been properly addressed. Our current 
search processes and discussions have extensively directed towards achieving a hire. It is very complex. We 
have only been recently informed, for example, that we could seek an exception to hire an Indigenous or 
racialized scholar. We intend to pursue this, and have had our search committee begin this process with 
HR; as such we have moved to hire contract faculty until we can set the ad that we desire. We have two 
ads that are currently being advertised to fill the needs. We have developed our language for our ads to 
support our search for these types of faculty. There is a lack of understanding in the university leadership 
in how to support this goal, so we are in continuous negotiation to achieve our goal.   
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
We have had extensive conversations about this, relevant to almost all aspects of our program. Our faculty 
individually and as a group are doing decolonizing work. All of our course revisions have decolonizing 
content. We have participated in and followed closely the developments of the “cluster hire”. We have 
designed our search plan around our hope that we can secure an Indigenous scholar through the cluster 
hire – for instance, we’ve had the opportunity to hire new permanent faculty, but instead have strategized 
hiring NR2s so that we can still avail the cluster hire opportunity once it becomes officially possible. We 
recently changed our minimum requirements through the department and , AFC, and Senatewill have the 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 13  

Dean of Arts’ final approval in September 2022 (the process will change at that time; changes no longer 
need to be approved by Senate), to increase the ways applicants can show us that they are ready to teach 
at KPU. This was a huge development for us, because the MQ conversation has been ongoing for years. We 
have drafted and re-drafted our ads to draw in diverse applicant pools. We have written our interview 
questionnaires to foreground the importance of decolonization in our department. Our NR searches have 
led to the hiring of two faculty with expertise in decolonization.  

2. Create an Indigenous 
Steering Committee: 
request indigenous 
leaders to engage with 
department  

Ahluwalia 
 
 

Fall 2020 Fall 2022  Discussion on going. Funding is an issue -inviting speakers/elders to engage with department/ KPU. 
 
We aspire to have active engagement with this committee and the department 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
Ahluwalia returned from leave to work in a pandemic. We have the guidance of the KPU Indigenous 
Advisory Committee and our own community contacts. We have the opportunity but it is not possible in 
the context of the pandemic. We will pursue this once we have a sense of our post-pandemic ‘normal’ and 
once it is safe to organize, both physically and for community members who have been suffering due to 
covid-19 impacts on their communities and workplaces 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
In a pandemic context where Indigenous people are being over-asked to do university 
decolonizing/Indigenizing, are experiencing ongoing systemic discrimination, and are working through 
individual and community traumas associated with residential school victim grave discoveries as well as 
legacy and ongoing colonialism, we are not going to ask this of Indigenous people. We do not have an 
Indigenous faculty member. We have done other kinds of work that is possible for settlers to do, 
however. For instance, our faculty have organized events (mentioned elsewhere in this report), done 
decolonizing work on our search process, and added decolonizing content to all of our course outline 
revisions. Seema Ahluwalia has deep ties with Indigenous communities and is a constant voice of wisdom 
in all our departmental pursuits; she is also the Decolonization, Reconciliation, and Indigenization rep on 
the KFA, and is involved in other Indigenous committees and organizations.  

3. Review course outlines 
and teaching practices 
so as to meet this goal  

Bassani 
 

Fall 2019 Every term; 
Course Review 
Workflow is 

See * in Strategy 1 progress 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 14  

As of 2021, 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa 
and all 
faculty 
involved in 
course 
revisions 

complete, 
which requires 
this of any 
revised course 

Outline revisions: 1125: Under content: “Indigenous Peoples and Canadian society” was added.  

2260:  no changes were made in reference to indigenous peoples. Issues of colonization of knowledge and 
therefore research are discussed in the class. This is encapsulated in Learning Outcome: “Understand the 
logic of scientific research and academic research practices” and in the Content in the discussion of 
“scientific research methods and then the logic of scientific research and academic research practices” 

No changes have been made with respect to the service learning core competencies for the two approved 
course outlines 

 

2nd Annual Follow-up 
Our curriculum revision process now ensures that our course presentations will include content on that 
reflects Indigenous and decolonisation discourse and pedagogy. 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
Every single course we have put through after 1125 and 2260 were done has had decolonizing content in 
it.  

4. Continue to organize 
decolonizing university 
wide events 

Ahluwalia, 
everyone 

Fall 2017 Annually to 
Regularly  

Ahluwalia has a long history of organizing university wide (and general community) events that focus on 
Indigenous peoples.  
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
This is always ongoing. For instance, Ahluwalia organized KPU’s first and only 4-campus week long events 
in 2019 spring. 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
This is always ongoing. For instance, Amir Mirfakhraie has two events coming up called “Marginalized 
Voices Speak: A Reading and Listening Series.” 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 15  

5. Encourage Sociology 
faculty to complete the 
three online Indigenous 
Awareness Modules 

Whittington-
Walsh 

Fall 2019 Annually 
(training 
should be 
taken each 
year) 

Whittington-Walsh mentioned the training at department meeting. 
 
This has been encouraged. Many faculty are engaged with work and PD activities, within and outside the 
university, in these areas and are well engaged in the discussion of ‘Indigenous awareness’. E.g., TLC has 
provided many workshops related to anti-racism that faculty attend.  
 
Territorial acknowledgement is now woven into our department meetings.  

 

 

STRATEGY 3: Enhance marketing to achieve retention in upper level courses. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Enhance marketing strategies to achieve retention in upper level courses. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve 
this Strategy 

Led  
by 

Began 
on (M/YY) 

Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

1. Sociology Promotions 
committee (PC) to meet 
with marketing and 
communications 
department to set out a 
marketing strategy 

Mitchell 
(PC) 

Fall 2018 Ongoing; 
monthly, our 
department 
meetings 
require 
reporting  

Mitchell will meet with marketing and communications department. Together with the Sociology 
Promotions Committee Mitchell will develop a marketing strategy and then report back to the Department 
and Program Review Committee in the October 2020 meetings. 
Mitchell. Higgitt, Jalowica engaged with community in 2019 & 2020 to market Sociology  

• KPU open house (2019, 2020) 
• Major sign up open house in Sociology Department 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
We have had many contacts with marketing in development our website and promotional materials. We 
extensively make use of posters to advertise courses. The pandemic has changed how we promote and 
challenged our ability to dedicate time to it. We have a twitter account to promote our department. Higgit 
and Hanlon are creating a sociology newsletter.  
 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 16  

3rd Annual Follow-up 
• We’ve done a huge amount of promotional work in the past year!: 

o We have created content and materials to post on the Sociology Twitter account; 

o We have organized the Declaration Day on February 28, 2022; 

o We have recorded promotion videos with some sociology faculty members addressing their 

work and scholarship and published them on social media and our website; 

o We have worked with alumni to create and publish testimonials on our website and social 

media; 

o We are working on updating the sociology brochure to promote our program; 

o We have met with the Future Students Office regarding the possibility of reaching out to 

high school students in Surrey to introduce our sociology programs. We are planning some 

activities to receive high school students at KPU; 

o We are working to define some activities for the KPU Open House event; 

o We have created a draft of a one-pager document to encourage students to declare 

sociology as their Minor.  

o We have created an Instagram account for the department and we are working on creating 

a Tik Tok account. 

 
2. Sociology Promotions 

committee to allocated 
tasks as per above 
mentioned plan  

Mitchell Fall 2018 October 
2020 

See comment above 
 
We have a committee dedicated to promotions.  



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 17  

3. Promotion of Sociology 
minors and develop 
pathways with Political 
Science, Psychology and 
Criminology 

Whittigton-
Walsh, 
Bassani,  
Mitchell,  
Higgett  
 
As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio 
Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, 
Alicia 
Horton 
 

Spring 
2018 

Annually, 
each term 

• Opened SOCI 2260 to other Arts majors by removing SOCI 1125 prerequisite (Passed Spring 2020).  
• Sociology as a Minor is promoted in all Sociology 2260 classes. 
• Mitchell, Higgit, Jalowica showcase sociology at KPU open house (Feb 2019, 2020) 
• Sociology open house to sign up Sociology Majors and Minors (Feb 2020) 
• Bassani visits classes in other Departments discussing violence against women and advertises 

Sociology (Nov 2018, 2019; March 2019) 
• Bassani has Sociology students knowledge share at KPU Surrey Campus on issues of poverty, 

violence and Sociology (Oct, Feb 2018; 2019; 2020) 
• Other promotions to be articulated by Mitchell during October 2020 department meeting. 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
As we revise our curriculum we will pursue more opportunities.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
As we revise our curriculum we will pursue more opportunities. 

STRATEGY 4: Facilitating more community connections for students. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Facilitating more community connections for students. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve 
this Strategy 

Led  
by 

Began 
on (M/YY) 

Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

1. Re-engage with members 
of the previous Sociology 
Community Advisory 
Review Board (SCARB) 

Bassani 
(PC) 
 

Fall/2020 Fall 2023 PC and Dept. Chair (DC) will take this up as priority in Fall 2020 term  
Reason for lack of progress concerning Strategy: 

• Sociology Department Chair duties exceed the amount of time given to perform role.  
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 18  

As of May 
2022, 
Yoshizawa 

The pandemic has challenged our progress. We will pursue this once we have a sense of our post-pandemic 
‘normal’ and once it is safe to organize, both physically and for community members who have been 
suffering due to covid-19 impacts on their communities and workplaces 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
We have not been able to do this yet, predominantly related to the challenges of the pandemic. Now that 
the university has a new policy about this as well as staffing support for it, we will explore it more intently 
as a department.  
 
We highlight that because we have both service learning courses AND faculty actively engaged in 
community work, that we are uniquely positioned in communities and already informally seek advisory-like 
opinions from communities.  
 
We would like to highlight that our service learning courses were held during the pandemic. They were 
hugely successful with students gaining a range of skills in connecting with community partners. The courses 
had to be reimagined for the pandemic. It was a big “win” for our department to continue with offering 
excellent service learning. Service learning builds SCARB-like learning opportunities into our program.  

2. Integrate service learning 
core competencies in 
targeted sociology courses 

 Bassani 
 
As of 2022: 
Sociology 
Curriculum 
Committee: 
Rebecca 
Yoshizawa, 
Fabricio 
Telo, 
Cherylynn 
Bassani, 
Alicia 
Horton 

Summer 
2019 

Annually Discussed in summer 2019 program review committee meeting, to be added as go through course outlines 
See * on Strategy 1. 

 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
In spring 2021, we have discussed how we will be maintaining service learning in the context of a pandemic. 
We will revisit our service learning components in 2022. Consideration of service learning opportunities is 
incorporated into our Course Revision Workflow 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
We are still elaborating upon this. The new Curriculum Committee can take up this mandate 
programmatically.  



Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

Sociology Program Review Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 19  

3. Strike a new SCARB Bassani 
 
As of May 
2022, 
Yoshizawa 

Fall 2020 Fall 2023 PC and DC to take this up as priority in Fall 2020 term. 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
The pandemic has challenged our progress. We will pursue this once we have a sense of our post-pandemic 
‘normal’ and once it is safe to organize, both physically and for community members who have been 
suffering due to covid-19 impacts on their communities and workplaces. We have contacts in community, 
industry and other sectors that we can mobilize.  
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
As above, we are not ready to do this.  

4. Hold meet and greet 
between students and 
SCARB 

Bassani 
 
As of May 
2022, 
Yoshizawa 

Fall 2020 Fall 2023 DC will take this up as priority in Fall 2020 term. 
 
2nd Annual Follow-up 
The pandemic has challenged our progress. We will pursue this once we have a sense of our post-pandemic 
‘normal’ and once it is safe to organize, both physically and for community members who have been 
suffering due to covid-19 impacts on their communities and workplaces 
 
3rd Annual Follow-up 
As above, we are not ready to do this. 

     



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
  Agenda Item: 5.5 

Meeting Date: June 22, 2022 
Presenter: Jocelyn Lymburner, Wade Deisman, Greg Millard 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   

  
  

Attachments Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted June 2, 2022 

 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 1  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: April 25, 2018 

Date of External Review Site Visit : June 12, 2018 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: May 25, 2020 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: May 19, 2021 

 Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: May 30, 2022 

Second Progress Report  
  

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: January 2019 

STRATEGY 1: Provide increased support for experiential learning opportunities for students 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: To enhance the student learning experience and promote greater opportunities for experiential learning 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Increase the credit allocation for PSYC 4000: Practicum from 3 
credits to 6 credits and examine the feasibility of offering the 
practicum in two semesters 

Jocelyn 
Lymburner and 

Kurt Penner 

 
12, 2018 

09, 2019 
Completed and Approved by 

Senate 

Completed and Approved by Senate in September, 
2019.  
 
Despite the constraints posed by COVID, we had 
excellent participation in our practicum course for 2020 
and excellent enrollment for 2021. 

Advocate for an increase in the departmental budget to 
facilitate guest lectures and community engagement 
opportunities 

 
 

Budget 
Committee 

 
 

01, 2018 

Ongoing 
The Department reviews our 

budget on a monthly basis and 
we have a budget committee. 

Faculty continue to host guest lecturers in a virtual 
format.  As a department we will continue to prioritize 
funding for these learning opportunities. Dr. 
Lymburner, in the role of Degree Coordinator, is also in 
the initial stages of investigating a Co-op program for 
Psychology. F/U discussions with other departments 
dissuaded Psychology from pursuing a Co-op option at 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

this time. Our practicum courses continue to provide 
multiple opportunities for community engagement.  

Continue to foster teaching excellence through regular teaching 
excellence meetings 

Chair of Teaching 
Excellence 

Committee (Dr. 
Patricia Coburn) 

 
2006 

(onset of TE 
committee) 

Ongoing 
At our September 

departmental meeting each 
year, faculty review Teaching 
Excellence and propose topics 

for the upcoming year. 

Despite constraints posed by COVID, the department 
has continued to host regular Teaching Excellence 
meetings:  
 
Jan 2020- Open Access Resources – Dr. Rajiv Jhangiani 
 
April 2020- Basic Moodle Workshop – Dr. Dianne Crisp  
 
October 2020- Online Testing – Dr. Kristie Dukewich 
 
October 2021 – Covid 19 – Absenteeism, Extensions 
and Doctor Notes  – Dr. Patrician Coburn 
 
December, 2021 – Work Life Balance – Dr. Arleigh 
Reichl 
 
April, 2022 – Teaching Perspectives Inventory –  Dr. 
Shayna Rusticus and Dr. Dan Pratt 
 
June 2022 – Critical Classroom Incidents – Dr. Farhad 
Dastur 
 

  



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 3  

Apply for funding for department-based professional 
development workshop 

Faculty  
10, 2019 

 
10, 2021 

On hold until we are able to return to campus. 
Exploring the possibility of organizing a Teaching 
Perspectives Inventory Workshop with Dr. Katherine 
Wisener.  
 
Completed: 
April 2022 – Teaching Perspectives Inventory Workshop 
with Dr. Daniel Pratt 
 
June 23, 2022 – Power Analysis Workshop by Dr. Edgar 
Erdfelder   
 
 

Work closely with the Kwantlen Psychology Society (KPS) to 
identify opportunities and create student professional 
development opportunities (e.g. NEXT conference; Hello 
Future) 

Kristie 
Dukewich/Jocelyn 
Lymburner/Kwant

len Psychology 
Society 

 
 

10, 2018 

 
Monthly check-ins with the 

KPS; a Faculty Advisor works 
with the KPS on an ongoing 

basis. 

Dr. Shayna Rusticus is currently the KPS faculty advisor. 
This student organization has been exceptionally busy 
over the past year hosting monthly movie and games 
night, as well as a Speakers series, Honours Information 
Sessions, and a variety of educational events including 
workshops on Jamovi, Qualtrics, and APA.  

Provide increased allocation of funds for psychology lab 
materials (e.g., cannabis goggles, human brain specimen) 

Budget 
Committee 

 
03, 2019 

 
09, 2019 

Initial funding was secured in September, 2019. The 
Psychology Lab, under the direction of Ivy Ng, is also 
submitting a proposal to the Post Covid Strategic Fund 
for additional materials and improvements to the 
space. The application was unsuccessful but additional 
Psychology lab materials were purchased using our 
book funds and Psychology budget. 

 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 4  

STRATEGY 2: Maintain a strong Honours program. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Expand research opportunities for faculty and students 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by  (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Institution must commit to ongoing financial support for the 
Honours Program 

Daniel 
Bernstein/Jocelyn 

Lymburner 

 
05, 2018 

Meeting with representatives 
from the Criminology Honours 

program twice annually 
(Fall/Spring); regular 

correspondence with Dean of 
Arts. 

May, 2021 Scheduled Meetings 
 
The Dean is committed to the honours program and 
sees tremendous value in the contributions the 
program makes to the quality of education in the 
department. The Dean has committed to continuing to 
find funding for the program within the current budget 
–  and supports the aspiration of the department to see 
the program prosper. As of March 2020, Honours 
courses were built in as base sections in the Psychology 
Ed Plan.  
 
Dr. Daniel Bernstein (Chair of the Honours Committee) 
will meet with ORS, the Dean’s office, and Criminology 
to plan a Three-Minute Thesis event in the summer of 
2021. Psychology and Criminology are also meeting in 
May 2021 to plan shared guest speakers (i.e., open 
science and pedagogy, research ethics) for the Honours 
Seminar classes in Fall of 2021.  
 
Due to COVID 19, these events are to be scheduled for 
the 2022/2023 Honours cohort.  
 

Systematically track the educational and professional paths of 
our Honours alumni. 

Faculty 
Supervisors 

Data beginning in 
2009. 

Ongoing; Spreadsheet updated 
by faculty regularly. 

The Department maintains a spreadsheet of student 
achievements, including those of Honours students. 
The information is housed on SharePoint and is 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 5  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by  (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

updated as we receive updates from students (e.g., 
graduate school admission; awards and scholarships). 
The information is shared regularly with all 
departmental members via email updates about 
student successes and during departmental meetings.  

Maintain consistency and rigour across all Honours supervisors 
(i.e. continue providing education around standard grading 
practices/project expectations/etc.) 

Daniel Bernstein 
(Chair of Honours) 

Annual meetings 
each May 

Annual reviews of standards 
occur in May each year 
(Honours Committee). 

Annual review each May. Dr. Bernstein (Honours Chair) 
sends regular reminders of standards via email to all 
supervisors (e.g., sample course outline; standard 
grading practices).  

Ensure that students are well prepared for success in the 
Honours program by maintaining high admission standards 
with a focus on upper level statistics and methods courses. 

Honours 
Committee 

Annual meetings 
in May 

Annual May meeting of 
Honours committee. 

Enrolment in the Honours program is competitive and 
admission is carefully considered at our May Honours 
meeting. 

 

STRATEGY 3: Provide greater access to computers and/or computer lab space on Surrey and Richmond campuses 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Expand research opportunities for faculty and students; to enhance the student learning experience and promote greater opportunities for 
experiential learning 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Establish a designated (i.e., priority booking) computer lab for 
the psychology department, with 35 computers, on Surrey 
campus and Richmond campus. 

Shayna Rusticus  
04, 2019 

Meeting with Dean in 01, 2021 RESOLVED. 
The Faculty of Arts received funding for a pop 
up lab which will serve the needs of our 
students. While this is not yet in use due to 
COVID, recent communications with IT confirm 
that all devices will be equipped with 
appropriate statistical software.  
 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 6  

Over the Spring of 2021, the KPS hosted 
educational workshops on Jamovi (an open source 
statistical software) and Qualtrics.   

Work with faculty to better utilize the designated psychology 
faculty research space currently operated by Dr. Bernstein. 

Daniel Bernstein  
04, 2019 

 
09, 2020 

Resolved as of September, 2020 
 
Faculty members can work directly with Dr. 
Bernstein’s lab to utilize this lab space when not 
otherwise occupied.  
 

 

STRATEGY 4: Increase faculty and student engagement in research 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Expand research opportunities for faculty and students 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Host a teaching excellence meeting on how to start a research 
lab 

Cory Pedersen, 
Daniel Bernstein 

 
03, 2019 

 
03, 2019 

Completed March, 2019. 

Actively participate in institutionally-based committees to 
examine alternative workload models 

Faculty 04, 2019 01, 2021 Psychology faculty members were directly involved 
in developing the White Paper on Research and 
Scholarship which outlines 25 recommendations to 
promote research and scholarship at KPU. Specific 
suggestions around faculty workload are laid out in 
this document. Psychology faculty members will 
continue to participate in institutionally-based 
committees and communicate with the KFA around 
issues of rank and advancement and alternative 
workload models. This report was brought to 
Senate and is now being discussed and enacted as 
appropriate. 
 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 7  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Examine current lecture based status of Psychology 3400 
(Research Methods), Psychology 4400 (Qualitative Methods), 
and Psychology 3960 (Program Evaluation) to determine 
whether a change to a seminar format can be arranged to 
decrease the faculty: student ratio and enhance learning. 

 
Jocelyn 

Lymburner 

 
 

03, 2019 

 
 

09, 2022 

The Psychology department has proposed to 
transition 8 current seminar classes to lecture 
mode and requested that PSYC 3400 and PSYC 
3960 be transitioned from lecture to seminar. No 
final decisions have been made at this time given 
current negotiations at an institutional level around 
class size. 
 
F/U Given ongoing negotiations (i.e., LOU 13) 
around class size, the Psychology department has 
not moved forward with these changes.  

Advocate for an increase to internal support for faculty 
conducting research, including increased funding for .6 PD 
fund, catalyst fund, and time release opportunities 

 
 

Faculty 

 
 

03, 2019 

01, 2021 Our most public advocacy in this area was 
completed in the submission of the 
Whitepaper to the Senate, which has now 
taken responsibility for guiding future 
conversation on the issue.  

Work with the institution and KFA to establish an acceptable 
model to offer research courses for credit 

Daniel Bernstein 04, 2019 04, 2020 Resolved April 2020. 

Advocate for increased financial support for faculty and 
students presenting research at conferences and for hosting 
conferences, such as Connecting Minds and Vancouver 
International Teaching of Psychology and NOWCAM 

 
Daniel Bernstein; 

Cory Pedersen 

 
01, 2021 

 
03, 2022 

On hold due to COVID. Dr. Coburn will be 
organizing the next Connecting Minds research 
conference and will apply for internal funding to 
support this.  
 
Connecting Minds will take place in May 2023. A 
keynote speaker has been secured for this event 
and funding is in place.  
 

Advocate for an extension of campus hours on evenings and 
weekends 

Kurt Penner (FC 
rep) 

05, 2019 09, 2020 
 

On hold due to COVID. Kurt Penner will bring this to 
Faculty Council for discussion. 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 8  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Dr. Jay Hosking 

 
09/2022 

 
Jay Hosking, the new AFC rep for Psychology will 
follow up with this in Fall 2022.  

Extend the psychology lab hours on Surrey and Richmond 
campuses 

Susan Thompson; 
Chair 

 
05, 2019 

 
01, 2021 

The Psychology Lab is submitting a proposal to the 
Post COVID Strategic fund (May, 2021) to permit 
for fob entry to the lab and better access across 
extended hours. 
 
This proposal was unsuccessful. The department 
voted on a revision to our current policies around 
access to the lab which will permit greater use.  

Advocate for an increased departmental funding to support 
student research internally 

Faculty 03, 2021 03, 2021 Budget requests made annually.  The Department 
has allocated approximately 1/6 of its budget 
to supporting student research (i.e., hosting 
the Honours Thesis defence day; supporting 
the Connecting Minds conference). Many 
members of the Psychology department have 
ongoing research labs which offer both paid 
and unpaid research assistant opportunities for 
students. Honours students have been 
successful in their applications for the Student 
Led Research funding through the ORS.  
 
In April 2022, ORS volunteered three financial 
awards to be granted to the CPA Certificate of 
Excellence winners for their honours theses.  

 

  



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 9  

STRATEGY 5: Increase student retention, particularly from 2nd to 3rd year 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: To engage in curriculum review/revisions and informed educational planning to improve student experiences and retention 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Redesign the Associate of Arts degree to align with the first two 
years of the BA/BAA degrees to facilitate transferability 

Jocelyn 
Lymburner, 

Degree 
Coordinator 

 
09, 2019 

 
09, 2020 

Resolved September 2020.  This change has been 
approved by Senate.  
 

Offer more upper level psychology courses in more flexible 
formats across the time matrix 

Chair, Degree 
Coordinator, 
Department 

Assistant 

 
01, 2019 

 
05, 2022 

The Department had been closely examining our 
existing Educational Plan and making revisions to 
ensure that our required and elective courses are 
scheduled across the time matrix and in flexible 
formats including hybrid, fully online, condensed, 
and regular in-person classes.  COVID clearly had a 
massive impact on the Educational Plan. The 
department will continue to be student focused 
and balanced in our approach to course delivery as 
we return to in person classes. 
 
Given lengthy waitlists for upper level classes, the 
department has transitioned between 7-10 lower 
level courses to upper level sections over the past 
three years.  
 
April 2022: The department is currently in the 
process of switching three of our second year 
courses to third year courses. This will further 
increase upper level options for students and 
reduce bottlenecks. 
 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 10  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review current seminar courses to determine whether any of 
these can be transitioned to lecture based sections without 
sacrificing student learning so as to open up additional seats for 
upper level students. 

 
Jocelyn 

Lymburner; Kristie 
Dukewich 

 
03, 2019 

 
09, 2022 

The department underwent a full review of all 
existing seminar courses and, in December 2020, 
submitted a proposal to transition 8 seminar 
classes to lecture mode, opening up over 100 extra 
seats per year for upper level students. 
 
 Given ongoing negotiations (i.e., LOU 13) around 
class size, the Psychology department has not 
moved forward with these changes. 
 

Continue to expand open education resources to decrease 
student financial burden 

 
Rajiv Jhangiani 

 
05, 2019 

Annual review in 12, 2020 April 2021 – The Psychology department voted to 
continue incorporating OER as an option for 
Introductory Psychology courses. A Teaching 
Excellence session on OER was hosted in January 
2020.  

Identify strategies to create a stronger sense of community and 
identification with psychology among students and faculty 

KPS, Chair, Degree 
Coordinator, 

Faculty 

 
05, 2019 

 
12, 2020 

The Kwantlen Psychology Society has maintained a 
strong presence with our student body despite the 
shift to a virtual environment, hosting regular social 
and educational events. The Psychology 
department continues to celebrate our honours 
students with an Annual defence day and, despite 
the virtual environment, our attendance this year 
was over 50.  
 
The Psychology department will begin to host a 
graduation/awards ceremony for students annually 
once we return to campus.  
 
Several members of the Psychology faculty (Dr. 
Jocelyn Lymburner, Dr. Shayna Rusticus, Dr. 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 11  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Hammond Tarry) are engaged in research 
specifically focused on how to improve social 
connections on campus and in online course 
offerings. 
 

Continue efforts to educate students about the features and 
benefits of the psychology degrees, practicum and honours 
programs, particularly targeted at second year courses 

Degree 
Coordinator, 

Faculty 

 
05, 2019 

 
09, 2020 

Ongoing.  
 
With the support of Marketing, Ivy Ng and Mary 
Illical made changes to the Psychology website in 
2020 to facilitate students in degree planning.  
 
Honours supervisors visit research classes to 
educate students about the honours program and 
existing research labs.  
 
Kurt Penner hosts regular Practicum Information 
sessions and the KPS hosts regular Honours 
Information sessions.   
 
The Degree Coordinator (Dr. Jocelyn Lymburner) 
meets individually with students to provide more 
specific guidance around degree planning and post 
graduate plans.  
 

STRATEGY 6: Identify departmental strengths and weaknesses to inform decisions regarding new hires 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: To engage in curriculum review/revisions and informed educational planning to improve student experiences and retention 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 12  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Conduct an audit to determine where we need greater faculty 
coverage 

Chair, Degree 
Coordinator, 

Search Committee 

 
09, 2019 

 
02, 2020 

The Search Committee and Chair conducted an 
audit and determined the need for two new 50% 
positions. These were approved by the Department 
and brought to the Dean. One of these positions 
was filled in May 2020 and the second was delayed 
due to a postponed retirement.  
 
We are anticipating a number of early retirements 
over the next year and, as a result, we will be 
working carefully to determine both gaps in our 
current coverage as well as directions for future 
growth to inform new hiring decisions. Our Search 
committee and Chairs will play a prominent role in 
this work in close consultation with the department 
as a whole. 
 
The Psychology department has made 3 new 
FT hires, all of which will begin in September, 
2022. Due to a large number of retirements, 
we will be hiring three additional faculty 
members for Fall 2023. A special meeting of 
the department will occur over the summer of 
2022 to determine the direction we wish to 
take for these hires.  
 

Consult with degree advisory committee and department to 
identify marketplace trends and gaps in current offerings 

Degree 
Coordinator 

 

05, 2019 05, 2021 Delayed due to COVID. We will arrange a meeting 
of the DAC once we are back on campus.  
 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 13  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Dr. Kristie 
Dukewich and Dr. 

Cluny South 

Dr. Kristie Dukewich and Dr. Cluny South have been 
conducting individual interviews and focus groups 
with industry stakeholders focused on our BAA 
degree and proposed changes. We will be 
reinstating our DAC in the Fall of 2022.  

Conduct curriculum mapping to align the program learning 
outcomes 

Kristie Dukewich 
 

Jocelyn Lymburner 

   05, 2018 09, 2022 
 

10/2022 

Dr. Dukewich is continuing to do this work, and the 
Department regularly discusses program learning 
outcomes in the context of course outline 
revisions.  
 
Dr. Lymburner, in her role as Degree Coordinator, 
will be leading the department in a cluster analysis 
of our BA degree once we return to campus.  
First step of cluster analysis completed in March 
2022. Follow up to be completed by 10/2022.  

STRATEGY 7: Investigate the alignment of the Bachelor of Applied Arts degree with an Industrial/Organizational Psychology disciplinary specialization. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: To explore opportunities to meet pressing discipline/sector factors 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Consult with degree advisory committee around employability 
for students graduating with an industrial/organizational 
specialization 

Jocelyn 
Lymburner 

(Degree 
Coordinator) 

 
10, 2019 

 
05, 2021 

Delayed due to COVID.  
 
Tentatively scheduled for February, 2022. 
 
Completed by Dr. Dukewich and Dr. South (Fall/21 
and Spring 2022). 
 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 14  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Conduct a scan of industrial/organizational programs across the 
country for curriculum content and demand 

Faculty 09, 2021 08, 2022 We will need time release for faculty to conduct a 
proper scan and to survey students.  A 
departmental member who is versed in this field 
will apply for internal funding in the form of time 
release and a student research assistant to support 
this work.  
Completed by Dr. Kristie Dukewich in Spring 
2022 with a time release.  
 
Note. The Psychology Bachelor of Applied Arts 
Degree has now been redesigned as a Bachelor 
of Arts in I/O Psychology (final name to be 
determined). The “Determination of New 
Degree” proposal is working it’s way through 
KPU Goverance and will be presented to DQAB 
in November, 2022 assuming it passes through 
Senate in September 2022.  
 

Survey current students to assess interest in an 
industrial/organizational psychology degree 

Jocelyn 
Lymburner 

(Degree 
Coordinator) 

 
09, 2021 

 
08, 2022 

We will work with IAP to gather data from current 
students.  
 
Psychology faculty are currently gathering data 
from high school and KPU students with respect to 
the proposed degree. A request has also been 
submitted to IAP.  
 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 

 

1 
 

  
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Psychology 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
Reviewer #1: The program has shown excellent progress and completed majority of the goals. It is great to 
see that the goals that were delayed due to pandemic are now either completed or have clear execution 
plans. Some completion dates would need to be adjusted to reflect the revised plans.   
 
Reviewer #2: The report provides clear updates on the work the program has undertaken to meet the goals 
of its quality assurance plan.  It gives a picture of a highly functional department with a strong commitment to 
quality. 
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer 1 & 2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
Page 1 and following wherever the “complete by” is 
“ongoing”  

on page 2, removing the word “ongoing” from the 
comment would be enough. 

 On page 3, regarding Honors programming, provide a 
date of reschedule for the events listed in the 
comments. 

 p. 4. Remove “ongoing” from the strategy regarding 
tracking student achievement 

Pg.1 “Advocate for an increase in the departmental…” Establishing co-op option was not part of the goal, so 
the co-op update could stay, but not necessary.  

Pg. 7 “Examine current lecture based status of … and 
to determine whether a change to…” 

The goal was to examine current courses and 
determine what changes are needed, which the 
program stated that it not feasible to act upon at this 
time. So, the goal should be stated as completed.  

Pg. 9 “Offer more upper level psyc courses…” ‘Completed by’ adjusted to reflect the expected 
course revision completion.  

Pg. 10 “Review current seminar courses to…” The goal was to review switching current seminar 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 

 

2 
 

course to lecture-based course, which the program 
has completed. LOU13 discussion does not directly 
impact the goal. 

Pg. 14 “Survey current students…” Is the program planning to survey the students in 
Summer? If not, ‘Completed by’ should be adjusted 
to reflect the expected survey completion.  

 
 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

Pg. 14. it’s  its 

Pg. 14. Goverance Governance 

 

 

 

 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 1  

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: April 25, 2018 

Date of External Review Site Visit : June 12, 2018 

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: May 25, 2020 

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: May 19, 2021 

 Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: May 30, 2022 

Second Progress Report  
  

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: January 2019 

STRATEGY 1: Provide increased support for experiential learning opportunities for students 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: To enhance the student learning experience and promote greater opportunities for experiential learning 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Increase the credit allocation for PSYC 4000: Practicum from 3 
credits to 6 credits and examine the feasibility of offering the 
practicum in two semesters 

Jocelyn 
Lymburner and 

Kurt Penner 

 
12, 2018 

09, 2019 
Completed and Approved by 

Senate 

Completed and Approved by Senate in September, 
2019.  
 
Despite the constraints posed by COVID, we had 
excellent participation in our practicum course for 2020 
and excellent enrollment for 2021. 

Advocate for an increase in the departmental budget to 
facilitate guest lectures and community engagement 
opportunities 

 
 

Budget 
Committee 

 
 

01, 2018 

Ongoing 
The Department reviews our 

budget on a monthly basis and 
we have a budget committee. 

Faculty continue to host guest lecturers in a virtual 
format.  As a department we will continue to prioritize 
funding for these learning opportunities. Dr. 
Lymburner, in the role of Degree Coordinator, is also in 
the initial stages of investigating a Co-op program for 
Psychology. F/U discussions with other departments 
dissuaded Psychology from pursuing a Co-op option at 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 2  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on 
 (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

this time. Our practicum courses continue to provide 
multiple opportunities for community engagement.  

Continue to foster teaching excellence through regular teaching 
excellence meetings 

Chair of Teaching 
Excellence 

Committee (Dr. 
Patricia Coburn) 

 
2006 

(onset of TE 
committee) 

Ongoing 
At our September 

departmental meeting each 
year, faculty review Teaching 
Excellence and propose topics 

for the upcoming year. 

Despite constraints posed by COVID, the department 
has continued to host regular Teaching Excellence 
meetings:  
 
Jan 2020- Open Access Resources – Dr. Rajiv Jhangiani 
 
April 2020- Basic Moodle Workshop – Dr. Dianne Crisp  
 
October 2020- Online Testing – Dr. Kristie Dukewich 
 
October 2021 – Covid 19 – Absenteeism, Extensions 
and Doctor Notes  – Dr. Patrician Coburn 
 
December, 2021 – Work Life Balance – Dr. Arleigh 
Reichl 
 
April, 2022 – Teaching Perspectives Inventory –  Dr. 
Shayna Rusticus and Dr. Dan Pratt 
 
June 2022 – Critical Classroom Incidents – Dr. Farhad 
Dastur 
 

  



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 3  

Apply for funding for department-based professional 
development workshop 

Faculty  
10, 2019 

 
10, 2021 

On hold until we are able to return to campus. 
Exploring the possibility of organizing a Teaching 
Perspectives Inventory Workshop with Dr. Katherine 
Wisener.  
 
Completed: 
April 2022 – Teaching Perspectives Inventory Workshop 
with Dr. Daniel Pratt 
 
June 23, 2022 – Power Analysis Workshop by Dr. Edgar 
Erdfelder   
 
 

Work closely with the Kwantlen Psychology Society (KPS) to 
identify opportunities and create student professional 
development opportunities (e.g. NEXT conference; Hello 
Future) 

Kristie 
Dukewich/Jocelyn 
Lymburner/Kwant

len Psychology 
Society 

 
 

10, 2018 

 
Monthly check-ins with the 

KPS; a Faculty Advisor works 
with the KPS on an ongoing 

basis. 

Dr. Shayna Rusticus is currently the KPS faculty advisor. 
This student organization has been exceptionally busy 
over the past year hosting monthly movie and games 
night, as well as a Speakers series, Honours Information 
Sessions, and a variety of educational events including 
workshops on Jamovi, Qualtrics, and APA.  

Provide increased allocation of funds for psychology lab 
materials (e.g., cannabis goggles, human brain specimen) 

Budget 
Committee 

 
03, 2019 

 
09, 2019 

Initial funding was secured in September, 2019. The 
Psychology Lab, under the direction of Ivy Ng, is also 
submitting a proposal to the Post Covid Strategic Fund 
for additional materials and improvements to the 
space. The application was unsuccessful but additional 
Psychology lab materials were purchased using our 
book funds and Psychology budget. 

 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 4  

STRATEGY 2: Maintain a strong Honours program. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Expand research opportunities for faculty and students 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by  (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Institution must commit to ongoing financial support for the 
Honours Program 

Daniel 
Bernstein/Jocelyn 

Lymburner 

 
05, 2018 

Meeting with representatives 
from the Criminology Honours 

program twice annually 
(Fall/Spring); regular 

correspondence with Dean of 
Arts. 

May, 2021 Scheduled Meetings 
 
The Dean is committed to the honours program and 
sees tremendous value in the contributions the 
program makes to the quality of education in the 
department. The Dean has committed to continuing to 
find funding for the program within the current budget 
–  and supports the aspiration of the department to see 
the program prosper. As of March 2020, Honours 
courses were built in as base sections in the Psychology 
Ed Plan.  
 
Dr. Daniel Bernstein (Chair of the Honours Committee) 
will meet with ORS, the Dean’s office, and Criminology 
to plan a Three-Minute Thesis event in the summer of 
2021. Psychology and Criminology are also meeting in 
May 2021 to plan shared guest speakers (i.e., open 
science and pedagogy, research ethics) for the Honours 
Seminar classes in Fall of 2021.  
 
Due to COVID 19, these events are to be scheduled for 
the 2022/2023 Honours cohort. The Psychology 
Honours Seminar class runs in the Fall semester. 
Criminology honours students and supervisors will be 
invited to attend guest speakers throughout the term. 
The three minute thesis event will be scheduled for 
May or June 2023.    



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 5  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by  (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Systematically track the educational and professional paths of 
our Honours alumni. 

Faculty 
Supervisors 

Data beginning in 
2009. 

Ongoing; Spreadsheet updated 
by faculty regularly. 

The Department maintains a spreadsheet of student 
achievements, including those of Honours students. 
The information is housed on SharePoint and is 
updated as we receive updates from students (e.g., 
graduate school admission; awards and scholarships). 
The information is shared regularly with all 
departmental members via email updates about 
student successes and during departmental meetings.  

Maintain consistency and rigour across all Honours supervisors 
(i.e. continue providing education around standard grading 
practices/project expectations/etc.) 

Daniel Bernstein 
(Chair of Honours) 

Annual meetings 
each May 

Annual reviews of standards 
occur in May each year 
(Honours Committee). 

Annual review each May. Dr. Bernstein (Honours Chair) 
sends regular reminders of standards via email to all 
supervisors (e.g., sample course outline; standard 
grading practices).  

Ensure that students are well prepared for success in the 
Honours program by maintaining high admission standards 
with a focus on upper level statistics and methods courses. 

Honours 
Committee 

Annual meetings 
in May 

Annual May meeting of 
Honours committee. 

Enrolment in the Honours program is competitive and 
admission is carefully considered at our May Honours 
meeting. 

 

STRATEGY 3: Provide greater access to computers and/or computer lab space on Surrey and Richmond campuses 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Expand research opportunities for faculty and students; to enhance the student learning experience and promote greater opportunities for 
experiential learning 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Establish a designated (i.e., priority booking) computer lab for 
the psychology department, with 35 computers, on Surrey 
campus and Richmond campus. 

Shayna Rusticus  
04, 2019 

Meeting with Dean in 01, 2021 RESOLVED. 
The Faculty of Arts received funding for a pop 
up lab which will serve the needs of our 
students. While this is not yet in use due to 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 6  

COVID, recent communications with IT confirm 
that all devices will be equipped with 
appropriate statistical software.  
 
Over the Spring of 2021, the KPS hosted 
educational workshops on Jamovi (an open source 
statistical software) and Qualtrics.   

Work with faculty to better utilize the designated psychology 
faculty research space currently operated by Dr. Bernstein. 

Daniel Bernstein  
04, 2019 

 
09, 2020 

Resolved as of September, 2020 
 
Faculty members can work directly with Dr. 
Bernstein’s lab to utilize this lab space when not 
otherwise occupied.  
 

 

STRATEGY 4: Increase faculty and student engagement in research 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Expand research opportunities for faculty and students 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Host a teaching excellence meeting on how to start a research 
lab 

Cory Pedersen, 
Daniel Bernstein 

 
03, 2019 

 
03, 2019 

Completed March, 2019. 

Actively participate in institutionally-based committees to 
examine alternative workload models 

Faculty 04, 2019 01, 2021 Psychology faculty members were directly involved 
in developing the White Paper on Research and 
Scholarship which outlines 25 recommendations to 
promote research and scholarship at KPU. Specific 
suggestions around faculty workload are laid out in 
this document. Psychology faculty members will 
continue to participate in institutionally-based 
committees and communicate with the KFA around 
issues of rank and advancement and alternative 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 7  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

workload models. This report was brought to 
Senate and is now being discussed and enacted as 
appropriate. 
 
 

Examine current lecture based status of Psychology 3400 
(Research Methods), Psychology 4400 (Qualitative Methods), 
and Psychology 3960 (Program Evaluation) to determine 
whether a change to a seminar format can be arranged to 
decrease the faculty: student ratio and enhance learning. 

 
Jocelyn 

Lymburner 

 
 

03, 2019 

 
 

Completed.  
09, 2022 

The Psychology department has proposed to 
transition 8 current seminar classes to lecture 
mode and requested that PSYC 3400 and PSYC 
3960 be transitioned from lecture to seminar. No 
final decisions have been made at this time given 
current negotiations at an institutional level around 
class size. 
 
F/U The department has examined these classes 
and determined that a decrease in class size would 
be desirable. However, gGiven ongoing 
negotiations (i.e., LOU 13) around class size, the 
Psychology department has not moved forward 
with these changes. it is not currently possible to 
move forward with these changes.  

Advocate for an increase to internal support for faculty 
conducting research, including increased funding for .6 PD 
fund, catalyst fund, and time release opportunities 

 
 

Faculty 

 
 

03, 2019 

01, 2021 Our most public advocacy in this area was 
completed in the submission of the 
Whitepaper to the Senate, which has now 
taken responsibility for guiding future 
conversation on the issue.  

Work with the institution and KFA to establish an acceptable 
model to offer research courses for credit 

Daniel Bernstein 04, 2019 04, 2020 Resolved April 2020. 

Advocate for increased financial support for faculty and 
students presenting research at conferences and for hosting 

 
Daniel Bernstein; 

Cory Pedersen 

 
01, 2021 

 
03, 2022 

On hold due to COVID. Dr. Coburn will be 
organizing the next Connecting Minds research 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 8  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

conferences, such as Connecting Minds and Vancouver 
International Teaching of Psychology and NOWCAM 

conference and will apply for internal funding to 
support this.  
 
Connecting Minds will take place in May 2023. A 
keynote speaker has been secured for this event 
and funding is in place.  
 

Advocate for an extension of campus hours on evenings and 
weekends 

Kurt Penner (FC 
rep) 

 
Dr. Jay Hosking 

05, 2019 09, 2020 
 
 

09/2022 

On hold due to COVID. Kurt Penner will bring this to 
Faculty Council for discussion. 
 
Jay Hosking, the new AFC rep for Psychology will 
follow up with this in Fall 2022. raised this issue at 
AFC in May 2022.  

Extend the psychology lab hours on Surrey and Richmond 
campuses 

Susan Thompson; 
Chair 

 
05, 2019 

 
01, 2021 

The Psychology Lab is submitting a proposal to the 
Post COVID Strategic fund (May, 2021) to permit 
for fob entry to the lab and better access across 
extended hours. 
 
This proposal was unsuccessful. The department 
voted on a revision to our current policies around 
access to the lab which will permit greater use.  

Advocate for an increased departmental funding to support 
student research internally 

Faculty 03, 2021 03, 2021 Budget requests made annually.  The Department 
has allocated approximately 1/6 of its budget 
to supporting student research (i.e., hosting 
the Honours Thesis defence day; supporting 
the Connecting Minds conference). Many 
members of the Psychology department have 
ongoing research labs which offer both paid 
and unpaid research assistant opportunities for 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 9  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

students. Honours students have been 
successful in their applications for the Student 
Led Research funding through the ORS.  
 
In April 2022, ORS volunteered three financial 
awards to be granted to the CPA Certificate of 
Excellence winners for their honours theses.  

 

  



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 10  

STRATEGY 5: Increase student retention, particularly from 2nd to 3rd year 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: To engage in curriculum review/revisions and informed educational planning to improve student experiences and retention 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Redesign the Associate of Arts degree to align with the first two 
years of the BA/BAA degrees to facilitate transferability 

Jocelyn 
Lymburner, 

Degree 
Coordinator 

 
09, 2019 

 
09, 2020 

Resolved September 2020.  This change has been 
approved by Senate.  
 

Offer more upper level psychology courses in more flexible 
formats across the time matrix 

Chair, Degree 
Coordinator, 
Department 

Assistant 

 
01, 2019 

 
05, 2022 
09, 2023 

 
Course and associated program 

changes will be made by 
January 2023 and implemented 

in September 2023.  
 

The Department had been closely examining our 
existing Educational Plan and making revisions to 
ensure that our required and elective courses are 
scheduled across the time matrix and in flexible 
formats including hybrid, fully online, condensed, 
and regular in-person classes.  COVID clearly had a 
massive impact on the Educational Plan. The 
department will continue to be student focused 
and balanced in our approach to course delivery as 
we return to in person classes. 
 
Given lengthy waitlists for upper level classes, the 
department has transitioned between 7-10 lower 
level courses to upper level sections over the past 
three years.  
 
April 2022: The department is currently in the 
process of switching three of our second year 
courses to third year courses. This will further 
increase upper level options for students and 
reduce bottlenecks. 
 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 11  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review current seminar courses to determine whether any of 
these can be transitioned to lecture based sections without 
sacrificing student learning so as to open up additional seats for 
upper level students. 

 
Jocelyn 

Lymburner; Kristie 
Dukewich 

 
03, 2019 

 
09, 2022 
12, 2020 

The department underwent a full review of all 
existing seminar courses and, in December 2020, 
submitted a proposal to transition 8 seminar 
classes to lecture mode, opening up over 100 extra 
seats per year for upper level students. 
 
Note. University level discussions around class size 
have led to an increase in seats for Psychology 
students at all levels of study. Given this, we have 
decided not to proceed with our initial proposal.  
Given ongoing negotiations (i.e., LOU 13) around 
class size, the Psychology department has not 
moved forward with these changes. 
 

Continue to expand open education resources to decrease 
student financial burden 

 
Rajiv Jhangiani 

 
05, 2019 

Annual review in 12, 2020 April 2021 – The Psychology department voted to 
continue incorporating OER as an option for 
Introductory Psychology courses. A Teaching 
Excellence session on OER was hosted in January 
2020.  

Identify strategies to create a stronger sense of community and 
identification with psychology among students and faculty 

KPS, Chair, Degree 
Coordinator, 

Faculty 

 
05, 2019 

 
12, 2020 

The Kwantlen Psychology Society has maintained a 
strong presence with our student body despite the 
shift to a virtual environment, hosting regular social 
and educational events. The Psychology 
department continues to celebrate our honours 
students with an Annual defence day and, despite 
the virtual environment, our attendance this year 
was over 50.  
 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 12  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

The Psychology department will begin to host a 
graduation/awards ceremony for students annually 
once we return to campus.  
 
Several members of the Psychology faculty (Dr. 
Jocelyn Lymburner, Dr. Shayna Rusticus, Dr. 
Hammond Tarry) are engaged in research 
specifically focused on how to improve social 
connections on campus and in online course 
offerings. 
 

Continue efforts to educate students about the features and 
benefits of the psychology degrees, practicum and honours 
programs, particularly targeted at second year courses 

Degree 
Coordinator, 

Faculty 

 
05, 2019 

 
09, 2020 

Ongoing.  
 
With the support of Marketing, Ivy Ng and Mary 
Illical made changes to the Psychology website in 
2020 to facilitate students in degree planning.  
 
Honours supervisors visit research classes to 
educate students about the honours program and 
existing research labs.  
 
Kurt Penner hosts regular Practicum Information 
sessions and the KPS hosts regular Honours 
Information sessions.   
 
The Degree Coordinator (Dr. Jocelyn Lymburner) 
meets individually with students to provide more 
specific guidance around degree planning and post 
graduate plans.  
 

Formatted: Default



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 13  

STRATEGY 6: Identify departmental strengths and weaknesses to inform decisions regarding new hires 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: To engage in curriculum review/revisions and informed educational planning to improve student experiences and retention 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Conduct an audit to determine where we need greater faculty 
coverage 

Chair, Degree 
Coordinator, 

Search Committee 

 
09, 2019 

 
02, 2020 

The Search Committee and Chair conducted an 
audit and determined the need for two new 50% 
positions. These were approved by the Department 
and brought to the Dean. One of these positions 
was filled in May 2020 and the second was delayed 
due to a postponed retirement.  
 
We are anticipating a number of early retirements 
over the next year and, as a result, we will be 
working carefully to determine both gaps in our 
current coverage as well as directions for future 
growth to inform new hiring decisions. Our Search 
committee and Chairs will play a prominent role in 
this work in close consultation with the department 
as a whole. 
 
The Psychology department has made 3 new 
FT hires, all of which will begin in September, 
2022. Due to a large number of retirements, 
we will be hiring three additional faculty 
members for Fall 2023. A special meeting of 
the department will occur over the summer of 
2022 to determine the direction we wish to 
take for these hires.  
 Formatted: Default



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 14  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Consult with degree advisory committee and department to 
identify marketplace trends and gaps in current offerings 

Degree 
Coordinator 

 
Dr. Kristie 

Dukewich and Dr. 
Cluny South 

05, 2019 05, 2021 Delayed due to COVID. We will arrange a meeting 
of the DAC once we are back on campus.  
 
Dr. Kristie Dukewich and Dr. Cluny South have been 
conducting individual interviews and focus groups 
with industry stakeholders focused on our BAA 
degree and proposed changes. We will be 
reinstating our DAC in the Fall of 2022.  

Conduct curriculum mapping to align the program learning 
outcomes 

Kristie Dukewich 
 

Jocelyn Lymburner 

   05, 2018 09, 2022 
 

10/2022 

Dr. Dukewich is continuing to do this work, and the 
Department regularly discusses program learning 
outcomes in the context of course outline 
revisions.  
 
Dr. Lymburner, in her role as Degree Coordinator, 
will be leading the department in a cluster analysis 
of our BA degree once we return to campus.  
First step of cluster analysis completed in March 
2022. Follow up to be completed by 10/2022.  

STRATEGY 7: Investigate the alignment of the Bachelor of Applied Arts degree with an Industrial/Organizational Psychology disciplinary specialization. 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: To explore opportunities to meet pressing discipline/sector factors 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Consult with degree advisory committee around employability 
for students graduating with an industrial/organizational 
specialization 

Jocelyn 
Lymburner 

(Degree 
Coordinator) 

 
10, 2019 

 
05, 2021 

Delayed due to COVID.  
 
Tentatively scheduled for February, 2022. 
 



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 15  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Completed by Dr. Dukewich and Dr. South (Fall/21 
and Spring 2022). 
 

Conduct a scan of industrial/organizational programs across the 
country for curriculum content and demand 

Faculty 09, 2021 08, 2022 We will need time release for faculty to conduct a 
proper scan and to survey students.  A 
departmental member who is versed in this field 
will apply for internal funding in the form of time 
release and a student research assistant to support 
this work.  
Completed by Dr. Kristie Dukewich in Spring 
2022 with a time release.  
 
Note. The Psychology Bachelor of Applied Arts 
Degree has now been redesigned as a Bachelor 
of Arts in I/O Psychology (final name to be 
determined). The “Determination of New 
Degree” proposal is working it’s way through 
KPU Governance and will be presented to 
DQAB in November, 2022 assuming it passes 
through Senate in September 2022.  
 
 

Survey current students to assess interest in an 
industrial/organizational psychology degree 

Jocelyn 
Lymburner 

(Degree 
Coordinator) 

 
09, 2021 

 
08, 2022 
12, 2022 

We will work with IAP to gather data from current 
students.  
 
Psychology faculty are currently gathering data 
from high school and KPU students with 
respect to the proposed degree title. A request 
has also beenwill be made to  submitted to IAP 

Formatted: Font: (Default) +Body (Calibri)



Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report  
 

KPU Psychology Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report                             Page 16  

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led  
by 

Start on   
 (M/YY) Complete by (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

to gather additional data from students in the 
Fall of 2023.  
 
 
 

 

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Default



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 5.6 

Meeting Date: June 22, 2022 
Presenter: Ken Stark, Wade Deisman, Greg Millard 

 1 / 1 

 

Agenda Item Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 
  

Action Requested Motion 

  

Recommended 
Resolution 

THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Anthropology Program Quality Assurance Plan as attached.  

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   

  
  

Attachments Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance 

Date submitted June 3, 2022 

 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 1 

 

 

 
 

Date submitted to SSCPR: June 3, 2022 
 

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: April 21, 2021 
 

Date of External Review: October 18 & 19, 2021 

 
SUMMARY 
Summarize what the program has determined - through evidence - about program quality (e.g. strengths, challenges, opportunities for improvement, potential threats, etc.) 

 
 

Anthropology at KPU consists of three interrelated sub-fields of undergraduate study: archaeology, biological anthropology and cultural anthropology. The three sub-fields are linked 
together in our program based on the theme Culture, Community, and Well-Being. Our courses address issues related to the interrelationships among the individual, society, and culture, 
and how these interrelationships impact on both individual and community well-being at local, regional and international levels. The goal of the KPU Anthropology program is to prepare 
students for life, work and research in diverse local communities, in a knowledge and information-based economy for a world that is increasingly globally connected. Anthropology 
students are working towards leadership-based careers integrated with local and global communities. Our students will cultivate and demonstrate skills in inter and intra-cultural 
communication, analysis and both scientific and humanistic methodology. The anthropology faculty are committed to our students and the applied, experiential nature of our program, 
and several members maintain active research programs that include community commitments and partnerships that help enhance student’s abilities to engage with the community 
and provide job and research related skills to prepare them to enter into the employment sector or higher education. 

Over the last decade developments in several fields (resource management, land claims, restoration and historical recovery, economic development) have created increased demand for 
graduates with anthropological training. Many of our former students transition directly into meaningful work while others seek further education once graduated from an Anthropology 
credential. Furthermore, with its focus on understanding the human condition, both culturally and biologically, all students of anthropology benefit through a deepened understanding 
of why humans act the way we do and how it affects our physical, cultural, social, and political environments. 

As shown in the Self-Study Report and External Review, teaching excellence remains one of the strengths of the program where our faculty are committed to using a wide range of 
teaching styles and methods to enhance out student’s learning experiences at KPU and provide as much hands-on experience as possible to prepare them for employment or further 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 2 

 

 

educational opportunities. Students are often employed working as teaching assistants or research assistants with faculty on various classroom, community and research-related 
projects. These hands-on experiences are vital to the overall excellence of the program and distinguish our graduates from others who often have not had such opportunities. We 
believe that the curriculum meets the current program learning outcomes well and also supports the wider KPU Academic and Strategic Plans in various ways. Our goal in moving the 
program forward is to further enhance and strengthen our students’ learning experiences and training for future employment and educational opportunities; however, the program 
does face some potential threats and future challenges. Potential threats to the program include student demand that is affected by competition from comparable programs at 
competing institutions that affect the enrollment levels of anthropology classes at KPU, and general perceptions of the overall value of an Anthropology or Arts degree in the 21st 
Century economy. Challenges also exist from trends and changing contexts in the discipline/sector which we try to anticipate and incorporate into our curriculum and program goals. 

 
 

Based on the recommendations of our Self-Study Report and the comments of external reviewers, we have a number of clear goals in place to help improve our anthropology program in 
terms of offering more applied and experiential learning experiences and enhancing the overall academic and employable skills that are acquired by our students. 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 3 

 

 

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 
List the program’s Quality Assurance Goals (broad statements about what the program intends to accomplish to ensure program quality). Identify the Recommendation(s) – drawn from the Self-Study 
Report and External Review Report - each Goal addresses. Provide a brief Rationale for each Goal (see the Quality Assurance Plan Guidelines for instructions). Add or remove rows as necessary. 

 

GOAL 1: Enhancing Community Outreach and Connections 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To provide more experiential learning opportunities and community connections for students. 
 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

“Data does not support the statement that the majority of your students end up in careers related to your discipline. This highlights several noted 
areas for action identified in the SSR and External Review, including focusing on a laddering of skills with an intent to empower your students with 
sector/discipline specific skills that are also transferable to non-traditional careers. The way these skills are articulated across the program should 
be informed by input from those in the sector(s) who are hiring your students. There was a significant lack of data outside the archaeological field in 
employer responses. This is an area that required further attention.” 

External Review page 3 

We need to “make a clear plan to develop our Anthropology Program Advisory Board.” Self-Study page 19 

We need to “connect with other Arts departments similar to Anthropology (Sociology, Geography and History) to see what strategies they used to 
create their Advisory Boards and to learn their outcomes.” 

Self-Study page 19 

We need to “contact the KPU future student’s office, and other Arts departments, to plan and coordinate future visits from faculty and students to 
high schools and community groups to enhance our community outreach and advertise the possibility and value of a degree in Anthropology related 
fields.” 

Self-Study page 20 

“Develop creative ways through our curriculum in which anthropology students can develop connections with members of the discipline/sector to 
further their careers or enhance their employment opportunities after graduation.” 

Self-Study page 42 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 4 

 

 

 

Need “planning and implementing more seminars about jobs and careers opportunities in anthropology and related fields. Through these seminars 
and in-class sessions, provide students with knowledge and access to resources about the skills and knowledge needed in a constantly evolving job 
market; and how opportunities will be available with an anthropology degree.” 

Self-Study page 50 

“Develop plans for future collaborations with Kwantlen, Boston Bar (Nlaka’pamun) and Spuzum First Nations and with Indigenous groups abroad to 
continue and enhance the participation and input of these groups in community-based research projects, and provide KPU students with 
opportunities for employable skills development and further inter-cultural experience and understanding.” 

Self-Study page 62 

 

GOAL 2: Revise and Improve Curriculum 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To enhance student training and acquisition of employable skills for job market and higher education 
 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

“Given the data on the relatively small size of the Department and relatively small number of courses offered/year, it makes sense to look at how 
Anthropology might look to cross-list courses with other related disciplines (nursing, criminology, Indigenous studies, geography/geology, sciences, 
etc.) and to think about other kinds of experiential learning opportunities.” 

External Review page 3 

“It was not entirely clear what was more applied about the KPU program than other anthropology programs at other post-secondary institutions. 
The degree requirements for a BA major/minor in Anthropology mirror those at most institutions (eg. Required methods and theory courses), and in 
some respects are even more general (eg. no thematic capstone course, for example). If the Anthropology program does believe that their program 
is more applied than other programs (or they wish to be), they might wish to consider looking at ways to formalize this within the structure of the 
program’s requirements beyond the optional field schools and to find a way to communicate this more explicitly both internally and externally. 
Should, for example, there be a program requirement to take one or more “applied” or project-based courses? 

External Review page 4 

We need to be “reaching out to other related programs such as nursing, criminology and indigenous studies to have discussions about collaborative 
research projects, curricular needs, and possible adjustments to enhance interdisciplinary work and students experiences within our disciplines.” 

Self-Study page 20 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 5 

 

 

 

We need to “reach out and schedule meetings with colleagues in related disciplines, such as Indigenous Studies, sociology and nursing to get 
suggestions on how, through our course offerings, we can provide more opportunities for students to develop awareness of indigenous issues and 
community engagement including through both contemporary and historical perspectives.” 

Self-Study page 41 

“Develop creative ways through our curriculum in which anthropology students can develop connections with members of the discipline sector to 
further their careers or enhance their employment opportunities after graduation.” 

Self-Study page 42 

Need to “hold curriculum revision workshop sessions as a department to assess any possible changes to our courses that will be needed to address 
any current deficiencies in our curriculum based on the outcomes of our program review. As part of this process, evaluate whether students’ 
experiences and opportunities are comparable or equivalent between the two streams offered in the program.” 

Self-Study page 41 

Need to “address the potential for adding more experiential learning opportunities to our courses for our students that specifically address 
employable skills such as fieldwork and data collection, laboratory analysis and document and report writing.” 

Self-Study page 63 

Need to “consider specific employer feedback from the current document to determine what specific changes can be incorporated into our students’ 
curriculum and experiences at KPU that will ensure that more of our graduates get more jobs specifically within our discipline and sector related 
fields.” 

Self-Study page 41 

“Since anthropology student outcomes do not quite meet Ministry targets for employed graduates and usefulness, we need to develop a plan for 
creating more focus on teaching employable skills and update the range of fields that we promote to our prospective majors and minors.” 

Self-Study page 50 

“I agree with the department’s recommendations to hold curriculum revision workshop sessions, and I would encourage them to expand those to 
take a more global view of their overall curriculum vs simply evaluating existing courses against program learning outcomes-especially since those 
course-specific reviews tend to only be done along sub-disciplinary (stream) lines.” 

External Review page 7 

“Student demand for Anthropology courses has been very high, particularly at the lower level. There continues to be some concern with the upper 
level courses, however. Sometimes the fill rate is too low to sustain keeping an UL course open; over the past few years a handful of UL courses 
have been cancelled. Better rotation of the courses could help with this (for example the theory courses), as well as working on transfer 
arrangements for Anthropology courses from other post-secondary institutions as this would allow transfer students to enter into 3rd and 4th year 
courses.” 

Response from the Dean’s 
Office, Self-Study page 65 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 6 

 

 

 

GOAL 3: Enhance Student Recruiting and Retention 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To create and maintain a constant stream of students into our program and to ensure that they progress through each year in a timely manner and 
successfully complete their program. 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

We need to “contact the Future Students Office and other Arts departments to plan and coordinate future visits from faculty and students to high 
schools and community groups to enhance our community outreach and advertise the possibility and value of a degree in anthropology and related 
fields.” 

Self-Study page 20 

“Conduct further investigations into the decline in retention and graduates from anthropology from 2015/2016 to 2017/2018. Determine whether 
sample size or department size issues might be responsible for the trends. If the patterns are due to other factors, try to identify them, and then 
develop a plan to help increase our future student retention and graduation numbers.” 

Self-Study page 20 

“Study continuing enrollment and graduation trends in our program from Dashboard data provided by OPA to assess strength and long-term 
sustainability of our program and determine what kind of changes need to be made to enhance enrollment and retention rates.” 

Self-Study page 20 

“Contact Arts advisors and the KPU Marketing department to discuss possible plans for how we can improve on advertising our program to existing 
High School, current KPU students and members of the local community. With an emphasis on the value of an anthropology degree for future 
employment or further educational opportunities.” 

Self-Study page 20 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 7 

 

 

 
GOAL 4: Enhance Experiential Learning Opportunities/Create Designated Lab Space 

 
RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To provide more hands-on experience and employable skills for student success in the employment sector and higher educational pursuits. 

 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

“Limitations to curriculum development appear to be caused by a lack of laboratory space dedicated to anthropology and the necessity for upper 
level courses to have a certain number of students.” 

External Review page 6 

“Upper level courses similar to Material Culture Analysis was mentioned by the archaeology pathway students and alumni as lacking and faculty 
referenced the lack of lab space as a reason for not being able to teach this course. A course like Material Culture Analysis as well as osteology 
courses and a zooarchaeology course would greatly benefit the students’ experiential learning.” 

External Review page 6 

“I strongly support the Department’s need for formal lab space to enable these opportunities to take place. Beyond the practical difficulty of having 
lab materials stored on different campuses, a dedicated space for both work on material remains (archeological, osteological etc.) and 
ethnographic work (eg. Ethnographic interview space) is needed if the department is going to be able to realize their ambitions at cultivating an 
applied focus.” 

External Review page 7 

“Became clear that there is a facilities need that impacts all Anthropology students: a lab facility.” External Review page 9 

“Seemed that bio-arch took precedence in this program in terms of focus, resources, and opportunities for students to enrich their experiences and 
skills, it was surprising to hear the way in which a lab would provide space for students in all Anth pathways.” 

External Review page 9 

“One area identified by virtually everyone we talked to (and visible in the SSR), is the lack of lab space. Given the role that lab work plays in 
supporting the Department’s experiential learning, I’d again highlight the need for dedicated laboratory space (for all three sub-disciplines). I’d also 
note that this is not simply a pedagogical need, but I’d suspect that there is a legal requirement that the cultural materials excavated as part of the 
archaeological field school be processed and reported on in a timely fashion. If the University is going to support this field school going forward 
(which I sincerely hope they do), then there is a need to support the back-end analysis/reporting, which requires space.” 

External Review page 9 

“Since faculty seem to have low satisfaction with regards to instructional delivery and training in lab methods received by students, discuss honestly 
what exactly may be causing these shortcomings, and develop a plan for improving and enhancing the way lab methods are taught within the 
program.” 

Self-Study page 50 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 8 

 

 

 

“The department needs space and financial resources to maintain a lab. We encourage the department to specify exactly what is necessary, and in 
which location. In this context, we would suggest that the department work to develop a plan for the use and maintenance of the lab.” 

Response from the Dean’s 
Office, Self-Study page 65 

“Based on student satisfaction levels, devote a portion of time at department meetings to think of new and creative ways that we can provide more 
experiential learning opportunities for our students in classroom, lab and community settings.” 

Self-Study page 50 

“Reach out to other departments, such as Geography, that also have field and laboratory components in their curriculum, and see whether we want 
to send our students to take more of their course offerings to enhance their training and employable skills, and whether they would like to do the 
same.” 

Self-Study page 41 

“As a department, develop a plan and set of strategies for identifying and creating more student research opportunities within the anthropology 
program and how this can create more experiential learning opportunities for students.” 

Self-Study page 50 

“Have a discussion at an upcoming department meeting about student satisfaction levels from the survey data on available lab and computer space 
and technical equipment, and the desire for more experiential learning opportunities in our program and how these can be addressed.” 

Self-Study page 55 

“Develop a plan of exactly what is needed, in terms of space and resources, to better serve our students’ needs, and provide them with more 
experiential learning opportunities and competitive, employable skills for the job market.” 

Self-Study page 55 

“Since student and faculty survey results and comments suggest a need for more lab space and resources to bolster delivery, develop a plan which 
clarifies how dedicated lab space in the program will enhance experiential learning opportunities and allow students to acquire more employable 
skills. Consider resources needed to enhance field schools as part of this process.” 

Self-Study page 50 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 9 

 

 

GOAL 5: Enhance and Increase Interdisciplinary Connections and Work Within KPU 
 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: To increase and enhance the reputation of anthropology at KPU and enrich our program offerings and educational opportunities for our students. 
 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

“Given the data on the relatively small size of the Department and relatively small number of course offered/year, it makes sense to look at how 
Anthropology might look to cross-list courses with other related disciplines (nursing, criminology, Indigenous Studies, Geography/Geology, sciences 
etc.) and to think about other kinds of experiential learning opportunities.” 

External Review page 3 

Need to be “reaching out to other related programs such as nursing, criminology and Indigenous studies to have discussion about collaborative 
projects, curricular needs and possible adjustments to enhance interdisciplinary work and student experiences within our disciplines.” 

Self-Study page 20 

“Reach out and schedule meetings with colleagues in related disciplines, such as Indigenous Studies, Sociology and Nursing to get suggestions and 
advice on how, through our course offerings, we can provide more opportunities for students to develop awareness of indigenous issues and 
community engagement through both contemporary and historical perspectives. This would be with an eye towards future collaborations between 
our programs.” 

Self-Study page 61 

“Connect with other Arts departments similar to Anthropology (Sociology, Geography and History) to see what strategies they used to create their 
Advisory Boards and to learn their outcomes.” 

Self-Study page 19 

“As well, we urge the department to initiate discussions with other departments to explore opportunities for collaboration. For example, there are 
synergies that might be pursued between forensic anthropology and several areas within Criminology.” 

Response from the Dean’s 
Office, Self-Study page 65 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 10 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations cannot be addressed. Add or remove rows as 
necessary. 

 

Recommendations Report (page number) Rationale 

Consider the role or relevance of the two-stream model in the program. External Review 
pages 4 and 7 

Have too many other goals from this program review to prioritize. May consider in 
future program reviews. 

Consider formalizing the two-stream model more into program 
curriculum and laddering. 

External Review 
pages 4 and 7 

Have too many other goals from this program review to prioritize. May consider in 
future program reviews. 

The current role or relevance of “Culture, Community and Well-Being” 
theme of the department. 

External Review page 
7 

Have too many other goals from this program review to prioritize. May consider in 
future program reviews. 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 11 

 

 

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to attain its Goal over the next five year. Detail the steps the program will take to achieve each Strategy. 
Add or remove Strategies and tables as necessary. 

 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: Fall 2022 

 
STRATEGY 1: Enhancing Community Outreach and Connections 

 
GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: Enhancing community outreach and connections; Goal #2: Revise and Improve Curriculum; Goal #3: Enhance student recruiting and retention; 
Goal #4: Enhance experiential learning opportunities/Create designated lab space; Goal #5: Enhance and increase interdisciplinary work and connections within KPU. 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 

by 
To Start 

on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1. Meet and create an action plan to develop our Anthropology advisory board. Department 09/2022 11/2022  

2.Connect with other Arts departments to learn their Advisory board strategies. Chair 09/2022 11/2022  

3.Contact future student’s office to plan visits to high schools and community groups. Department 10/2022 12/2022  

4.Develop/change curriculum to create more student connections/opportunities with 
discipline/sector. 

Department  
10/2022 

Ongoing  

5.Meet with Arts advisors and Dean’s office to plan more job seminars that discuss career 
opportunities for Anthropology graduates. 

Chair 
11/2022 

02/2023  

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Administrative support from the Dean’s office 
When are these resources required? Starting in September 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Arts BA Advisors; Future Student’s Office; Department Assistant 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 12 

 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 2: Revise and Improve Curriculum 
 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: Enhancing community outreach and connections; Goal #2: Revise and improve curriculum; Goal #3: Enhance student recruiting and retention; 
Goal #4: Enhance experiential learning opportunities/Create designated lab space; Goal #5: Enhance and increase interdisciplinary work and connections within KPU. 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 

by 
To Start 

on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1.Hold curriculum workshop sessions to assess possible changes to address current deficiencies 
brought to our attention based on the program review outcomes. 

Curriculum 
rep 

 
09/2022 

12/2022  

2.Contact other related programs to discuss curricular needs, possible collaborative projects 
and possible adjustments to enhance interdisciplinary experiences for our students. 

Curriculum 
rep 

 
09/2022 

01/2023  

3.Contact Indigenous Studies, Nursing and Sociology departments to get suggestions on how 
our course offerings can provide more opportunities for students to develop awareness of 
Indigenous issues and community engagement. 

Curriculum 
rep 

 

09/2022 

02/2023  

4. Revise course content to include more projects that further develop connections between 
students and members of the discipline/sector. 

Department  
11/2022 

Ongoing  

5.Revise course content to ensure further student acquisition of employable skills, based on 
employer feedback from the SSR, such as fieldwork and data collection, laboratory analysis and 
report writing. 

Department  

02/2023 

Ongoing  

 
Resource Implications (if applicable) 

What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Dean’s Office Support 
When are these resources required? September 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Department Curriculum rep; Department Assistant; Associate Dean  



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 13 

 

 

 

 

STRATEGY 3: Enhance Student Recruiting and Retention 
 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: Enhancing Community Outreach and Connections; Goal #2: Revise and Improve Curriculum; Goal #3: Enhance Student recruiting and retention. 
 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 

by 
To Start 

on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1.Contact the future student’s office to plan visits to high schools and community groups by 
Anthropology faculty to advertise the value of an Anthropology degree and training. 

Chair  
10/2022 

12/2022  

2.Analyze Dashboard data on recent enrollment in anthropology classes and retention and 
graduation rates. If declines are noted, develop a plan to address these shortcomings and 
increase enrollment and retention. 

Chair  

12/2022 

03/2023  

3.Contact Arts advisors and KPU Marketing department to discuss plans on how to improve on 
advertising our program to high schools, existing KPU students and the local community. 

Department  
01/2023 

03/2023  

 
 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Administrative Support from the Dean’s Office 
When are these resources required? Starting in October 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Future Student’s Office; KPU Marketing 



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 14 

 

 

STRATEGY 4: Enhance Experiential Learning Opportunities/Create Designated Lab Space 
 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: Enhancing Community Outreach and Connections; Goal #3: Enhance Student recruiting and retention; Goal #4: Enhance experiential learning 
opportunities/Create Designated Lab Space; Goal #5: Enhance and Increase Interdisciplinary Connections and Work Within KPU. 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 
by 

To Start 
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1.Meet and develop a plan for improving the way lab and research methods are taught within 
the program. 

Department  
02/2023 

03/2023  

2.Develop a plan to clarify how dedicated lab space will enhance experiential opportunities and 
allow students to acquire more employable skills, and define exactly what is required in terms 
of space and resources to serve our student’s needs. 

Department  

03/2023 

05/2023  

3.Work together with the Dean of Arts Office and create a detailed plan for a permanent 
Anthropology lab and research facility. Including space needs and how current classrooms could 
be utilized, as well as required numbers of tables, counter space for equipment, and storage 
capacity requirements for skeletal, archaeological and ethnographic teaching and research 
collections. 

Department  
 

04/2023 

06/2023  

4.Meet with the Dean of Arts Office and the KPU Office of Research and Scholarship to discuss 
possible sources of funding for the creation or renovation of available space towards 
developing a permanent lab and research facility at KPU. 

Chair  

04/2023 

07/2023  

5.Work together with the Dean of Arts Office and Office of Research and Scholarship to identify 
funding sources and write a grant proposal to secure funds to put towards the development of 
an Anthropology lab and research facility. 

Chair  
05/2023 

08/2023  



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan Page 15 

 

 

 

6.Contact the Geography department to discuss possible collaborative projects, curriculum and 
common training opportunities for students in both departments. 

Chair  
11/2022 

01/2023  

 
 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Administrative Support from the Dean’s Office 
When are these resources required? Starting February 2023 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Associate Dean; Department Assistant; KPU Space Committee; KPU Facilities 

 

STRATEGY 5: Increase Interdisciplinary Connections and Work Within KPU 
 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #2: Revise and improve curriculum; Goal #3: Enhance Student recruiting and retention; Goal #4: Enhance experiential learning 
opportunities/Create Designated Lab Space; Goal #5: Enhance and Increase Interdisciplinary Connections and Work Within KPU. 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led 

by 
To Start 

on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed 
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1.Contact Indigenous Studies, Nursing and Sociology and meet to discuss and plan 
complementary and collaborative curriculum, research projects and opportunities to enhance 
students’ experiences. 

Chair  

10/2022 

Ongoing  

2.Contact the geography department to discuss field and laboratory training opportunities for 
students between our departments. 

Chair  
01/2023 

03/2023  

3.Look into possibility of cross-listed courses with related disciplines. Curriculum 
rep 01/2023 

Ongoing  

4.Discuss with related departments strategies for developing Program Advisory Boards and 
possibility of shared advisory boards between smaller departments. 

Chair  
10/2022 

12/2022  



Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

Page 16 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

 

_______________________ 

 
 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy? Administrative Support from the Dean’s Office 
When are these resources required? Starting October 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Dean of Arts Office; Future Student’s Office; KPU Marketing; Arts Advisor’s Office 

 
 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY: 
 
 
 

Dr. Diane Purvey 
 

 

Provost’s Name 
 
 

Dr. Wade Deisman for Greg Millard 

 
 

Provost’s Signature Date 
 
 
 
 
 

                   June 2, 2022  
 

 

Dean’s Name Dean’s Signature Date 

Diane Purvey 
2022.06.03 10:09:59 
-07'00' 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

1 
 

  
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Anthropology 

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 
o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-

Year Follow-Up Report. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation. 
Reviewer #1: While the overall aims of the program faculty are quite clear, a significant amount of work is still 
needed on this QA Plan. In particular, I have suggestions below regarding goals, strategies, and rationales. I 
also have suggestions for some of the steps, which would hopefully make progress easier to maintain and 
demonstrate.  
 
Reviewer #2: The QA Plan addresses the recommendations listed in the Self Study Report and in the External 
Review Report. However, the summary does not provide an overview that is completely consistent with the 
report, and should be revised to reflect both the successes and the challenges of the program.  
 
Reviewer #3 : The Anthropology Program Review Team has meticulously extracted and listed specific short-, 
medium-, and long-term recommendations from both the Self-Study and External Review reports, to inform 
and support their 5 goals.  
 
The 5-Year Action Plan provides clear steps with reasonable timelines to adequately address the strategies, 
and that can be used as markers to demonstrate progress in the annual follow-up report. 
 
The Summary section provided good context for the report, however, a clearer listing of strengths, challenges, 
opportunities and potential threats (eg. bulleted list or chart?) would be even more helpful.    
 
Congratulations to the team for preparing a comprehensive report! 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer 1 & 2 & 3: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see 
below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
  



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

2 
 

MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year 

Follow-Up Report. 
Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
Summary, page 1: The summary does not provide an 
overview consistent with the report.  The reader 
would benefit from a summary that introduces and 
synthesizes the challenges of the program rather 
than the current version that focuses on the program 
achievements (i.e. teaching excellence, opportunities 
for hands-on experience, deepened understanding of 
human condition among students etc.) While it is 
important to view challenges in the broader context 
of the overall excellence of the program, a more 
detailed summary of  potential threats to the 
program (e.g. dropping enrolment /student retention 
and challenges associated with including new trends 
in anthropology) would better prepare the reader to 
understand the contents of the subsequent report. In 
its current form, the summary does not provide 
balanced introduction leading the reader to the set of 
posted goals and associated problems.   
  

Please, revise the summary to introduce the reader 
to a balanced perspective on the current situation in 
the Anthropology program.  In the broader context of 
the “success story” of the program, emphasize a clear 
summary of the existing challenges, proposed efforts 
(goals) for addressing significant issues (such as 
decreasing enrolment, curriculum change to enhance 
student training and acquisition of employable skills, 
enhancement of the reputation of anthropology at 
KPU, etc.) 

 
As far as I can tell, recommendation 5 on page 20 of 
the self-study report (about possible new 
degrees/credentials) is not addressed in the QA Plan.  
 

 
If the intention is not to address this 
recommendation, then it should be added to the 
table on page 10. 
  

Pages 3 to 9. I think the goals are written more like 
strategies and the rationales are written like goals. 
For example, for Goal 1 on page 3, “Enhancing 
community outreach and connections” is written as 
the goal, but it seems to me to be more like a 
strategy. Also, the rationale “to provide more 
experiential learning opportunities and community 
connections for students” is more like a goal. 
 
Similarly, for Goal 2 on page 4: I think that “Revise 
and improve curriculum” is a strategy to help achieve 
the goal of “enhancing student training and 
acquisition of employable skills for job market and 
higher education”, which is currently written as the 
rationale. 
 

I suggest the following: 
 
Relabel the rationales (for example “To provide more 
experiential learning opportunities and community 
connections for students”) as goals. 
Then, as per the QA Plan Guide, the Rationale should 
be “a justification that explains how the Goal 
addresses the following:  
1. How achievement of the Goal will result in a 
resolution of specific issues identified through 
Program Review?  
2. How does the Goal assure program quality?” 
 
That is just one example. I think the other goals and 
rationales on pages 3 to 9 should be revisited in a 
similar way. 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

3 
 

I would make similar comments for Goals 3, 4, and 5. 
 
Pages 11 & 12: Some steps required to achieve the 
chosen strategies do not have any completion date 
and instead, are “ongoing”. Examples include such 
steps as: “Develop/change curriculum to create 
more…” or “Revise course content to include more…” 

 While the process of curriculum adjustment is always 
“ongoing”, I suggest setting up a concrete milestone 
dates where the faculty will have an opportunity to 
assess if the needed changes have been made and if 
the goal has been – at least partially – achieved.  

P 11/12 – Strategies 1 + 2, under Resource 
Implications 

Consider adding ‘Career Development Centre’ (for 
discussion re: career development workshops and/or 
facilitating industry-specific/employer 
panels/information sessions for Anthro students) 

Pages 11 to 15. 
The same wording is used for strategies and goals. For 
example, for Strategy 1 on page 11: 
“Enhancing community outreach and connections” is 
listed as a strategy that will help to support the goal 
of “enhancing community outreach and 
connections”. 

A clearer distinction between strategies and goals is 
needed. 
 
As suggested above, the original goals could be 
relabeled as strategies, and the original rationales 
could be relabeled as goals. 

Pages 11 to 15. Each strategy should have a rationale. 
According to the QA Plan Guidelines, the rationale 
should be: “A justification that explains how the 
Strategy answers the following questions:  
1. How does the Strategy support the Goal?  
2. How can the Strategy be successfully carried out 
given the program’s scope, internal environment and 
available resources?” 
 

Include a rationale for each strategy. 

Pages 11 to 15. Use of “ongoing”. 
For the annual follow-up reports, it may be difficult to 
judge the progress of steps that are labelled as 
“ongoing”.  
 

For steps that are labelled as “ongoing”, if possible, it 
would be good to put down a date within the next 
year or two by which time an intermediate (and 
easily achieved) step could be achieved. For example, 
step 4 on page 12 says “Revise course content to 
include more projects that further develop 
connections between students and members of the 
discipline/sector” and is labelled as ongoing. Could a 
date be specified for when the first such revision 
could be done by, or for when an initial list of 
revisions will have been developed (even if course 
outlines have not yet been submitted by then)? That 
would give you something concrete to aim for and 
would make progress easier to judge in the annual 
follow-up report(s). 
You could use the Notes column to state that this is 
one step in an ongoing process. 
  

Pages 11 to 15. Use of “Department”. 
I think saying a step will be led by the department is 
not specific enough. It might lead to nobody taking 

If a specific person or group is not known yet, one 
option might be to say that a subcommittee will be 
formed (or that a person or persons will be 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

4 
 

ownership of the step which would prevent progress. 
The QA Plan guidelines say that “The person(s) 
responsible for leading the step” should be specified. 

identified), and an intermediate step could be the 
formation of that subcommittee or group by a 
specific date. 
 
 

Pages 11 to 15. “Resource Implications”. 
I think the answers to the resource implication 
questions need to be more specific. For example, on 
page 12, it’s not clear what kind of support from the 
Dean’s office would be needed for the steps that are 
listed. 
 
Also, for the third resource question, I believe that 
“Faculty” refers to the Faculty of Arts, so 
“Department Curriculum rep” is probably not the 
kind of thing that is intended to be included there. 
 

If you have more specific ideas of the type of support 
you will need, you could list them. 
 
 

Page 11. 
Is it possible to give a date for the formation of the 
advisory board? This might make you more likely to 
stay on track with forming the board after the 
planning and consultations (steps 1 and 2) have taken 
place. 
 

 

Page 14. 
Steps 4 and 5 both refer to discussing/identifying 
possible sources of funding. 
 

For clarity, if the intention is to have one step for 
identification of funding sources and another for 
applying funding, then perhaps remove “identify 
funding sources” from step 5. 

P. 15 – Strategy 5, #4 re: Program Advisory Boards:  
timeline is difference from that indicated in Strategy 1 

 Align timelines with Strategy 1, #2 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

Summary, page 1: the last sentence of the first paragraph needs editing. It is too long and difficult to 
understand.  

Summary, page 1: last sentence - change “out” to “our” 

Summary, page 2: Edit the sentence: “Potential threats to the program include student demand that is 
affected…” by clarifying why student demand is a potential threat (e.g., add “decreasing” demand, or 
“negatively” affect the enrollment).  

The 3-rd recommendation on page 10: Add a verb (e.g., assess or discuss) at the beginning of the sentence 
“The current role or relevance ...” to make the recommendation actionable.  

P. 15, Strategy 5, #2: capitalize ‘geography’ 

 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 1  

 
Date submitted to SSCPR: Click here to enter text. 
 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: April 21, 2021  
 
Date of External Review: October 18 & 19, 2021 

 

SUMMARY 
Summarize what the program has determined - through evidence - about program quality (e.g. strengths, challenges, opportunities for improvement, potential threats, etc.)  

 
Anthropology at KPU consists of three interrelated sub-fields of undergraduate study: archaeology, biological anthropology and cultural anthropology. The three sub-fields are linked 
together in our program based on the theme Culture, Community, and Well-Being. Our courses address issues related to the interrelationships among the individual, society, and culture, 
and how these interrelationships impact on both individual and community well-being at local, regional and international levels. The goal of the KPU Anthropology program is to prepare 
students for life, work and research in diverse local communities, in a knowledge and information-based economy for a world that is increasingly globally connected. Anthropology 
students are working towards leadership-based careers integrated with local and global communities. Our students will cultivate and demonstrate skills in inter and intra-cultural 
communication, analysis and both scientific and humanistic methodology. The anthropology faculty are committed to our students and the applied, experiential nature of our program, 
and several members maintain active research programs that include community commitments and partnerships that help enhance student’s abilities to engage with the community 
and provide job and research related skills to prepare them to enter into the employment sector or higher education. 

 Since this is the first program review for KPU’s Anthropology department our faculty decided to frame the review around a number of important questions including how well we are 
doing in terms of enrollment and retention of students in our anthropology streams and where they are finding jobs? In addition, do our students feel well-trained and prepared for the 
job market and how has our degree helped their professional life? As far as curriculum, what kinds of skills do our students need and receive from their courses and what would they like 
to see offered in the future? What skills did they learn that are specific to anthropology and did they feel the program provided adequate learning resources and training in methods to 
make tyhem employable? Finally, to potential employers, do they see value in our degree program and is it sufficiently preparing our graduates for the workforce? We were able to 
collect a range of feedback, based on the survey responses, that point out both strengths and weaknesses in our current program and ways that we can improve in the future. Based on 
the results or our survey and Self-Study Report, we highlight below the following Program strengths, challenges, opportunities and threats to begin our Quality Assurance Plan. 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 2  

projects. These hands-on experiences are vital to the overall excellence of the program and distinguish our graduates from others who often have not had such opportunities. We believe 
that the curriculum meets the current program learning outcomes well and also supports the wider KPU Academic and Strategic Plans in various ways. Our goal in moving the 
program forward is to further enhance and strengthen our students’ learning experiences and training for future employment and educational opportunities; however, the program 
does face some potential threats and future challenges. Potential threats to the program include student demand that is affected by competition from comparable programs at 
competing institutions that affect the enrollment levels of anthropology classes at KPU, and general perceptions of the overall value of an Anthropology or Arts degree in the 21st 
Century economy. Challenges also exist from trends and changing contexts in the discipline/sector which we try to anticipate and incorporate into  

Key Program Strengths 
 

We argue that the strengths of our program, based on student, alumni and faculty surveys, the External Program Review Committee report and our Anthropology Self-Study include the following:  

• teaching excellence where our faculty are committed to using a wide range of teaching stydles and methods to enhance our students learning experiences; 

• providing hands-on training and experiences through student employment in research projects; 

• providing a broad-based education with skills in inter and intra-cultural communication and analysis and both scientific and humanistic approaches and methodology; 

• providing field studies opportunities in both local and distant settings for students to attain employable skills and develop community relations; 

• high student satisfaction with delivery modes, instructional methods and student program outcomes from those who graduate. 

Key Program Challenges 

Key challenges that were identified from our student, alumni, and faculty surveys as well as the External Review Committee Report and our Self Study include the following: 

• student retention: lower enrollment in upper level courses and low graduation numbers relative to other Arts departments; 

• to improve marketing of the program and raise greater awareness of the value of an anthropology degree; 

• provide more career-related training and opportunities for students to connect with the employer sector; 

• employers may be looking for skill sets that differ in emphasis from what we are currently highlighting in our curriculum; 

Formatted: Normal

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: Bold



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 3  

• insufficient offerings at the upper level for students to graduate in a more timely manner; 

• how to best integrate important themes of Indigenization, social justice and civic responsibility into program offerings; 

• how to increase experiential learning, research and job training opportunities for students through the development of an anthropology lab facility. 

Key Program Opportunities 

Based on the various stages of our Program Review, it appears that Anthropology is doing a good job of meeting expectations, especially in regards to student satisfaction with 
teaching and their overall educational experiences at KPU. However, there are areas where the program could be improved, and we can find ways to do what we do well more 
effectively to enhance the sustainability of the program. There are a number of opportunities that will help strengthen our program which include the following: 

• to improve our community connections with the establishment of a Program Advisory Committee; 

• create a more robust marketing program to advertise the vaue of an anthropology degree to local highschools and international students; 

• engage in greater interdisciplinary collaboration with other KPU programs in terms of curriculum, research opportunities and shared resources and lab space; 

• engage in greater collaborations with the employer sector to determine how our program offerings can be adjusted to suite their needs; 

• look to create additional field schools and field training opportunities for students for more diverse student experiences and to share faculty workload. 

Key Program Threats 
 

Possible threats, or external developments that can negatively impact the Anthropology program include the following: 

• Competition from other institutions in the Lower Mainland with anthropology programs, including larger research universities that often draw away our students at the 3rd year 

level; 

• Public perception about the KPU anthropology program when compared to other institutions that are viewed as “superior” in terms of resources and course offerings; 

• Decreasing domestic enrollments; 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.25"

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Superscript



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 4  

• Loss of potential upper level students or graduates to larger departments with more course offerings; 

• The general perception that an Arts degree has less value in the current economy. 

 
  

Formatted: List Paragraph, Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: 12 pt, Not Bold, Not Italic, Font color:
Auto



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 5  

QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS 
List the program’s Quality Assurance Goals (broad statements about what the program intends to accomplish to ensure program quality). Identify the Recommendation(s) – drawn from the Self-Study 
Report and External Review Report - each Goal addresses. Provide a brief Rationale for each Goal (see the Quality Assurance Plan Guidelines for instructions). Add or remove rows as necessary. 

GOAL 1: To provide more experiential learning opportunities and community connections for students.Enhancing Community Outreach and Connections  

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Enhancing community outreach and connections will help to create more experiential learning opportunities for students and learning how the skills acquired 
through an Anthropology degree can be applied in the world beyond KPU, and also raise community awareness about our program.To provide more experiential learning opportunities 
and community connections for students. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

“Data does not support the statement that the majority of your students end up in careers related to your discipline. This highlights several noted 
areas for action identified in the SSR and External Review, including focusing on a laddering of skills with an intent to empower your students with 
sector/discipline specific skills that are also transferable to non-traditional careers. The way these skills are articulated across the program should 
be informed by input from those in the sector(s) who are hiring your students. There was a significant lack of data outside the archaeological field in 
employer responses. This is an area that required further attention.” 
 

External Review page 3 

We need to “make a clear plan to develop our Anthropology Program Advisory Board.” 
 

Self-Study page 19 

We need to “connect with other Arts departments similar to Anthropology (Sociology, Geography and History) to see what strategies they used to 
create their Advisory Boards and to learn their outcomes.”  
 

Self-Study page 19 

We need to “contact the KPU future student’s office, and other Arts departments, to plan and coordinate future visits from faculty and students to 
high schools and community groups to enhance our community outreach and advertise the possibility and value of a degree in Anthropology related 
fields.”  
 

Self-Study page 20 

“Develop creative ways through our curriculum in which anthropology students can develop connections with members of the discipline/sector to 
further their careers or enhance their employment opportunities after graduation.”  
 

Self-Study page 42 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 6  

Need “planning and implementing more seminars about jobs and careers opportunities in anthropology and related fields. Through these seminars 
and in-class sessions, provide students with knowledge and access to resources about the skills and knowledge needed in a constantly evolving job 
market; and how opportunities will be available with an anthropology degree.”  

Self-Study page 50 
 

“Develop plans for future collaborations with Kwantlen, Boston Bar (Nlaka’pamun) and Spuzum First Nations and with Indigenous groups abroad to 
continue and enhance the participation and input of these groups in community-based research projects, and provide KPU students with 
opportunities for employable skills development and further inter-cultural experience and understanding.”  
 

Self-Study page 62 

 

GOAL 2: To enhance student training and acquisition of employable skills for job market and higher education.Revise and Improve Curriculum 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Revising and improving curriculum will help to identify specific courses in which  a greater emphasis on teaching more employable skills can be done as well as additional 
courses that may be developed that focus on job preparedness for our graduates. To enhance student training and acquisition of employable skills for job market and higher education 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

“Given the data on the relatively small size of the Department and relatively small number of courses offered/year, it makes sense to look at how 
Anthropology might look to cross-list courses with other related disciplines (nursing, criminology, Indigenous studies, geography/geology, sciences, 
etc.) and to think about other kinds of experiential learning opportunities.”  
 

External Review page 3 

“It was not entirely clear what was more applied about the KPU program than other anthropology programs at other post-secondary institutions. 
The degree requirements for a BA major/minor in Anthropology mirror those at most institutions (eg. Required methods and theory courses), and in 
some respects are even more general (eg. no thematic capstone course, for example). If the Anthropology program does believe that their program 
is more applied than other programs (or they wish to be), they might wish to consider looking at ways to formalize this within the structure of the 
program’s requirements beyond the optional field schools and to find a way to communicate this more explicitly both internally and externally. 
Should, for example, there be a program requirement to take one or more “applied” or project-based courses? 
 

External Review page 4 

We need to be “reaching out to other related programs such as nursing, criminology and indigenous studies to have discussions about collaborative 
research projects, curricular needs, and possible adjustments to enhance interdisciplinary work and students experiences within our disciplines.”  
 

Self-Study page 20 

Formatted: Font: Italic



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 7  

We need to “reach out and schedule meetings with colleagues in related disciplines, such as Indigenous Studies, sociology and nursing to get 
suggestions on how, through our course offerings, we can provide more opportunities for students to develop awareness of indigenous issues and 
community engagement including through both contemporary and historical perspectives.”  
 

Self-Study page 41 

“Develop creative ways through our curriculum in which anthropology students can develop connections with members of the discipline sector to 
further their careers or enhance their employment opportunities after graduation.”  
 

Self-Study page 42 

Need to “hold curriculum revision workshop sessions as a department to assess any possible changes to our courses that will be needed to address 
any current deficiencies in our curriculum based on the outcomes of our program review. As part of this process, evaluate whether students’ 
experiences and opportunities are comparable or equivalent between the two streams offered in the program.”  
 

Self-Study page 41 

Need to “address the potential for adding more experiential learning opportunities to our courses for our students that specifically address 
employable skills such as fieldwork and data collection, laboratory analysis and document and report writing.”  
 

Self-Study page 63 

Need to “consider specific employer feedback from the current document to determine what specific changes can be incorporated into our students’ 
curriculum and experiences at KPU that will ensure that more of our graduates get more jobs specifically within our discipline and sector related 
fields.”  
 

Self-Study page 41 

“Since anthropology student outcomes do not quite meet Ministry targets for employed graduates and usefulness, we need to develop a plan for 
creating more focus on teaching employable skills and update the range of fields that we promote to our prospective majors and minors.”  

Self-Study page 50 
 

“I agree with the department’s recommendations to hold curriculum revision workshop sessions, and I would encourage them to expand those to 
take a more global view of their overall curriculum vs simply evaluating existing courses against program learning outcomes-especially since those 
course-specific reviews tend to only be done along sub-disciplinary (stream) lines.”  
 

External Review page 7 

“Student demand for Anthropology courses has been very high, particularly at the lower level.  There continues to be some concern with the upper 
level courses, however.  Sometimes the fill rate is too low to sustain keeping an UL course open; over the past few years a handful of UL courses 
have been cancelled.  Better rotation of the courses could help with this (for example the theory courses), as well as working on transfer 
arrangements for Anthropology courses from other post-secondary institutions as this would allow transfer students to enter into 3rd and 4th year 
courses.” 
 

Response from the Dean’s 
Office, Self-Study page 65 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 8  

 

GOAL 3: To create and maintain a constant stream of students into our program and to ensure that they progress through each year in a timely manner and successfully complete their 
program.Enhance Student Recruiting and Retention 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Enhancing student recruiting and retention will be necessary for the future growth and sustainability of our program, and will also help address our challenge 
of low enrollment in upper level classes. To create and maintain a constant stream of students into our program and to ensure that they progress through each year in a timely manner 
and successfully complete their program. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

We need to “contact the Future Students Office and other Arts departments to plan and coordinate future visits from faculty and students to high 
schools and community groups to enhance our community outreach and advertise the possibility and value of a degree in anthropology and related 
fields.”  
 

Self-Study page 20 

“Conduct further investigations into the decline in retention and graduates from anthropology from 2015/2016 to 2017/2018. Determine whether 
sample size or department size issues might be responsible for the trends. If the patterns are due to other factors, try to identify them, and then 
develop a plan to help increase our future student retention and graduation numbers.”  
 

Self-Study page 20 

“Study continuing enrollment and graduation trends in our program from Dashboard data provided by OPA to assess strength and long-term 
sustainability of our program and determine what kind of changes need to be made to enhance enrollment and retention rates.”  

Self-Study page 20 
 

“Contact Arts advisors and the KPU Marketing department to discuss possible plans for how we can improve on advertising our program to existing 
High School, current KPU students and members of the local community. With an emphasis on the value of an anthropology degree for future 
employment or further educational opportunities.”  
 

Self-Study page 20 

  

 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 9  

GOAL 4: To provide more hands-on experience and employable skills for student success in the employment sector and higher educational pursuits.Enhance Experiential Learning 
Opportunities/Create Designated Lab Space 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Enhancing experiential learning opportunities and creating designated lab space will be imperative to the continued growth and development of our program. 
This will assist in the teaching of laboratory analysis methods to our students to prepare them for the employment sector upon graduation and further enhance our reputation among 
Anthropology programs in the Lower Mainland that we are a viable and quality program and destination for students interesting in acquiring an Anthropology degree and successfully 
entering into the workforce.To provide more hands-on experience and employable skills for student success in the employment sector and higher educational pursuits. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

“Limitations to curriculum development appear to be caused by a lack of laboratory space dedicated to anthropology and the necessity for upper 
level courses to have a certain number of students.”  
 

External Review page 6 

“Upper level courses similar to Material Culture Analysis was mentioned by the archaeology pathway students and alumni as lacking and faculty 
referenced the lack of lab space as a reason for not being able to teach this course. A course like Material Culture Analysis as well as osteology 
courses and a zooarchaeology course would greatly benefit the students’ experiential learning.”  
 

External Review page 6 

“I strongly support the Department’s need for formal lab space to enable these opportunities to take place.  Beyond the practical difficulty of having 
lab materials stored on different campuses, a dedicated space for both work on material remains (archeological, osteological etc.) and 
ethnographic work (eg. Ethnographic interview space) is needed if the department is going to be able to realize their ambitions at cultivating an 
applied focus.”  
 

External Review page 7 

“Became clear that there is a facilities need that impacts all Anthropology students: a lab facility.”  
 

External Review page 9 

“Seemed that bio-arch took precedence in this program in terms of focus, resources, and opportunities for students to enrich their experiences and 
skills, it was surprising to hear the way in which a lab would provide space for students in all Anth pathways.”  
 

External Review page 9 

“One area identified by virtually everyone we talked to (and visible in the SSR), is the lack of lab space. Given the role that lab work plays in 
supporting the Department’s experiential learning, I’d again highlight the need for dedicated laboratory space (for all three sub-disciplines). I’d also 
note that this is not simply a pedagogical need, but I’d suspect that there is a legal requirement that the cultural materials excavated as part of the 

External Review page 9 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 10  

archaeological field school be processed and reported on in a timely fashion. If the University is going to support this field school going forward 
(which I sincerely hope they do), then there is a need to support the back-end analysis/reporting, which requires space.”  
 
“Since faculty seem to have low satisfaction with regards to instructional delivery and training in lab methods received by students, discuss honestly 
what exactly may be causing these shortcomings, and develop a plan for improving and enhancing the way lab methods are taught within the 
program.”  

Self-Study page 50 

  

“The department needs space and financial resources to maintain a lab.  We encourage the department to specify exactly what is necessary, and in 
which location. In this context, we would suggest that the department work to develop a plan for the use and maintenance of the lab.” 
 

Response from the Dean’s 
Office, Self-Study page 65 

“Based on student satisfaction levels, devote a portion of time at department meetings to think of new and creative ways that we can provide more 
experiential learning opportunities for our students in classroom, lab and community settings.”  
 

Self-Study page 50 

“Reach out to other departments, such as Geography, that also have field and laboratory components in their curriculum, and see whether we want 
to send our students to take more of their course offerings to enhance their training and employable skills, and whether they would like to do the 
same.”  

Self-Study page 41 

“As a department, develop a plan and set of strategies for identifying and creating more student research opportunities within the anthropology 
program and how this can create more experiential learning opportunities for students.”  
 

Self-Study page 50 

“Have a discussion at an upcoming department meeting about student satisfaction levels from the survey data on available lab and computer space 
and technical equipment, and the desire for more experiential learning opportunities in our program and how these can be addressed.”  

Self-Study page 55 
 

“Develop a plan of exactly what is needed, in terms of space and resources, to better serve our students’ needs, and provide them with more 
experiential learning opportunities and competitive, employable skills for the job market.” 
 

Self-Study page 55  

“Since student and faculty survey results and comments suggest a need for more lab space and resources to bolster delivery, develop a plan which 
clarifies how dedicated lab space in the program will enhance experiential learning opportunities and allow students to acquire more employable 
skills. Consider resources needed to enhance field schools as part of this process.”  
 

Self-Study page 50 

 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 11  

 

 

 

 

GOAL 5: To increase and enhance the reputation of anthropology at KPU and enrich our program offerings and educational opportunities for our students.Enhance and Increase 
Interdisciplinary Connections and Work Within KPU 

RATIONALE FOR THIS GOAL: Enhance and increase interdisciplinary connections and work within KPU. This will create more opportunities for collaborative projects may participate in and 
course offerings that our students may take that could contribute to their degree program and further their experiential learning opportunities and acquisition of employable skills. It 
would also help promote our department and course offerings to students in other programs. To increase and enhance the reputation of anthropology at KPU and enrich our program 
offerings and educational opportunities for our students. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Report (page number) 

“Given the data on the relatively small size of the Department and relatively small number of course offered/year, it makes sense to look at how 
Anthropology might look to cross-list courses with other related disciplines (nursing, criminology, Indigenous Studies, Geography/Geology, sciences 
etc.) and to think about other kinds of experiential learning opportunities.”  
 

External Review page 3 

Need to be “reaching out to other related programs such as nursing, criminology and Indigenous studies to have discussion about collaborative 
projects, curricular needs and possible adjustments to enhance interdisciplinary work and student experiences within our disciplines.”  

Self-Study page 20 
 

  
“Reach out and schedule meetings with colleagues in related disciplines, such as Indigenous Studies, Sociology and Nursing to get suggestions and 
advice on how, through our course offerings, we can provide more opportunities for students to develop awareness of indigenous issues and 
community engagement through both contemporary and historical perspectives. This would be with an eye towards future collaborations between 
our programs.”  
 

Self-Study page 61 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 12  

“Connect with other Arts departments similar to Anthropology (Sociology, Geography and History) to see what strategies they used to create their 
Advisory Boards and to learn their outcomes.”  
 

Self-Study page 19 

“As well, we urge the department to initiate discussions with other departments to explore opportunities for collaboration. For example, there are 
synergies that might be pursued between forensic anthropology and several areas within Criminology.”   

Response from the Dean’s 
Office, Self-Study page 65 

 

  



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 13  

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
List the Recommendations from the Self-Study and External Review this Plan does not address. Provide a brief rationale for why these Recommendations cannot be addressed. Add or remove rows as 
necessary. 

Recommendations  Report (page number) Rationale 

Consider the role or relevance of the two-stream model in the program.  External Review 
pages 4 and 7 

Have too many other goals from this program review to prioritize. May consider in 
future program reviews. 

Consider formalizing the two-stream model more into program 
curriculum and laddering. 

External Review 
pages 4 and 7 

Have too many other goals from this program review to prioritize. May consider in 
future program reviews. 

The current role or relevance of “Culture, Community and Well-Being” 
theme of the department. 

External Review page 
7 

Have too many other goals from this program review to prioritize. May consider in 
future program reviews. 

Possible microcredentials tied to field experiences. Dean’s office 
response, Self-Study 
page 66. 

A good idea and may stem from further curriculum and collaborative discussions. 
More discussion among faculty and field school directors needed about feasibility 
of the idea and whether this is a direction the department would like to pursue. 

   

   

   

 
  



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 14  

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 
Describe the Quality Assurance Strategies (specific plans of action) the program must achieve to attain its Goal over the next five year. Detail the steps the program will take to achieve each Strategy. 
Add or remove Strategies and tables as necessary. 

 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: Fall 2022 

STRATEGY 1: Create more tangible and ongoing community partnershipsEnhancing Community Outreach and Connections 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: Provide more experiential learning opportunities and community connections for students;Enhancing community outreach and connections; 
Goal #2: to enhance student training and acquisition of employable skills for job market and hisher education;Revise and Improve Curriculum; Goal #3: Create and maintain a constant 
stream of students into our program and to ensure that they progress though each year in a timely manner and successfully complete their program;Enhance student recruiting and 
retention; Goal #4: Provide more hands-on experience and employable skills for student success in the employment sector and higher educational pursuits;Enhance experiential learning 
opportunities/Create designated lab space; Goal #5: Increase and enhance the reputation of anthropology at KPU and enrich our program offerings and educational opportunities for our 
students;Enhance and increase interdisciplinary work and connections within KPU. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1. Meet and create an action plan to develop our Anthropology advisory board. 
 

Larissa 
Petrillo 
Department 

09/2022 
101/2022  

2.Connect with other Arts departments to learn their Advisory board strategies. 
 

Chair 
09/2022 

101/2022 Would plan to have the Program Advisory 
Board Formed by 12/2022 

3.Contact future student’s office to plan visits to high schools and community groups. 
 

Chair 
Department 10/2022 

12/2022  

4.Develop/change curriculum to create more student connections/opportunities with 
discipline/sector. 
 

Curriculum 
Rep 
Department 

10/2022 
04/2023 
Ongoing 

 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 15  

5.Meet with Arts advisors and Dean’s office to plan more job seminars that discuss career 
opportunities for Anthropology graduates. 

Chair 
11/2022 

02/2023  

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Administrative support from the Dean’s office 
When are these resources required?  Starting in September 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Arts BA Advisors; Future Student’s Office; Department Assistant;  

 

STRATEGY 2: Make curriculum changes that increasingly reflect employable skills, interdisciplinarity and collaborative educational and research opportunities;Revise and Improve 
Curriculum 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: Provide more experiential learning opportunities and community connections for students; Enhancing community outreach and connections; 
Goal #2: Enhance student training and acquisition of employable skills for job market and higher education; Revise and improve curriculum; Goal #3: Enhance student recruiting and 
retention; Goal #4: Provide more hands-on experience and employable skills for student success in the employement sector and higher educational pursuitsEnhance experiential learning 
opportunities/Create designated lab space; Goal #5: To increase and enhance the reputation of anthropology at KPU and enrich our program offerings and educational opportunities for 
students;Enhance and increase interdisciplinary work and connections within KPU. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1.Hold curriculum workshop sessions to assess possible changes to address current deficiencies 
brought to our attention based on the program review outcomes. 
 

Curriculum 
rep 09/2022 

12/2022  

2.Contact other related programs to discuss curricular needs, possible collaborative projects 
and possible adjustments to enhance interdisciplinary experiences for our students. 
 

Curriculum 
rep 09/2022 

01/2023  

3.Contact Indigenous Studies, Nursing and Sociology departments to get suggestions on how 
our course offerings can provide more opportunities for students to develop awareness of 
Indigenous issues and community engagement. 

Curriculum 
rep 09/2022 

02/2023  



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 16  

 
4. Revise course content to include more projects that further develop connections between 
students and members of the discipline/sector. 
 

Curriculum 
Rep 
Department 

11/2022 
08/2023 
Ongoing 

 

5.Revise course content to ensure further student acquisition of employable skills, based on 
employer feedback from the SSR, such as fieldwork and data collection, laboratory analysis and 
report writing. 
 

Curriculum 
Rep 
Department 02/2023 

10/2023 
Ongoing 

 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Dean’s Office Support 
When are these resources required?  September 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required? Department Curriculum rep; Department Assistant; Associate Dean Click here to enter text. 

 

STRATEGY 3: Develop more robust marketing strategies to increase enrollment and retention. Enhance Student Recruiting and Retention 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: Enhancing Community Outreach and Connections; Goal #2: Revise and Improve Curriculum; Goal #3: To create and maintain a constant stream 
of students into our program and to ensure that they progress through each year in a timely manner and successfully complete their program. Enhance Student recruiting and retention. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1.Contact the future student’s office to plan visits to high schools and community groups by 
Anthropology faculty to advertise the value of an Anthropology degree and training. 
 

Chair 
10/2022 

12/2022  

2.Analyze Dashboard data on recent enrollment in anthropology classes and retention and 
graduation rates. If declines are noted, develop a plan to address these shortcomings and 
increase enrollment and retention. 

Chair 
12/2022 

03/2023  



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 17  

 
3.Contact Arts advisors and KPU Marketing department to discuss plans on how to improve on 
advertising our program to high schools, existing KPU students and the local community. 
 

Chair 
Department 01/2023 

03/2023  

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Administrative Support from the Dean’s Office 
When are these resources required?  Starting in October 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Future Student’s Office; KPU Marketing 

 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 18  

STRATEGY 4: Develop a robust plan to develop a designated anthropology lab space for increased experiential learning and student research opportunities.Enhance Experiential Learning 
Opportunities/Create Designated Lab Space 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: To provide more experiential learning opportunities and community connections for students; Enhancing Community Outreach and 
Connections; Goal #3: Enhance Student recruiting and retention; Goal #4: To provide more hands-on experience and employable skills for student success in the employment sector and 
higher educational pursuits.Enhance experiential learning opportunities/Create Designated Lab Space; Goal #5: Enhance and Increase Interdisciplinary Connections and Work Within 
KPU. 

 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1.Meet and develop a plan for improving the way lab and research methods are taught within 
the program. 
 

Curriculum 
Rep 
Department 

02/2023 
03/2023 This will help to establish a set of parameters 

for Step 2. 

2.Develop a plan to clarify how dedicated lab space will enhance experiential opportunities and 
allow students to acquire more employable skills, and define exactly what is required in terms 
of space and resources to serve our student’s needs. 
 

Field School 
Directors 
Department 03/2023 

05/2023 This will allow us to determine what kinds of 
space options are available (or unavailable) 
and clarify what the budgetary needs will be. 

3.Work together with the Dean of Arts Office and create a detailed plan for a permanent 
Anthropology lab and research facility. Including space needs and how current classrooms could 
be utilized, as well as required numbers of tables, counter space for equipment, and storage 
capacity requirements for skeletal, archaeological and ethnographic teaching and research 
collections. 
 

Ken 
Andrews 
Department 

04/2023 

06/2023 This is where discussions with facilities and 
the KPU Space Committee will also occur. 

4.Meet with the Dean of Arts Office and the KPU Office of Research and Scholarship to discuss 
possible sources of funding for the creation or renovation of available space towards 
developing a permanent lab and research facility at KPU. 
 

Chair 

04/2023 

07/2023  



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 19  

5.Work together with the Dean of Arts Office and Office of Research and Scholarship to identify 
funding sources and write a grant proposal to secure funds to put towards the development of 
an Anthropology lab and research facility. 

Chair 
05/2023 

08/2023  

6.Contact the Geography department to discuss possible collaborative projects, curriculum and 
common training opportunities for students in both departments. 
 

Chair 
11/2022 

01/2023 This will help determine how the proposed lan 
space may be utilized and possibly shared 
among programs. 

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Administrative Support from the Dean’s Office 
When are these resources required?  Starting February 2023 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Associate Dean; Department Assistant; KPU Space Committee; KPU Facilities 

 

STRATEGY 5: Discuss and develop possible collaborative partnership initiatives with related programs in terms of curriculum, common research and training opportunities for students. Increase 
Interdisciplinary Connections and Work Within KPU 

GOAL(S) THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal #1: Provide more experiential learning opportunities and community connections for students; Goal #2: To enhance student training and acquisition of 
employable skills for job market and higher education; Revise and improve curriculum; Goal #3: Enhance Student recruiting and retention; Goal #4: Provide more hands-on experience 
and employable skills for student success in the employment sector and higher education pursuits;Enhance experiential learning opportunities/Create Designated Lab Space; Goal #5: 
Increase and enhance the reputation of anthropology at KPU and enrich our program offerings and educational opportunities for our students. oal #5: Enhance and Increase 
Interdisciplinary Connections and Work Within KPU. 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy To be Led  
by 

To Start  
on (M/YY) 

To be 
Completed  
By (M/YY) 

 
Notes 

1.Contact Indigenous Studies, Nursing and Sociology and meet to discuss and plan 
complementary and collaborative curriculum, research projects and opportunities to enhance 
students’ experiences. 
 

Chair 

10/2022 

12/2022 
Ongoing 

 



 
Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan                               Page 20  

2.Contact the Ggeography department to discuss field and laboratory training opportunities for 
students between our departments. 
 

Chair 
01/2023 

03/2023  

3.Look into possibility of cross-listed courses with related disciplines. 
 

Curriculum 
rep 01/2023 

03/2023 
Ongoing 

 

4.Discuss with related departments strategies for developing Program Advisory Boards and 
possibility of shared advisory boards between smaller departments. 
 

Chair  
10/2022 

12/2022  

 

Resource Implications (if applicable) 
What are the resources required to achieve this Strategy?   Administrative Support from the Dean’s Office 
When are these resources required?  Starting October 2022 
What Faculty and/or Institutional support is required?  Dean of Arts Office; Future Student’s Office; KPU Marketing; Arts Advisor’s Office 

 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY:    

 

________________________________________                                         _________________________________________________                                     _________________________________ 
Provost’s Name        Provost’s Signature        Date  
 
 
 
________________________________________                                         _________________________________________________                                     _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name        Dean’s Signature        Date  
 
   



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW  
Agenda Item: 7.1 

Meeting Date: June 22, 2022 
Presenter: Lori McElroy 

 1 / 2 

Agenda Item Manager’s Report on Status of Program Reviews 
  

Action Requested Information 

  

Recommended 
Resolution N/A 

  
Senate Standing 
Committee Report For Senate Office Use Only   

  

Context & 
Background 

The SSCPR approved 31 reports between September 2021 and May 2022.  
As of June 8, 2022 Number of Reports 
Self-Study Reports  4 
External Reviews 8 
Quality Assurance Plans 6 
Annual Follow-Up Reports 13 
Total 31 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Five program reviews have been initiated in 2021/22 Academic Year:  

English Upgrading (November 2021) 
Brewing and Brewery Operations (November 2021) 
Horticulture Technology (November 2021) 
Geography/Applied Geography (February 2022) 
Language and Culture (January 2022) 

 
 Seven program reviews are scheduled for the 2022/23 Academic Year: 

Asian Studies 
Business Administration/Economics 
Criminology 
Fine Arts 
Indigenous Community Justice 
Journalism 
Non-Governmental Organizations and Nonprofit Studies 

 



Page 2 

 

Key Messages N/A 

Consultations N/A 

  

Attachments 
Manager’s Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for June 2022 SSCPR 
Meeting 

  

Submitted by Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & 
Accountability 

Date submitted June 8, 2022 

 



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of Site 
Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan Due QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

ACP English Upgrading Dec-18
re-start: Sep-

21

Admin Data: Feb-19
Admin Data: April-22

Aug-22 Oct-22 Mar-23 Mar-24 Program is working on the curriculum review portion 
of the self-study report. 

Arts Anthropology Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

Sep-20 Apr-21 Nov-20 Oct 18/19, 
2021

Nov-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 Quality Assurance Plan is in. 

Arts Criminology Jan-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Revised Admin Data: Feb-20

Survey Data: May-20

Dec-20 Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 Program review will re-start in Fall 2022. 

Arts Creative Writing May-21 Admin Data: Nov-21
Survey Data: Nov-21

May-22 Jul-22 Oct-22 Nov-23 Self-study report was due by June 1, 2022. The 
program is given an extension until August 15, 2022. 

Arts Education Assistant Sep-19 Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: June-20

Feb-21 May-21 Mar-21 Nov 25/26, 
2021

Jan-22 Jun-22 Jun-23 Quality Assurance Plan was due by June 1, 2022. The 
program is given an extension until August 15, 2022. 

Arts Minor in Counselling Feb-18 Admin Data: April-18
Survey Data: April-18

x Apr-19 x 31-Oct-21 Jan-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Sep-21 Oct-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a 
second time in October 2022. 

Arts English May-20 Admin Data: Jan-21
Survey Data: April-21

Sep-21 Nov-21 Nov-21 Feb 10/11, 
2022

Mar-22 Apr-22 Apr-23 Quality Assurance Plan is due by August 31, 2022. 

Arts History Dec-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: March-20

Aug-20 Feb-21 Oct-20 June 17/18, 
2021

Jul-21 May-21 Jan-22 May-22 First annual follow-up is due in January 2023.

Arst Geography Feb-22 Oct-22 Jan-23 Jul-23 Jul-24 Program is working on the curriculum review portion 
of the self-study report. 

Arts Language & Culture Dec-21 Admin Data: May-22
Survey Data: May-22

Aug-22 Nov-22 Apr-23 Apr-24 Program received the survey reports and 
administrative data in May 2022. 

Arts Philosophy Sep-17 Admin Data: Sep-18
Survey Data: Dec-17 (Discipline 

Survey: Mar-18)

x Apr-19 x Jul-19 Jul-19 Jan-20 Apr-21 Jan-21 May-22 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress 
one more time in May 2023. 

Arts Political Science Dec-19 Admin Data: Dec-19
Survey Data: June-20

Jan-21 Apr-22 Mar-21 Sep-21 Sep-22 External Review is likely to take place in Fall 2022. 

Arts Psychology Dec-16 Admin Data: Oct-17
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-17

x Apr-18 x Jun-18 Jul-18 x May-20 May-21 May-21 Second Annual Follow-Up is in.

Arts Sociology Sep-15 Admin Data: Nov-17
Survey Data: May-16

x Dec-17 x Apr-18 May-18 x Oct-18 Oct-19 Apr-20 May-21 Third Annual Follow-Up is in.

Business Accounting Nov-17 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Jan-18

x Sep-18 x Jan-19 Feb-19 x Feb-20 Feb-21 Feb-21 Mar-22 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a 
third time in March 2023. 

Business Computer Science and 
Information Technology

Apr-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Jan-20

Aug-20 Nov-20 Nov-20 Mar 1/2, 
2021

Mar-21 Aug-21 Oct-21 Aug-22 First Annual Follow-Up is due in October 2022. 

Business Business Management Sep-15 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Mar-18

x Jun-18 x Jul-18 Jul-18 x Mar-20 Mar-21 Oct-21 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a 
second time in October 2022. 

Business Human Resource 
Management 

May-14 Admin Data: Sept-16
Survey Data: Mar-17

x Jun-17 x Nov-18 Dec-18 x Sep-19 Sep-20 Oct-20 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a 
third time in November 2022. 

Design Fashion Design & 
Technology

Sep-20 Admin Data: Feb-21
Survey Data: Mar-21

Jun-21 Oct-21 Sep 28/29, 
2021

Oct-21 Jun-22 May-22 Jun-23 First Annual Follow-Up is due in May 2023. 

Design Foundation in Design 
Certificate

Oct-17
re-start: Oct-

19

Admin Data: Aug-17
Survey Data: Nov-17 (Student 

Data: Feb-18)
Revised Admin Data: Oct-19

Survey Data: Aug-20

Sep-20 Apr-21 Oct-20 June 29/30, 
2021

Jul-21 May-21 Jan-22 May-22 First Annual Follow-up Report is due in January 
2023.

Design Interior Design Sep-18 Admin Data: Nov-18
Admin Data: Sep-19
Survey Data: Nov-18

x Jan-20 Jan-20 Jun-20 Aug-20 Jun-20 Feb-21 Jun-21 Mar-22 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a 
second time in March 2023. 

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 6/3/2022 Page 1 of 2



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Due

Report 
Approved

Site Visit 
Deadline

Date of Site 
Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan Due QA Plan 
Approved

Report 
Due

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Design Product Design Feb-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Oct-19

Feb-20 Jun-20 Apr-20 Feb 24/25, 
2021

Apr-21 Oct-20 Nov-21 Oct-21 First Annual Follow-up Report is due in November 
2022. 

Design Technical Apparel Design Jun-18 Admin Data: Dec-18
Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: Dec-18

x Jan-20 Sep-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Jun-21 Jan-21 Jun-22 Jan-22 SSCPR asked program to report to report on their 
progress a second time in January 2023. 

Health Bachelor of Psychiatric 
Nursing

Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

x Oct-20 x Feb-20 Mar-20 Aug-20 Nov-20 Aug-21 Jan-22 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a 
second time in January 2023. 

Health BSN -New
BSN - Revised

Sep-16 Admin Data: Jan-18
Survey Data:

Faculty: Jan-17
Discipline: Feb-17

Student + Alumni: Sep-17

x
Feb-18

x
Mar-18 May-18

x Feb-20
Dec-18

Feb-21
Dec-19

Feb 21
Feb 20

Revised version of New BSN Second Annual Follow-
Up is in. 

Health Health Care Assistant 
Certificate

May-19 Admin Data: Jun-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

x Jan-20 Sep-20 Dec 9/10, 
2020

Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 First Annual Follow-Up is in. 

Health Health Unit Coordinator 
Certificate

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data:

Discipline + Alumni: Mar-18
Student + Faculty: Aug-18

x Dec-18 x Jun-19 Jul-19 x x All intakes are suspended. The review is on hold until 
the future of  the program is determined.

Science Biology Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19
Revised Admin Data: Mar-21

Survey Data: Mar-21

Oct-21 Oct-21 Jan-22 Feb 24/25, 
2022

Apr-22 Sep-22 Sep-23 Quality Assurance Plan is due by August 31, 2022. 

Science Brewing and Brewery 
Operations

Nov-21 Aug-22 Nov-22 May-23 May-24 Program received the survey reports and 
administrative data in May 2022. 

Science Bachelor of Horticulture 
Science 

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-18 

x Mar-19 x Apr-19 May-19 Aug-19 Apr-21 Aug-20 Apr-22 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a 
second time in April 2023. 

Science Horticulture Technology 
Diploma

Nov-21 Aug-22 Oct-22 Feb-23 Feb-24 The program is working on the curriculum review 
portion of the self-study report. 

Science Mathematics May-19 Admin Data: Jul-19
Survey Data: 

Faculty: Jul-19 
Alumni: Sep-19 

Discipline/Sector: Sep-19

Sep-19 Oct-20 Nov-19 Mar 10/11, 
2021

Apr-21 May-20 Feb-22 May-21 First Annual Follow-up Report is due in February 
2023.

Science Physics for Modern 
Technology

May-21 Admin Data: Nov-21
survey data: Feb-22

Jan-2022
Rev. Jun-

22

Mar-22
Rev: Sep-22

Sep-2022
Rev: Feb-23

Oct-2023
Rev: Feb-

24

Self-study Report is in. 

Science Sustainable Agriculture Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19
Revised Admin Data: Feb-21

Survey Data: 
Student: Aug-20

Faculty & Alumni: Jan-21
Discipline/sector: Feb-21

Aug-20 Sep-21 Oct-20 or Nov-20 Mar 7/9, 
2022

Apr-22 May-21 May-22 QA Plan is due by September 28, 2022. 

Science Turf Management Diploma May-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

Oct-19 Jan-20 Sep-20 Sep-21 Turf Management is being reviewed as part of the 
Horticulture Technology program review. 

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 6/3/2022 Page 2 of 2


	2 Agenda June 22 2022
	AGENDA

	3. 2022 05 18 SSCPR Minutes Draft
	1. Territorial Acknowledgement and Call to Order
	2. Approval of Agenda
	3. Approval of Minutes April 13, 2022
	4. Chair’s Report
	5. New Business
	5.1. Sustainable Agriculture External Review Report
	5.2. New BSN Second Annual Follow Up Report
	5.3. Fashion and Technology Quality Assurance Plan
	5.4. Philosophy First Annual Follow-Up Report

	6. Items for Discussion
	7. Manager’s Report
	8. Adjournment

	5.1.0 SSCPR Cover Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.1.1 Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report
	First Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: April 2021


	5.1.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments HCAP First Annual Follow-Up Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up:
	a) Progress to date is unclear.
	b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred.

	5.1.3 Health Care Assistant Program First Annual Follow-Up Report_Revised
	First Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: April 2021


	5.2.0 SSCPR Cover New BSN Second Annual Follow-Up Report_Revised
	5.2.1 BSN Second Annual Follow Up Report_Revised
	5.2.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Revised BSN Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up:
	a) Progress to date is unclear.
	b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred.

	5.3.0 SSCPR Cover Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report
	5.3.1 Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report
	List of Acronyms
	Memo from Dean/Associate Dean
	1. Introduction
	1.1. Overview of the Program(s)
	Program Under Review
	Admission Requirements
	Credential & Curricular Requirements
	Transferability
	Preparation for graduate school

	1.2. Program Department
	1.3. Program Purpose
	Changes Since Program Launch
	External Accreditation

	1.4. Issues for Program Review

	2. Curriculum Review
	2.1. Pathways for Graduates
	Pathways to Employment
	Pathways to Further Study
	Pathways to an Enriched Civic and Personal Life

	2.2. Program Learning Outcomes
	2.3. Essential Skill Development
	2.4. Curriculum Assessment

	3. Program Relevance and Demand
	3.1. Relevance
	Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?
	Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector needed to remain current?
	Does the program include appropriate Indigenous content?

	3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency
	What is the collective expertise available to deliver the program?
	Collectively, does the department have the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum?

	3.3. Student Demand
	Who takes the program?
	Exhibits 2 and 3 of the Administrative Data Report (Appendix D) are reproduced below. We also used the KPU Strategic Enrollment Data tool to extract data for PMT-declared students as those are students we can definitively identify as being in the prog...
	Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by Academic Year
	Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Science and Horticulture Students by Academic Year

	Is demand for the program sustainable?
	Does the program have the capacity to meet demand?
	Does the program have effective outreach to ensure demand?


	4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery
	4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum
	Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs?
	Are appropriate experiential learning opportunities provided to help student acquire the learning outcomes?
	Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills?
	Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses?
	Does instruction meet the needs of diverse learners?
	Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the learning outcomes?
	Summary and Recommendation

	4.2. Student Success
	Are students performing satisfactorily in courses?
	Are students making satisfactory progress in the program?
	Are graduates of the program successful?
	Summary and Recommendation


	5. Resources, Services, and Facilities
	Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum?
	Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum?
	Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum?
	Does the program have the other support services needed to deliver the curriculum?

	6. Conclusions and Recommendations
	6.1. Overview
	6.2. Curriculum Review
	6.3. Program Relevance & Student Demand
	6.4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery
	6.5. Resources, Services, and Facilities

	7. Appendices

	5.3.2 Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report Appendices
	Appendix A: BSc Framework
	Appendix B: Career Pathways Map
	Appendix C: Curriculum Map
	Appendix D: Administrative Data Report
	Appendix E: Student Survey Report
	Appendix F: Faculty Survey Report
	Appendix G: Alumni Survey Report
	Appendix H: Discipline/Sector Survey Report
	Appendix I: List of Specialized Equipment

	5.3.4 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	Reviewer #1: 
	The PMT team have submitted a comprehensive and very well written self-study report. It shows thoughtful and thorough analysis of the curriculum mapping exercise and available data and articulates very reasonable recommendations. It is evident they have embraced their first program review detailing the strengths and successes of the program and also a willingness to progress.
	Reviewer #2: Overall, this is an excellent Self Study by the Physics for Modern Technology program.  Congratulations to PMT on their Program Review and their excellent work.  This report is well written and carefully edited, and thorough and insightful in its response to the data.  The PMT program is clearly an important one at KPU and a unique one nation-wide.  I am hopeful that through the increased promotion of the program, the revisions to its curriculum, and its deepening of its industry connections, PMT will thrive in the future as a destination program.  I have provided some minor suggestions below and highlighted one area in chapter 2 that appears to be blank and needs correction (in the table on PLOs and the level of proficiency).  I would like to underscore that any suggested changes and feedback are minor and can be readily addressed in short order. Bravo on a solid report!
	Reviewer #3: Kudos to the Physics for Modern Technology program for a comprehensive, detailed self-study report. Appreciate the depth of content, analysis presented in this report. Proposed a couple of key changes to graduate attributes, program outcomes in chapter 2. Minor changes and considerations are proposed to other chapters.  Recommend for approval by SSCPR pending action for chapter 2 recommendations. Good luck
	Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard.
	CHAPTER 1: Program Overview
	Criterion: This chapter provides an overview of the program, its purpose, and the scope of the review.
	Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its purpose, and the scope of the current review.
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	Page 49
	Support for International Students
	Recommendation Section – Familiarizing with services to international students alone may not be adequate to support international students meaningfully. Consider adding a recommendation to explore Universal Design Principles in course design to support international and other students. 
	  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations.
	Minor Edits (page #)
	Pg 10 (last paragraph of 1.2): all the instances of “full time” and “part time” need to be hyphenated; also change the comma in front of “Surrey, however,” to a semicolon: “Surrey; however, the lab instructors”
	Pg. 12 (top of page): rather than stating “that one hopes the program review” – why not instead state, “that the Department hopes the program review” – the “one” is a bit vague.
	Page 16 (third line): Dangling modifier>> add a subject after the opening modifier: “Recognizing the need for these to be further developed, the Department made this year’s offering of our Special Topics on the topic of communication.”
	Pg.  20 (grid) – the line across from “Limits of knowledge and independent learning” is blank.  Should this be N/A?  Not applicable?  Or something else?
	Pg. 27 (second last paragraph; third last line): Delete the repetition of “one one student” >> there is currently one student project”
	p. 29 under Discipline/Sector Survey Responses – Although there is currently one one student project
	Pg. 48 – typo: Paragraph above “Survey responses” section:  “Recently, teh department” – change to “the”

	5.3.4 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Physics for Modern Technology_Response
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	Reviewer #1: 
	The PMT team have submitted a comprehensive and very well written self-study report. It shows thoughtful and thorough analysis of the curriculum mapping exercise and available data and articulates very reasonable recommendations. It is evident they have embraced their first program review detailing the strengths and successes of the program and also a willingness to progress.
	Reviewer #2: Overall, this is an excellent Self Study by the Physics for Modern Technology program.  Congratulations to PMT on their Program Review and their excellent work.  This report is well written and carefully edited, and thorough and insightful in its response to the data.  The PMT program is clearly an important one at KPU and a unique one nation-wide.  I am hopeful that through the increased promotion of the program, the revisions to its curriculum, and its deepening of its industry connections, PMT will thrive in the future as a destination program.  I have provided some minor suggestions below and highlighted one area in chapter 2 that appears to be blank and needs correction (in the table on PLOs and the level of proficiency).  I would like to underscore that any suggested changes and feedback are minor and can be readily addressed in short order. Bravo on a solid report!
	Reviewer #3: Kudos to the Physics for Modern Technology program for a comprehensive, detailed self-study report. Appreciate the depth of content, analysis presented in this report. Proposed a couple of key changes to graduate attributes, program outcomes in chapter 2. Minor changes and considerations are proposed to other chapters.  Recommend for approval by SSCPR pending action for chapter 2 recommendations. Good luck
	Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard.
	CHAPTER 1: Program Overview
	Criterion: This chapter provides an overview of the program, its purpose, and the scope of the review.
	Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its purpose, and the scope of the current review.
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard
	Page 49
	Support for International Students
	Recommendation Section – Familiarizing with services to international students alone may not be adequate to support international students meaningfully. Consider adding a recommendation to explore Universal Design Principles in course design to support international and other students. 
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations.
	CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations
	Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations.
	Minor Edits (page #)
	Pg 10 (last paragraph of 1.2): all the instances of “full time” and “part time” need to be hyphenated; also change the comma in front of “Surrey, however,” to a semicolon: “Surrey; however, the lab instructors”
	Pg. 12 (top of page): rather than stating “that one hopes the program review” – why not instead state, “that the Department hopes the program review” – the “one” is a bit vague.
	Page 16 (third line): Dangling modifier>> add a subject after the opening modifier: “Recognizing the need for these to be further developed, the Department made this year’s offering of our Special Topics on the topic of communication.”
	Pg.  20 (grid) – the line across from “Limits of knowledge and independent learning” is blank.  Should this be N/A?  Not applicable?  Or something else?
	Pg. 27 (second last paragraph; third last line): Delete the repetition of “one one student” >> there is currently one student project”
	p. 29 under Discipline/Sector Survey Responses – Although there is currently one one student project
	Pg. 48 – typo: Paragraph above “Survey responses” section:  “Recently, teh department” – change to “the”

	5.3.5 Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report_Revised w track changes
	List of Acronyms
	Memo from Dean/Associate Dean
	1. Introduction
	1.1. Overview of the Program(s)
	Program Under Review
	Admission Requirements
	Credential & Curricular Requirements
	Transferability
	Preparation for graduate school

	1.2. Program Department
	1.3. Program Purpose
	Changes Since Program Launch
	External Accreditation

	1.4. Issues for Program Review

	2. Curriculum Review
	2.1. Pathways for Graduates
	Pathways to Employment
	Pathways to Further Study
	Pathways to an Enriched Civic and Personal Life

	2.2. Program Learning Outcomes
	2.3. Essential Skill Development
	2.4. Curriculum Assessment

	3. Program Relevance and Demand
	3.1. Relevance
	Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?
	Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector needed to remain current?
	Does the program include appropriate Indigenous content?

	3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency
	What is the collective expertise available to deliver the program?
	Collectively, does the department have the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum?

	3.3. Student Demand
	Who takes the program?
	Exhibits 2 and 3 of the Administrative Data Report (Appendix DE) are reproduced below. We also used the KPU Strategic Enrollment Data tool to extract data for PMT-declared students as those are students we can definitively identify as being in the pro...
	Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by Academic Year
	Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Science and Horticulture Students by Academic Year

	Is demand for the program sustainable?
	Does the program have the capacity to meet demand?
	Does the program have effective outreach to ensure demand?


	4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery
	4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum
	Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs?
	Are appropriate experiential learning opportunities provided to help student acquire the learning outcomes?
	Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills?
	Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses?
	Does instruction meet the needs of diverse learners?
	Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the learning outcomes?
	Summary and Recommendation

	4.2. Student Success
	Are students performing satisfactorily in courses?
	Are students making satisfactory progress in the program?
	Are graduates of the program successful?
	Summary and Recommendation


	5. Resources, Services, and Facilities
	Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum?
	Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum?
	Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum?
	Does the program have the other support services needed to deliver the curriculum?

	6. Conclusions and Recommendations
	6.1. Overview
	6.2. Curriculum Review
	6.3. Program Relevance & Student Demand
	6.4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery
	6.5. Resources, Services, and Facilities

	7. Appendices

	5.3.6 Physics for Modern Technology Self-Study Report Appendices_Revised
	Appendix A: Course Requirements for BSc Major in Physics for Modern Technology
	Appendix-C-CareerPath.pdf
	Appendix C: Career Pathways Map

	Appendix-E-AdminDataReport.pdf
	Glossary
	Chapter 3. Program Relevance and Demand
	3.1 Relevance
	Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?0F
	Exhibit 1: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets


	3.3 Student Demand
	Who takes the program?5F
	Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Physics for Modern Technology Program Students by Academic Year
	Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Science and Horticulture Students by Academic Year

	Is demand for the program sustainable?
	Exhibit 4: Unique Student Headcount in Physics for Modern Technology Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture Courses
	Exhibit 5: Unique Student Headcount in Physics for Modern Technology Program by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture Programs
	Exhibit 5.1: Outcomes of Physics Intended Students by Academic Year Intake Cohort
	Exhibit 6: Number of Students Enrolled in similar Programs at BC Public Post-Secondary Institutions 7F
	Exhibit 7: Average Filled Seats per Class by Academic Year
	Exhibit 8.1: Number of Course Enrolments by Level for Academic Year 2020/21
	Exhibit 8.6: Number of Course Enrolments in Mathematics and Sustainable Agriculture by Level for Academic Year 2019/20
	Exhibit 9: Cost Structure of Average Class for Physics for Modern Technology, Faculty of Science and Horticulture UG, and All KPU UG Courses for Academic Year 2020/21

	*Average Net Revenue = Cost of instruction - tuition revenue
	Does the program have the capacity to meet demand?
	Exhibit 10: Unmet Demand at the Stable Enrolment Date



	Chapter 4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery
	4.1 Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum
	Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 9F
	Exhibit 11: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Essential Skills Data Compared with Ministry Targets


	4.2 Student Success
	Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 12F
	Exhibit 12: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Physics for Modern Technology Courses from AY 2016/17 to AY 2020/21
	Exhibit 13: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Science and Horticulture Undergraduate Courses from AY 2016/17 to AY 2020/21
	Exhibit 14: Grade Data for Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture
	Exhibit 15: Repeat Rates in Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture
	Exhibit 16: DFW Rates in Physics for Modern Technology Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture
	Exhibit 17: Student Performance Data for Physics for Modern Technology Courses for Academic Year 2020/21 by Undergraduate Levels Compared with Faculty of Science and Horticulture

	Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 14F
	Exhibit 18: Physics for Modern Technology Program Graduate Headcount15F  by Credential and Academic Year
	Exhibit 19: Faculty of Science and Horticulture Graduate Headcount by Credential and Academic Year
	Exhibit18.1: Graduate Headcount of Physics Programs at other BC Public Post-Secondary Institutions 17F
	Exhibit 20: Median19F  Years to Graduate:20F  Physics for Modern Technology
	Exhibit 21: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Science and Horticulture

	Are graduates of the program successful?
	Exhibit 22: KPU Physics for Modern Technology Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets





	5.4.0 SSCPR Cover Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.4.1 Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report
	Third Progress Report on Quality Assurance Plan (Note: black: first, red: second, green: third)
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: October 4, 2018


	5.4.2 SSCPR Reviwers' Comments Sociology Third Annual Follow-Up Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up:
	a) Progress to date is unclear.
	b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred.

	5.4.3 Sociology Program Review Third Annual Follow-Up_Revised
	Third Progress Report on Quality Assurance Plan (Note: black: first, red: second, green: third)
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: October 4, 2018


	5.5.0 SSCPR Cover Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.5.1 Psychology Second Annual Follow Up Report
	Second Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: January 2019


	5.5.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Psychology Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up:
	a) Progress to date is unclear.
	b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred.

	5.5.3 Psychology Second Annual Follow Up Report_Revised
	Second Progress Report
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: January 2019


	5.6.0 SSCPR Cover Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan
	5.6.1 Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan
	SUMMARY
	QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS
	RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS
	QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN

	5.6.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan
	OVERALL ASSESSMENT: 
	Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation.
	MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:
	Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan:
	a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately addressed.
	b) Goals, Strategies, Steps and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly.
	c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal, Strategy and/or Step in its One-Year Follow-Up Report.

	5.6.3 Anthropology Quality Assurance Plan_Revised
	SUMMARY
	Key Program Strengths
	Key Program Threats
	QUALITY ASSURANCE GOALS
	RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS
	QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN
	MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: Fall 2022



	7.1.0  SSCPR Cover - Manager's Report on Status of Program Reviews
	7.1.1 Manager's Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for June 2022 SSCPR Meeting
	Status




